
DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
AGENDA 

 
Page 1 of 4 

 

THURSDAY 11 JULY 2024 AT 7.00 PM 
COUNCIL CHAMBER, THE FORUM 

 
The Councillors listed below are requested to attend the above meeting, on the day and at the time 
and place stated, to consider the business set out in this agenda. 
 
 
Membership 
 

Councillor Guest 
Councillor C Wyatt-Lowe 
Councillor Durrant 
Councillor Hobson (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Maddern 
Councillor Stevens (Chairman) 
Councillor Bristow 
 

Councillor Cox 
Councillor Patterson 
Councillor Riddick 
Councillor Mitchell 
Councillor Smith-Wright 
Councillor Walker 
Councillor Barry-Mears 
 

 
 
For further information, please contact Corporate and Democratic Support or 01442 228209 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. MINUTES   
 
 To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting (these are circulated separately) 

 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence 

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

Public Document Pack



 
Page 2 of 4 

 

 To receive any declarations of interest 
 
A member with a disclosable pecuniary interest or a personal interest in a matter who 

attends 
a meeting of the authority at which the matter is considered - 
 
(i) must disclose the interest at the start of the meeting or when the interest  

becomes apparent and, if the interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest, or a 

personal 

interest which is also prejudicial 

(ii) may not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter (and must withdraw  
to the public seating area) unless they have been granted a dispensation. 

A member who discloses at a meeting a disclosable pecuniary interest which is 
not registered in the Members’ Register of Interests, or is not the subject of a 
pending notification, must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 
days of the disclosure. 

 
Disclosable pecuniary interests, personal and prejudicial interests are defined in 
Part 2 of the Code of Conduct For Members 

 
[If a member is in any doubt as to whether they have an interest which should be 

declared they 
should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer before the start of the meeting]  
 
It is requested that Members declare their interest at the beginning of the relevant 
agenda item and it will be noted by the Committee Clerk for inclusion in the minutes.  
 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   
 



 
Page 3 of 4 

 

 An opportunity for members of the public to make statements or ask questions in 
accordance with the rules as to public participation. 

 

Time per 
speaker 

Total Time Available How to let us 
know 

When we need to 
know by 

3 minutes 

Where more than 1 
person wishes to speak 
on a planning application, 
the shared time is 
increased from 3 minutes 
to 5 minutes. 

In writing or 
by phone 

5pm the day before 
the meeting.  

 
You need to inform the council in advance if you wish to speak by contacting Member 
Support on Tel: 01442 228209 or by email: Member.support@dacorum.gov.uk 
 
The Development Management Committee will finish at 10.30pm and any unheard 
applications will be deferred to the next meeting.  
 
There are limits on how much of each meeting can be taken up with people having their 
say and how long each person can speak for.  The permitted times are specified in the 
table above and are allocated for each of the following on a 'first come, first served 
basis': 
 

 Town/Parish Council and Neighbourhood Associations; 

 Objectors to an application; 

 Supporters of the application. 
 
Every person must, when invited to do so, address their statement or question to the 
Chairman of the Committee. 

 
Every person must after making a statement or asking a question take their seat to 
listen to the reply or if they wish join the public for the rest of the meeting or leave the 
meeting. 

The questioner may not ask the same or a similar question within a six month period 
except for the following circumstances: 

 
(a) deferred planning applications which have foregone a significant or material 

change since originally being considered 
 
(b) resubmitted planning applications which have foregone a significant or 

material change 
 
(c) any issues which are resubmitted to Committee in view of further facts or 

information to be considered. 
 
At a meeting of the Development Management Committee, a person, or their 
representative, may speak on a particular planning application, provided that it is on the 
agenda to be considered at the meeting. 
 
Please note: If an application is recommended for approval, only objectors can invoke 
public speaking and then supporters will have the right to reply. Applicants can only 
invoke speaking rights where the application recommended for refusal. 
 

5. INDEX TO PLANNING APPLICATIONS  (Page 5) 
 

mailto:Member.support@dacorum.gov.uk


 
Page 4 of 4 

 

 (a) 23/02972/MFA Planning application for the change of use from agricultural land 
to Suitable Accessible Natural Green Space (SANG), together with a vehicular 
access, car park, paths, fencing and landscaping Proposed SANG Site Castle 
Hill, Berkhamsted, Hertfordshire  (Pages 6 - 167) 

 

 (b) 23/02195/FUL - Construction of 9 dwellings including the creation of a new 
vehicular access, parking and landscaping - Land West Of Tring Road Tring 
Road Wilstone Tring Hertfordshire  (Pages 168 - 242) 

 

 (c) 24/00390/FHA - Two storey front extension, second storey side extension and 
raising of the ridge height, single storey rear extension, alterations of windows, 
over cladding of first floor, internal remodelling, new external drive configuration 
and landscaping - Chedworth, Hemp Lane, Wigginton, Tring, Herts, HP23 6HE  
(Pages 243 - 262) 

 

 (d) 24/00866/FHA- Hip to gable loft conversion with rear dormer and front roof lights 
& new first floor side window - 16 Dellfield Avenue, Berkhamsted, Hertfordshire, 
HP4 1DX  (Pages 263 - 271) 

 

6. PLANNING ENFORCEMENT QUARTERLY REPORT  (Pages 272 - 285) 
 

 
 



 
INDEX TO PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 
Item No. Application No. Description and Address   
 Page No. 
 
5a. 23/02972/MFA Planning application for the change of use from 

agricultural land to Suitable Accessible Natural Green 
Space (SANG), together with a vehicular access, car 
park, paths, fencing and landscaping 
Proposed SANG Site, Castle Hill, Berkhamsted, 
Hertfordshire 

 

 
5b. 23/02195/FUL Construction of 9 dwellings including the creation of a 

new vehicular access, parking and landscaping 
Land West Of Tring Road, Tring Road, Wilstone, 
Tring 

 

 
5c. 24/00390/FHA Two storey front extension, second storey side 

extension and raising of the ridge height, single 
storey rear extension, alterations of windows, over 
cladding of first floor, internal remodelling, new 
external drive configuration and landscaping. 
Chedworth , Hemp Lane, Wigginton, Tring 

 

 
5d. 24/00866/FHA Hip to gable loft conversion with rear dormer and 

front roof lights & new first floor side window. 
16 Dellfield Avenue, Berkhamsted, Hertfordshire, 
HP4 1DX 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



ITEM NUMBER: 5a 
 

23/02972/MFA Planning application for the change of use from agricultural land 
to Suitable Accessible Natural Green Space (SANG), together with 
a vehicular access, car park, paths, fencing and landscaping 

Site Address: Proposed SANG Site Castle Hill, Berkhamsted, Hertfordshire   

Applicant/Agent: Taylor Wimpey and Barratt 
David Wilson 

Mr Roger Smith 

Case Officer: James Gardner 

Parish/Ward: Berkhamsted Town Council Berkhamsted Castle 

Referral to Committee: Contrary views of Berkhamsted Town Council  

 
1. RECOMMENDATION  

That planning permission be delegated with a view to APPROVAL subject to the completion of a 
section 106 agreement which secures, inter alia, the management and maintenance of the land as 
SANG for a minimum period of 80 years. 

2. SUMMARY 

2.1 The proposed development would constitute inappropriate in the Green Belt, for it would, in part, 
not preserve the openness of the Green. Nonetheless, it is submitted that very special 
circumstances exist which would justify considering the development as acceptable in Green Belt 
terms, complying with Policy CS5 of the Dacorum Core Strategy and paragraph 153 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2023).  
 
2.2 The grant of planning permission for this application would permit a change of use from 
agriculture to informal outdoor recreation, but would not automatically result in the site constituting a 
SANG (Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace). However, as the description includes reference to 
SANG, it is appropriate to consider whether the land is, in fact, capable of becoming a SANG.  

2.3 Following an assessment of the criteria set out in the Chiltern Beechwoods Mitigation Strategy, it 
is considered that the site is considered to be suitable and capable of becoming a SANG. Natural 
England are also in agreement that the site complies with the relevant criterion and is a good 
candidate for a SANG.  

2.4 The level of parking is in accordance with Natural England Guidance and thus does not give rise 
to concerns.  
 
2.5 Full consideration has been given to the transport impacts associated with the development 
which has included input from the Highway Authority, who have raised no concerns in respect 
highway safety. 

2.6 New built development in the form of a surface car park would be introduced into the landscape 
and have an urbanising influence. However, it is to be built at ground level; and, once fully 
established, the planting scheme would circumscribe views, such that it would only be perceived 
from limited vantage points. Further, it would also be seen in the parking associated with 
Berkhamsted Cricket Club and the sports facilities and parking associated with Berkhamsted 
School. On this basis, it is not considered that there would be any harm to the landscape character 
of the area; rather, if anything, the proposal is likely to result in an improvement by way of additional 
landscaping and ongoing maintenance and care. Accordingly, the development is considered to 
comply with Policies CS11 and CS25 of the Dacorum Core Strategy. 
 
3. SITE DESCRIPTION 

3.1 The application Site, which measures approximately 25.60ha, occupies the slopes of a narrow 
valley which extends north of Castle Hill, at the northern edge of Berkhamsted. It is located within an 

Page 6

Agenda Item 5a



area of undulating, mixed arable and pastoral farmland. A second valley landform follows the route 
of the Hertfordshire Way public footpath to the east of the Site, with the landform rising on the side of 
Berkhamsted Hill beyond the footpath. To the south, housing on Castle Hill occupies rising ground. 
The properties at Castle Hill Farm and several properties formerly associated with Berkhamsted 
Place, lie at the western extent of Castle Hill. The Scheduled Monument at Berkhamsted Castle is 
located to the south east of the Site at the base of the valley. Due to intervening tree cover there is 
little intervisibility between the Site and the remains of the castle. 
 

3.2 In the south east of the Site are the cricket pitches and pavilion building associated with 
Berkhamsted Cricket Club. There is a Scheduled Monument to the east of the cricket club, the site of 
a Roman Building (north of Berkhamsted Castle). Opposite the Cricket Club are further sports 
facilities at Kitcheners Field, including artificial pitches, a bowling green, changing rooms and club 
facilities, car parking and a grass running track and pitches. Access to the Cricket Club and sport 
facilities is from Castle Hill. 
 
3.3 To the north of the Site, the woodland at Berkhamsted Common (much of which lies within the 
Chilterns Beechwoods SAC and is designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest [‘SSSI’]), and 
Ashridge Estate wrap around the farmland at the northern edge of Berkhamsted. There are several 
footpaths which cross the Site and the surrounding farmland, linking Berkhamsted to the Common 
and to the wider countryside. 
 
4. PROPOSAL 

4.1 Planning permission is sought for a change of use from agriculture to Suitable Alternative 
Natural Greenspace (SANG), the construction of a car park, paths, fencing and landscaping. 

4.2 The car park would be located adjacent to the boundary with Berkhamsted Cricket Club and 
have an area of approximately 620m2. It is proposed to be enclosed by native hedge planting, 
although to the north there would also be a 2m high mesh fence to restrict access to the ballstrike 
mitigation zone. 

4.3 A new access road would link the car park to the existing access road that currently serves 
Berkhamsted Cricket Club. The majority of the road would be limited to approximately 3m in width, 
though there would be wider parts (i.e. at the site entrance, as well as the passing bays), and 
enclosed on either side by 300mm high timber bollards in order to prevent erosion of the adjacent 
grassland and provide an additional layer of protection to the nearby scheduled monument. The 
strategic positioning of passing areas ensures that the width of the road is kept to a minimum and the 
potential for urbanisation reduced. Type 1 MOT crushed granite is proposed for the access road 
surface material as well as the car park. The entrance to the car park is to include a height restriction 
barrier to prevent unsuitable vehicles from accessing the site, which would also include a gate to 
prevent vehicular access outside of specified hours.  

4.4 A 2.3km circular route that both starts and finishes at the SANG car park is proposed. It would 
not be formally surfaced and would comprise of mown grass, resulting in a more naturalistic 
appearance.  

4.5 Ancillary development in the form of dog waste / litter bins and information boards is also 
proposed.  

5. BACKGROUND 

Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace and Interaction with Planning Permission 

5.1 Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace, or “SANG”, is the term given to greenspaces that are 
created or enhanced with the specific purpose of absorbing recreation pressure that would 
otherwise occur at National Sites, such as Ashridge Commons and Woods SSSI. New SANGs can 
be created, or existing greenspaces enhanced to create a SANG, in order to absorb the level of 
additional recreation pressure associated with new development.  

Page 7



5.2 The grant of planning permission for this application would permit a change of use from 
agriculture to informal outdoor recreation, but would not automatically result in the site constituting a 
SANG. This is because whether the site is ultimately considered to be a SANG will depend on the 
outcome of an Appropriate Assessment carried out pursuant to Regulation 63 of the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 in relation to whichever application(s) rely on it for 
mitigation. 

5.3 Therefore, this application should be seen as an important first step in the site becoming a SANG 
for which housing developments can rely on for mitigation. Nonetheless, as the description includes 
reference to SANG, it is appropriate to consider whether the land is, in fact, capable of becoming a 
SANG. This will be addressed later in the report.   

 
6. PLANNING HISTORY 
 
Planning Applications: None. 
 
Appeals: None 
 
 7. CONSTRAINTS 
 
Advert Control: Advert Special Control 
Area of Archaeological Significance: 21 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty: CAONB outside Dacorum 
BCA Townscape Group 
CIL Zone: CIL1 
Former Land Use (Risk Zone) 
Green Belt: Policy: CS5 
Green Belt: Policy: CS5 
Parish: Berkhamsted CP 
Parish: Northchurch CP 
RAF Halton and Chenies Zone: Red (10.7m) 
Residential Area (Town/Village): Residential Area in Town (Berkhamsted) 
Residential Character Area: BCA13 
Rural Area: Policy: CS7 
Parking Standards: New Zone 3 
EA Source Protection Zone: 3 
EA Source Protection Zone: 2 
Tree Preservation Order: 53, Details of Trees: A1 -Several trees of various species 
 
8. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Consultation responses 
 
8.1 These are reproduced in full at Appendix A. 
 
Neighbour notification/site notice responses 
  
8.2 These are reproduced in full at Appendix B. 
 
9. PLANNING POLICIES 

Main Documents: 

National Planning Policy Framework (2023) 
Dacorum Borough Core Strategy 2006-2031 (adopted September 2013) 

Page 8



Dacorum Borough Local Plan 1999-2011 (adopted April 2004) 
 
Relevant Policies: 

Core Strategy 

NP1 - Supporting Development 
CS1 - Distribution of Development 
CS5 – The Green Belt  
CS8 – Sustainable Transport  
CS10 - Quality of Settlement Design 
CS11 - Quality of Neighbourhood Design 
CS12 - Quality of Site Design 
CS24 – The Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty  
CS25 – Landscape Character  
CS26 – Green Infrastructure  
CS27 – Quality of the Historic Environment  
CS29 - Sustainable Design and Construction 
CS31 – Water Management  
CS32 – Air, Soil and Water Quality 
 
Local Plan 

Policy 51 – Development and Transport Impacts 
Policy 54 – Highway Design  
Policy 55 – Traffic Management  
Policy 79 – Footpath Network 
Policy 80 – Bridleway Network  
Policy 97 – Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty  
Policy 99 – Preservation of Trees, Hedgerows and Woodlands  
Policy 101 – Tree and Woodland Management  
Policy 108 – High Quality Agricultural Land 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents 

Chiltern Beechwoods Mitigation Strategy  
Accessibility Zones for the Application of Car Parking Standards (2020) 
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2019 – 2024 
Planning Obligations (2011) 
Roads in Hertfordshire, Highway Design Guide 3rd Edition (2011) 
Landscape Character Assessment for Dacorum (2004) 
 
10. CONSIDERATIONS 

Main Issues 

The main issues to consider are: 

 The policy and principle justification for the proposal; 

 The suitability of the site as a SANG; 

 The impact on the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty; 

 The impact on landscape character;  

 The impact on the significance of heritage assets; 

 The impact on residential amenity;  

 The impact on highway safety and car parking; and 

 The impact on ecology.  
 

Page 9



Principle of Development 

10.1 The application site is located within the Metropolitan Green Belt which is an area of 
development restraint. There are, however, exceptions.  

10.2 Policy CS5 of the Dacorum Core Strategy states that the Council will apply national Green Belt 
policy1 to protect the openness and character of the Green Belt, local distinctiveness and the 
physical separation of settlements.  

10.3 The construction of the car park and access road would constitute engineering operations and 
fall to be assessed against paragraph 155 (b) of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), 
while the change of use from agriculture (grazing land) to informal outdoor recreation would fall to be 
assessed against paragraph 155 (e) of the NPPF. These paragraphs have been set out below for 
ease of reference: 

Certain other forms of development are not inappropriate in the Green Belt provided they 
preserve its openness and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it. These 
are: 
…. 
(b) engineering operations; 
….. 
….. 
(e) material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor sport or 
recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds);  
 

Whether Development Preserves Openness of Green Belt  

10.4 Paragraph 142 of the NPPF sets out that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent 
urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are 
their openness and their permanence.  

10.5 Case law2 has established that “whether the development would 'preserve' the openness of the 
Green Belt” does not mean that a proposal can only be regarded as ‘not inappropriate in the Green 
Belt’ if the openness of the Green Belt would be left entirely unchanged; rather, the verb ‘preserve’ 
should be understood in the sense of “keep safe from harm” – rather than “maintain (a state of 
things)”.  

10.6 R (on the application of Boot) v Elmbridge Borough Council [2017] EWHC 12 (Admin) 
established that where an assessment is carried out pursuant to paragraph 89 of the NPPF3 and any 
harm to openness – even limited harm – is identified, a local planning authority cannot lawfully 
conclude that openness is preserved; rather, the development must be considered to be 
inappropriate development. 

10.7 The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), drawing on principles established by the 
courts, identifies a number of additional matters which may need to be taken into account when 
assessing the impact of a proposal on the openness of the Green Belt. These include: 

 the duration of the development, and its remediability – taking into account any provisions to 
return land to its original state or to an equivalent (or improved) state of openness; and 

 the degree of activity likely to be generated, such as traffic generation.  
 

 

 

                                                
1 Enshrined in Section 13 of the NPPF. 
2 Samuel Smith Old Brewery (Tadcaster) v North Yorkshire CC [2018]. 
3 Paragraph 154 of the 2023 NPPF, although given the similar wording the judgement is considered to equally apply to paragraphs 90 

/ 155.  

Page 10



Car Park 

10.8 Drawings submitted in support of this application indicate that the car park would have an area 
of approximately 620m2 and be situated at the lowest point of the site, in close proximity to other 
man-made development – i.e. access roads, tennis courts, car parks and the pavilion building 
associated with Berkhamsted Cricket Club – and surfaced in Type 1 MOT with hedge planting 
around its perimeter.  

10.9 Due to distance (approximately 340m) and the presence of intervening trees and hedging, the 
car park would not be conspicuous along large stretches of New Road. The car park would be visible 
when looking in a westerly direction proximate to the junction of New Road and Brownlow Road, but 
would be seen in the context of the existing sports and parking facilities, as well as the housing 
development along Castle Hill. It is acknowledged that a site visit was carried out in summer when all 
the nearby trees and hedging were in leaf; however, due to the number and size of the trees, it is 
considered that they would still provide a good level of screening in the winter months.  
 
10.10 The above notwithstanding, the car park would be considerably more conspicuous from the 
public rights of way surrounding the site; that is to say, footpaths 1, 26 and 59. While it is 
acknowledged that the proposed native hedge planting would assist in limiting views of the car park 
from public right of way 1, it would take a number of years to become fully established and its 
efficacy would be reduced when not in full leaf, rendering the hardstanding and vehicles more 
visually prominent in the winter months. The elevated positions of footpaths 26 and 59 is such that 
the hedge would be insufficient to effectively shield the car park from view.  
 
The surface of the car park would be built at ground level, or thereabouts, and therefore the levels of 
the site will not be substantially altered. Consequently, due to the nature of the physical changes in 
these respects, the surface of the car park itself would have a limited spatial impact on the openness 
of the Green Belt. Nevertheless, given the provision of a reasonably-sized car park, it is not 
unreasonable to assume that some visitors would arrive by motorised vehicle, and thus it is 
necessary to have regard to the impact of parked cars.  

10.11 The plans submitted in support of this application indicate that the car park could 
accommodate a total of 25 cars. The parking would essentially be an activity with no obvious end 
date, and whilst the nature of the use the parking would facilitate, coupled with the lack of any 
permanent facilities on the site - e.g. toilets, café etc – is such that individual cars would be unlikely 
to be parked overnight, it is clear that the car park would be in use for significant periods of the day 
by various users. In having regard to the site surroundings and the proposed landscaping mitigation, 
it is considered that the concentration of up to 25 cars parked within a self-contained area would 
appear as man-made development, resulting in a modest adverse impact on spatial openness.  

10.12 Taking all of the above into account, it is considered that the car park would result in a modest 
reduction in the visual and spatial openness of the Green Belt. 

Access Road 
 
10.13 The proposed access road to the site would have a total area of approximately 665m2 and be 
built at ground level. The access road would not accommodate parked cars; rather, vehicular activity 
would be transitory and simply involve vehicles traversing it when they enter and leave the site. As 
cars would not be permanently parked on the access road, and in light of its position at ground level, 
it is not considered that it would have an adverse spatial impact on the openness of the Green Belt.  
 
10.14 Given the narrowness of the access road and an existing line of trees interposed between the 
cricket club access road and the field, it is not considered that it would be readily visible from New 
Road or nearby public rights of way. The distance from these receptors is a further factor limiting 
visibility.  
 

Page 11



10.15 Accordingly, it is submitted that construction of the access road would preserve the openness 
of the Green Belt.  
 
Change of Use 

10.16 The change of use of the site from agriculture to outdoor recreation is likely to result in an 
intensification of the use of the site: although a public right of way crosses the site, the public do not 
have a right to freely roam the entirety of the site. However, it is important to note that visitors would 
be dispersed over a relatively large area, and shielded from view by existing and proposed planting, 
such that it is unlikely any material increase in human movement would be discernible.  

10.17 On the basis of the above, it is concluded by Officers that the change of use would preserve 
the openness of the Green Belt.  

Whether Development Conflicts with Purposes of Including Land in Green Belt 

10.18 Paragraph 142 of the NPPF states that the Green Belt serves five purposes: 
 

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas; 
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 
d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban land. 

 
10.19 The Council commissioned SKM to carry out a Green Belt Review Purposes Assessment in 
November 2013. The SKM assessment established a number of zones for assessment, with the 
land northwest of Hemel Hempstead forming part of Zone GB09: 
 

Description The parcel is located between Berkhamsted and Hemel Hempstead. The 
boundary to the north runs along the edge of the Green Belt designation and to the south 
along The Common / Hempstead Lane / Berkhamsted Road. It is partially covered by the 
Chilterns AONB and is 581 ha in size forming an undulating upland chalk plateau including 
Little Heath Common which is punctuated by numerous small gravel dells. 
 
Land use Predominately arable farmland, plus Berkhamsted Common (SSSI) and Little 
Heath Common and recreational activities including a golf course.  
 
Principal Function / Summary Significant contribution towards safeguarding the 
countryside and preserve the setting of Potten End, Water End and Berkhamsted Common, 
and maintaining the existing settlement pattern. Partial contribution towards preventing 
merging (of Hemel Hempstead and Berkhamsted). Overall the parcel contributes 
significantly towards 3 of the 5 Green Belt purposes.  
 
Zone GB09 was assessed against the five Green Belt purposes and was stated to perform 
as follows: 

Purpose No.  Purpose Performance 

a) Check unrestricted sprawl of built-up areas Limited or no contribution 

b) To prevent neighbouring towns from merging Partial  

c) To assist in safeguarding the countryside from 
encroachment  

Significant 

d) To preserve the setting and special character of 
historic towns 

Significant  

e) To maintain existing settlement pattern4 Significant 

                                                
4 The fifth Green Belt purpose is, in fact, ‘Assisting urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban 
land’. The SKM review explains the reason for changing the parameters of the assessment:  

Page 12



10.20 In 2016 the Council commissioned a Stage 2 Green Belt review which was undertaken by 
Arup. This study also included a landscape appraisal element. The review assessed in more detail 
those strategic and small-scale sub-areas of the Green Belt in the previous review that were 
considered as “contributing least” to Green Belt purposes, alongside additional sub-areas at the 
edges of the towns and large villages. The work continued to note that all of the sub-areas examined 
were adjudged to meet one or more of the NPPF (2012 version) purposes, though the degree to 
which different parts of the Green Belt contributed to the individual purposes varied significantly.  
 
10.21 The application site falls within parcel identified as BK-A5 in the Stage 2 Green Belt review 
and is judged to strongly contribute strongly in terms of preventing encroachment into the 
countryside.  
 
10.22 Given the nature and scale of the development proposed as part of this application, the only 
Green Belt purpose potentially to be prejudiced is (c) – to assist in safeguarding the countryside from 
encroachment.  
 
10.23 Guidance prepared by the Local Government Association and The Planning Advisory Service 
(Planning on the Doorstep: The Big Issues – Green Belt) states that, since all Green Belt assists in 
safeguarding the countryside from encroachment, ‘The most useful approach is to look at the 
difference between urban fringe – land under the influence of the urban area – and open countryside, 
and to favour the latter in determining which land to keep open…’ 
 
10.24 It is clear that the land in question – most particularly, the area upon which the car park is 
proposed to be constructed – is under the influence of the urban area. Indeed, the presence of the 
cricket pitch, cricket pavilion, access roads, car parks, and sports facilities associated with 
Berkhamsted School are all suggestive of an urban influence.  
 
10.25 It is assumed that word ‘conflict’ has the same meaning as attributed to it in the dictionary – i.e. 
‘to come into collision or disagreement; be contradictory, at variance, or in opposition; clash’. Taking 
this approach, it seems clear that the provision of a modest sized car park proximate to other built 
form, and seen in the context of substantial suburban housing, would not be ‘contradictory’ or ‘at 
variance’ with the purpose of safeguarding the countryside from encroachment.  
 
10.26 Purposes (d) and (e) are not relevant in this instance. Purpose (d) is concerned with protecting 
the setting of historic settlements by retaining surrounding open land or by retaining the landscape 
context for historic features. As outlined in the Guidance prepared by the Local Government 
Association and The Planning Advisory Service (Planning on the Doorstep: The Big Issues – Green 
Belt), in reality this purpose applies to very few settlements in practice, largely due to modern 
patterns of development, which often envelope historic towns today. Purpose (e), meanwhile, is 
centred on assisting urban regeneration through a focus on recycling derelict and other urban land. 
However, in Dacorum, the amount of land within urban areas that could be developed is factored in 
before Green Belt land is identified. 
 
10.27 Overall, therefore, the proposal would result in a relatively limited change in the appearance of 
the site, which would largely retain its open and rural character. It follows that the proposed 
development would not conflict with the purposes of including land within it. 
 
 

                                                                                                                                                           
 

‘Assisting urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban land is considered to be more complex to 
assess than the other four purposes because the relationship between the Green Belt and recycling of urban land is influenced by a 
range of external factors including local plan policies, brownfield land availability and the land / development market. Due to the 
fact that the local policy review demonstrates that there is a limited supply of available or unallocated brownfield land in St Albans, 
Dacorum and Welwyn Hatfield it is considered that the Green Belt as a whole has successfully and uniformly.’ 

Page 13



Conclusion 
 
10.28 Taking the areas of assessment above into account, it is considered that the development 
would result in harm to the Green Belt in the form of definitional harm, as per paragraph 153, of the 
NPPF, and a modest reduction in visual and spatial openness arising from the construction of the 
car park, with no conflict in relation to the purposes of including land within Green Belt. As a result, 
the development represents inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  
 
10.29 National planning policy states directs that “substantial weight is given to any harm to the 
Green Belt”. Any ‘other harm’ associated with the proposals will be discussed throughout this report 
and summarised at the end. 
 
Very Special Circumstances (VSCs) 
 
10.30 Case law5 has established that very special circumstances do not in themselves have to be 
rare or uncommon. It is for the decision maker to determine whether the potential harm to the green 
belt by way of inappropriateness is “clearly outweighed by other considerations”.  
 
10.31 Two factors which could be considered to constitute VSCs have been identified and are set 
out below.  
 
Substantial SANG Land with capacity for other developments in Dacorum  
 
10.32 There are currently two Council-led Strategic SANGs6 that provide mitigation capacity for 
developments within their catchments and which were instrumental in allowing a partial lifting of the 
moratorium on new housing that was in effect from March to November 2022. Since November, 
qualifying developments have been able to avail of SANG capacity, enabling new housing to be 
approved.  
 
10.33 The Council’s SANG sites are located within the south and east of the borough. This, 
combined with the SANG catchment area, results in the Council not being able to offer its SANG 
capacity to developments of ten or more new homes in Berkhamsted, Tring or the west of the 
Borough.  
 
10.34 The capacity of a SANG – i.e. the number of dwellings it can mitigate for - is directly 
proportional to its size. As the capacity of Council-led Strategic SANG is finite, an allocations 
protocol has been instituted to ensure that a SANG solution is provided only to those developments 
where it is genuinely not possible for provision to take place on site, and in order to ensure a 
continual and predictable supply of new homes across the Borough. It is important to note that once 
Council-led Strategic SANG capacity has been exhausted, new housing which does not provide its 
own SANG solution cannot be granted. This would disproportionately affect sites which, due to their 
limited size, would not be able to provide their own on-site SANG.  
 
10.35 Consequently, the Council will need to bring more SANG sites online in order to provide a 
future supply for new homes. At present there are a total of four sites in Council ownership under 
consideration – i.e. Gadebridge Park, Margaret Lloyd Park, Howe Grove and an extension to 
Bunkers Park. 
 
10.36 Until such point as the adverse impacts of recreational pressure on the Chiltern Beechwoods 
Special Area of Conservation are reversed, the Council will be continually required to identify and 
bring forward new SANG solutions. This is currently being done by utilising land already in the 
Council’s ownership, but there will clearly come a point where there are no further suitable sites that 

                                                
5 Wychavon District Council v Secretary of State for Communities & Local Government & Ors [2008] EWCA 
6 Bunkers Park and Chipperfield Common. 

Page 14



can be upgraded and used for SANG; therefore, it is submitted third party SANG solutions have an 
important and complementary role to play in the Development Management process.  
 
10.37 Members recently resolved to grant planning permission for a SANG at Haresfoot Farm7, 
which was the first application for a developer-led SANG solution in the Borough. This application is 
predicated on similar grounds – i.e. it would complement the Council-led SANG and enable new 
housing to be approved. The fact that one developer-led SANG has been approved does not render 
the capacity that would be created by this site surplus to requirement; rather, for the foreseeable 
future there will be a need for both new Council-led and developer-led SANG solutions if the Council 
is to provide the number of homes identified as necessary in the Borough.   
 
10.38 The proposal would secure 24.69 hectares of SANG land that would mitigate up to 1,283 new 
dwellings8 within 5km of the site9. The SANG has been developed in consultation with Natural 
England and meets its SANG criteria as noted in the section on ‘Suitability of Site for SANG’ (below). 

10.39 The allocation of SANG credits would remain within the control of the applicants. Irrespective 
of whether the credits are used by the applicant themselves or sold to third parties, they would 
reduce pressure on Council-led SANG and assist in facilitating a continual and predictable supply of 
new housing across the Borough.  

10.40 Given the government drive for increased housing provision in the south of England, and in 
light of the situation the Council finds itself in in terms of the Chiltern Beechwoods and the effect this 
will have and, indeed, is already having, on housing provision within the Borough, it is considered 
that the provision of SANG should be afforded moderate weight.  
 
Outdoor Recreation 
 
10.41 Whilst noting that the primary reason for the application is to provide SANG capacity for a 
private developer, it would essentially result in the provision of a new public park that would be free 
for anyone to use at all times, although the car park would be subject to opening restrictions.   
 
10.42 Paragraphs 96 and 124 of the NPPF state that planning policies and decisions should aim to 
achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places and beautiful buildings which ‘enable and support healthy 
lifestyles….for example through the provision of safe and accessible green infrastructure….’ as well 
as encouraging ‘multiple benefits from both urban and rural land, including through mixed use 
schemes and taking opportunities to achieve net environmental gains – such as developments that 
would enable new habitat creation or improve public access to the countryside’. 

10.43 The importance of access to open space in terms of physical and mental well-being was 
brought into stark relief during the COVID-19 pandemic, and there is strong policy support in the 
NPPF for the provision of green infrastructure and improvements to public access to the 
countryside. Accordingly, it is considered that the provision of free public open-space is a benefit of 
this scheme and should be afforded moderate weight in the planning balance. 

Conclusion 

10.44 A final view as to whether the above factors justify the development cannot be made until the 
‘any other harm’ referred to in paragraph 153 of the NPPF has been fully assessed during the course 
of this report. This is relevant in light of the Court of Appeal Judgement in Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government v Redhill Aerodrome Ltd [2014] EWCA Civ 1386, which 
confirmed that the interpretation given to ‘any other harm’ is such that it applies to any planning 
harm. Accordingly, a balancing exercise will take place at the conclusion of this report. 

                                                
7 23/02508/MFA. 
8 Calculated on the basis of 52 dwellings per hectare of SANG land. 
9 Subject to an Appropriate Assessment.  

Page 15



Suitability of Site for SANG 

10.45 The Chiltern Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation Mitigation Strategy was approved by 
cabinet at a meeting held on 15th November 2022. The Mitigation Strategy sets out the SANG criteria 
likely to be accepted by the Council (as Competent Authority) and Natural England.  

10.46 The criteria has been set out below along with the case officer’s view as to whether this has 
been complied with or not10:  

SANG 
Feature 

Criteria Expected / 
Desirable 

Comment 

    

Paths A minimum circular walk 
of 2.3-2.5 kilometres to be 
provided. 

Expected.  A circular walk of 2.3km is 
being provided. 

 Paths easily used and 
well maintained but 
mostly unsurfaced. 

Expected. The paths would comprise of 
mown grass, thereby 
providing an appropriate 
naturalistic aesthetic.  

 Where parking is 
provided, circular path 
should start and finish at 
that location. 

Expected. The circular path starts and 
finishes at the car park.  

 Paths should be safe, 
easily identifiable and 
kept clear of obstructions, 
such as scrub cover for 
example. 

Expected. The paths do not go through 
any areas of woodland (which 
could be perceived as 
unsafe). Keeping the paths 
secure of scrub cover will be 
achieved through the 
management particulars, 
which are to be secured by 
way of condition and legal 
agreement. 

 Information boards and/or 
signage at access points 
outlining the layout of the 
site and routes available 
to visitors. 

 

Desirable  It has been indicated that 
information boards are to be 
provided. 

 

Parking Parking, including for 
cyclists, to be provided on 
sites larger than four 
hectares, unless the site 
is solely intended for 
residents within 500 
metres only 

Expected. A car park with capacity for 25 
cars, as well as bicycle 
parking, is to be provided 
adjacent to the site’s northern 
boundary with the cricket 
club.  
 

 Parking areas are to be 
easily and safely 

Expected. The car park will be accessed 
from an existing access off of 

                                                
10 For the avoidance of doubt, Green indicates compliance and red indicates non-compliance. 

Page 16



accessible by car and to 
be clearly sign posted. 

Castle Hill. No details of 
sign-posting are shown on the 
plans; however, this matter 
can be reserved by condition. 

 Visitor to be able to take 
dogs from the parking 
area to the site safely off 
the lead. 

 

Desirable.  Dogs could be safely taken  
from the car to the site safely, 
it being noted that there are 
no main roads in the 
immediate vicinity.  

Access Access points to be 
provided based on the 
intended visitors of the 
SANG. 

Expected. The SANG will be accessible 
from the car park and Public 
Right of Way 61. 

It is also intended that a 
further access into the site will 
be provided  

 

 Safe access route on foot 
from nearest car park 
and/or footpath 

Expected. The footpath and the SANG 
paths are contiguous.   

 Access should be 
unrestricted within the 
site, with plenty of space 
for dogs to exercise freely 
and safely off the lead. 

 

Expected. Access to two areas within the 
site is to be restricted. 

Character 
of Space 

Needs to be semi-natural, 
or perceived as such 
where close to existing 
development. 

Expected. The site comprises of 
attractive undulating 
grassland which includes 
mature trees and vegetation.   

 If the site is larger than 12 
hectares, a range of 
habitats should be 
present. 

Expected. As above. 

 No unnatural intrusions 
(e.g. odour from sewage 
treatment works, noise 
from busy roads). 

Expected. The site is idyllic and not 
afflicted by any unnatural 
intrusions.  

 

 There should be little 
intrusion of built 
structures such as 
dwellings, buildings, 
fencing (not constructed 
using natural materials), 
etc. 

Expected. New thicket and scattered 
tree planting along the 
boundary with the Castle Hill 
dwellings would ensure that 
there is no sense of intrusion.   

 Naturalistic space with Desirable. The site is predominantly 

Page 17



areas of open countryside 
with dense and scattered 
trees and shrubs. 

open grassland but contains 
copses of mature trees and 
strong and mature 
landscaping along many of 
the site boundaries, which are 
proposed to be enhanced.  

 Gentle undulating 
topography. Steep slopes 
are likely to deter visitors. 

Desirable. The site features a gently 
undulating topography. Whilst 
there is a hill, this is not 
considered to be particularly 
steep. 

 Focal point such as a 
viewpoint or monument 
within the site and 
accessible via walking 
routes. 

Desirable. There are attractive open 
views from the higher parts of 
the site towards Berkhamsted 
and fields to the west.  

There is also a recently 
scheduled monument close to 
the vehicular entrance.  

 Provision of open water, 
however large areas of 
open water cannot count 
towards SANG capacity. 

Desirable. Open water does not form 
part of the proposal.  

 

10.47 Natural England were consulted during the course of the application process and consider the 
site to be a good candidate for SANG due to its varied topography, attractive views and convenient 
location close to Berkhamsted, while also noting that it has the potential to intercept visitors travelling 
north from Berkhamsted or Hemel Hempstead to the Chiltern Beechwoods SAC.  

10.48 For the avoidance of doubt, in their responses dated 30th January and 29th April 2024, Natural 
England confirmed that ‘….Castle Hill SANG does meet the NE SANG Quality Guidelines and in 
principal we have no issue with it being designated a SANG’. (Emphasis added).  

10.49 These views were caveated by a requirement for: 

- The SANG to be created as set out in the ‘SANG Delivery Framework Document for Castle 
Hill SANG, Berkhamsted’ (CSA, November 2023).  
 

- A management company, trust/charity or the LPA named as managers of the SANG prior to 
approving the SANG for mitigation, and a legal agreement secured between the applicant / 
their client and the management company/body, to secure the funding of the SANG 
management via a commuted sum/endowment. 

 
- A legal agreement between the applicant / their client and the LPA regarding step-in rights 

and management of the SANG in perpetuity has been signed by both parties. 
 
10.50 The applicants have selected The Land Trust as the preferred management partner for the 
proposed SANG and a letter of intent (dated 20th May 2024) from the Land Trust has been provided 
which states that: 
 

‘….subject to Board approval, contract and payment of an agreed endowment, the Land 
Trust (‘LT’) is able to take formal ownership of the proposed SANG, being an area of 

Page 18



approximately 26 hectares, and would thereafter remain responsible for its provision and 
maintenance in perpetuity - for the avoidance of doubt being a term no less than 80 years.’ 

 

10.51 Natural England have previously confirmed that there is no need for LPA step-in rights where 
the Land Trust is the management partner. This relates to the Land Trust’s status as a charity and 
the fact that in the unlikely event that it were to be dissolved, the site and the ring-fenced endowment 
would, by virtue of Article 17 of its articles and as a matter of charity law, pass to another 
organisation with similar charitable purposes.  
 
10.52 A legal agreement is in the process of being drafted to secure the SANG in perpetuity.  
 
10.53 In summary, the site is considered to be both suitable and capable of becoming a SANG. 
Whether or not the site actually serves as SANG for housing developments within the Borough will 
be a matter for the relevant planning officer or, as the case may be, the Development Management 
Committee.  

Impact on Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty  

10.54 The site lies within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and in 
determining this application, regard has been had to the duty under Section 85 (1) of the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. This requires that decisions have regard to the purposes 
of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the area.  
 
10.55 Policy CS24 of the Dacorum Core Strategy states that the special qualities of the Chilterns 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty will be conserved, and that development is to have regard to the 
policies and actions set out in the Chilterns Conservation Board’s Management Plan, as well as the 
principles set out within the Chilterns Buildings Design. 

Saved Policy 97 of the Dacorum Local Plan remains of relevance and sets out that in the Chilterns 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, the prime planning consideration will be the conservation of the 
beauty of the area. Open air recreation is specifically addressed in the policy, where it states that: 
 

‘Informal outdoor recreation allowing the quiet enjoyment of the countryside is encouraged, 
but careful attention will be paid to the provision of associated ancillary facilities such as car 
parks and toilets in order to minimise their impact on the local scene.’ 

 
10.56 It is firstly important to note that the majority of the site is to remain undeveloped and 
enhanced with areas of additional woodland planting, and although a limited number of areas would 
be enclosed by mesh and post and wire fencing, these would be of limited height, permeable and 
therefore inconspicuous and appropriate in the context11.   
 
10.57 As outlined in Policy CS24, regard is to be had to the policies and actions set out within the 
Chiltern Conservation Board’s Management Plan. Of relevance in this regard is Policy EP3, the full 
wording of which is set out below for ease of reference:  
 

‘The Chilterns has benefited from widespread stile-removals, new ‘access for all’ trails and 
other initiatives to improve physical accessibility which makes it one of the leading 
accessible landscapes. Accessibility should be further improved to provide more and better 
opportunities for everyone to enjoy the countryside. Priorities include improved access for 
those with limited mobility, new or improved access links between the AONB and urban 
areas, more multi-user routes, better bridleway connectivity and provision of facilities on 
appropriate sites (e.g. waymarked trails, information boards, cycle and car parking).’ (Officer 
emphasis).  

                                                
11 The Chilterns AONB is a working landscape and includes farms where similar boundary treatments would be expected.  

Page 19



10.58 The provision of a car parking facilities in the Chilterns AONB is therefore acceptable and in 
accordance with the Chiltern Conservation Management Board’s own policies. Policy 97 similarly 
does not impose an outright prohibition on ancillary facilities such as car parks. On the contrary, it 
merely requires careful attention to be paid to their design. In this instance, it is instructive to note 
that the car park is not excessive in size and is proposed to be sited at the lowest point of the site, in 
close proximity to other man-made development – i.e. access roads, tennis courts, car parks and a 
cricket pavilion - and surfaced in a relatively sympathetic material12. Its appearance would also be 
softened by the proposed tree and hedge planting.  

10.59 It has been suggested by a local resident that the new woodland planting13 would be contrary 
the Chiltern Conservation Board Management Plan. In forming this view, the following extract is 
quoted: ‘there should be no adverse impact on landscape, special qualities’. However, it is 
instructive to read the entire paragraph:  

 ‘Given the Chilterns is already more developed than most protected landscapes and given 
the potential benefit of the landscape to millions, there should be no major development in 
the AONB; only the most essential development should take place and where it takes place, 
there should be no adverse impact on landscape, special qualities or access, and it should 
deliver an environmental net gain.’ 
 

10.60 Critically, the planting of trees does not constitute development for the purposes of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990. Even if the view were to be taken that tree planting was 
development, one of the special qualities of the Chilterns is its woodlands: 

‘…the Chilterns was designated to protect its special qualities which include the steep chalk 
escarpment with flower-rich downland, woodlands, commons, tranquil valleys, ancient 
routes, villages with brick and flint houses, chalk streams and a rich historic environment of 
hillforts and chalk figures.’ 

 
10.61 As such, it is hard to see how this would be harmful to its special qualities. Nonetheless, 
should Members have concerns in this regard, a landscaping condition is proposed to be included 
with any grant of planning permission and would allow the positioning of trees to be varied if deemed 
necessary.  
 
10.62 Turning to the change of use itself, there is no reason to believe that this would materially 
change the character of the site and result in disruption to the quiet enjoyment of the site. An 
element of public access is already afforded by the public rights of way, which could include dog 
walkers  

Impact on Landscape Character 

10.63 Policy CS25 states that all development will help conserve and enhance Dacorum’s natural 
and historic landscape and should take full account of the Dacorum Landscape Character 
Assessment. 

10.64 The site lies within the Landscape Character area of Berkhamsted Castle Farmland (Area 
119), which is described as: 

‘a relatively enclosed and simple character centred around a narrow dry valley leading off the 
Bulbourne Valley. The ruins of Berkhamsted Castle provide the full stop at the mouth of the 
valley. There are strong historical links between the castle and the remainder of the 
character area. The area is now somewhat degraded, though traces of a parkland or estate 
character are evident including large field trees, together with remains of estate architecture 
at the former Berkhamsted Place.’ 

                                                
12 MOT Type 1 with granite dust. 
13Annotated as W1 on the SANG Landscape Strategy. 

Page 20



10.65 The Strategy and Guidelines for Managing Change seek, inter alia, to: 

 Promote awareness and consideration of the setting of the AONB, and views to and from it, 
when considering development and land use change proposals on sites adjacent to the 
AONB. 

 Support a strategy to limit built development within the area and the impact of development 
that may affect the area from outside including any further development to the urban edge of 
Berkhamsted. 

 Support the investigation, conservation and interpretation of the historic patterns of the 
landscape including the relationship between the castle, Berkhamsted Place and Castle 
farm. 

10.66 The use of the site as public open space would promote the retention of the historic deer park 
setting and ensure its long-term14 maintenance and care.  

10.67 There has been some criticism of the proposals in relation to the woodland planting identified 
as ‘W1’ on the SANG Landscape Strategy in four different locations; however, areas of woodland 
are a characteristic of the Chilterns AONB, as confirmed in the Chilterns Management Plan states 
that: 

‘…the Chilterns was designated to protect its special qualities which include the steep chalk 
escarpment with flower-rich downland, woodlands, commons, tranquil valleys, ancient 
routes, villages with brick and flint houses, chalk streams and a rich historic environment of 
hillforts and chalk figures.’ (Emphasis added).  

10.68 Whilst it is acknowledged that some views across the landscape from Public Right of Way 60 
may be occluded by new woodland planting, it would still be possible to enjoy similar views from 
Public Right of Way 61. Ultimately, the Chilterns AONB is not a museum piece; rather, as 
acknowledged by the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan, ‘The 
Chilterns is a living and working landscape, shaped, worked and enjoyed by people living in and 
around the AONB’. Many of its qualities are the result of human activity and it is therefore submitted 
that it would be perverse to raise objections on the basis that applicants are proposing some very 
modest woodland planting. 

10.69 New built development in the form of the car park would be introduced into the landscape and 
have an urbanising influence. That said, it is to be built at ground level and would be seen in the 
context of existing nearby development and thus would not appear as a scar in an uninterrupted 
landscape. Furthermore, once fully established, the planting scheme would help to limit views.  

10.70 On the basis of the above, it is not considered that there would be any harm to the landscape 
character of the area; rather, if anything, the proposal is likely to result in an improvement by way of 
additional landscaping and ongoing maintenance and care. The development is therefore 
considered to accord with Policy CS25 of the Dacorum Core Strategy.  

Impact on Significance of Heritage Assets 
 
10.71 Policy CS27 of the Dacorum Core Strategy is an overarching policy which seeks to ensure 
that the quality of the historic environment is maintained. In particular, it states that the integrity, 
setting and distinctiveness of designated and undesignated heritage assets will be protected 
conserved and, if appropriate, enhanced.  
 
10.72 Paragraph 205 of the NPPF advised that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the 
asset’s conservation, irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total 
loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. Where a development proposal will lead to less 
than substantial harm to the significance of a heritage asset, paragraph 208 of the NPPF requires 

                                                
14 80 years minimum. 

Page 21



the harm to be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, 
securing its optimum viable use 
 
World War I Trenches 
 
10.73 The south-eastern part of the application site contains a concentrated complex of First World 
War practice trenches created by the Inns of Court Officer Training Corps in 1917 and at the time 
named 'The Labyrinth'.  
 
10.74 On 25th January 2024, Historic England designated ‘The Labyrinth’ as a Scheduled 
Monument and it is now officially as ‘The First World War Training Trenches and associated 
earthworks south of Berkhamsted Cricket Club’. Updated comments were provided to the local 
planning authority by Historic England on 19th February 2024, setting out their concerns: 
 

‘The development would have the potential to harm the significance of the scheduled 
earthworks through direct physical impacts and a major change to their setting. There is also 
the potential harm to the significance of nearby non-designated assets through a 
development. The development of a car park alongside the monument, even when not filled 
with private vehicles, would be jarringly anachronistic and deprive the site of the open 
surroundings it has enjoyed since its creation. Troops using the practice trenches would 
have been trained without the presence of parked cars in their eyeline to the immediate west, 
and without private vehicles crossing their field of fire.’ 

 
10.75 Separate discussions took place between the applicants and Historic England in order to 
address these concerns, which culminated in an amended layout being formally submitted to the 
local planning authority on 16th April 2024. 
 
10.76 The new layout addresses the concerns of Historic England by relocating the access road and 
car park farther away from the scheduled monument, reducing the size of the car park, and rotating 
it 90 degrees (see right hand image below) so that it is built on a West North West – East South East 
axis, allowing the open aspect of the trenches to be largely retained.  
 

 
 

Page 22



10.77 Historic England were re-consulted and subsequently commented that they ‘welcome the 
updated proposals around the location and form of the access and car parking provision at the site 
which provide a planning balance between impacts to the setting of the Scheduled Monument of The 
Labyrinth’. Under the heading ‘Recommendation’ in the re-consultation response, it is stated that:  
 

‘Historic England supports the application on heritage grounds. 
 
We consider that the application can meet the requirements of the NPPF, in particular 
paragraph numbers 208 and 211, using planning conditions and/or s106 obligations.  
 
I recommend that the long term management of the site (especially landscaping and public 
safety) be secured through a binding Management Agreement that forms part of any 
consent, using s106 powers or if this is not feasible, a planning condition.  
 
A scheme of public interpretation, secured through a planning condition and agreed in 
advance with the LPA and its heritage advisers is also necessary.’  

 
10.78 It is important to have in mind that the views of statutory consultees should be given ‘great’ or 
‘considerable’ weight in the planning assessment, although does not preclude a departure from 
those views where there are cogent and compelling reasons to do so15. 
 
10.79 Where there is less than substantial harm to a heritage asset (as appears to be suggested by 
Historic England’s reference to paragraph 208 of the NPPF), the harm should be weighed against 
the public benefits of the proposal.  
 
10.80 It is acknowledged that the car park would be more sympathetically sited in relation to the 
scheduled monument, noting the considerable reduction in size, increase in distance16 and its 90 
degree re-orientation; and, unlike the previous layout, there would no longer be any direct impacts 
physical impacts upon the scheduled monument. However, it does not automatically follow that the 
amended proposal would have no impact on the setting of the scheduled monument.  
 
10.81 The NPPF Glossary provides the following definition of ‘setting’:  

 

Setting of a heritage asset: The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its 
extent is not fixed and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a 
setting may make a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may 
affect the ability to appreciate that significance or may be neutral. 

 
10.82 As set out in the National Planning Practice Guidance, all heritage assets have a setting, 
irrespective of the form in which they survive. The extent and importance of setting is often 
expressed by reference to the visual relationship between the asset and the proposed development 
and associated visual/physical considerations. Views of or from an asset will be relevant in 
assessing the impact on its setting; however, the way in which an asset is experienced can be 
affected by other environmental factors – e.g. vibration from other land uses, noise, dust etc – and 
by an understanding of the historic relationship between places.  
 
10.83 The car park and access road would introduce urbanising features which would not have been 
present at the time the trenches were originally constructed. Parked cars would be visible from the 
monument, though admittedly not directly adjacent to it and set off to one side, such that clear views 
to the west would be largely retained. The surface of the car park and access road are not proposed 
to be elevated and would be built at ground level. It is further observed that car park, access road 

                                                
15 Shadwell Estates Ltd v Breckland DC [2013]. 
16 Approximately 63m at its nearest point. 

Page 23



and change of use would result in a modest intensification in the use of the site, though it is argued 
that the tranquillity of the area would not materially change.  

10.84 Taking all of the above into account, and as a matter of planning judgement, it is considered 
by officers that the proposal would result in less than substantial harm at a low level to the scheduled 
monument.  

Berkhamsted Castle 

10.85 The site was historically part of the medieval deer park associated with Berkhamsted Castle. 
Berkhamsted Castle deer park is considered to form part of the setting of the castle and contributes 
to its significance. The significance of Berkhamsted Castle is derived from it being one of the best 
preserved medieval earthworks in the country, and the site where William the Conqueror accepted 
the crown of England.  
 
10.86 It is understood that the Berkhamsted Castle Trust are currently exploring the possibility of 
enhancing the public realm around the deer park and looking at ways to mark its historical 
boundaries, as well as potentially providing additional and alternative publicly accessible green 
space, through their deer park project. The stated objectives of the project are: 

- Protection: Raising the profile of Berkhamsted Castle and securing its future 
- Public access: Providing additional and alternative publicly accessible green space in 

Berkhamsted whilst steering movement away from the Special Area of Conservation at 
Ashridge Estate 

- Outdoor provision: Rationalising and improving access, signage and existing furniture 
- Education: Promoting the site’s history including its use as a former deer park 
- Engagement: Working with land owners, key stakeholders and members of the public to 

understand the feasibility of the park 

10.87 The change of use of the application site from agriculture to outdoor recreation can therefore 
be seen as a first step in realising the goal of enhancing the deer park and, by extension, the 
significance of the castle itself.  

10.88 As has been outlined in the preceding section, a limited amount of ancillary development – i.e. 
access road and car park – would be needed to facilitate the change of use. However, the level of 
development, coupled with the historic extent of the deer park, is such that it is not considered that 
there would be any harm to its significance.  

10.89 The Council’s Conservation and Design Team have been consulted and have not raised any 
concerns in relation to the impact on the setting of Berkhamsted Castle.  

Berkhamsted Conservation Area 

10.90 Due to the nature of the development and its distance from the boundary of the Berkhamsted 
Conservation Area, it is not considered that any harm arises. In this respect, the Council has had 
regard to the general duty of paying special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character or appearance of the conservation area.  

Nearby Listed Buildings 

10.91 A number of listed buildings are located to the south of the site; namely: 

 The Grade II* listed Great Barn at Castle Hill Farm (hereafter Great Barn). 

 The Grade II listed Pear Tree Cottage The Keep (two properties). 

 The Grade II* listed Ash. 
 

Page 24



10.92 The proposal would retain the majority of the site as grassland, and it is anticipated that the 
(limited) views towards the listed buildings would be retained. It is not anticipated that proposals 
would result in any adverse impact to the significance of these listed buildings.  
 
Heritage Balance  

10.93 Paragraph 208 of the NPPF states that ‘Where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable 
use’.  

10.94 As it has been established that the construction of the car park and access road would result 
in less than substantial harm, albeit it a low level, to the significance of the scheduled monument, 
consideration needs to be given to the public benefits, if any, arising from the development.  

10.95 By way of background, public benefits are essentially anything that delivers the economic, 
social or environmental objectives described in the NPPF, but there is an expectation that they will 
be of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the public at large, as opposed purely private benefit.  

10.96 The National Planning Practice Guidance states that heritage benefits may include: 

- Sustaining or enhancing the significance of a heritage asset and the contribution of its 
setting. 

- Reducing or removing risks to a heritage asset. 
- Securing the optimum viable use of a heritage asset in support of its long term conservation. 

10.97 In this instance there are considered to be a number of public benefits, each of which shall be 
explored in turn.  

Enhancement of Significance of Scheduled Monument 

10.98 The application provides the opportunity to enhance the significance of the scheduled 
monument by opening up the site to public access and by way of a scheme of public interpretation, 
which would be secured through a planning condition.  

10.99 The scheduled monument is not currently readily visible, nor is there any public access to it. 
The proposal therefore offers the opportunity for greater public appreciation / understanding of it, in 
accordance with paragraph 212 of the NPPF.  

Public Open Space 

10.100 The change of use would permit public access to the entirety of the site, with the car park and 
access road extending these benefits to a wider group of people; that is to say, those not living within 
easy walking distance of the site. This would appear to be in the spirit of paragraphs 96 and 124 of 
the NPPF state that planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and 
safe places and beautiful buildings which ‘enable and support healthy lifestyles….for example 
through the provision of safe and accessible green infrastructure….’ as well as encouraging ‘multiple 
benefits from both urban and rural land, including through mixed use schemes and taking 
opportunities to achieve net environmental gains – such as developments that would enable new 
habitat creation or improve public access to the countryside’. 

Substantial SANG Land with capacity for other developments in Dacorum  
 
10.101 This benefit has been outlined above in relation to the Green Belt ‘very special 
circumstances’ but is considered to equally applicable as a public benefit as a counterweight to the 
heritage harm identified.  

Conclusion  

Page 25



10.102 Taking all of the above into account, when the public benefits are weighed against the 
heritage harm, it is considered that these outweigh the harm.  

Impact on Residential Amenity 

10.103 Policy CS12 of the Dacorum Core Strategy states that development should, amongst other 
things, avoid visual intrusion, loss of sunlight and daylight, loss of privacy and disturbance to 
surrounding properties.  

10.104 The SANG Landscape Proposals indicate that the SANG footpaths would not be in close 
proximity to the rear boundaries of the dwellings on Castle Hill. It is further noted that scattered tree 
and thicket is proposed to be planted along the southern boundary, providing a defensible boundary 
to rear gardens of these dwellings. Combined with the long chalk grassland17, it is considered that 
there would be limited potential for overlooking, such that the change of use of the site would not 
result in an unacceptable loss of privacy. 
 
10.105 In terms of noise and disturbance, it is not considered that that there would be any significant 
adverse impacts arising from the change of use. It is acknowledged that the character and nature of 
the use will change, but there is nothing inherently noisy in informal outdoor sport and recreation. 
The impact of the intensification of the use of the site will also, to a degree, be tempered by the fact 
that SANG footpaths are located a reasonable distance away from sensitive residential receptors.  
 
10.106 Concerns have been raised that the change of use of the site could result in an increase in 
anti-social behaviour. The basis of these concerns is not entirely clear and it is considered that, 
subject to the imposition of reasonable controls18, the site would not be at greater risk of anti-social 
behaviour than public open space anywhere else in Berkhamsted. In the event that instances of 
anti-social behaviour were to be witnessed, this would be a police matter that could be dealt with 
under criminal law, where appropriate. 
 
10.107 In summary, notwithstanding the objections received from members of the public, it is 
considered that the development would not have a significant adverse impact upon the amenity of 
nearby properties, complying with Policy CS12 of the Dacorum Core Strategy.  

Impact on Highway Safety and Parking 

10.108 Paragraph 115 of the NPPF advises that development should only be prevented or refused 
on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 

10.109 Policy 51 of the Dacorum Local Plan states that the acceptability of all development 
proposals will be assessed specifically in highway and traffic terms and should have no significant 
impact upon, inter alia: 

- the nature, capacity and use of the highway network and its ability to accommodate the traffic 
generated by the development; and 

- the environmental and safety implications of the traffic generated by the development. 
 

10.110 Policy CS12 of the Dacorum Core Strategy states that on each site development should 
provide a safe and satisfactory means of access for all users.  

Highway Safety 

10.111 Alterations to the existing access at its junction with Castle Hill are proposed and would 
formalise the two separate accesses serving Berkhamsted Cricket Club and the Berkhamsted 

                                                
17 Referred to as CG3 on the SANG Landscape Proposals. 
18 Closure of the car park between dusk and dawn. 

Page 26



School sports facilities. This would involve the provision of a central pedestrian refuge along with 
tactile paving.  

 

10.112 Drawing no. 16-021/269 Rev L19 demonstrates that vehicular visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m 
can be achieved in both directions from the site access with Castle Hill, which is acceptable for a 
30mph road. 

10.113 Swept path analysis illustrates that two cars would be able to pass one another 
simultaneously at the site access; along the extent of the cricket club access road, and at the site 
access to the SANG. The width of the SANG access road itself would range from between 3m to 4.8 
but include passing spaces approximately every 30m.  

10.114 Height restriction barriers, details of which are to be reserved by condition, are proposed to 
be installed at both the entrance to the cricket club access road and the entrance to the SANG 
access road in order to restrict access to unsuitable vehicles.  

10.115 The access road would comprise of a shared space and serve both vehicles and 
pedestrians. At busy times, however, the 1.4m wide grass strip on the eastern side of the access 
road could be used by pedestrians.  

10.116 The number of vehicular movements likely to be generated by the SANG has been 
calculated based upon the traffic counts carried out at Ashridge Commons and Woods as part of the 
evidence base for the new Local Plan20.  

10.117 As a result of rural location of Ashridge, where the use of private motor vehicle would be 
mandatory for the vast majority of visitors, the traffic count data will, when applied to the application 
site, almost certainly overestimate the number of vehicular trips. Indeed, the location of the 
application site on the edge of Berkhamsted, where the pedestrian infrastructure network is well 
developed and there are a large number of dwellings within easy walking distance, is such that it 
would be considerably less car dependant than Ashridge. What is more, the relative spheres of 

                                                
19 Access Arrangements  
20 Footprint Ecology – Visitor survey, recreation impact assessment and mitigation requirements for the Chiltern Beechwoods SAC 
and the Dacorum Local Plan (2022)   

Page 27



influence - i.e. the distance people will be willing to travel to visit – are also clearly be of an entirely 
different magnitude, taking into account size and the number of facilities on offer at each site.21  

10.118 Nonetheless, in the interests of rigour and in acknowledgement of the fact that not all visitors 
will be drawn from within walking distance, a worst-case-scenario has been modelled by the 
transport consultant. The modelling calculates that on a busy leisure day – e.g. a bank holiday – the 
25 parking spaces would result in a total of 50 vehicles using the car park, culminating in a peak of 
16-17 vehicle movements in the busiest hour. The cricket club access road does, however, allow for 
two-way traffic and thus there would not be a situation where this would result in a direct impact on 
highway safety.  

10.119 Accident data in the vicinity of the application site for the period 2017 – 2021 has been 
reviewed by the applicant’s transport consultant and is set out on page 13 of the Transport 
Statement. A total of three collisions were recorded at Bridgewater Road, Brownlow Road and 
Lower Kings Road, respectively, none of which have any bearing on either the existing or proposed 
operation of the access.   

10.120 The Highway Authority have reviewed the relevant plans and confirmed that it ‘does not wish 
to restrict the grant of planning permission.’  

10.121 In summary, it is considered that the vehicular access arrangements and the resultant 
impact on the highway network arising from vehicular movements associated with the SANG would 
not have a significant adverse impact on highway safety. Thus, the development is considered to 
accord with Policy CS12 of the Dacorum Core Strategy, Policy 51 of the Dacorum Local Plan, and 
the NPPF.  

Parking 

10.122 Policies CS8 and CS12 of the Dacorum Core Strategy seek to ensure that safe and sufficient 
parking based on parking standards is included as part of all new development.   

10.123 The Dacorum Parking Standards SPD does not include guidance in terms of parking 
requirements for open space. However, the Council’s Mitigation Strategy for Ashridge Commons 
and Woods Site of Special Scientific Interest provides guidance on the suggested level of parking for 
SANG purposes. This is set out in paragraph 3.5.25:  

3.5.25. The amount and nature of parking provision should reflect the anticipated use of the 
site by visitors and the catchment size of the SANG. A guide to parking provision should be in 
the region of 1.5 spaces per hectare of SANG. Parking should be clearly signposted, easily 
accessed and advertised as necessary for potential visitors.  

10.124 The proposed SANG would have an area of approximately 25 hectares; therefore, based 
upon the mitigation strategy, a total of 38 parking spaces would be expected. However, this is at 
variance with Natural England’s guidance which requires 1 space per hectare of SANG land. It is 
also important to note that the mitigation strategy refers to parking provision being ‘in the region of’, 
suggesting that a relaxation of the standards can be justified in certain scenarios. Therefore, in 
having regard to sustainable location of the site, it is considered that 25 parking spaces represents 
an appropriate level of provision.  

10.125 The size of the parking spaces and the distance between rows is in accordance with Manual 
for Streets. As such, there would be sufficient space for vehicles to enter the car park, manoeuvre 
and exit in a forward gear.   

10.126 Legitimate concerns have been raised by local residents that the proximity of the SANG car 
park is such that it could potentially be liable to abuse by commuters. In order to address this 
eventuality, an ANPR camera is to be installed at the car park entrance and restrictions put in place 

                                                
21 Facilities at Ashridge include a car park, book shop / plant shop / shop, café and toilets. By contrast, the proposed SANG site 
would have only a car park.  

Page 28



to limit parking to a maximum of 3 hours. A condition requiring a parking management plan is 
recommended to form part of any future application submission.  

10.127 Accordingly, it is considered that the development would provide safe and sufficient parking 
and is in accordance with Policies CS8 and CS12 of the Dacorum Core Strategy.  

Impact on Ecology 

10.128 Policies CS26 and CS29 of the Dacorum seek to ensure that, amongst other things, 
development management action contributes towards the conservation and restoration of habitats 
and species, the strengthening of biodiversity corridors, the creation of better public access and links 
through green space, and minimises impacts on biodiversity and incorporating positive measures to 
support wildlife.  

10.129 Baseline ecological surveys were conducted at the Site during 2023, to determine any 
constraints to the proposed change of use. The findings and conclusions of these investigations are 
presented in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) prepared by CSA Environmental.  

10.130 The PEA describes the site in the following terms: 

‘The Site comprises short, sheep-grazed and short-cropped pasture, consisting principally of 
species-poor neutral grassland with some calcareous affinities, along with some remnant 
areas of chalk grassland on south facing slopes and depressions…’ 
 
Mature trees and outgrown hedgerows create a remnant wood-pasture & parkland 
character at the Site. These features will be retained and protected alongside SANG uses, 
including the retention and management of dead-wood (saproxylic) interests. In addition, 
new native trees will be planted across the Site to ensure long-term woodpasture and 
parkland interests are safeguarded. Boundary hedgerows will also be ‘gapped-up’ and 
subject to more favourable management. 
 
A main badger sett is present to the centre of the Site, which will be retained and protected 
alongside the proposed SANG. The Site is likely to support a range of other fauna, including 
widespread bird species and saproxylic invertebrates, for which the proposed habitat 
works at the Site are likely to benefit, subject to appropriate habitat management. 
 

10.131 Ecological enhancements in the form of the restoration of grassland habitats at the Site 
through initial interventions (including over-seeding) and instigation of a long-term favourable 
management regime; the planting of additional trees and shrubs, and thicket planting to improve 
habitat connectivity across the site are proposed. 

10.132 The particulars have been reviewed by the ecologist at Hertfordshire Ecology who has 
confirmed that ‘the PEA, associated reports and surveys are up to date, reflect best practice, and 
can be considered fit for purpose and describe a site of considerable local ecological value (in 
contrast to the evidence on HERC). Overall, in principle, I have no reason to disagree with this 
outcome.’ 

10.133 A biodiversity net gain in excess of 10% is proposed and has been supported by an updated 
metric. Biodiversity net gain was not mandatory when this application was submitted; however, it is 
an important material consideration to which positive weight can be afforded. It is noted that the 
Hertfordshire Ecologist has, in his most recent comments, requested that an updated metric is 
provided before weight is attributed to this matter. This has now been forwarded for a review and an 
update will be provided to Members in the addendum.  

10.134 It is acknowledged that the change of use would result in more human activity across the 
site; however, given the relatively sizable site area, the level (and type) of activity that is likely to 
occur, the duration of an average visit and the proposed habitat creation, it is not considered that 
there would be any adverse impacts on ecology were planning permission to be granted. 10.135 

Page 29



Accordingly, the development is in accordance with Policies CS26 and CS29 of the Dacorum Core 
Strategy.  

Other Material Planning Considerations 

Impact on Established Playing Pitch 

10.136 The proximity of the site to cricket pitches at Berkhamsted Cricket club gave rise to concerns 
from Sport England, resulting in them raising a formal objection on the basis that the change of use, 
which would see the site being used primarily by members of the public instead of livestock, could 
potentially prejudice the use of an established playing pitch.  

10.137 A ball strike risk assessment was subsequently commissioned by the applicant and 
conducted by Labosport. The Labosport assessment recommended two mitigation options to 
address the risk of ball strikes. The first option was to introduce a cordon sanitaire around the cricket 
club site which would encroach into the area proposed for the SANG where access to visitors and 
cars would be restricted, negating the need for high level fencing or netting, while the second option 
would be to install fencing/netting aligned to the western and southern site boundaries of the cricket 
club site. 

10.138 Following consideration of the Labosport assessment recommendations, the applicant has 
decided to progress the first option of introducing a cordon sanitaire around the southern and 
western boundaries of the cricket club site as this would be more appropriate than a high 
fencing/netting solution given the sensitive location of the site in the Chiterns AONB 
 
10.139 Details of this mitigation solution have been set out in the applicant’s ‘Addendum to 
Resubmission’ (April 2024) and its supporting plans and documents.  
 
10.140 The cordon sanitaire involves the installation of a 2 metre high paladin fence to the west and 
south of the cricket club boundary which broadly aligns with the recommended boundaries of the 
cordon sanitaire in the Labosport assessment as shown in the submitted ‘Cricket ballstrike 
mitigation fence location plan’.  

10.141 The area between the paladin fence line and the existing cricket club site boundary would be 
excluded from the SANG and would not have public access as shown in the submitted ‘SANG Area 
Exclusion Plan’. A lockable gate to this area would be included in the fence to allow maintenance 
access. In the revised Landscape Proposals Plan, the previously proposed thicket planting in the 
area between the paladin fence line and the existing cricket club site boundary has been removed 
because this is not considered necessary to mitigate ball strike or provide security if a 2m high fence 
is proposed. As set out in the submitted ‘SANG Delivery Framework Document’ (April 2024), it is 
proposed that all fencing is maintained in a safe hazard free state to facilitate the effective function of 
its intended use and that bi-annual inspections will take place to ensure that the fencing is sound and 
free from damage. 

10.142 Sport England were re-consulted and have now removed their objection. Should planning 
permission be granted, it is recommended that a condition requiring the erection of the fencing and 
its retention in perpetuity is secured by way of an appropriately worded planning condition.  

Loss of Agricultural Land 

10.143 Paragraph 180 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that planning policies and decisions contribute 
to and enhance the natural and local environment by, inter alia, recognising the intrinsic character 
and beauty of the countryside, and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – 
including the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, and of 
trees and woodland. 

Page 30



10.144 Saved Policy 108 of the Dacorum Borough Local Plan (2004) seeks to protect the ‘best and 
most versatile’ (BMV) agricultural land22. The Agricultural Land Classification (East Region) map 
illustrates that the site is ‘Good to Moderate’ Grade 3 agricultural land. The land is not considered 
Grade 2 ‘Very Good’ or Grade 1 ‘Excellent’ in terms of its agricultural quality. 

10.145 With the exception of the car park, the built form of which is considered de-minimus from an 
agricultural land perspective, the application site will remain undeveloped. It follows that despite the 
change of use of the land and the requirement that the land be maintained and managed as SANG 
for a minimum of 80 years, in reality there would be no permanent loss. It is also clear from the 
proposed landscaping plans that no changes to the contours of the landscape are proposed, 
ensuring that the topsoil is retained, making restoration to an agricultural use at a later stage a 
realistic possibility. No objections have been raised by Natural England.  

Flood Risk 

10.146 As per Policy CS31 of the Dacorum Core Strategy, development is required, inter alia, to 
avoid Flood Zones 2 and 3 unless it is for a compatible use and minimise water runoff. 

10.147 The application has been supported by a site-specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) which 
has been prepared by Charles and Associates. It correctly identifies the site as being located within 
Flood Zone 1 for Rivers and Sea. Advice from government is clear that the sequential test is not 
applicable to development in Flood Zone 1 unless there are flooding issues in the area of the 
development. There are no known issues and therefore a sequential test is not required. 

10.148 With the exception of the car park and access road, the site would remain undeveloped. The 
access and parking areas will be constructed as permeable paving with a gravel finish laid on free 
draining material allowing run off to infiltrate directly to the underlying strata, and supplemented with 
edge filter drains provided around the parking area and along the access road. It is further noted 
from the FRA that the filter drains will ‘help to reduce pollutant levels in the runoff by filtering out fine 
sediments, hydrocarbons, and other pollutants.’. As such, the condition requested by Affinity Water 
(in relation to details of a surface water drainage scheme) is not considered to be justified. It would, 
however, be appropriate to include a condition requiring the drainage to be carried out in accordance 
with these details.  

 

                                                
22 Best and most versatile agricultural land is defined by the NPPF Glossary as ‘Land in grades 1, 2 and 3a of the Agricultural Land 
Classification.’ 

 

Page 31



10.149 The drainage strategy proposed therefore comprises of a sustainable drainage system 
(infiltration – top of the SUDS hierarchy), meeting the requirements of paragraph 175 of the NPPF; 
that is to say, ‘major developments should incorporate sustainable drainage systems unless there is 
clear evidence that it would be inappropriate.’ 
 
10.150 Accordingly, it is not considered that the proposal would be at risk of flooding or increase 
flood risk elsewhere, is acceptable and in accordance with Policy CS31 of the Dacorum Core 
Strategy and the NPPF.  

Archaeology  

10.151 The County Archaeologist has been consulted but hitherto no response has been received. 
An update can be provided to Members in the addendum. Nevertheless, in the absence of these 
comments and noting the presence of the scheduled monument, the inclusion of planning conditions 
in relation to archaeology is considered to be appropriate.  

Impact on Public Right of Way 

10.152 Policies 79 and 80 of the Dacorum Borough Local Plan states that the public footpath / 
bridleway network will be protected, improved and promoted. 

10.153 A kissing gate is proposed to be erected where Footpath 61 intersects the application site. 
This would not have a material effect on the use of the footpath or the site and does not, therefore, 
give rise to any concerns. This is a very minor intervention and would not result in any reduction in 
footpath users’ enjoyment of the footpath.  

10.154 Woodland planting is proposed adjacent to Footpath 60, which could eventually block some 
views across the dry valley. However, similar views would be possible farther to the west along this 
footpath and, indeed, there would be other, new views from within the site23. 

10.155 Comments are awaited from the Rights of Way Officer. These will be relayed to Members in 
due course.  

Impact on Trees and Landscaping 

10.156 Saved Policy 99 of the Dacorum Local Plan encourages the preservation of trees, 
hedgerows and woodlands throughout the Borough, with a high priority being given to their retention 
and protection during development.  

10.157 An Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) prepared by Barton Hyett Associates 
Arboricultural Consultants has been submitted in support of the application. This relates to the 
previous layout – i.e. with the car park proximate to the scheduled monument.  

10.158 Nonetheless, it is possible to establish which trees would be affected by the new layout. The 
trees likely to be affected are G36, G33 and T51.  

10.159 The AIA remains relevant and up to date in so far as it relates to G36, it being noted that the 
location of the junction of the cricket club and SANG access road remains the same in both site 
layouts. The impact of G36 is assessed in paragraph 6.4: 

‘Field maple group G36 (B2) is located on the south-eastern boundary of the site. The 
southernmost tree within this group is adjacent to the location of the proposed access track 
junction with the existing private road. The Root Protection Area (RPA) of this tree is 
impacted by the proposed access track. However, the incursion into the RPA and the 
compaction and fibrous root damage caused as a result is likely to be so minor as to negate 
the requirement for mitigation measures to be put in place. This tree will require a minor 
crown lift on its southern side to facilitate access for construction and vehicular traffic 

                                                
23 The public views from within the site are limited to the footpaths. However, once the entirety of the site is opened up to public 
use, multitudinous new views will be possible, resulting in a net benefit overall.  

Page 32



following the completion of the development. The proposed crown lift shall ensure a 
maximum clearance of 2.5 metres from ground level over the proposed access track.’ 

10.160 As such, it can be confidently stated that there would be no significant impact on this tree.  

10.161 G33 comprises of a group of Category B2 horse chestnut, field maple, hawthorn and elder. 
T51 is identified as a Category A1 English oak ‘of a significant age and amenity value’. The AIA 
includes the location of the Root Protection Areas in respect of these trees. By cross-referencing this 
with the new layout, it has been possible to confirm that there would be no incursion into the RPAs.  
As such, there is no reason to believe that appropriate protection, which could be secured by 
condition, could not be afforded to them during the construction process. On this basis, the 
development is considered to be in accordance with Policy 99 of the Dacorum Local Plan.  

Contamination 

10.162 The Council’s Scientific Officer has been consulted and has confirmed that there is no 
objection on the grounds of land contamination and no requirement for further contaminated land 
information to be provided, or for contaminated land planning conditions to be recommended in 
relation to this application. 

Planning Obligations 

10.163 A legal agreement is in the process of being drafted which would require the site to be 
managed as a SANG for a period of at least 80 years. At this stage, the applicant’s preferred 
management partner is a the Land Trust (https://thelandtrust.org.uk/) who are a charitable 
organisation with a track record of managing areas of public open spaces for community benefit.  

11. PLANNING BALANCE 

11.1 The Government attaches great importance to Green Belts. Paragraph 153 of the NPPF states 
that substantial weight should be given to any harm to the Green Belt.  

11.2 It was determined that the car park would result in modest reduction in both the visual and 
spatial openness of the Green Belt. It would not conflict with the purposes of including land in the 
Green Belt but would be harmful by definition.  

11.3 The access road would not result in any visual or spatial harm to the openness of the Green 
Belt. The material change of use would not result in a reduction in visual or spatial openness, nor 
would it conflict with the purposes of including land within the Green Belt; therefore, they are 
afforded neutral weight.   

11.4 The VSC section of the report determined that the provision of land capable of becoming a 
SANG (with the stated intention being it ultimately be designated as such) should be afforded 
moderate weight in the planning balance. The provision of a new area of public open space was also 
considered to accrue moderate weight in the planning balance.  

11.5 It has been established that there would be less than substantial harm at a low level to the 
significance of the scheduled monument; which, in relation to heritage matters in isolation, is 
outweighed by the public benefits arising from the proposal – i.e. the enhancement of the 
significance of the scheduled monument, the provision of public open space, and substantial SANG 
land with capacity for other developments in Dacorum. Whilst the heritage balance is favourable, 
‘any other harm’ needs to be factored into the Green Belt assessment when deciding whether VSCs 
exist. Given the low level of harm identified to the heritage asset, combined with the public benefits 
in relation to the heritage asset, it is considered that limited negative weight should be afforded to the 
overall planning balance.  

11.6 In having due regard to all relevant material planning considerations, as a matter of planning 
judgement and notwithstanding the substantial weight which should be given to any harm to the 
Green Belt, it is considered that the harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any 

Page 33

https://thelandtrust.org.uk/


other harm resulting from the proposal, is outweighed by the benefit of much needed additional 
SANG capacity and a new area of high-quality public open space.  

11.7 The SANG will unlock development within an area of the Borough not currently served by a 
Council-led Strategic SANG solution. In addition, new standalone public open space that is 
genuinely available for members of the public (not simply an intrinsic part of an existing 
development) is a considered to be a considerable benefit.  

12. CONCLUSION 

12.1 The proposed development would constitute inappropriate in the Green Belt, for it would, in 
part, not preserve the openness of the Green Belt. Nonetheless, it is submitted that very special 
circumstances exist which would justify considering the development as acceptable in Green Belt 
terms.  

12.2 Use of the site as public open space would ensure the retention of the parkland setting and 
provide assurances that it will be managed and maintained in an appropriate manner for at least 80 
years. It is acknowledged that the built development of the car park would, to a degree, have an 
urbanising influence on the landscape, though it would be built at ground level and, once fully 
established, the proposed planting would limit views from some vantage points. 

12.3 With the addition of the car park barrier, which would effectively limit access during the hours of 
darkness, the potential for anti-social behaviour will be significantly reduced. 

12.4 An analysis of the likely number of vehicle movements associated with the development has 
been undertaken by the transport consultants and is based on data obtained from traffic counts 
carried out at Ashridge Commons and Woods as part of the evidence base for the new Local Plan. 
Ashridge naturally has a greater draw than the application site, and as such, the data is likely to be 
an overestimation. Nonetheless, even talking this worst-case-scenario into account, the proposal is 
not considered to give rise to concerns in relation to highway safety. Subject to conditions in relation 
the off-site highway works and the implementation of parking restrictions, it is not considered that 
there would be any harm to highway safety.  

12.5 The requisite level of parking, as required by Natural England guidance, is proposed to be 
provided, ensuring that the site has sufficient parking capacity to serve as a SANG in the future.  

12.6 Ecological enhancements in the form of the restoration of grassland habitats at the Site through 
initial interventions (including over-seeding) and instigation of a long-term favourable management 
regime; the planting of additional trees and shrubs, and thicket planting to improve habitat 
connectivity across the site are proposed. 

13. RECOMMENDATION 

13.1 That planning permission be delegated with a view to APPROVAL subject to the completion of 
a section 106 agreement which secures, inter alia, the management and maintenance of the land as 
SANG for a minimum period of 80 years.  

 
 
Condition(s) and Reason(s):  
 
 1. The development hereby permitted shall begin before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason:  To comply with the requirements of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 (1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 

 

Page 34



 2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans/documents: 
 
CSA/6667/115 (Rev. J)      SANG Landscape Strategy  
CSA/6667/SK03 (Rev. A)     SANG Area Exclusion Plan  
CSA/6667/SK04                    Cricket Ballstrike mitigation fence location plan  
CSA/6667/06 (Rev. E)      SANG Delivery Framework Document  
16-021-039 (Rev. C) Flood Risk Assessment (prepared by Charles & Associates) 
16-021-038 Rev B Transport Statement (April 2024) 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
 

3. Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, the vehicular accesses and 
pedestrian crossing points (including tactile paving) shall be provided in accordance 
with the approved plan (drawing number 16-021.269 Rev J) and thereafter retained.   
 
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and that the highway 
improvement works are designed to an appropriate standard in the interest of highway safety 
and amenity and in accordance with Policies CS8 and CS12 of the Dacorum Core Strategy 
(2013) and Policies 51 and 54 of the Dacorum Borough Local Plan (2004) 

 
4. Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, the on-site hardstanding 

and turning areas shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled and surfaced in accordance 
with the approved plans and permanently retained thereafter available for that 
specific use.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory level of parking in accordance with Policies CS8 and CS12 
of the Dacorum Core Strategy, the Dacorum Parking Standards SPD and Natural England 
guidance in relation to SANG. 

 
5. No development shall commence until a Construction Traffic Management Statement 

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter the construction of the development shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Plan. The Construction Traffic Management Statement 
shall include details of:  
 

a. Construction vehicle numbers, type;  
b. Traffic management requirements; 
c. Construction and storage compounds, including fencing (including areas 

designated for car parking);  
d. Timing of construction activities to avoid school pick up/drop off times; 
e. Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of construction 

activities; and 
f. Maintenance of access for existing site use(s) and Right of Way.  

 
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public 
highway and rights of way in accordance with Policy CS8 of the Dacorum Core Strategy 
(2013), Policies 51 and 55 of the Dacorum Borough Local Plan (2004) and Paragraphs 114 
and 116 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023).  

 
This condition needs to be pre-commencement because any disruption to Castle Hill by construction traffic / 
contractor parking could result in an unacceptable impact on the free flow of traffic and potentially be detrimental 
to highway safety. 
 

Page 35



6. Prior to first use of the development hereby approved, full specifications of the car 
park barriers (or equivalent) and height restrictions shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The details provided shall 
include, but not be limited to, colour, manufacturer, height and means of operation. 
The car park barriers (or equivalent) and height restrictions shall be installed in 
accordance with the approved details and permanently retained thereafter.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the design of barrier is sympathetic to the rural character of the area 
in accordance with Policies CS11 and CS12 of the Dacorum Core Strategy (2013). 
 

7. Notwithstanding the SANG Delivery Framework Document, an updated document 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
the commencement of development. It shall include details of benches and two picnic 
benches along the SANG circular route, with the locations shown on an updated 
SANG Landscape Strategy Plan. Development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved particulars and fully provided prior to first use of the site.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the site complies with the Natural England SANG Guidelines and the 
Chiltern Beechwood Mitigation Strategy.  
 

8. Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to first use of the development hereby 
approved, an updated landscaping plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. The plan shall show at least one additional pedestrian 
access into the SANG from one of the adjoining public rights of way, and provide full 
details of proposed SANG signage within the site. Development shall subsequently 
be carried out in accordance with the approved particulars and be in place prior to 
first use of the development hereby approved.  
 
Reason: To ensure an appropriate level of permeability and that steps are taken to maximise 
public usage of the site.   

 
9. Should any heritage assets (archaeology) be encountered during the construction of 

the development hereby approved (including groundworks) works shall be 
temporarily suspended, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, and a Written Scheme of Investigation shall be submitted to (as soon as 
practically possible) and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The 
scheme shall include an assessment of significance and research questions; and:  
 
a) The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording. 
b) The programme for post investigation assessment. 
c) Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording. 
d) Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and records 
of the site investigation. 
e) Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the site 
investigation. 
f) Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the works 
set out within the Written Scheme of Investigation. 

 
Reason:  To ensure that reasonable facilities are made available to record archaeological 
evidence in accordance with saved Policy 118 of the Dacorum Borough Local Plan (2004), 
Policy CS27 of the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy (2013) and Paragraph 200 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (December 2023). 
 
 

 

Page 36



10. Development shall take place in accordance with the Written Scheme of Investigation 
approved under Condition 9. 
 
The development shall not be occupied until the site investigation and post 
investigation assessment has been completed in accordance with the programme set 
out in the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under Condition 9 and the 
provision made for analysis, publication and dissemination of results and archive 
deposition has been secured.  
 
Reason:  To ensure that reasonable facilities are made available to record archaeological 
evidence in accordance with saved Policy 118 of the Dacorum Borough Local Plan (2004), 
Policy CS27 of the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy (2013) and Paragraph 200 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (December 2023). 

 
 

11. Prior to first use of the development hereby approved a scheme of permanent 
heritage interpretation and display at the site shall have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority, in accordance with a detailed 
historical research, materials, design and long-term maintenance proposal and 
timetable for implementation. The approved scheme of interpretation and the 
timetable for its implementation shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the public benefits justifying the less than substantial harm to the 
scheduled monument is secured and maintained in perpetuity, in accordance with Policy 
CS27 of the Dacorum Local Plan and paragraph 208 of the NPPF. 

 
12. Prior to first use of the development hereby approved a Heritage Management Plan, 

including a long-term maintenance proposal and timetable shall have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Heritage 
Management Plan shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
Reason: The LPA wishes that the legibility and long-term upkeep of the Scheduled 
Monument and its setting benefits from a detailed management plan to ensure its long term 
future. 

 
13. Prior to first use of the development hereby approved, full details of the design and 

specification of the ball stop mitigation, including details of management and 
maintenance responsibilities, as set out in the Labosport Cricket Ball Strike 
Assessment (ref: LSUK.24-0203_CBA), shall have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved details shall be installed in full 
before the development is first occupied and thereafter managed and maintained in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To provide protection for the occupants of the development and their property from 
potential ball strike from the adjacent playing field or sports facility, to reduce conflict 
between neighbours and therefore safeguard sporting use of the adjacent sports facilities. 

 
 

14. Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, an Arboricultural 
Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan prepared in accordance with 
BS5837:2012 (Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction) setting out 
how trees shown for retention shall be protected during the construction process, 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  No equipment, 

Page 37



machinery or materials for the development shall be taken onto the site until these 
details have been approved.  The works must then be carried out according to the 
approved details and thereafter retained until competition of the development. 
 
Reason:  In order to ensure that damage does not occur to trees and hedges during building 
operations in accordance with saved Policy 99 of the Dacorum Borough Local Plan (2004), 
Policy CS12 of the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy (2013) and Paragraph 180 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (December 2023). 
 
This condition needs to be pre-commencement as insufficient information has been provided to satisfy the Local 
Planning Authority that damage to trees would not occur, and as trees being living organisms, this damage could 
be irreparable. 
 

15. There shall be no use of the SANG car park between sunset and sunrise (as set out by 
the Met Office). During these hours the gate / barrier(s) to the site shall be 
permanently locked, and details of its operation are to be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority prior to the car park being first brought into 
use.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of neighbouring properties and in order to reduce / 
limit the potential / fear of crime, in accordance with Policy CS12 of the Dacorum Core 
Strategy (2013) and Paragraph 96 (b) of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023). 
 

16. The SANG shall be permanently open to members of the public 7 days per week, 365 
days a year for no charge.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the site offers a credible alternative to Ashridge Woods and 
Common for the purposes of outdoor recreation, and for the avoidance of doubt. 
 

17. The drainage measures proposed in Appendix D of the Flood Risk Assessment 

(16-021-039 Rev C) prepared by Charles & Associates shall be implemented prior to 
first use of the development hereby approved and thereafter permanently retained 
and maintained.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the site is adequately drained and to avoid the mobilisation of 
contaminants which could find their way into the aquifer, in accordance with Policies CS31 
and CS32 of the Dacorum Core Strategy (2013).  
 

 
 
INFORMATIVES 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 
 
Working Hours 
 
Contractors and sub-contractors must have regard to BS 5228-2:2009 "Code of Practice for 
Noise Control on Construction and Open Sites" and the Control of Pollution Act 1974.  
  
As a guideline, the following hours for noisy works and/or deliveries should be observed: 
Monday to Friday, 7.30am to 5:30pm, Saturday, 8am to 1pm, Sunday and bank holidays - no 
noisy work allowed.  
  
Where permission is sought for works to be carried out outside the hours stated, applications 
in writing must be made with at least seven days' notice to Environmental and Community 

Page 38



Protection Team ecp@dacorum.gov.uk or The Forum, Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead, HP1 
1DN.  Local residents that may be affected by the work shall also be notified in writing, after 
approval is received from the LPA or Environmental Health.  
  
Works audible at the site boundary outside these hours may result in the service of a Notice 
restricting the hours as above.  Breach of the notice may result in prosecution and an 
unlimited fine and/or six months imprisonment.  
  
Construction Dust   
  
Dust from operations on the site should be minimised by spraying with water or by carrying 
out of other such works that may be necessary to supress dust. Visual monitoring of dust is 
to be carried out continuously and Best Practical Means (BPM) should be used at all times. 
The applicant is advised to consider the control of dust and emissions from construction and 
demolition Best Practice Guidance, produced in partnership by the Greater London Authority 
and London Councils. 
  
Waste Management  
 
Under no circumstances should waste produced from construction work be incinerated on 
site. This includes but is not limited to pallet stretch wrap, used bulk bags, building materials, 
product of demolition and so on. Suitable waste management should be in place to reduce, 
reuse, recover or recycle waste product on site, or dispose of appropriately.  
  
Air Quality  
  
As an authority we are looking for all development to support sustainable travel and air 
quality improvements as required by the NPPF. We are looking to minimise the cumulative 
impact on local air quality that ongoing development has, rather than looking at significance. 
This is also being encouraged by DEFRA.  
  
As a result as part of the planning application I would recommend that the applicant be asked 
to propose what measures they can take as part of this new development, to support 
sustainable travel and air quality improvements. These measures may be conditioned 
through the planning consent if the proposals are acceptable.   
  
A key theme of the NPPF is that developments should enable future occupiers to make 
"green" vehicle choices and (paragraph 35) "incorporates facilities for charging plug-in and 
other ultra-low emission vehicles". Therefore an electric vehicle recharging provision rate of 
1 vehicle charging point per 10 spaces (unallocated parking) is expected. To prepare for 
increased demand in future years, appropriate cable provision should be included in the 
scheme design and development, in agreement with the local authority.  
  
Please note that with regard to EV charging for residential units with dedicated parking, we 
are not talking about physical charging points in all units but the capacity to install one. The 
cost of installing appropriate trunking/ducting and a dedicated fuse at the point of build is 
miniscule, compared to the cost of retrofitting an EV charging unit after the fact, without the 
relevant base work in place.   
  
In addition, mitigation in regards to NOx emissions should be addressed in that all gas fired 
boilers to meet a minimum standard of 40 mg NOx/Kwh or consideration of alternative heat 
sources.  
  
Invasive and Injurious Weeds  
 

Page 39



Weeds such as Japanese Knotweed, Giant Hogsweed and Ragwort are having a 
detrimental impact on our environment and may injure livestock. Land owners must not plant 
or otherwise cause to grow in the wild any plant listed on schedule 9 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Developers and land owners should therefore undertake an invasive 
weeds survey before development commences and take the steps necessary to avoid weed 
spread. Further advice can be obtained from the Environment Agency website at 
https://www.gov.uk/japanese-knotweed-giant-hogweed-and-other-invasive-plants  
 
HIGHWAYS 

 
AN1) Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated 
with the construction of this development should be provided within the site on land which is 
not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public highway. If 
this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway Authority before 
construction works commence. 

 
Further information is available via the website: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-d
eveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx 
 
AN2) Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways 
Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the 
free passage along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in 
the public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) 
the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and 
requirements before construction works commence. 
 
Further information is available via the website:  
 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-d
eveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx 

 
AN3) Road Deposits: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit 
mud or other debris on the public highway, and section 149 of the same Act gives the 
Highway Authority powers to remove such material at the expense of the party responsible. 
Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles leaving 
the site during construction of the  development are in a condition such as not to emit 
dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is available 
via the website:  
 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-d
eveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx 
 
AN4) Construction standards for works within the highway: The applicant is advised that in 
order to comply with this permission it will be necessary for the developer of the site to enter 
into an agreement with Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority under Section 
278 of the Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion of the access and 
associated road improvements. The construction of such works must be undertaken to the 
satisfaction and specification of the Highway Authority, and by a contractor who is authorised 
to work in the public highway. Before works commence the applicant will need to apply to the 
Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements. Further information is 
available via the website: 
 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-d
eveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx 

Page 40

https://www.gov.uk/japanese-knotweed-giant-hogweed-and-other-invasive-plants
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx


 
 
 
APPENDIX A: CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 

Consultee 
 

Comments 

Berkhamsted Town 
Council 

22/05/2024 
 
Objection  
  
The Committee strongly objected to this proposed inappropriate 
development on a site protected by Green Belt designation and within 
the Chiltern AONB.  
  
Although a SANG is considered an acceptable development within 
Greenbelt and AONB sites, the SANG proposed is flawed and does not 
satisfy the criteria set out within Dacorum's planning Policies.  
  
The Committee's main objections to the proposal were:  
  
' The site is already an important open space which is protected by 
Greenbelt designation and AONB. It should be preserved and 
enhanced as such to eradicate the loss of valuable open space in 
Berkhamsted.  
 
' The chosen site is wholly inappropriate, given that it is not close to the 
proposed development site in Hemel Hempstead. LA3 is 5.5 miles 
away via London Rd. The residents will drive past multiple other 
suitable sites before getting to this SANG (Gadebridge Park, Shrubhill 
Common, Boxmoor Trust)  
 
' The revised landscaping scheme contravenes the Chilterns 
Management Plan and the Dacorum Local Plan, by way of blocking the 
views of the AONB from Public Rights of Way.  
' There is inadequate pedestrian access for visitors walking to the site 
from other locations.   
 
' Natural England requires a legal agreement between the LPA and the 
applicant regarding step-in rights and future SANG management. The 
application currently lacks this important detail and without it, it is not 
possible to assess fully how the use and maintenance of the site will 
impact the town. 
  
' That, if permission were to be granted, it must be per the Dacorum 
Mitigation Strategy, with a condition in place to ensure that the air of 
relative wildness of the site is maintained in perpetuity.  
 
' There was strong concern about highway safety issues within the 
scheme, including the inappropriate point of access on the unadopted 
access road on Castle Hill. This area is already heavily congested, 
particularly when events take place, and as a result, parked cars on 
either side of Castle Hill and traffic entering and exiting via existing 
access roads. In addition, without parking control, commuters may take 
full advantage of free parking that is a short walk to and from the train 

Page 41



station. The amended Transport Statement fails to address the safety 
issues arising from competition between cars, cyclists, pedestrians and 
dogs all entering and exiting from this narrow access point. 
Schoolchildren crossing at Castle Hill could be endangered by 
increased traffic. Additional traffic coming from outside areas i.e. from 
Hemel Hempstead via Potten End, who will access the site from 
Brownlow Road, will only exacerbate the congestion and safety issues 
within this area  
 
' The car park, vehicle access track, signage, and any other hardware 
should be screened from the view of neighbouring residents and those 
using nearby Public Rights of Way, using native plant species. The 
applicant's amended Landscape Strategy does not include this 
screening.  
 
' The proposed use of permanent fencing does not enhance the 'wild' 
nature within the Chiltern Beechwoods SAC, specifically the Ashridge 
Commons and Woods Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). Any 
fencing as part of measures to increase biodiversity should be 
temporary at best. Berkhamsted School has attempted on several 
occasions to have hedge/fencing on Kitcheners Fields for an enclosed 
playing field which has been refused.  
  
' There are risks to protected species, principally skylarks, which are 
present on the site and are in severe decline nationally. A much more 
comprehensive treatment of the biodiversity issues is required than is 
presently being proposed to ensure that the fullest possible protections 
are being provided. Additionally, the increase of loose lead dog walking 
encouraged by the SANG could negatively impact existing wildlife on 
the site.  
  
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, CS5, Saved Policy 79, Saved 
Policy 97, CS24, CS25, CS12 
 

Berkhamsted Town 
Council 

17/01/2024 
 
Objection  
  
The Committee strongly objected to this proposed inappropriate 
development on a site protected by Green Belt designation and within 
the Chiltern AONB.   
  
The Committee echoed a key objection of both residents and the 
CPRE, which was that, although a SANG is considered an acceptable 
development within Greenbelt and AONB sites, the SANG proposed is 
flawed and does not satisfy the criteria set out in the NPPF, by Natural 
England, or within relevant Dacorum planning Policy.   
  
The Committee agreed with all of the objections raised by the residents, 
and those the Castle Trust, CPRE and Historic England.   
  
The Committee's main objections to the proposal were:   
  
'That the site is already an important open space which is protected by 
Greenbelt designation and AONB. It should be preserved and 

Page 42



enhanced as such as to eradicate the loss of valuable open space in 
Berkhamsted.   
 
' That this chosen site is wholly inappropriate, given that it is not close to 
the proposed development site in Hemel Hempstead. LA3 is 5.5 miles 
away via London Rd. The residents will drive past multiple other 
suitable sites before getting to this SANG (Gadebridge Park, Shrubhill 
Common, Boxmoor Trust)  
 
' That the landscaping scheme contravenes the NPPF, the Chilterns 
Management Plan and the Dacorum Local Plan, by way of blocking the 
views of the AONB from Public Rights of Way.  
  
' That there is inadequate pedestrian access for visitors walking to the 
site from other locations other than the three access points within the 
scheme, contrary to the requirements of the NPPF.   
 
' That the level of management detail necessary to be able to assess 
the long-term viability of the proposed SANG is absent. The SANG 
Delivery Framework Document does not detail who the site will be 
cared for after the first 12 months after establishment. Without this, it is 
not possible to assess fully how the use and maintenance of the site will 
impact on the town.  
 
' There was strong concern about highway safety issues within the 
scheme, including the inappropriate point of access on the unadopted 
access road on Castle Hill. This area is already heavily congested, 
particularly when events take place, and as a result on parked cars on 
either side of Castle Hill and traffic entering and exiting via existing 
access roads. In addition, without parking control commuters may take 
full advantage of free parking that is a short walk to and from the train 
station.  
 
As highlighted by residents, Highways and the CPRE, there is no 
dedicated pedestrian access into the site at Castle Hill, which could 
result in significant danger from an increased number of visitors arriving 
to the site by car, bike, etc., Further, school children crossing at Castle 
Hill could be endangered by increased traffic. Additional traffic coming 
from outside areas i.e. from Hemel Hempstead via Potten End, who will 
access the site from Brownlow Road, will only exacerbate the 
congestion and safety issues within this area.   
 
Highways have requested a detailed Traffic Management Plan to 
protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of the public 
highway and rights of way in accordance with Policies 5, 12, 17 and 22 
of Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 
  
' That, if permission were to be granted, it must be in accordance with 
the Dacorum Mitigation Strategy, with a condition in place to ensure that 
the air of relative wildness of the site be maintained in perpetuity.   
 
' It is unclear whether the proposed fencing within the SANG will be 
temporary, as the use of permanent fencing does not enhance the 'wild' 
nature within the Chiltern Beechwoods SAC, and specifically the 
Ashridge Commons and Woods Site of Special Scientific Interest 

Page 43



(SSSI). Any fencing as part of measures to increase biodiversity should 
be temporary at best.  
 
' The Committee endorsed the objections raised by the Castle Trust and 
Historic England. The site lies close to two existing scheduled 
monuments; the Motte and Castle, development on the basis that it 
would be detrimental to the historic status of these heritage assets and 
would therefore contravene the NPPF's criteria requiring applicants to 
describe the significance of any heritage assets affected by 
development proposals, including any contribution made by their 
setting, using appropriate expertise.  
 
Further, the planning application includes the site referred to as "The 
Labyrinth or First World War training trenches south of Berkhamsted 
Cricket Club" which is currently under consideration for designation as 
a Scheduled Monument. If the site were to be scheduled, them the 
applicant would need to stipulate how harm to this potential heritage 
asset would be satisfactorily reduced and its significance enhanced in 
accordance with National Policy.   
 
' There is a risk to protected species, principally skylarks, which are 
present on the site and are in severe decline nationally. A much more 
comprehensive treatment of the biodiversity issues is required than is 
presently being proposed to ensure that the fullest possible protections 
are being provided. Additionally, the increase of loose lead dog walking 
encouraged by the SANG could negatively impact existing wildlife in the 
site.   
  
NPPF, Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000, CS5, Saved Policy 79, 
Saved Policy 97, CS24, CS25, CS12 
 

Affinity Water - Three 
Valleys Water PLC 

DESCRIPTION: Planning application for the change of use from 
agricultural land to Suitable Accessible Natural Green Space (SANG), 
together with a vehicular access, car park, paths, fencing and 
landscaping  
 
LOCATION: Land At Castle Hill Berkhamsted 
  
Thank you for notification of the above planning application.  
 
Planning applications are referred to us where our input on issues 
relating to water quality or quantity may be required. 
  
You should be aware that the proposed development site is located 
within an Environment Agency defined groundwater Source Protection 
Zone 2 (SPZ2) corresponding to our Pumping Station MARL. This is a 
public water supply, comprising a number of Chalk abstraction 
boreholes, operated by Affinity Water Ltd.  
 
Provided that the below condition is implemented and it has been 
demonstrated that public water supply will not be impacted, we would 
have no objections to the development.  
 
Contamination through Surface Water Drainage:  
 

Page 44



Surface water drainage should use appropriate Sustainable Urban 
Drainage Systems that prevent the mobilisation of any contaminants 
where a direct pathway to the aquifer is present. This should use 
appropriate techniques that prevent direct pathways into the aquifer 
and that ensure sufficient capacity is provided for all surface water to be 
dealt with on site, preventing consequential flooding elsewhere.  
 
Condition 1  
 
Prior to the commencement of development, no works shall be carried 
out until the following has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Affinity Water:  
 

 A Surface Water Drainage Scheme demonstrating appropriate 
use of sustainable urban drainage systems that prevent the 
mobilisation of any contaminants ensuring protection of surface 
and groundwater.  
 
Reason: Surface water drainage can mobilise contaminants into 
the aquifer through infiltration in areas impacted by ground 
contamination. Surface water also has the potential to become 
contaminated and can enter the aquifer through open pathways, 
either created for drainage or moved towards existing open 
pathways where existing drainage has reached capacity. All 
have the potential to impact public water supply.  
 

Issues arising from any of the above can cause critical abstractions to 
switch off resulting in the immediate need for water to be sourced from 
another location, which incurs significant costs and risks of loss of 
supply during periods of high demand.  
 
The construction works and operation of the proposed development site 
should be done in accordance with the relevant British Standards and 
Best Management Practices, thereby significantly reducing the 
groundwater pollution risk.  
 
For further information we refer you to CIRIA Publication C532 "Control 
of water pollution from construction - guidance for consultants and 
contractors".  
 
Water efficiency  
 
Being within a water stressed area, we expect that the development 
includes water efficient fixtures and fittings. Measures such as 
rainwater harvesting and grey water recycling help the environment by 
reducing pressure for abstractions in chalk stream catchments. They 
also minimise potable water use by reducing the amount of potable 
water used for washing, cleaning and watering gardens. This in turn 
reduces the carbon emissions associated with treating this water to a 
standard suitable for drinking, and will help in our efforts to get 
emissions down in the borough. 
  
Infrastructure connections and diversions 
  
There are potentially water mains running through or near to part of 

Page 45



proposed development site. If the development goes ahead as 
proposed, the developer will need to get in contact with our Developer 
Services Team to discuss asset protection or diversionary measures. 
This can be done through the My Developments Portal 
(https://affinitywater.custhelp.com/) or 
aw_developerservices@custhelp.com.  
 
In this location Affinity Water will supply drinking water to the 
development. To apply for a new or upgraded connection, please 
contact our Developer Services Team by going through their My 
Developments Portal (https://affinitywater.custhelp.com/) or 
aw_developerservices@custhelp.com. The Team also handle C3 and 
C4 requests to cost potential water mains diversions. If a water mains 
plan is required, this can also be obtained by emailing 
maps@affinitywater.co.uk. Please note that charges may apply. 
 

Thames Water Thank you for consulting Thames Water on this planning application. 
Having reviewed the details, we have no comments to make at this 
time.  
 
Should the details of the application change, we would welcome the 
opportunity to be re-consulted.  
  

Hertfordshire Highways 
(HCC) 

23/04/2024 
 
AMENDED PROPOSAL  
 
Planning application for the change of use from agricultural land to 
Suitable Accessible Natural Green Space (SANG), together with a 
vehicular access, car park, paths, fencing and landscaping. 
  
Recommendation  
 
Notice is given under article 22 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 that 
Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority does not  
wish to restrict the grant of permission subject to the following 
conditions:  
 
CONDITIONS: 
  
1). New Access 
  
Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, the vehicular 
access shall be provided and thereafter retained at the position shown 
on the approved plan, drawing number 16-021.269 Rev L, Access 
Arrangements. 
 
Arrangement shall be made for surface water drainage to be 
intercepted and disposed of separately  
so that it does not discharge from or onto the highway carriageway.
  
Reason: To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage 
of extraneous material or surface water from or onto the highway in 
accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan  

Page 46



(adopted 2018). 
  
2). Provision of Parking and Servicing Areas  
 
Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, the proposed 
access, onsite car and cycle parking, servicing / loading, unloading / 
turning /waiting area(s) shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced 
and drained in accordance with the approved plan, drawing number 
16-021.269 Rev L, Access Arrangements and retained thereafter 
available for that specific use. 
  
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in 
the interests of highway safety in  
accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan 
(adopted 2018).  
 
3). Construction Traffic Management Statement  
 
No development shall commence until a Construction Traffic 
Management Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the construction of  
the development shall only be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Plan. The Construction Traffic Management Statement shall 
include details of:  
 
a. Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing;  
b. Traffic management requirements;  
c. Construction and storage compounds, including fencing (including 
areas designated for car  
parking);  
d. Timing of construction activities to avoid school pick up/drop off 
times;  
e. Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of 
construction activities; and  
f. Maintenance of access for existing site use.  
 
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other 
users of the public highway and rights of way in accordance with 
Policies 5, 12, 17 and 22 of Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan 
(adopted 2018). 
  
HIGHWAY INFORMATIVES:  
 
HCC as Highway Authority recommends inclusion of the following 
Advisory Note (AN) to ensure that any works within the highway are 
carried out in accordance with the provisions of the Highway Act  
1980.  
 
AN1) Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of 
materials associated with the construction of this development should 
be provided within the site on land which is not public  
highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public 
highway. If this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from the 
Highway Authority before construction works commence.  
 

Page 47



Further information is available via the website:  
 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavem
ents/business-and-developer-information/development-management/h
ighways-development-management.aspx 
  
AN2) Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 
137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or 
excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway 
or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in the public 
highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully 
or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain 
their permission and requirements before construction works 
commence. Further information is available via the website: 
  
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavem
ents/business-and-developer-information/development-management/h
ighways-development-management.aspx 
  
AN3) Road Deposits: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways 
Act 1980 to deposit mud or other debris on the public highway, and 
section 149 of the same Act gives the Highway Authority powers to 
remove such material at the expense of the party responsible. 
Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure 
that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the  
development are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, 
slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is available 
via the website: 
  
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavem
ents/business-and-developer-information/development-management/h
ighways-development-management.aspx 
  
AN4) Construction standards for works within the highway: The 
applicant is advised that in order to comply with this permission it will be 
necessary for the developer of the site to enter into an agreement with 
Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority under Section 278 
of the Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion of the 
access and associated road improvements. The construction of such 
works must be undertaken to the satisfaction and specification of the 
Highway Authority, and by a contractor who is authorised to work in the 
public highway. Before works commence the applicant will need to 
apply to the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and 
requirements. Further information is available via the website: 
  
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavem
ents/business-and-developer-information/development-management/h
ighways-development-management.aspx 
  
COMMENTS:  
 
The applicant seeks planning permission for the following development:
  
Planning application for the change of use from agricultural land to 
Suitable Accessible Natural Green Space (SANG), together with a 

Page 48

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx


vehicular access, car park, paths, fencing and landscaping  
 
The Highway Authority note the submission of materials in support of 
the planning application, including the Transport Statement 
(16-021-038 Rev B) dated April 2024. 
  
The Highway Authority has provided pre-application advice to the 
applicant's transport consultant. 
  
Further to review of the forecast trip generation of the proposed SANG, 
the Highway Authority is content that the development proposal may be 
satisfactorily accommodated on the local highway  
network.  
 
The Transport Statement details the access proposals, as reproduced 
below:  
 
4.2.4 The proposed arrangement would formalise the two existing 
separate accesses to the Kitcheners Field/Berkhamsted School sports 
ground and Cricket Club / SANG. A tactile paved crossing would be 
provided to assist disabled users. 
  
4.2.5 Swept paths on the above drawing show that cars can enter and 
exit the Cricket Club / SANG access simultaneously. 
  
4.2.6 The main access to the SANG would come from the Cricket Club 
access road which functions as a shared space between pedestrians 
and vehicles. Fencing would be provided to prevent parking  
on the verge. 
  
4.2.7 At a point around 80m north of Castle Hill, the SANG access 
would branch off the Cricket Club road to the west using a similar 
shared space arrangement with a height restriction barrier. Swept  
paths in Appendix D show that two cars could pass each other here. A 
new gate would be provided at this point to secure the Cricket Club 
access. 
 
4.2.8 The alignment provides sufficient forward visibility for drivers, 
while avoiding the World War I practice trenches which Historic England 
identified as a heritage asset during the design process. 
  
The arrangement also retains access to the UK Power Networks 
substation on the existing road.  
 
The Transport Statement contains drawing number 16-021.269 Rev L, 
Access Arrangements.  
 
The Highway Authority is content in principle with the proposed access 
arrangement which splits the two existing access points with a central 
pedestrian refuge. 
  
The changes to the access arrangement will require a minor works 
Section 278 agreement. The applicant should apply to the Highway 
Authority to facilitate this agreement.  
 

Page 49



The internal access road and car parking layout is acceptable. It is 
noted that a gate will be fitted in order to prevent unauthorised 
movements. It is recommended that clarification is provided as to the 
operation of the car park outside of daylight hours and whether any 
restrictions will be applied to its usage. 
  
Access to/from the Public Right of Way (Footpath, Berkhamsted 001) 
should not be restricted as part of the proposals and any gate 
arrangement.  
 
The proposed number of parking spaces is a matter for the Local 
Planning Authority, although sufficient space is available for 
satisfactory turning within the car park. A separate area is availablefor 
service/maintenance vehicles for the SANG. The latter area should be 
kept free (aside from authorised maintenance vehicles), as a turning 
area at the northern extent of the public car park. Provision is shown for 
bicycle users.  
 
In summary, the Highway Authority does not wish to restrict the grant of 
planning permission, although recommends the inclusion of the 
aforementioned planning conditions and Advisory Notes  
as part of any positive recommendation. 
 

Hertfordshire Highways 
(HCC) 

11/01/2024 
 
Recommendation 
 
Notice is given under article 22 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 that 
Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority does not 
wish to restrict the grant of permission subject to the following 
conditions: 
 
CONDITIONS: 
 
1). New Access 
 
Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, the vehicular 
access shall be provided and thereafter retained at the position shown 
on the approved plan, drawing number 16-021.269 Rev I. 
 
Access Arrangements 
 
Arrangement shall be made for surface water drainage to be 
intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does not discharge 
from or onto the highway carriageway. 
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage 
of extraneous material or surface water  from or onto the highway 
in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan 
(adopted 2018). 
 
2). Provision of Parking and Servicing Areas 
 
Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, the proposed 

Page 50



access, onsite car and cycle parking, servicing / loading, unloading / 
turning /waiting area(s) shall be laid out, demarcated, 
levelled, surfaced and drained in accordance with the approved plan, 
drawing number 16-021.269 Rev I, Access Arrangements and 
retained thereafter available for that specific use. 
 
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in 
the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy 5 of 
Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 
 
3). Construction Traffic Management Statement 
 
No development shall commence until a Construction Traffic 
Management Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the construction of 
the development shall only be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Plan. The Construction Traffic Management Statement shall 
include details of: 
 
a. Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing; 
b. Traffic management requirements; 
c. Construction and storage compounds, including fencing (including 
areas designated for car 
parking); 
d. Timing of construction activities to avoid school pick up/drop off 
times; 
e. Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of 
construction activities; and 
f. Maintenance of access for existing site use(s) and Right of Way. 
 
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other 
users of the public highway and rights of way in accordance with 
Policies 5, 12, 17 and 22 of Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan 
(adopted 2018). 
 
HIGHWAY INFORMATIVES: 
 
HCC as Highway Authority recommends inclusion of the following 
Advisory Note (AN) to ensure that any works within the highway are 
carried out in accordance with the provisions of the Highway Act 
1980. 
 
AN1) Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of 
materials associated with the construction of this development should 
be provided within the site on land which is not public highway, and the 
use of such areas must not interfere with the public highway. If this is 
not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway 
Authority before construction works commence. 
 
Further information is available via the website: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavem
ents/business-and-developer-information/development-management/h
ighways-development-management.aspx 
 
AN2) Obstruction of public highway land: It is an offence under section 

Page 51

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx


137 of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or 
excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway 
or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in the public 
highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully 
or partly) the applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain 
their permission and requirements before construction works 
commence. 
 
Further information is available via the website: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavem
ents/business-and-developer-information/development-management/h
ighways-development-management.aspx 
 
 
AN3) Road Deposits: It is an offence under section 148 of the Highways 
Act 1980 to deposit mud or other debris on the public highway, and 
section 149 of the same Act gives the Highway Authority powers to 
remove such material at the expense of the party responsible. 
Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure 
that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the  
development are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit mud, 
slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is available 
via the website: 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavem
ents/business-and-developer-information/development-management/h
ighways-development-management.aspx 
 
AN4) Construction standards for works within the highway: The 
applicant is advised that in order to comply with this permission it will be 
necessary for the developer of the site to enter into an agreement with 
Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority under Section 278 
of the Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion of the 
access and associated road improvements. The construction of such 
works must be undertaken to the satisfaction and specification of the 
Highway Authority, and by a contractor who is authorised to work in the 
public highway. Before works commence the applicant will need to 
apply to the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and 
requirements. Further information is available via the website: 
 
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavem
ents/business-and-developer-information/development-management/h
ighways-development-management.aspx 
 
COMMENTS: 
 
The applicant seeks planning permission for the following development: 
Planning application for the change of use from agricultural land to 
Suitable Accessible Natural Green Space (SANG), together with a 
vehicular access, car park, paths, fencing and landscaping 
 
The Highway Authority note the submission of materials in support of 
the planning application, including the Transport Statement. 
 
The Highway Authority has provided pre-application advice to the 
applicant's transport consultant. Further to review of the forecast trip 

Page 52

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-developer-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx


generation of the proposed SANG, the Highway Authority is content 
that the development proposal may be satisfactorily accommodated on 
the local highway network. 
 
The Transport Statement details the access proposals, as reproduced 
below: 4.2.5 The proposed arrangement would formalise the two 
existing separate accesses to the Kitcheners Field/Berkhamsted 
School sports ground and Cricket Club / SANG. Swept paths on the 
above drawing show that cars can enter and exit the Cricket Club / 
SANG access simultaneously. 
 
4.2.6 The main access to the SANG would come from the Cricket Club 
access road which functions as a shared space between pedestrians 
and vehicles. A height barrier would be provided at the start 
of this road, and fencing would be provided to prevent parking on the 
verge. 
 
4.2.7 At a point around 80m north of Castle Hill, the SANG access 
would branch off the Cricket Club road to the west using a similar 
shared space arrangement at 4.8m carriageway width. A new gate 
would be provided at this point to secure the Cricket Club access. 
 
4.2.8 The alignment provides sufficient forward visibility for drivers, 
while avoiding the World War I practice trenches which were identified 
as a heritage asset during the design process. 
 
The arrangement retains access to the UK Power Networks substation 
on the existing road. The Transport Statement contains drawing 
number 16-021.269 Rev I, Access Arrangements. The Highway 
Authority is content in principle with the proposed access arrangement 
which splits the two existing access points with a central pedestrian 
refuge. The latter is shown at 1.2m wide, although the Highway 
Authority would recommend an adjustment to afford up to a 1.8m width. 
The changes to the access arrangement will require a minor works 
Section 278 agreement. The applicant should apply to the 
Highway Authority to facilitate this agreement. 
 
The internal access road and car parking layout is acceptable. It is 
noted that a gate will be fitted in order to prevent unauthorised 
movements. It is recommended that clarification is provided as to the 
operation of the car park outside of daylight hours and whether any 
restrictions will be applied to its usage. No restrictions should be 
applicable to the usage of the Right of Way. 
 
The proposed number of parking spaces is a matter for the Local 
Planning Authority, although sufficient space is available for 
satisfactory turning within the car park. A separate area is available for 
service/maintenance vehicles for the SANG. The latter area should be 
kept free (aside from authorised maintenance vehicles), as a turning 
area at the northern extent of the public car park. Provision is shown for 
bicycle users. 
 
In summary, the Highway Authority does not wish to restrict the grant of 
planning permission, although recommends the inclusion of the 
aforementioned planning conditions and Advisory Notes as 

Page 53



part of any positive recommendation. 
 

Environmental And 
Community Protection 
(DBC) 

Having reviewed the application submission and the Environmental 
Protection (ECP) Team records I am able to confirm that there is no 
objection on the grounds of land contamination. Also, there is no 
requirement for further contaminated land information to be provided, or 
for contaminated land planning conditions to be recommended in 
relation to this application. 
 
With reference to the above planning application, please be advised the 
Environmental Health Pollution Team have no objections or concerns 
re noise, odour or air quality. However I would recommend the 
application is subject to informatives for waste management, 
construction working hours with Best Practical Means for dust, Air 
Quality and Invasive and Injurious Weeds which we respectfully request 
to be included in the decision notice.    
  
Working Hours Informative  
 
Contractors and sub-contractors must have regard to BS 5228-2:2009 
"Code of Practice for Noise Control on Construction and Open Sites" 
and the Control of Pollution Act 1974.  
  
As a guideline, the following hours for noisy works and/or deliveries 
should be observed: Monday to Friday, 7.30am to 5:30pm, Saturday, 
8am to 1pm, Sunday and bank holidays - no noisy work allowed.  
  
Where permission is sought for works to be carried out outside the 
hours stated, applications in writing must be made with at least seven 
days' notice to Environmental and Community Protection Team 
ecp@dacorum.gov.uk or The Forum, Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead, 
HP1 1DN.  Local residents that may be affected by the work shall also 
be notified in writing, after approval is received from the LPA or 
Environmental Health.  
  
Works audible at the site boundary outside these hours may result in 
the service of a Notice restricting the hours as above.  Breach of the 
notice may result in prosecution and an unlimited fine and/or six months 
imprisonment.  
  
Construction Dust Informative  
  
Dust from operations on the site should be minimised by spraying with 
water or by carrying out of other such works that may be necessary to 
supress dust. Visual monitoring of dust is to be carried out continuously 
and Best Practical Means (BPM) should be used at all times. The 
applicant is advised to consider the control of dust and emissions from 
construction and demolition Best Practice Guidance, produced in 
partnership by the Greater London Authority and London Councils. 
  
Waste Management Informative  
 
Under no circumstances should waste produced from construction work 
be incinerated on site. This includes but is not limited to pallet stretch 
wrap, used bulk bags, building materials, product of demolition and so 

Page 54



on. Suitable waste management should be in place to reduce, reuse, 
recover or recycle waste product on site, or dispose of appropriately.  
  
Air Quality Informative 
  
As an authority we are looking for all development to support 
sustainable travel and air quality improvements as required by the 
NPPF. We are looking to minimise the cumulative impact on local air 
quality that ongoing development has, rather than looking at 
significance. This is also being encouraged by DEFRA.  
  
As a result as part of the planning application I would recommend that 
the applicant be asked to propose what measures they can take as part 
of this new development, to support sustainable travel and air quality 
improvements. These measures may be conditioned through the 
planning consent if the proposals are acceptable.   
  
A key theme of the NPPF is that developments should enable future 
occupiers to make "green" vehicle choices and (paragraph 35) 
"incorporates facilities for charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission 
vehicles". Therefore an electric vehicle recharging provision rate of 1 
vehicle charging point per 10 spaces (unallocated parking) is expected. 
To prepare for increased demand in future years, appropriate cable 
provision should be included in the scheme design and development, in 
agreement with the local authority.  
  
Please note that with regard to EV charging for residential units with 
dedicated parking, we are not talking about physical charging points in 
all units but the capacity to install one. The cost of installing appropriate 
trunking/ducting and a dedicated fuse at the point of build is miniscule, 
compared to the cost of retrofitting an EV charging unit after the fact, 
without the relevant base work in place.   
  
In addition, mitigation in regards to NOx emissions should be 
addressed in that all gas fired boilers to meet a minimum standard of 40 
mg NOx/Kwh or consideration of alternative heat sources.  
  
Invasive and Injurious Weeds - Informative  
Weeds such as Japanese Knotweed, Giant Hogsweed and Ragwort 
are having a detrimental impact on our environment and may injure 
livestock. Land owners must not plant or otherwise cause to grow in the 
wild any plant listed on schedule 9 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981. Developers and land owners should therefore undertake an 
invasive weeds survey before development commences and take the 
steps necessary to avoid weed spread. Further advice can be obtained 
from the Environment Agency website at 
https://www.gov.uk/japanese-knotweed-giant-hogweed-and-other-inva
sive-plants  
 

Hertfordshire Ecology 03/05/2024 
 
Overall Recommendation:  
  
Modest amendments to the SANG Delivery Framework Document are 
required before the application can be determined. Once agreed the 

Page 55



application can be determined subject to the addition of the 
recommended conditions to any consent.  
 
Summary of Advice:  
 
o The comments in my previous letter still stand and, accordingly, the 
following still apply:  
 

 A biodiversity net gain should be secured by condition;  

 The site meets the SANG Quality Guidelines; 

 When certain amendments are made, the SANG Delivery 
Framework Document should be secured by condition; and  

 Post-determination, until legal and other arrangements relating 
to the management body and step-in rights are resolved, we will 
advise the Council to not consent any applications for housing 
that seek to rely on the Castle Hill SANG as mitigation for 
adverse impacts on the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC.  
 

Supporting documents: 
  
I have made particular use of the following documents in providing this 
advice:  
 

 SANG Delivery Framework Document Rev-C, CSA 
environmental, March 2024;  

 SANG Area Exclusion Plan, CSA environmental, April 2024 

 Design & Access Statement, CSA environmental, April 2024 (or 
DAS);  

 (Amended) Landscape Strategy (Drawing No: CSA/6667/15), 
CSA environmental, October 2023; and 

 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Rev-D, CSA environmental, 
March 2024 (or PEA).  
 

I also draw on Natural England's views on this application as expressed 
in its letters of 30 April, and, previously, 30 January 2024.  
 
Comments:  
 
Thank you for your letter of 18 April 2024 which refers, and for 
consulting Herts LEADS (Ecology).  
 
I commented on a previous iteration of this proposed development by 
letter of 1 February 2024 and that this consultation relates to the 
submission of a series of amended documents and the provision of new 
ones.  
 
However, although an 'amended landscaping strategy' has been 
uploaded, it remains dated October 2023 and whilst I can see changes 
around car parking, notably a decrease from 38 to 25 spaces and the 
introduction of an SANG exclusion zone , I am unclear if any other, 
more subtle changes have been made. In the absence of any other 
information to the contrary, I will presume not. In addition, I note that a 
revised biodiversity metric has not been provided although the PEA 
provides amended figures.  

Page 56



 
Now, a biodiversity net gain of 71.33 habitat units (60.9%) and, with no 
change from previously, a gain of 4.61 hedgerow units (or 16.71%) is 
predicted. Taking account of the SANG area itself, this means a 
predicted net gain of 58.05 habitat units for the entire site. The 
previously submitted metric followed best practice including, 
importantly, the allocation between SANG and 'non-SANG' 
components of the application and so I have no reason to doubt the new 
net gain assessment, the underpinning spreadsheet must be provided.
  
In broad ecological terms though, little has changed between this and 
the previous iteration. Accordingly, the advice, provided in my letter of 1 
February still stands and is summarised above. Central to this is my 
recommendation to take full account of Natural England's advice. 
 

Hertfordshire Ecology 02/02/2024 
 
Planning application for the change of use from agricultural land to 
Suitable Accessible Natural Green Space (SANG), together with a 
vehicular access, car park, paths, fencing and landscaping  
Proposed SANG Site, Castle Hill, Berkhamsted, Hertfordshire 
  
ECOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
Thank you for consulting this office on the above application.  
Overall Recommendation: 
  
Modest amendments to the SANG Delivery Framework Document are 
required before the application can be determined.  Once agreed the 
application can be determined subject to the addition of the 
recommended conditions to any consent. 
  
Summary of Advice:  
 

 A biodiversity net gain should be secured by condition; 

 The site meets the SANG Quality Guidelines;  

 When certain amendments are made, the SANG Delivery 
Framework Document should be secured by condition; and  

 Post-determination, until legal and other arrangements relating 
to the management body and step-in rights are resolved, we will 
advise the Council to not consent any applications for housing 
that seek to rely on the Castle Hill SANG as mitigation for 
adverse impacts on the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC. 
  

Supporting documents:  
 
I have made particular use of the following documents in providing this 
advice:  
 

 SANG Delivery Framework Document Rev-A, CSA 
environmental, November 2023; 

 Design & Access Statement, CSA environmental, November 
2023 (or DAS);  

 Landscape Strategy (Drawing No: CSA/6667/15), CSA 

Page 57



environmental, October 2023; 

 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Rev-C, CSA environmental, 
November 2023 (or PEA);  

 Biodiversity metric 4.0, 22 November 2023; and  

 Planning Statement, Savills, November 2023  
 

I also draw on Natural England's views on this application as expressed 
in its letter of 30 January 2024.  
 
Comments:  
 
Thank you for your letter of 20 December 2023 which refers, and for 
consulting Herts LEADS (Ecology); I apologise for the delay with this 
reply.  
 
I note this remains an application to develop a SANG and it is not 
associated with any current planning applications for housing.  
The proposed development raises several ecological issues which are 
taken in turn below.  
 
Ecological assessment 
  
The Hertfordshire Environmental Records Centre holds no records of 
notable ecological significance for this site or the area that could 
potentially be adversely affected by this development proposal. This 
suggests a site of modest ecological value.  
 
In contrast, the PEA described the site as: '… dominated by 
short-grazed neutral grassland in unfavourable condition, albeit with 
remnant chalk grassland areas and some notable trees and 
hedgerows.' and whilst acknowledging that various features enjoyed 
varying degrees of protection in policy and law went on to state:  
'… the use of the Site as a SANG and related informal recreation is 
unlikely to result in significant adverse effects …’  
and that the project is: '… predicted to have a beneficial effect upon 
ecological interests.'  
 
I consider that the PEA, associated reports and surveys are up to date, 
reflect best practice, and can be considered fit for purpose and describe 
a site of considerable local ecological value (in contrast to the evidence 
on HERC).  Overall, in principle, I have no reason to disagree with this 
outcome. 
  
Avoidance/Mitigation/Compensation/Enhancement  
 
However, this positive outcome was dependent on the adoption of a 
series of avoidance, mitigation and compensation measures described 
in sections 5.5 & 5.6 comprising the installation of waste bins, the 
protection of important trees and hedgerows and signage, the 
restoration of chalk grassland, tree planting and gapping-up of 
hedgerows.  
 
Although only brief details are provided in the PEA, I consider they 
represent reasonable and pragmatic proposals that bring with them a 

Page 58



degree of confidence they will effectively reduce the impact of the 
proposals and safeguard future management of the site. 
  
These would normally merit a condition to secure their implementation 
but as many are incorporated within the SANG Delivery Framework 
Document, I refer to the SANG section below for this. 
  
Importantly, this addresses certain apparent inconsistencies between 
the PEA and the SANG Delivery Framework Document.  
 
Biodiversity net gain  
 
A biodiversity net gain of 72.83 habitat units (61.35%) and 4.61 
hedgerow units (16.71%) is predicted, of which 59.55 habitat units 
apply solely to the SANG.  The metric follows best practice including, 
importantly, the allocation between SANG and 'non-SANG' 
components of the application.  
 
Ultimately, only long-term monitoring would demonstrate how these 
communities develop and whether the considerable net gain claimed is 
being achieved.  In time, this may require changes in management if 
not.  However, I remain satisfied that a BNG in excess of the 
Government's proposed (and soon to be mandatory) minimum 
requirement of 10% could be delivered for both the SANG and 
'non-SANG' components of the proposed development.  
 
Consequently, I have no reason to disagree with the outcomes shown, 
and, therefore, I am of the opinion that the delivery of a biodiversity net 
gain should not represent a fundamental constraint on the proposed 
development or reason for objection.  
 
However, I note the planning statement states that this net gain will be 
delivered 'where possible'.  As the net gain has been proposed but is 
not yet mandatory, it is assumed that the applicant wishes that 
considerable weight will be attached to this.  Therefore, it should not be 
seen as optional.  The predictions have been made and must be 
achieved.  
 
However, there is no guarantee this would be delivered and 
furthermore, best practice demands that a biodiversity net gain plan is 
secured by condition.  I therefore suggest the following wording:  
 "Prior to the commencement of development, a Biodiversity Net Gain 
Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Council.  This 
will describe, in appropriate detail, how the predicted net gain for 
habitats and hedgerows respectively, will be delivered and sustained 
for a minimum period of 30 years."  
 
I consider it would be acceptable for this to form part of the SANG 
Delivery Framework Document or as a standalone report.  Whichever 
option is chosen, it is essential the net gain plan describes how the 
predicted gain will be achieved and maintained alongside the use of the 
site as a SANG recreational pressure and the recreational pressure it 
brings.  
 
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) 

Page 59



  
In its response, Natural England has confirmed that the site meets the 
SANG Quality Guidelines.  From the description provided I have no 
reason to disagree with this.  
 
The management of the SANG is proposed to be secured via 
implementation of the SANG Delivery Framework Document itself to be 
secured via a condition or s106 agreement.  I consider the document 
and the approach to implementation to be reasonable, proportionate, 
up-to-date and fit for purpose for this stage of the planning process, 
although the following caveats apply.  
 
Certain inconsistencies are apparent between the recommendations in 
the PEA and those described in the SANG Delivery Framework 
Document.  Natural England highlighted the same concerns in points 2 
& 3 of page 3 of its letter and recommends these be incorporated within 
a revised SANG Delivery Framework Document.  I agree.  
However, I would also go further and request the document should also 
amended to make specific reference to the need to amend future 
management regimes to safeguard the remaining and any future 
anthills from public pressure or mowing.  
 
The SANG Delivery Framework Document should be amended prior to 
determination.  Once amended to our satisfaction, I recommend the 
SANG Delivery Framework Document should be secured by condition 
or within a s106; at this later stage, full details relating to the long-term 
management of the SANG must be provided. 
  
Furthermore, in points 3 & 4 on page 3 and under 'Additional Advice on 
pages 3 & 4 of its letter, Natural England also describes at length its 
concerns with the identification of a management company and step-in 
rights.  I endorse these views and there is no need for me to state the 
same other than to emphasise the importance of Natural England's 
advice.  
 
Post-determination, until legal and other arrangements relating to the 
management body and step-in rights are resolved, we will advise the 
Council to not consent any applications for housing that seek to rely on 
the Castle Hill SANG as mitigation for adverse impacts on the Chilterns 
Beechwoods SAC.  
 

BCA Townscape Group The BCA Townscape Group wishes to OBJECT STRONGLY to the 
above planning application situated in the AONB and Green Belt.   
   
It wishes to associate itself with the reasons for objection listed by 
Berkhamsted Town Council, Berkhamsted Castle Trust, CPRE Herts, 
Historic England, the Chiltern Society and numerous local residents 
who Object (39 to date).   
   
The BCA Townscape Group is also concerned that, although 
designated a 'Constraint' it is not listed a a 'Consultee' and was not 
informed as usual of this application.  Please record this objection as 
from a 'consultee'.  
 

Natural England 29/04/2024 

Page 60



 
SUMMARY OF NATURAL ENGLAND'S ADVICE  
NO OBJECTION - TECHNICAL SANG COMMENTS  
  
Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the 
proposed development will not have significant adverse impacts on 
statutorily protected nature conservation sites or landscapes.  
  
HOWEVER  
  
The planning application documents do not include a legal agreement 
between the LPA and the applicant regarding step-in rights and future 
SANG management.  
  
Without these safeguards, there is risk that default could be made upon 
the SANG; it then ceases to displace people away from the SAC. NE is 
of the opinion, as it stands, that there is insufficient information to satisfy 
us that the site could function as mitigation for adverse impacts on the 
Chilterns Beechwoods SAC for in perpetuity. 
  
Thus, NE will object to any proposed housing developments that rely on 
the Castle Hill SANG as mitigation for adverse impacts on the Chilterns 
Beechwoods SAC, until such time that a legal agreement between the 
applicant and the LPA regarding step-in rights has been signed and 
more information has been provided regarding the in perpetuity 
management of the SANG.  
  
Please notify NE once progress on the above has been made, and we 
can then reconsider our position.  
  
The application is for a change of use from agricultural land to a 
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG), together with 
provision of a new car park, and has been the subject of a 
pre-application Discretionary Advice Service contract between the 
developer and Natural England.  
  
Please refer to Natural England's previous advice letter dated 30 
January 2024 for our detailed comments on the proposals. We note that 
the location of the SANG car park has changed slightly and that account 
has been taken of the distance cricket balls may fly in the design of the 
SANG. We have no comments on the revised car parking plans, other 
than to note that the required number of car parking spaces are being 
offered, at 1 space/ha of SANG.  
  
Natural England also notes that the Design and Access Statement 
(CSA, April 2024) has been updated to reflect the new car parking 
configuration and the Cricket Ball Strike Assessment (Labosport, March 
2024). As per NE's previous request, page 35 of the revised Design and 
Access Statement has an updated calculation for the SANG hectarage 
that will have public access within the red line boundary (i.e. not fenced 
off from the public) and, in turn, the Design and Access Statement has 
provided an updated maximum SANG capacity, which NE agrees with.
  
Natural England reconfirms that the proposed Castle Hill SANG does 
meet the NE SANG Quality Guidelines and in principal we have no 

Page 61



issue with it being designated a SANG, pending the following points. 
  

1. The SANG is to be created as set out in the 'SANG Delivery 
Framework Document for Castle Hill SANG, Berkhamsted' 
(CSA, November 2023), which should be made a condition of 
the planning consent, to ensure that the SANG is created and 
managed according to the NE SANG Guidelines (2021). 
 

2. A management company, trust/charity or the LPA is to be 
named as managers of the SANG prior to approving the SANG 
for mitigation, and a legal agreement secured between the 
applicant / their client and the management company/body, to 
secure the funding of the SANG management via a commuted 
sum/endowment (see additional advice below).  
 

3. A legal agreement between the applicant / their client and the 
LPA regarding step-in rights and management of the SANG in 
perpetuity has been signed by both parties (see additional 
advice below).  

  
Additional Advice - Relating to the use of this proposed SANG as 
mitigation in future  
  
The Castle Hill SANG is to be relied upon to mitigate adverse 
recreational pressure impacts on the integrity of the Chilterns 
Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation (SAC) of developments 
within the 5km catchment area of the SANG. As such, the SANG must 
be approved by Natural England and is expected to follow Natural 
England's published SANG Guidelines. This is in order that an 
appropriate assessment undertaken by the Responsible Authority (in 
this case Dacorum Borough Council) can conclude that there is 
sufficient certainty that the Castle Hill SANG mitigation measure will 
make an effective contribution to avoiding harm, guaranteeing beyond 
all reasonable doubt that a planning application which relies on the 
SANG mitigation will not adversely affect the integrity of the Chilterns 
Beechwoods SAC.  
  
Please refer to Natural England's previous letter (dated 30 January 
2024) regarding comments on the 'SANG Delivery Framework 
Document for Castle Hill SANG, Berkhamsted' (CSA, November 2023). 
NE notes that this document has not been updated since the previous 
consultation. As such, NE's previous comments on the 'SANG Delivery 
Framework Document for Castle Hill SANG, Berkhamsted' still stand.
  
Natural England requires a management company, trust/charity or LPA 
to be named as managers of the SANG prior to the SANG being used 
as mitigation, and a legal agreement secured between the applicant / 
their client and the management company/body, to secure the funding 
of the SANG management via a commuted sum/endowment. This 
requirement ensures that SANG management is secured and funded in 
perpetuity (taken to be a minimum of 80 years).  
  
Natural England's order of preference for transferring long-term 
management of the SANG to a management body is as follows:  
  

Page 62



1) The Local Planning Authority, who may wish to make use of any 
spare capacity as they see fit in return for agreeing to manage 
the SANG in perpetuity;  

 
2) The Land Trust or similar body;  

 
3) A new management company set up by the applicant / their 

client.  
  
If the SANG is to be managed by a third party management company, 
step-in rights will need to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. The LPA should provide confirmation that they will provide 
step-in-rights for the proposed SANG management company. Step-in 
rights may not be required if charities such as the Land Trust are the 
managing body. If step-in rights are needed, then NE would require 
written confirmation of the LPA's agreement to take on the site and 
appropriate wording to be incorporated in the legal agreement. This is 
to ensure that the SANG would be managed by the LPA in perpetuity 
should the management company cease trading.  
  
Without a legal agreement between the applicant / their client and the 
LPA regarding step-in rights and subsequent securing of the SANG 
management, NE is of the opinion that the SANG may not be 
adequately managed in perpetuity to fulfil its function as mitigation for 
adverse impacts on the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC.  
  
As it currently stands, NE will object to any housing developments that 
rely on the Castle Hill SANG as mitigation for adverse impacts on the 
Chilterns Beechwoods SAC. 
 

Natural England 30/01/2024 
 
SUMMARY OF NATURAL ENGLAND'S ADVICE 
NO OBJECTION - TECHNICAL SANG COMMENTS 
 
Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the 
proposed development will not have significant adverse impacts on 
statutorily protected nature conservation sites or landscapes. 
 
HOWEVER 
 
The planning application documents do not include a legal agreement 
between the LPA and the applicant regarding step-in rights and future 
SANG management. 
 
Without these safeguards, there is risk that default could be made upon 
the SANG; it then ceases to displace people away from the SAC. NE is 
of the opinion, as it stands, that there is insufficient information to satisfy 
us that the site could function as mitigation for adverse impacts on the 
Chilterns Beechwoods SAC for in perpetuity. 
 
Thus, NE will object to any proposed housing developments that rely on 
the Haresfoot SANG as mitigation for adverse impacts on the Chilterns 
Beechwoods SAC, until such time that a legal agreement between the 
applicant and the LPA regarding step-in rights has been signed and 

Page 63



more information has been provided regarding the in perpetuity 
management of the SANG. 
 
Please notify NE once progress on the above has been made, and we 
can then reconsider our position. 
 
The application is for a change of use from agricultural land to a 
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG), together with 
provision of a new car park, and has been the subject of a 
pre-application Discretionary Advice Service contract between the 
developer and Natural England. 
 
NE advice on SANG design as part of DAS contract  CSA 
Environmental asked Natural England to provide advice on Suitable 
Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) at Castle Hill, Berkhamsted, 
which included one site visit, conducted on 14 February 2023. 
 
The proposed SANG occupies the slopes of a narrow dry valley that 
slopes down to the southeast and the base of Castle Hill, at the northern 
edge of Berkhamsted. It is surrounded to the north by undulating, mixed 
arable farmland and grassland. Overall, the site was deemed by Natural 
England to be a very good candidate for a SANG, with its varied 
topography, views and good location close to Berkhamsted. The site 
has the potential to intercept potential visitors travelling north from 
Berkhamsted or Hemel Hempstead to the Chilterns Beechwoods 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC). Despite being close to the existing 
settlement of Berkhamsted, the proposed SANG has a rural feel. 
Natural England advised on the requirement for some screening of 
adjacent properties. 
 
The proposed SANG has the potential for good car access from the 
south, with parking not likely to be prominent in the landscape due to 
the surrounding topography. Natural England advised that some 
consideration of parking restrictions is likely to be required due to the 
proximity of the train station, in order to avoid the SANG car park being 
used by commuters. NE also advised that some form of low fencing / 
bollards is likely to be needed on both sides of the access road, to 
prevent parking on verges. 
 
At the time of the site visit, the proposed location for the car park 
intersected with a fallen dead tree. Our advice was to ensure that the 
deadwood be moved to a suitable new location on site as close as 
possible to the original location, and not removed from site. 
 
Existing use by the public along the Public Rights of Way footpath, 
including by dog walkers, suggests that the SANG is proposed for a 
location that the public will use, which is welcomed. Natural England 
advised that, given that existing use was limited to the Public Rights of 
Way footpath, the site was not under significant existing use and a 
visitor survey was not required as part of the SANG proposal. 
 
Given the topography and existing nature of the site as open grassland 
with thin woodland belts, Natural England advised that the SANG 
proposals should aim to create a 'parkland' character open space, with 
existing grassland to be retained / enhanced (i.e. increasing the species 

Page 64



richness) and scattered parkland trees planted. The existing trees and 
deadwood features would provide additional interest for visitors. Natural 
England advised that the south facing grassland had potential to be 
restored to species-rich grassland in excess of SANG requirements 
(e.g. for BNG). 
 
Natural England advised that new woodland/native scrub should be 
planted along the southwest boundary to soften the interface with 
adjacent properties and provide additional habitat interest. 
In terms of the visitor experience to the SANG, Natural England advised 
that the proposals for the SANG should consider the inclusion of a 
bench / picnic bench at the northwest corner of the site (as well as at 
strategic viewpoint locations throughout the site), for those wishing to 
make the most of walking the whole site. We also advised including a 
natural play area to enhance the draw of the site for visitors; placement 
of a natural play area close to the entrance and car park would 
generally be appropriate to maximise use. Finally, we advised that 
consideration should be given to the provision of other amenities similar 
to the experience at Ashridge, such as toilets and shop/café where 
viable, in order to further enhance the attractiveness of the SANG to 
visitors. 
 
Natural England confirms that the proposed Castle Hill SANG does 
meet the NE SANG Quality Guidelines and in principal we have no 
issue with it being designated a SANG, pending the following points. 

1. The SANG is to be created as set out in the 'SANG Delivery 
Framework Document for Castle Hill SANG, Berkhamsted' 
(CSA, November 2023), which should be made a condition of 
the planning consent, to ensure that the SANG is created and 
managed according to the NE SANG Guidelines (2021). 
 

2. The total useable SANG area should be updated in all of the 
planning application documents that make reference to it, to 
exclude areas of the SANG that will be fenced off with 'post and 
wire' fencing. These are the small copses of tree planting, the 
fence around the area of existing ecological interest, and the 
areas between the outer and inner fences along the SANG 
boundary, shown in Appendix D of 'SANG Delivery Framework 
Document for Castle Hill SANG, Berkhamsted' (CSA, 
November 2023). Areas where members of the public are 
excluded from walking do not count towards SANG capacity. 
 

3. The 'SANG Delivery Framework Document for Castle Hill 
SANG, Berkhamsted' (CSA, November 2023) should ideally be 
updated to include the provision of benches, and possibly 1-2 
picnic benches, along the SANG circular route, e.g. at 
viewpoints, to enhance the visitor experience and provide 
resting points along the way. The locations of these benches 
should be shown on an updated SANG Landscape Strategy 
Plan (Appendix D of 'SANG Delivery Framework Document for 
Castle Hill SANG, Berkhamsted' (CSA, November 2023)). 
 

4. A management company, trust/charity or the LPA is to be 
named as managers of the SANG prior to approving the SANG 
for mitigation, and a legal agreement secured between the 

Page 65



applicant / their client and the management company/body, to 
secure the funding of the SANG management via a commuted 
sum/endowment (see additional advice below). 
 

5. A legal agreement between the applicant / their client and the 
LPA regarding step-in rights and management of the SANG in 
perpetuity has been signed by both parties (see additional 
advice below). 

 
Additional Advice - Relating to the use of this proposed SANG as 
mitigation in future 
 
The Castle Hill SANG is to be relied upon to mitigate adverse 
recreational pressure impacts on the integrity of the Chilterns 
Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation (SAC) of developments 
within the 5km catchment area of the SANG. As such, the SANG must 
be approved by Natural England and is expected to follow Natural 
England's published SANG Guidelines. This is in order that an 
appropriate assessment undertaken by the Responsible Authority (in 
this case Dacorum Borough Council) can conclude that there is 
sufficient certainty that the Castle Hill SANG mitigation measure will 
make an effective contribution to avoiding harm, guaranteeing beyond 
all reasonable doubt that a planning application which relies on the 
SANG mitigation will not adversely affect the integrity of the Chilterns 
Beechwoods SAC. 
 
Lack of clarity regarding management company for the SANG 
 
The 'SANG Delivery Framework Document for Castle Hill SANG, 
Berkhamsted' (CSA, November 2023) includes a section on capital 
works to create the SANG and information on the ongoing aftercare and 
maintenance of the landscape planting of the proposed Castle Hill 
SANG. Natural England welcomes the information provided in Chapters 
4 and 5 of the 'SANG Delivery Framework Document for Castle Hill 
SANG, Berkhamsted' (CSA, November 2023). 
 
However, paragraph 4.3 on pages 20-21 of the 'SANG Delivery 
Framework Document for Castle Hill SANG, Berkhamsted' (CSA, 
November 2023) states the following: 
 
Following this period [the first 12 months following establishment of the 
SANG planting], a suitable future managing agent will need to be put in 
place to secure the future maintenance of the newly created SANG in 
perpetuity. It is anticipated that this will be a suitably qualified 
Management Partner, as appointed by the applicant, who can 
demonstrate a track record in the management of SANG land. The 
Management Partner will take on the management responsibility for the 
SANG in perpetuity. 
 
Paragraph 4.5 states that 'Full details of the future management and 
maintenance of the SANG is anticipated to be secured via planning 
condition and/or the s106 agreement'. Natural England requires a 
management company, trust/charity or LPA to be named as managers 
of the SANG prior to approving the SANG for mitigation, and a legal 
agreement secured between the applicant / their client and the 

Page 66



management company/body, to secure the funding of the SANG 
management via a commuted sum/endowment. This requirement 
ensures that SANG management is secured and funded in perpetuity 
(taken to be a minimum of 80 years). 
 
Natural England's order of preference for transferring long-term 
management of the SANG to a management body is as follows: 
 

1) the Local Planning Authority, who may wish to make use of any 
spare capacity as they see fit in return for agreeing to manage 
the SANG in perpetuity; 

2) The Land Trust or similar body; 
3) A new management company set up by the applicant / their 

client. 
 

If the SANG is to be managed by a third party management company, 
step-in rights will need to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. The LPA should provide confirmation that they will provide 
step-in-rights for the proposed SANG management company. Step-in 
rights may not be required if charities such as the Land Trust are the 
managing body. If step-in rights are needed, then NE would require 
written confirmation of the LPA's agreement to take on the site and 
appropriate wording to be incorporated in the legal agreement. This is 
to ensure that the SANG would be managed by the LPA in perpetuity 
should the management company cease trading. 
 
Without a legal agreement between the applicant / their client and the 
LPA regarding step-in rights and subsequent securing of the SANG 
management, NE is of the opinion that the SANG may not be 
adequately managed in perpetuity to fulfil its function as mitigation for 
adverse impacts on the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC. 
 
As it currently stands, NE will object to any housing developments that 
rely on the Castle Hill SANG as mitigation for adverse impacts on the 
Chilterns Beechwoods SAC. 
 
If you have any queries relating to the advice in this letter please contact 
me via fiona.martin@naturalengland.org.uk. 
 

Conservation & Design 
(DBC) 

17/05/2024 
 
The application is for the change of use of arable fields to an area of 
Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space (SANG) to mitigate the 
potential recreational impacts of residential development upon the 
Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation ('SAC').  
  
The site lies within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB) and the Green Belt. It extends to the north of Castle Hill, at the 
northern edge of Berkhamsted.   
  
The site, now agricultural land, was historically part of the medieval 
deer park associated with Berkhamsted Castle (a Scheduled 
Monument, lying within the Berkhamsted Conservation Area). 
Berkhamsted Castle deer park is a heritage asset of considerable 
significance, it also forms part of the setting of Berkhamsted Castle and 

Page 67



contributes to its significance. Berkhamsted Castle comprises one of 
the best preserved medieval earthworks in the country, it was the site 
where William Conqueror accepted the crown, and was the economic 
and social driver for the development of Berkhamsted itself.   
  
The First World War Training Trenches and associated earthworks 
south of Berkhamsted Cricket Club have recently been designated a 
Scheduled Monument and the application has been amended, moving 
the car parking and access road further from this archaeological site / 
earthworks. We note Historic England are now supportive of the 
application however the Archaeological Desk Based Assessment 
(March 2024) does not include any details of the earthworks survey in 
Appendix E - for completeness can the report be updated to include this 
information.  
  
The Scheduled Monument to the east of the cricket club is the site of a 
Roman Building. Little is known about this site (first identified in 1970 
and a Roman coin identified in 1976.) It is not clear if there would be any 
impact upon this if the remains extend into the proposed SANG site.
  
The earth bank (Archaeological DBA, para. 4.35 / 4.36), and hollow way  
dating from any period from the prehistoric, roman or medieval period, 
may in fact relate to the 'designed landscape' of the Park, and surely 
requires additional investigation to substantiate its significance?  
  
The inclusion of interpretation boards within the SANG site is welcomed 
but these need to be co-ordinated and well researched by a specialist to 
ensure they tie into the site and its wider surroundings, and provide the 
necessary heritage benefit. The design of the wayfinding and signage 
would work well to tie into the Castle and any future wider strategies for 
the area to create a sense of place and cohesion.   
  
The SANG itself will provide an area of green space with footpaths 
across it, the proposals include a welcome enhancement of meadow 
grassland across the site - we remain concerned over the functionality 
of mown grass paths and that pressure may grow to add more 
permanent paths over time. Tree planting is also proposed, as the site 
was historically an open landscape (medieval deer park), heavy tree 
planting could detract from its openness. The addition of fencing is 
required but this seems reasonably sensitive to the Chilterns AONB 
location.   
  
Conservation take the view that the setting of Berkhamsted Castle and 
the Berkhamsted Conservation Area will not be adversely impacted, 
nonetheless several areas of concern are raised as highlighted above.  
 
A detailed long-term Management Plan should be required as a 
condition of any consent.   
  
Any Heritage Interpretation and new signage should also be agreed via 
a condition of consent.   
  

Conservation & Design 
(DBC) 

28/06/2024 
 
Further to my previous comments on this application I have reviewed 

Page 68



the additional submitted information.  
 
As previously advised conservation take the view that the setting of 
Berkhamsted Castle and the Berkhamsted Conservation Area will not 
be adversely impacted.  
 
Concerns remain that the significance of the deer park and its designed 
landscape has not been sufficiently investigated and that the proposals 
may result in some harm to its significance. I am not sure if Herts 
Archaeology have been consulted on this application but note the 
suggested application of archaeological conditions within the Heritage 
Note (dated 6 June).  
 
It is recommended an archaeological condition is applied relating to the 
creation of the access road / parking area in particular. 
 
A detailed long-term Management Plan should be required as a 
condition of any consent.  
 
Any Heritage Interpretation and new signage should also be agreed via 
a condition of consent.  
 

Historic England 25/04/2024 
 
Thank you for your letter of 18 April 2024 regarding further information 
on the above application for planning permission. On the basis of this 
information, we offer the following advice to assist your authority in 
determining the application. 
 
Historic England Advice 
 
We welcome the updated proposals around the location and form of the 
access and car parking provision at the site which provide a planning 
balance between impacts to the setting of the Scheduled Monument of 
The Labyrinth, or First World War training trenches south of 
Berkhamsted Cricket Club (NHLE number 1489045) and which include 
scope for improvements to its public appreciation and understanding. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Historic England supports the application on heritage grounds. 
 
We consider that the application can meet the requirements of the 
NPPF, in particular paragraph numbers 208 and 211, using planning 
conditions and/or s106 obligations. 
 
I recommend that the long term management of the site (especially 
landscaping and public safety) be secured through a binding 
Management Agreement that forms part of any consent, using s106 
powers or if this is not feasible, a planning condition. 
 
A scheme of public interpretation, secured through a planning condition 
and agreed in advance with the LPA and its heritage advisers is also 
necessary. 
 

Page 69



The following two possible planning condition wordings are suggested 
here: 
 
The development shall not be occupied until a scheme of permanent 
heritage interpretation and display at the site has been agreed, in 
accordance with a detailed historical research, materials, design and 
long-term maintenance proposal and timetable. The proposal and 
timetable for the work is to be approved in advance in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: The LPA wishes that the rich history  of the site and its 
surroundings be conveyed to the public. The interpretation scheme 
should be researched and designed by a recognised historical or 
archaeological interpretation specialist with appropriate experience, 
and integrate with nearby sites and attractions. 
 
And (if S106 is not appropriate): 
 
The development shall not be occupied until a heritage management 
plan, including a long-term maintenance proposal and timetable has 
been approved in advance in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: The LPA wishes that the legibility and long-term upkeep of the 
Scheduled Monument and its setting benefits from a detailed 
management plan to ensure its long term future. 
 
Your authority should take these representations into account in 
determining the application. If there are any material changes to the 
proposals, or you would like further advice, please contact us. Please 
advise us of the decision in due course. 
 

Historic England 09/01/2024 
 
Thank you for your letter of 21 December 2023 regarding the above 
application for planning permission. On the basis of the information 
available to date, we offer the following advice to assist your authority in 
determining the application.  
  
Summary  
 
The planning application includes the site referred to as "The Labyrinth 
or First World War training trenches south of Berkhamsted Cricket 
Club" which is currently under consideration for designation as a 
Scheduled Monument (Historic England case reference 1488407). 
  
Because this designation case is live and if agreed would have 
implications for the proposal, we recommend withdrawal of this 
planning application pending a decision on the scheduling application. 
Should the Government decide to schedule the site, changes will be 
necessary to the proposal in order to take into account the designation 
and to reduce any harm to heritage assets.   
 
We also recommend that any re-application include in its submission a 
detailed assessment of significance and harm from the applicants that 
reflects the high heritage significance of the asset and the surrounding 

Page 70



earthworks, and which demonstrates how any approved scheme will 
sustain and enhance their significance.  
  
Historic England Advice  
  
Significance  
 
The planning application site lies close to two existing Scheduled 
Monuments (Berkhamsted motte and bailey castle, List Number 
1010756 and Site of Roman building N of Berkhamsted Castle, List 
Number 1005253) and several listed buildings including the Grade II* 
and Grade II elements of Berkhamsted Place.  
  
Importantly, within the development boundary at its south east lie a 
concentrated complex of First World War practice trenches created by 
the Inns of Court Officer Training Corps in 1917 and at the time named 
'The Labyrinth'.   
  
Historic England has been asked to assess The Labyrinth for inclusion 
on the National Heritage List as a Scheduled Monument. Consideration 
of the application began in late 2023 and is ongoing. A positive decision 
from the Secretary of State would formally designate The Labyrinth as a 
heritage asset of national importance.   
  
National Planning Policy requires that archaeological heritage assets of 
demonstrably equivalent significance to scheduled monuments be 
treated as though they are designated heritage sites in planning 
decisions.   
  
Although filled in after the war ended, the trench complex is visible 
today as earthworks. Additional earthworks also cross the planning 
application site at its south eastern end. These may relate to the nearby 
prehistoric Grimms Ditch, to the mediaeval deer park and/or to later 
activity, including First World War activity.  
  
The submitted Archaeological Desk Based Assessment by CSA 
Environmental (November 2023) identifies earthworks at the site, 
including The Labyrinth. The extent of The Labyrinth is not formally 
defined in the assessment, but Environment Agency Lidar data and 
field observations have been used by the authors to locate its best 
preserved remains. The CSA Environmental assessment does not 
ascribe a level of significance to the earthworks and may have been 
prepared before the Scheduling application was made.  
  
The application site also lies inside the Chilterns Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONB).  
  
Impact  
 
Our concern is the physical impact of the development upon the 
non-designated heritage asset, which we consider should be given 
equivalence of a designated heritage asset in planning policy.   
The development would have the potential to harm the significance of 
those earthworks through direct physical impacts but there is also the 
potential harm to the significance of the non-designated asset through a 

Page 71



development within its setting.  
  
Policy  
 
National Planning Policy states that local planning authorities should 
require an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets 
affected by development proposals, including any contribution made by 
their setting, using appropriate expertise (NPPF 200). 
  
NPPF 201 states that local planning authorities should identify and 
assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be 
affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the setting of 
a heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and any 
necessary expertise. They should take this into account when 
considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or 
minimise any conflict between the heritage asset's conservation and 
any aspect of the proposal.  
 
NPPF 203 raises the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the 
significance of heritage assets.   
 
NPPF 206 states that any consented development harm to heritage 
assets of the highest significance, including scheduled monuments and 
their settings, should be wholly exceptional.  
 
NPPF footnote 72 states that 'Non-designated heritage assets of 
archaeological interest, which are demonstrably of equivalent 
significance to scheduled monuments, should be considered subject to 
the policies for designated heritage assets  
  
Position  
 
The submitted Archaeological Desk Based Assessment by CSA 
Environmental does not in detail assess the impact of the location of the 
proposed car park and access routes on The Labyrinth, or any impact to 
its setting. Measures have been taken to avoid the core of the complex, 
but there are significant outstanding questions over the efficacy of these 
and over the appropriateness of the proposals.  
 
The submitted plans are of a low resolution but appear to locate a car 
park, access road, planting and a footpath across the south east of the 
site either overlying, or immediately adjacent to, various elements of the 
earthworks. The edge of the proposed car park appears to be sited on 
or immediately against the core of The Labyrinth, but the exact 
relationship between the two and thus the scale of any physical impact 
on the full extent of the practice trench complex is not possible to 
discern from the information provided, which could helpfully include a 
measured earthworks survey.  
 
In addition, the setting of the surviving earthworks is likely to be 
significantly affected by the current proposals. Aspects such as the 
entrances and exits from the complex, any intended fields of fire from it 
and its relationship with the wider network of practice trenches across 
the Common have not been assessed to allow an informed decision. 
  

Page 72



However, the overlaying of a carpark and associated infrastructure in 
this location would erode the legibility of the landscape and at the very 
least introduce unsympathetic and anachronistic additions to the 
immediate surrounds of The Labyrinth, including the presence of 
fencing and parked cars.  
 
As The Labyrinth is currently undergoing consideration for national 
designation, any planning determination at this stage would not be 
taken in the light of all material considerations. Determination of the 
application should be informed by the results of Historic England's 
scheduling assessment and any decision from the Secretary of State on 
the scheduled monument status of The Labyrinth. We do not support 
determination of the application at this stage.  
  
Any consented parking and access provision in the south east of the 
site should be accompanied by more detailed consideration of the 
earthworks there, including a measured earthworks survey, detailed 
assessments of significance and harm, and appropriate measures to 
manage and reduce harm to acceptable levels. 
  
Historic England would be pleased to advise the applicants further on 
positive management of the site to inform revised plans that would meet 
planning policy, including NPPF 206 fn 72.   
  
Recommendation  
 
Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage 
grounds.  
  
We recommend the applicant is asked to withdraw the application 
pending a review of the possible designation, if they are unwilling to do 
so we recommend the application is refused on heritage grounds.  
  
We consider that the issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need 
to be addressed in order for the application to meet the requirements of 
paragraphs 200, 201, 203 and 206 of the NPPF.  
  
In determining this application, you should also bear in mind the 
statutory duty of section 85(1) of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 
2000 to have regard to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the 
natural beauty of AONBs.  
  
Your authority should take these representations into account and seek 
amendments, safeguards or further information as set out in our advice. 
If, however, you propose to determine the application in its current form, 
please treat this as a letter of objection, inform us of the date of the 
committee and send us a copy of your report at the earliest opportunity. 
Further to my holding response of 9th January 2024, I am writing with 
updated recommendations subsequent to the recent designation of 
'First World War Training Trenches and associated earthworks south of 
Berkhamsted Cricket Club' (List number 1489045) as a Scheduled 
Monument within the application site.  
  
Summary  
 

Page 73



The planning application includes the site referred to as "The Labyrinth 
or First World War training trenches south of Berkhamsted Cricket 
Club" which was designated as a Scheduled Monument by the 
Secretary of State earlier this month.  
  
The designation of the new monument necessitates changes to the 
proposal in order to take into account the designation and to reduce any 
harm to the heritage asset.  
  
We also recommend that any re-application include in its submission a 
detailed assessment of settings harm from the applicants that reflects 
the high heritage significance of the asset and the surrounding 
earthworks, and which demonstrates how any approved scheme will 
sustain and enhance their significance.  
Historic England Advice  
  
Significance  
 
The planning application site lies close to two existing Scheduled 
Monuments (Berkhamsted motte and bailey castle, List Number 
1010756 and Site of Roman building N of Berkhamsted Castle, List 
Number 1005253) and several listed buildings including the Grade II* 
and Grade II elements of Berkhamsted Place.   
  
Importantly, within the development boundary at its south east lies a 
third Scheduled Monument, a concentrated complex of First World War 
practice trenches created by the Inns of Court Officer Training Corps in 
1917 and at the time named 'The Labyrinth'.   
  
The application site also lies inside the Chilterns Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (AONB).  
  
Impact  
 
The submitted plans are of a low resolution but appear to locate a car 
park, access road, planting and a footpath across the south east of the 
site either overlying, or immediately adjacent to, various elements of the 
scheduled earthworks. The edge of the proposed car park appears to 
be sited on or immediately against the core of The Labyrinth, but the 
exact relationship between the two and thus the scale of any physical 
impact on the full extent of the practice trench complex is not possible to 
discern from the information provided, which could helpfully include a 
measured earthworks survey.  
  
The development would have the potential to harm the significance of 
the scheduled earthworks through direct physical impacts and a major 
change to their setting. There is also the potential harm to the 
significance of nearby non-designated assets through a development. 
The development of a car park alongside the monument, even when not 
filled with private vehicles, would be jarringly anachronistic and deprive 
the site of the open surroundings it has enjoyed since its creation. 
Troops using the practice trenches would have been trained without the 
presence of parked cars in their eyeline to the immediate west, and 
without private vehicles crossing their field of fire.   
  

Page 74



Policy  
 
National Planning Policy states that local planning authorities should 
require an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets 
affected by development proposals, including any contribution made by 
their setting, using appropriate expertise (NPPF 200).  
  
NPPF 201 states that local planning authorities should identify and 
assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be 
affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the setting of 
a heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and any 
necessary expertise. They should take this into account when 
considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or 
minimise any conflict between the heritage asset's conservation and 
any aspect of the proposal.  
NPPF 203 raises the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the 
significance of heritage assets.   
  
NPPF 206 states that any consented substantial development harm to 
heritage assets of the highest significance, including scheduled 
monuments and their settings, should be wholly exceptional. Where 
less than substantial harm is created, scheme should be refused unless 
public benefits outweigh that harm, and strict criteria on use and 
conservation are also met (NPPF 207).    
Position 
  
Our primary concern is the physical and settings impact of the 
development upon the heritage asset. Modern appreciation of the 
monument could be enhanced by public access to the site as a SANG, 
but the applicants' preferred car park location is not supported.   
  
Historic England would be pleased to advise the applicants further on 
positive management of the site to inform revised plans that would meet 
planning policy, including alternative locations for a car park  
  
Recommendation  
 
Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage 
grounds. We recommend the applicant is asked to withdraw the 
application. If they are unwilling to do so we recommend the application 
is refused on heritage grounds.  
  
We consider that the issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need 
to be addressed in order for the application to meet the requirements of 
paragraphs 200, 201, 203 and 206 of the NPPF.  
In determining this application, you should also bear in mind the 
statutory duty of section 85(1) of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 
2000 to have regard to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the 
natural beauty of AONBs.  
  
Your authority should take these representations into account and seek 
amendments, safeguards or further information as set out in our advice. 
If, however, you propose to determine the application in its current form, 
please treat this as a letter of objection, inform us of the date of the 
committee and send us a copy of your report at the earliest opportunity. 

Page 75



 

Sport England 01/05/2024 
 
Thank you for consulting Sport England on the above application.  
Sport England's Position   
  
Sport England withdraws its statutory objection to the application 
subject to the following matters being addressed through planning 
conditions or obligations as set out in this response:   
  

 Ball Strike Cordon Sanitaire Paladin Fencing Implementation. 

  Ball Strike Cordon Sanitaire Paladin Fencing Management and 
Maintenance Arrangements  

  
Assessment against Sport England's Playing Fields Policy and NPPF   
  
Further to our formal response to the above application dated 23rd 
February 2024 which objected to the application as a statutory 
consultee, the applicant has now prepared and submitted a 'Cricket Ball 
Strike Risk Assessment' in response to the advice provided. The ball 
strike risk assessment is considered to be robust as it has been 
prepared by a specialist (Labosport) recognised by Sport England and 
the England & Wales Cricket Board (ECB). In summary, the 
conclusions of the assessment are that there is a risk of balls leaving 
the site boundary of the Berkhamsted Cricket Club site and entering the 
proposed SANG. As there is no effective existing mitigation around the 
cricket club site boundary, without mitigation being introduced as part of 
the SANG development, there would be a risk of users of the SANG, or 
their property (such as cars), being hit by cricket balls that leave the 
cricket club site.  
  
The Labosport assessment has recommended two mitigation options to 
address this risk. The first option would be to introduce a cordon 
sanitaire around the cricket club site which would encroach into the 
area proposed for the SANG where access to visitors and cars would 
be restricted. This option would negate the need for high level fencing 
or netting. The second option would be to install fencing/netting aligned 
to the western and southern site boundaries of the cricket club site. 
While this would not encroach into the proposed SANG area this would 
require 7 metre high fencing/netting along the southern boundary and 
15 metre high fencing/netting along the western boundary.  
  
Following consideration of the Labosport assessment 
recommendations, the applicant has decided to progress the first option 
of introducing a cordon sanitaire around the southern and western 
boundaries of the cricket club site as this would be more appropriate 
than a high fencing/netting solution given the sensitive location of the 
site in the Chiterns AONB. Details of this mitigation solution have been 
set out in the applicant's 'Addendum to Resubmission' (April 2024) and 
its supporting plans and documents.  
  
In summary, the cordon sanitaire involves the installation of a 2 metre 
high paladin fence to the west and south of the cricket club boundary 
which broadly aligns with the recommended boundaries of the cordon 

Page 76



sanitaire in the Labosport assessment as shown in the submitted 
'Cricket ballstrike mitigation fence location plan'. The area between the 
paladin fence line and the existing cricket club site boundary would be 
excluded from the SANG and would not have public access as shown in 
the submitted 'SANG Area Exclusion Plan'. A lockable gate to this area 
would be included in the fence to allow maintenance access. In the 
revised Landscape Proposals Plan, the previously proposed thicket 
planting in the area between the paladin fence line and the existing 
cricket club site boundary has been removed because this is not 
considered necessary to mitigate ball strike or provide security if a 2m 
high fence is proposed. As set out in the submitted 'SANG Delivery 
Framework Document' (April 2024), it is proposed that all fencing is 
maintained in a safe hazard free state to facilitate the effective function 
of its intended use and that bi-annual inspections will take place to 
ensure that the fencing is sound and free from damage.  
 
The mitigation solution that has been submitted has been informed by 
advice provided by Sport England and the ECB. The installation of a 2m 
paladin fence that is broadly aligned with the recommended cordon 
sanitaire boundary would remove the vast majority of the ball strike risk 
although as set out in the Labosport report it may not stop all shots from 
landing beyond the cordon sanitaire but it is expected that it will 
significantly reduce their frequency. The 2m height of the fence is 
required to provide sufficient security to prevent visitors to the SANG 
entering the cordon sanitaire and being exposed to risk of ball strike as 
well as providing a ball stop solution. It would also reduce the risk of 
damage to cars in the proposed car park. The specification for the 
fencing proposed in the 'Cricket ballstrike mitigation fence location plan' 
is considered to be acceptable.  
 
I can therefore confirm that the proposed ball strike mitigation solution is 
considered acceptable for addressing the risk of cricket ball strike. 
However, provision will need to be made for this solution to be 
implemented as part of any planning permission in order to ensure that 
the risk is mitigated in practice. Furthermore, the fencing will need to be 
maintained over a long term period in order to ensure that it remains 
effective as a ball strike mitigation solution. A planning obligation will 
therefore need to secure the management arrangements for the SANG 
and ensure that they make provision for the applicant or the appointed 
management body to maintain the fencing in accordance with the 
proposals in the SANG Delivery Framework Document.  
 
Sport England's Position  
 
In light of the above, Sport England withdraws its objection to the 
application because the prejudicial impact on the use of Berkhamsted 
Cricket Club's playing field could be addressed if the ball strike 
mitigation solution is implemented as proposed. This would allow the 
proposal to meet the intention of exception 3 of our Playing Fields 
policy. This position is strictly subject to the following matters being 
addressed if planning permission is forthcoming:   
  
Cordon Sanitaire Paladin Fencing Implementation: A condition (or 
planning obligation) requiring the paladin fence to be implemented in 
accordance with Drawing CSA/6667/SK04 'Cricket ballstrike mitigation 

Page 77



fence location plan' prior to first use of the SANG (or an alternative 
timescale that ensures that the fencing is implemented before any 
visitors to the SANG are exposed to ball strike risk). This condition is 
justified in order to ensure that the proposed ball strike risk mitigation is 
fully implemented in practice to avoid the use of Berkhamsted Cricket 
Club's playing field being prejudiced by the proposed development. A 
model reason for the condition taken from condition 21 of Sport 
England's Model Conditions schedule 
https://www.sportengland.org/guidance-and-support/facilities-and-plan
ning/planning-sport?section=playing_fields_policy that the Council may 
wish to use is as follows:   
  
"Reason: To provide protection for the occupants of the development 
and their property from potential ball strike from the adjacent playing 
field or sports facility, to reduce conflict between neighbours and 
therefore safeguard sporting use of the adjacent sports facilities and to 
accord with policy"  
  
Cordon Sanitaire Paladin Fencing Management and Maintenance: A 
planning obligation which requires the management and maintenance 
arrangements for the SANG to be confirmed and secured over a long 
term period. The arrangements should be based on the management 
proposals set out in the SANG Delivery Framework Document and 
should make explicit provision for the cordon sanitaire paladin fencing 
to be maintained along the lines set out in paragraphs 5.45-5.46 of this 
document. This is justified to ensure that the fencing is maintained to a 
standard that will provide an effective ball strike mitigation solution over 
a long term period. Sport  England has had experience of ball strike 
fencing/netting solutions in other schemes not remaining effective over 
a long term period due to fencing/netting falling into disrepair and not 
being repaired or replaced due to suitable management arrangements 
not being put in place through the original planning permission.  
  
If the LPA is minded to approve the application without imposing the 
above conditions/obligations then Sport England objects to the 
application as would not be considered to accord with any of the 
exceptions to our Playing Fields Policy or paragraph 103 of the NPPF. If 
you wish to discuss the wording of the conditions/obligations, please 
contact us to discuss. Sport England does not object to amendments to 
conditions/obligations, provided they achieve the same outcome and 
we are involved in any amendments.  
  
If this application is to be presented to a Planning Committee, we would 
like to be notified in advance of the publication of any committee 
agendas, report(s) and committee date(s). We would be grateful if you 
would advise us of the outcome of the application by sending us a copy 
of the decision notice. 
 

Sport England 23/02/2024 
 
Thank you for consulting Sport England on the above application.   
  
Sport England's Position   
  
Sport England raises a statutory objection to the application because in 

Page 78



its current form it is not considered to accord with any of the exceptions 
to our Playing Fields Policy or paragraph 103 of the NPPF due to the 
risk of potential ball strike from the adjoining Berkhamsted Cricket Club 
playing fields. A solution for overcoming this objection is set out in this 
   
Sport England - Statutory consultee role and policy   
  
We understand that you have consulted us as a statutory consultee in 
line with the above Order. Therefore, we have considered the 
application in light of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 
in particular paragraph 103, and Sport England's Playing Fields Policy, 
which is presented within our 'Playing Fields Policy and Guidance 
Document':   
 
www.sportengland.org/playingfieldspolicy 
   
Sport England's policy is to oppose the granting of planning permission 
for any development which would lead to the loss of, or prejudice the 
use of:   
  

 all or any part of a playing field, or  

 land which has been used as a playing field land remains 
undeveloped, or   

 land allocated for use as a playing field   
  
unless, in the judgement of Sport England the development as a whole 
meets with one or more of five specific exceptions. A summary of the 
exceptions is provided in the annex to this response.  
The Proposal and its Impact on the playing field   
  
The proposal is an application for a change of use of agricultural land to 
a Suitable Accessible Natural Green Space (SANG). While the 
proposed change of use would not have a direct impact on 
Berkhamsted Cricket Club's playing field which is located immediately 
to the east of the application site, it would have a potential prejudicial 
impact on the cricket club's playing field due to the risk of ball strike from 
the cricket pitches.   
  
Assessment against Sport England's Playing Fields Policy and NPPF
  
I have consulted the England & Wales Cricket Board (ECB) for their 
feedback and their advice is as follows:  
  

 The distance from the cricket club's main square (to the east of 
the cricket club site) to the areas impacted is more than 100m in 
all directions. Therefore, a ball trajectory assessment will not be 
required for that square.  

 However, distances from the second square (located to the west 
of the cricket club site) are substantially shorter and within 
ball-strike range. Approximately:   

  
- 37m to the south east boundary   
- 49m to the north west boundary   
- 55m to the north boundary.   

Page 79

http://www.sportengland.org/playingfieldspolicy


  
A ball trajectory assessment making consideration against all three of 
these directions should therefore be commissioned.  
 
Sensitive uses such as publicly accessible open spaces are at risk of 
ball strike from a playing field, with consequential risk of harm to 
persons or property and hence a potential future liability for the site 
operator/owner, that in extremes could set at risk the continuance of 
sport at the site. Development within a 'strike zone' is potentially 
prejudicial to the use of the playing field as detailed in paragraph 13 of 
the above Sport England policy. The prejudicial impact on the use of a 
playing field by residential developments adjoining playing fields has 
been established through the courts in the case of East Meon Forge 
and Cricket Ground Protection Association v East Hampshire District 
Council [2014] EWHC 3543 (Admin) (31 October 2014). In the East 
Meon case, an assessment undertaken on behalf of the Cricket Club 
found that cricket balls commonly travel in excess of 70 metres, at all 
levels and abilities. It was found to be unreasonable to expect residents 
to live behind shutters during summer weekends or to stay out of their 
gardens or away from other amenity areas. Additionally, the occupants 
and visitors to dwellings will be at risk of injury when entering or leaving 
premises during cricket matches.  
 
In a more recent case in 2021, planning permission was quashed by the 
High Court for a development in Bradford adjacent to a cricket ground 
where ball strike was not adequately addressed (The Trustees of the 
Crossflatts Cricket Club v City of Bradford Metropolitan Council (2 
December 2021)). The reasons for quashing this permission were that 
the Defendant's decision to grant planning permission provided legally 
inadequate reasons for departing from the expert advice received in 
relation to the risk of ball strike; and the Defendant failed to have regard 
to other significant material considerations which had been raised by 
Sport England about the likely effect of the proposed development on 
the Claimant cricket club being (amongst other matters) health and 
safety concerns from ball strike.  
 
From the information available within the planning application, Sport 
England is unable to find any information that addresses the issue of 
ball strike. The proposal (as set out in the submitted SANG Landscape 
Strategy plan) to introduce public footpaths and areas that would be 
accessible to the public within very close proximity of the cricket club's 
site boundary would present a risk that requires assessment.  
 
The applicant will therefore need to undertake a ball strike risk 
assessment to assess if ball strike is likely to be an issue. If it is 
identified as an issue, then appropriate ball strike mitigation will need to 
be provided based upon any risks identified. Any ball strike mitigation 
should not be placed on the existing Berkhamsted Cricket Club playing 
field nor have any encroachment onto this playing field and any 
management and maintenance of the mitigation should be the 
responsibility of the applicant and not the cricket club. The planning 
application introduces a new 'agent of change' and therefore the 
applicant will need to address the issue of ball strike through a risk 
assessment to identify if ball strike is a risk that needs to be addressed 
through appropriate ball stop mitigation. The requirement for a ball 

Page 80



strike risk assessment and any associated ball stop mitigation required 
is in accordance with Paragraph 193 of the NPPF which states: 
  
"Planning policies and decisions should ensure that new development 
can be integrated effectively with existing businesses and community 
facilities (such as places of worship, pubs, music venues and sports 
clubs). Existing businesses and facilities should not have unreasonable 
restrictions placed on them as a result of development permitted after 
they were established. Where the operation of an existing business or 
community facility could have a significant adverse effect on new 
development (including changes of use) in its vicinity, the applicant (or 
'agent of change') should be required to provide suitable mitigation 
before the development has been completed." 
  
It is noted that there are proposals to strengthen the boundary around 
the cricket club through introducing landscaping as part of the SANG 
scheme. However, trees and other planting cannot be relied on as a 
permanent ball stop system. Trees and other natural landscaping can 
die, blow over in storms, be pruned or felled. Therefore they do not 
represent a permanent and reliable form of a ball stop system. 
  
Whilst the details of any required ball stop netting/fencing could be dealt 
with by way of a planning condition, Sport England is aware from 
experience elsewhere that the ball stop netting/fencing can be up to 25 
metres in height and this has caused concern for the Local Planning 
Authority from an amenity and landscape impact perspective. For this 
reason, Sport England considers that the matters of the design, 
specification and height of any required ball stop mitigation should be 
resolved prior to permission being granted in order for it to be 
acceptable to the local planning authority.  
 
Sport England's Position   
  
In light of the above, Sport England objects to the application because it 
is not considered to accord with any of the exceptions to Sport 
England's Playing Fields Policy or with Paragraph 103 of the NPPF.
  
Sport England would be willing to review the objection if the applicant 
can provide the following:   
  

1. A ball strike risk assessment, undertaken by a suitably qualified 
consultant, that examines the ball trajectory for cricket. Sport 
England can provide advice on consultants that undertake ball 
strike risk assessments.  

2. If ball strike is identified as an issue that requires mitigation, then 
details of the design, specification and layout of any ball strike 
mitigation (for example ball stop fencing or netting) should be 
provided. This should also include details of how any ball strike 
mitigation will be managed and maintained. Any ball strike 
mitigation provided should not have any encroachment onto the 
cricket club's playing field.   

3. The applicant does not wish to address the issue of ball strike, 
they should provide further information setting out why this is the 
case having regard to the judicial reviews cited above and 
paragraph 193 of the NPPF.   

Page 81



 
If this application is to be presented to a Planning Committee, we would 
like to be notified in advance of the publication of any committee 
agendas, report(s) and committee date(s). We would be grateful if you 
would advise us of the outcome of the application by sending us a copy 
of the decision notice.  
 
The applicant is encouraged to engage with Sport England in advance 
of making any submissions to address the matters raised in this 
response. 
 

 
APPENDIX B: NEIGHBOUR RESPONSES 
 
Number of Neighbour Comments 
 

Neighbour 
Consultations 
 

Contributors Neutral Objections Support 

48 84 6 77 1 

 
Neighbour Responses 
 

Address 
 

Comments 

5A Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE 

I'm neither for or against the SANG as it could ensure a green space 
that will not be built on for the next 80 years, but I have many concerns 
about the impact it will have.  
  
I'm concerned about an AONB that has already suffered from 
unsuitable development over the past 40 years. This has lead to a huge 
increase in traffic and parking issues in the road and will add another 
car park and more traffic movements on an already dangerous corner.
  
Can car parking spaces be freed up at the station for short term use 
rather than building a new one in an AONB? This car park is under 
utilised at the moment.  
  
Can double yellow lines be added to the junction of Brownlow Road on 
all sides of the roads along with double yellow lines on both sides of the 
road around the sharp corner of Castle Hill and a reasonable distance 
each side to ensure good visibility and lower the risk to drivers and 
pedestrians?  
  
Can the area within the Castle Grounds be cleared opposite the 
Junction with Brownlow Road so that people turning right from Potten 
End can see traffic coming from the Station as this area is getting more 
and more overgrown as the Castle is being left to return to nature.  
  
I'm concerned for the Residents who back onto the site, especially 
where the proposed car park is planned, as the antisocial behaviour 
that already occurs on the unkept fields nearby could move to this site 
due to the ease of access.  
  

Page 82



Can the gates, that are currently used by the Cricket Club, be closed in 
the evening to discourage late night antisocial behaviour, which is the 
case on a few other SANGs.  
  
If the car park does go ahead I suggest it is made using tarmac, in 
keeping with all the other car parks in the area, as it will require less 
ongoing maintenance and reduce the risk of getting mud on the already 
dangerous corner of Castle Hill.  
  
I'm concerned for current Wildlife that will be forced out by the 
increased number of dogs and people walking off the current paths, 
especially as the dogs will be off the lead.  
  
I'm concerned about the planting plan for the SANG that will introduce 
trees on the higher levels cutting off views that are currently enjoyed by 
walkers, can these be kept to lower levels or not added at all.  
  
Surely this SANG would be better suited nearer the actual development 
it is intended so that people can walk and not drive? Also this site is just 
adding to a huge area that people currently use for dog walking and the 
increased area will probably be of little use as anyone driving here may 
well just carry onto Ashridge, or they my well use it as the starting point 
for a walk to Ashridge, defeating the whole point of this SANG!  
  
Assuming the planning application is approved by Dacorum Borough 
Council Planning Department as they are under huge Government 
pressure to build more houses but in typical Government style they now 
have to jump through more hoops and offset new sites with green 
spaces. I'm VERY concerned this will be pushed through without 
ensuring the most important aspect of the SANG is addressed, which is 
the future ongoing maintenance of proposed site as there is only 
reference to setting up in the first 5 years. There needs to be a detailed 
plan to ensure the site is maintained properly ensuring the grassland 
field is not allowed to turn into scrub, all litter and dog waste is removed 
regularly, car park traffic does not disturb residents in the evenings and 
night time, a Warden is probably needed to ensure the gates are shut at 
the appropriate times and address any antisocial behaviour that 
occurs.  
  
There also needs to be a robust plan on how to manage the car park 
effectively to ensure that only SANG users and not shoppers and 
commuters park there.  
  
Finally the Planning Department needs to ensure that no more 
creeping development occurs in this area of AONB, like toilets, cafe, 
visitor centre or further sports facilities as more land becomes 
available. 
 

1 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE 

We are objecting to the establishment of this SANG at Castle Hill in 
Berkhamsted. It is clear from the developer's documents that none of 
the issues outlined below have been addressed. Unless they address 
all these issues, the development of a SANG would have a significant 
detrimental effect on the natural landscape which is currently protected 
by being within both the Green Belt and the Chilterns AONB and further 
protected via the Dacorum Core Strategy. Both the Chilterns 

Page 83



management plan and Dacorum's own planning policies require that 
that the distinctive character and appearance of the countryside at this 
location be retained and not undermined by any change of use. This 
SANG proposal, which has not addressed the multiple issues below, 
would contravene these planning guidelines. Without significant 
changes, it would also have a detrimental effect on the lives of the 
Castle Hill residents.  
  
1. Parking at the location is unnecessary and the carpark must be 
removed. Whilst we are aware that guidelines from Natural England 
state that there must be parking at a SANG, the guidance was 
formulated for SANGs with no other parking. There is no logic to this 
rule in this location. The proposed SANG is within 400 metres of the 
parking at the Railway Station and 5 minutes' walk along a flat 
pavement from the newly constructed parking next to Waitrose.   
  
The location of an underutilised car park at both Berkhamsted train 
station and near Waitrose should have been considered as a way of 
meeting the transport obligations within the SANG. If the developers 
were to lease spaces in these carparks that would avoid the need to 
build a car park on an AONB. This would in turn enable the developers 
and planners to respect the requirements in the Chilterns Management 
Plan which states that car use by visitors to an AONB should be 
reduced wherever possible. The Chilterns Management Plan also 
states that, "where there is a conflict between conserving the special 
qualities of the Chilterns and its use or enjoyment, we must give greater 
weight to its conservation and enjoyment.". A car park directly on the 
AONB with all the accompanying noise, light and particulate pollution 
would absolutely destroy the "special qualities of the Chilterns" and 
should therefore be avoided if possible. And in this location, it is not 
only possible but easy.  
  
2. SANG Management Plan is essential. If, despite the rationale 
against, the planners insist on a car park then it must be adequately 
monitored with a legal obligation to do so written into the contract with 
the Council. There must be a clear legal obligation on the developer to 
ensure that the car park is not used by shoppers or commuters. The car 
park should also be closed from dusk till dawn - a step for which there is 
precedent at other SANGs. Were the car park to be open during 
darkness, it would attract significant antisocial behaviour. This is 
already a problem in the surrounding fields - providing a carpark to the 
young people who treat the fields as a party area would make such 
activity much more likely. Please note that the existing antisocial 
activity generates fires (the fire brigade has been called on several 
occasions), litter (creating a danger to wildlife), and significant noise 
disturbing the residents.   
  
The SANG has the potential to encourage (even sanction) anti social 
behaviour on "public" land if not suitably managed. The absence of a 
suitable management plan raises concerns that this will not be 
managed appropriately.  
  
3. There should be a binding commitment for no future development. 
The developer's application does not offer any protection for the "air of 
relative wildness" that Dacorum Borough Council themselves say in 

Page 84



their Mitigation Strategy must be maintained. There must be a legally 
binding condition that no additional development e.g. toilets, café, shop 
will ever be added to the SANG.  
  
4. Safety has not been considered. The additional traffic created by a 
car park will have significant safety implications for pedestrians, 
including school children, as they cross the road on Castle Hill to 
access Berkhamsted School playing fields, the Chiltern AONB 
pathways, the Bowls Club or the Cricket Club. We have witnessed the 
death of a dog last year in this area demonstrating the fact that traffic in 
this area is already dangerous.  
  
5. Double yellow lines must be added to Castle Hill. The transport 
assessment does not appropriately consider the implications for the 
junction of Castle Hill and Brownlow Road or the access into the SANG 
from Castle Hill. The encouragement to use this new green space is 
likely to overwhelm the proposed parking and exacerbate parking on 
Castle Hill itself. Visitors frequently park across driveways and on grass 
verges with no regard for residents. The application should therefore 
have considered changes/improvements to the road layout specifically 
double yellow lines on Castle Hill - at a minimum these should be on 
both sides of the road along Brownlow Road and beyond the sharp 
curve on Castle Hill. It is common to have cars parked along both sides 
of Castle Hill around the sharp curve including on the junction with 
Brownlow Road. This makes the area extremely unsafe both for 
pedestrians and for drivers.   
  
6. Encouragement to use SANG as gateway to Ashridge. The proximity 
of the SANG to the location of the areas that it is designed to protect 
appears to be counter intuitive. The distance of less than 2 miles from 
Chiltern Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation, will undoubtedly 
provide encouragement for people to use the proposed parking 
provision within the SANG as a starting point for onward exploration. 
 

2 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE 

I would like to raise several objections to the proposed SANG adjacent 
to Castle Hill:  
 
The proposed site is in an area of green belt within an area of 
outstanding natural beauty which would be severely damaged by the 
addition of landscaping and parking. I do not think that you as the 
council should trade our long term protection for the short term 
objective of granting a SANG. There are much better locations a SANG 
which the building company should be asked to consider.   
 
The proposed site is also accessed on the bend of Castle Hill. 
Increased traffic at this junction point is likely to pose risks especially as 
there is a large amount of foot traffic with school children accessing and 
leaving the school playing fields.  
 
Finally a number of neighbours have seen skylarks nesting in the 
proposed area and encouraging a large number of dog walkers into this 
environment will harm this special environment.  
I do realise that as a council you can only judge each application as it is 
submitted but in this case I urge you to reject the current application 
and encourage the building company to look for a more suitable 

Page 85



location. 
 

1 Gaveston Drive  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1JE 

I have noted the planning application for the 'development' of the 
Cricket Club and surrounds as part of the SANG application. I am at a 
loss as to how an area of supposed natural beauty is meant to sustain 
all this growth. In 2000, the Berkhamsted population was 12,000, now it 
is approaching 20,000. The Cricket Club and the AONB adjacent has 
had to cope with this and notwithstanding other applications already in 
for additional dwellings in the town, this one appears to be so far out 
away i.e., beside another town that it pushes all the limits to the very 
edge of the rules. Why don't the developers spend some of their money 
in that area instead of looking for a cheap solution on an already heavily 
used one?  
  
This feels like sharp practice by the builder and the consequences will 
be more unwanted traffic on an already heavily congested route around 
the castle. It will also bring increased potential for anti-social behaviour 
that will not be policed as we no longer have a police station!   
  
I cannot believe it has even reached this point in the planning process. 
 

Trevelyan House  
2 Trevelyan Way  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1JG 

I object on the basis that I fail to see how this change of use from 
agriculture to accessible footpaths provides any benefit to an area 
which already has a huge network of established and well-used public 
footpaths and bridleways.  
  
Conversely, the change of use and proposed car park will negatively 
impact wildlife, local residents and the enjoyment of a beautiful area by 
the general public. One of the main attractions of this area is the feeling 
of being in nature. Interpretation boards and knee rail fencing will 
reduce this and marr the landscape.   
  
There is a carbon footprint associated with unnecessary development 
to be considered, along with the introduction of manufactured materials 
over an area which is currently farmland, both of which have a 
detrimental effect on the planet whilst also eroding Green Belt / AONB. 
Adequate parking is already available at the station and town centre car 
parks.  
  
The proposed plans will increase traffic and noise pollution and result in 
general disruption to a peaceful area of countryside and wildlife, which 
is already accessible for the public to enjoy. 
 

28 Castle Hill Avenue  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HJ 

I have walked on the footpaths in and around the proposed SANG area 
for 30 years, and object to what is being proposed. I agree with the 
comments made by my neighbours on Castle Hill.  
  
My concerns are:  
  
1. This is not a good solution to the issue of providing more access to 
country areas to meet the mitigation strategy of the Chiltern 
Beechwoods SAC. I agree that more places for people to access the 
countryside are needed in the area with the population growth 
occurring, but they should be places that are logically accessible from 

Page 86



new developments. I think it unlikely that the existing residents will 
change their habits for accessing the countryside. This site is not a 
good site for achieving these objectives because it is too close to the 
SAC, and could perversely encourage more access to the SAC, 
because it enhances a walking route there. Anyone approaching the 
SANG from the Potten End/Hemel Hempstead direction will drive 
across the Common (part of which is the SAC, and that outside the 
SAC is ecologically near identical), and quite reasonably would park 
and walk there instead. This would include people coming from the new 
housing in west Hemel Hempstead.  
  
2. The good network of footpaths in this area already provides excellent 
countryside access to the north of Berkhamsted for dog walking and 
exercise. I do not think more money needs to be spent here on this. 
  
3. The car park is a bad idea for the reasons other people have set out. 
It should be removed.   
  
4. There is nothing substantial in this proposal about the ownership and 
maintenance of this site. Permission should not be granted at this time 
until this has been properly addressed (not something to be added 
later). For me it is the most important issue as I plan to be here for 
another 30 years. I cannot see why anyone would expect a building 
company to own and maintain this for 80 years as it is not their core 
business, and they will not be here. There must be accountability to the 
local people - somewhere for them to go if there are problems. 
Therefore it must be brought into the ownership and control of a public 
body sooner or later, either a local council or community trust; with all 
the implications for long term costs to the public. Whilst it remains 
farmland it would be maintained without direct cost to local people. The 
sheep have done an excellent job of keeping the grass mown. Without 
sustained maintenance the site will degrade into dereliction and loose 
its recreational and ecological purpose.   
  
5. I agree with concerns about the effect on the wildlife of having more 
human and dog access to the site, especially the skylarks. This area of 
farmland is very rich in bird and mammal populations (I see more 
interest and variety here than in Ashridge) , and I would be concerned 
that more dog use would disturb that.   
  
6. The chalk grassland idea is commendable, but it needs long term 
expert maintenance to establish and sustain; sheep do the best job. But 
grazing is incompatible with loose dogs.   
  
7. In the detail: there should be more access gates to connect to the 
existing public rights of way. In one place, at the far south west corner, 
there is a PRoW crossing into the SANG which has no gate access on 
the plan. There also needs to be a gate at the top of Castle Hill. There 
should be access gates from the public footpath on the other side of the 
north eastern fence line to avoid the fence will be broken down by 
people wanting to cross in and out of the SANG there (it will happen). 
  
8. The woodland at the top of Castle Hill, where the gate goes into the 
field should not be there. It is a good open viewpoint and I would regret 
the loss of views.  

Page 87



  
9. There is a bit of field left at far western end, outside the SANG It is 
too small to be farmed so what will become of it? I am concerned about 
anything that will disrupt the historic field pattern.  
  
7. I support the Castle Hill residents in their concerns about litter and 
antisocial behaviour. 
 
I still object to the development, as my previous comment. The new 
fencing proposals look unsightly (2m high chain link fence in middle of 
countryside?). There are still not enough gates giving access to the 
existing public footpaths (see the corner closest to Bridgewater School 
- where is the gate for the Right of Way?). This is not an appropriate 
location for a SANG - countryside access should be provided close to 
new and existing housing areas which do not have sufficient walking 
distance access - we do here. A car park so close to the station is 
ridiculous, and why are you encouraging people to take car journeys 
when they should be able to walk their dogs close to their homes? 
Since the first application there have been two new proposals which 
affect the area between Berkhamsted castle and Ashridge: one is the 
National Trust's plans for the future of Ashridge Estate, the other is the 
study by the Castle Trust of the medieval castle park, with I think a view 
to increasing public access and awareness of it. The SANG land is part 
of this park. There needs to be an overall strategy for the whole area 
(not just two fields) which takes all these things into account. 
 

59 Egerton Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1DU 

Reduction to both human access and bio-diversity: deleterious effects 
to citizens' health.  
  
While developers tend to change the designation of SANG sites to new 
build estates in too short a timespan to be adequately monitored, those 
that do last show a dramatic reduction in bio-diversity.  
  
This is at odds with all policies establishing, and protecting, Areas of 
Natural Beauty.  
  
Further, restricted pedestrian access will likely enable to developer to 
site lack of use for speedier change in designation to new builds; 
destroying an AONB and valuable wild flora and fauna forever.  
  
This will negatively impact the (mental and physical) health and 
wellbeing of local citizens.  
  
In addition, the provision of additional car parking without improved 
access in close proximity to school playing fields represents a clear and 
immediate danger to children, and presents increased congestion (with 
attendant pollution) at a local pinch-point under the rail tunnel next to 
the station.   
  
Recommendation, give over the plot to true rewilding projects funded 
by the Government Agencies and overseen by locally elected 
committee of volunteers. 
 

6 Park Street  
Berkhamsted  

The proposal is completely unnecessary if looked at in terms of public 
access. 

Page 88



Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HX 

  
The public access to the area is currently freely open and well used by 
many members of the public via the numerous public footpaths. The 
public use at the present time, balances well with the local ecology, 
including nesting skylarks, and numerous other flora and fauna present 
on this site. 
  
The construction of a carpark and potential increase in vehicular and 
foot traffic, will compromise the nature of the site.  
 
I further think that the fact that the application has been made by a 
volume housing developer, can only lead to the conclusion that this 
may well be part of a long term strategy, starting with "soft touch" 
development such as this, leading to future change of use as a site for 
further development as pressures on LA's to approve housing 
requirements increase.   
 
As indicated above, given the "housing developer" status of the 
applicant, I feel it would be disingenuous to ignore the likelihood of the 
existence of this long term strategy.  
 
I object to this application in the strongest terms. 
 

55 Egerton Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1DU 

Those who believe that these housing businesses truly have the best 
interests of our community in mind with their plans are clearly mistaken. 
It is evident that this is all part of a long-term strategy to develop this 
beautiful piece of land in an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. The 
usual process involves initially providing a service, then claiming that it 
is not being adequately utilised, and finally seeking a change in its 
intended use. By supporting this proposal, you are essentially giving 
the green light for further development. 
 

9 Canal Court  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 2HA 

I object to this proposal on the following grounds:  
This is already a pleasant green space that people can enjoy and has 
wildlife and natural habitat that would be disturbed by the proposal.
  
It is not a suitable area to attract a large number of people in cars.  
It is too far away from the new housing developments and so 
encourages more travel by car which is unnecessary. The road 
infrastructure in Berkhamsted (and in particular in this area) is at 
breaking point (two single track carriageway bridges for eg) 
 

17 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE  
 

I wish to oppose the proposed SANG at Castle Hill, Berkhamsted.  
   
I have lived in the Berkhamsted area for roughly 10 years and visited 
Ashridge and the surrounding area for leisure purposes before then.  I 
currently live on Castle Hill.  I have been a member of Berkhamsted 
Cricket Club (located next to the proposed SANG) for 10 years.  I am a 
regular walker and cyclist in Ashridge and the surrounding area.  
   
The grounds for my objection are as follows:  
   

1) General need for a SANG in this location  
 

Page 89



 I do not believe there is an objective requirement for a 
SANG to be sited in this location.  It is directly next to 
Ashridge woods and 5,000 acres of the most incredible and 
beautiful, accessible woodland.  I am unaware of complaints 
from the residents of Berkhamsted that there is a lack of 
access to natural amenity or facilities in this part of town.  It 
has more than enough natural environment for everyone. 
 

 Cynically, it therefore feels like this is a box-ticking exercise 
for the applicant - whereby they can fulfil their requirements 
to build elsewhere by using this (newly available) site as a 
SANG.  It does not feel at all that this is the appropriate 
location for a SANG in this area - objectively speaking, there 
must be many other local locations whereby the 
requirement for a local SANG for residents is much more 
appropriately needed.   

 

 I would therefore urge for the proposal to be considered in 
this light - I find it amazing that objective local area planning 
would site a SANG in this location.  Especially given the 
downsides to this SANG as set out below.  The investment 
in this SANG therefore should be moved to other sites.  

 
 

2) Parking and access:  
 

 The SANG should not include car parking for several 
reasons.  
 

 Firstly the site does not inherently need car parking.  It is 
easily accessible from both the station and Berkhamsted 
town (including all the parking available in Berkhamsted) on 
foot. 

 

 Use of the SANG will increase traffic in the local area, 
reducing amenity and increasing an area that already has 
parking issues.    

  

 The proposed access to the SANG from Castle Hill is 
already via a tight and dangerous bend.  Increased traffic 
will increase the risk of an accident.  

 

 The area is already heavily congested on weekends due to 
use of the cricket club and school fields.  Road parking on 
weekends often extends up Castle Hill and the volume of 
cars and resulting tightening of the roadway makes the area 
congested and dangerous (especially as children use these 
facilities both for the school and for local sports clubs).  
  

 Should the SANG proceed, it should be a condition that 
parking controls are added to Castle Hill.  This is particularly 
the case should the SANG site not include parking (see 
below).  
 

Page 90



 Proposed parking for the SANG is in contravention of the 
area being designated in an Area of Natural Beauty - it will 
add the eyesore of a built environment to the AONB and the 
presence of unsightly cars in a beauty spot.  I believe this is 
also contrary to the Chiltern Management Plan objectives of 
reducing car usage and preserving the natural environment. 

 

 Should the SANG proceed and include parking, then such 
parking needs to incorporate several controls: 

 

 This is an Area of Natural Beauty and thus the parking 
needs to be sympathetic to the area with suitable screening, 
no lighting, minimisation of non-natural materials etc.  

 

 The car park will need to be controlled to avoid people using 
it for parking for the train station or town.  Budget will need to 
be set aside for this in perpetuity.  

 

 The car park should be closed during night-time hours for 
security and to avoid it being used as free parking for the 
town or train station.  Again, budget should be set aside for 
this in perpetuity.  

 
3) Unsightliness and loss of natural environment  

 

 The proposed tree-planting in the SANG will change the 
environment, blocking views and spoiling a beautiful 
environment.  I do not see why new tree planting is required 
when this site directly next to Ashridge woodland and its 
5,000 acres of natural woodland.  
 

 Any built facilities at the SANG are unnecessary and should 
not be included so as to avoid ruining the natural 
environment.  Facilities in Berkhamsted and in Ashridge 
should be sufficient for this area.  Appropriate covenants 
should prevent the erection of any temporary or permanent 
buildings or other facilities like cafes, kiosks, toilet blocks 
etc.  Should bins be required they should be sited discretely.  
Fencing should be minimised and discrete. 

 

13 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE 

I strongly oppose the proposed Suitable Alternative Natural 
Greenspace (SANG) near Castle Hill in Berkhamsted on the following 
grounds:  
  
1. Existing Footpaths and Unspoilt Nature:  
 

- The area is already endowed with a network of well-used 
footpaths cherished by local walkers who appreciate the 
unspoiled nature of the surroundings. 

- The proposed SANG threatens to disrupt the existing harmony 
and serenity enjoyed by the community, particularly those who 
value the current unspoiled state of the natural environment.
  

2. Impact on Wildlife:  

Page 91



 
- The potential consequences for existing wildlife in the area 

have not been adequately addressed in the proposal.  
- The disruption caused by the SANG could have adverse effects 

on the delicate balance of the local ecosystem, raising concerns 
about the impact on wildlife.  

  
3. Highway Safety and Traffic Congestion:  
 

- The proposed point of access on Castle Hill introduces 
unacceptable highway safety issues, compounded by traffic 
and parking congestion at the bottom of Castle Hill from 
Brownlow Road.  

- The safety concerns are particularly alarming given the 
significant number of schoolchildren who use this route to 
access the playing fields, emphasizing the urgent need for a 
comprehensive safety assessment.  

  
4. Maintenance and Management of SANG:  
 

- The lack of detailed information regarding the ongoing 
maintenance of the SANG beyond the initial 12-month period is 
a significant oversight. 

-  A transparent and comprehensive plan for the long-term 
management of the SANG is essential to ensure its 
effectiveness and sustainability.  

  
5. Parking Issues and Contravention of Chilterns Management Plan:
  

- Parking within the SANG is unnecessary at this location and 
goes against the principles outlined in the Chilterns 
Management Plan.  

- The proposed car park introduces a substantial built element 
within the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), with no 
assurances regarding its ability to prevent non-SANG users 
from exploiting the facility.  

  
6. Anti-Social Behavior Concerns:  

- Past incidents of anti-social behavior, including gatherings, 
parties, and BBQs, raise concerns about the potential for 
increased incidents in the proposed SANG area. 

- Such issues not only pose risks to public safety but also strain 
local emergency services, creating an unnecessary burden on 
community resources.  

  
7. Contradiction to Nature of the Area:  
 

- The essence of the proposed SANG lies in its unspoiled nature 
and the absence of man-made features, which is precisely what 
attracts people to the area.  

- If the SANG were to incorporate facilities and parking, it risks 
contradicting its intended purpose and may not serve the needs 
of those seeking a more natural and undisturbed environment.
  

In light of these objections, I urge a reconsideration of the proposed 

Page 92



SANG at Castle Hill. I advocate for a more balanced approach that 
addresses the genuine needs and concerns of the local community 
while preserving the unique natural attributes of the area. 
 

Chiltern Society White 
Hill Centre  
White Hill  
Chesham  
HP5 1AG 

The Chiltern Society understands and fully supports the need to protect 
the Chiltern Beechwoods SAC and the requirement for SANGS. We 
have provided neutral comments on the proposed SANG at Haresfoot 
Farm which is on the other side of Berkhamsted, 23/02508/MFA.  
 
The SANG Delivery Framework Document1.11 states that the SANG is 
intended to divert, intercept or provide a credible alternative to 
recreational visits of local residents to the Ashridge SAC. We challenge 
the idea that this proposal will act as a SANG, as there are no new 
developments proposed or planned in the adjacent area and therefore 
why would any new or existing residents choose to visit this location 
when Ashridge is less than 5 minutes drive away?  
 
The proposed SANG area is visually attractive agricultural land which is 
criss crossed already by footpaths and already well used. It is also in 
the CAONB and the vast majority is green belt.  
 
Apart from some signage the only other feature on offer is additional 
car parking. We strongly feel that this will not be used for the SANG as 
parking at this location is difficult. The proximity of the station within a 
few minutes will mean that station users will try and use any spaces 
going, bearing in mind the £9 peak charge per day at the station, plus 
the sports users nearby. The knock on effect on Castle Hill Avenue, 
Castle Hill, Murray Road, and Brownlow Road and the roads around 
the Castle need to be considered. As the pupils from Berkhamsted 
school walk in large numbers under the one way bridge under the 
railway, need to cross Bridgwater Road and walk up near the proposed 
car park, so traffic conditions which are already difficult and at times 
dangerous will be adversely affected.  
 
The SANG Delivery Framework Document item 1.19 states that the 
Castle Hill SANG is not designed to suit any particular development but 
it is intended for use as general capacity for future developments.as the 
provision of a SANG is an 80 year commitment it will last until 2100 and 
beyond. The draft Local Plan identified housing development sites up 
until 2038 ie 15 years and there are no housing sites. Berkhamsted has 
severe challenges already in relation to transport and movement of 
traffic especially in this area, we query why the residents of the town 
should be forced to accept a speculative SANG where the benefit is not 
demonstrable.  
 
The Framework Document then goes on in item 3.2 to state that 
Natural England agreed the site would perform adequately as a SANG 
subject to various requirements being met which are listed in Table !. it 
is our view that it will not be possible to provide and maintain the car 
park and access requirements and comply with requirements of a 
SANG.  
 
For the reasons stated we are submitting a strong objection. 
 

6 Bridgewater Road  I OBJECT to the Planning Application 23/02972/MFA Proposed SANG 

Page 93



Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HN 

Site, Castle Hill, Berkhamsted, Hertfordshire. Resdents who have 
informed me of their concerns.   
 
Others have written eloquently and in detail on the salient points of 
objection, so I will summarise here the basis of my concern, which 
largely aligns with those of others who have contributed full objections.
  
1. Impact on the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and 
Wildlife  
  
The site of the proposed SANG lies in an already highly valued and well 
used landscape, enjoyed by large numbers of local residents and 
visitors using the many Public Rights of Way in and around the 
proposed SANG site. It will add little or no incremental value to the 
already well used natural landscape.  
  
Included in the proposal is the plan to fence a significant portion of the 
site, seemingly for the sole purpose of allowing off lease dog walking. 
This seems wholly counter to the original intention to protect the natural 
aspect and wildness of Ashridge and is completely inappropriate to the 
need to retain the character and appearance of the landscape. There 
simply should not be fencing within the SANG, not just for aesthetic 
reasons but also in order to allow wild animals to follow 
well-established routes and access to habitats. Uncontrolled dogs will 
also threaten the existing wildlife in the area, including ground nesting 
birds, hares and deer which are regularly seen on that land.  
  
The site is protected by the relevant regulations of the Chilterns AONB 
and also by policies within the Dacorum Core Strategy, which all 
require that the distinctive character and appearance of the countryside 
at this location be retained and not undermined by any change of use. I 
believe the proposed plan will be to the detriment of the landscape and 
natural character of the area.  
  
2. Parking   
  
I am particularly concerned about the proposal to construct a car park 
within the site which falls within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty. It seems utterly contradictory to concrete over natural 
land in order to provide vehicle access to that area and such an act will 
be clearly detrimental to the easily accessible green space that already 
exists in the AONB in that location.   
  
Parking within the SANG is unnecessary at this location, and, I believe, 
may be contrary to the Chilterns Management Plan as it represents the 
introduction of a significant built element within the AONB and whilst it 
may be the case that parking is seen as a requirement for the 
establishment of a SANG, I think there are good reasons not to follow 
that guidance here, amongst them that:  
  
The Chilterns Management Plan has an explicit objective to reduce car 
use by visitors to the AONB  
 
The SANG would be a matter of a few hundred meters from the 
Berkhamsted rail station, and slightly further from the centre of town, 

Page 94



existing car parks and numerous bus stops. It is an easy, level walk 
along Brownlow Road and Lower Kings Road, which are also 
wheelchair accessible, obviating the need for a car park.   
  
For these reasons, I believe an onsite car park in the SANG is 
unnecessary and completely inappropriate in this location.   
  
If parking were to go ahead, it would have to be screened by planting 
and access would need to be limited to daylight hours in order to avoid 
any need for lighting which would introduce additional light pollution to 
the area.  
  
3. Poor Access  
  
As others have noted, the proposed main entrance to the SANG is the 
small, unadopted access road leading to the Cricket Club from the 
sharp curve on Castle Hill. Additional traffic here would exacerbate 
existing parking and congestion issues in that area, especially when 
there are events at Berkhamsted School's sports pitches, the 
Berkhamsted Cricket Club and the Bowls Club. Further, given a SANG 
is required to be established in perpetuity (in practice, at least 80 
years), the suggestion that entry to the site be along an unadopted 
access road, with no clarity on the ongoing maintenance and liability 
issues, is wholly inappropriate.  
  
I am concerned that the proposals introduce unacceptable highway 
safety issues at the point of access on Castle Hill where there will be 
competition between cars, cyclists, pedestrians and dogs entering and 
exiting. As I understand it, the applicant's proposal does not include a 
dedicated pedestrian footpath, contrary to the image they have 
provided. This safety issue is further compounded by the large 
numbers of Berkhamsted School students walking to and from the 
school playing fields at Kitchener's Field every day which necessitates 
the students crossing the street at precisely the sharp curve on Castle 
Hill where the proposed entrance to the SANG would be located.  
  
Overall, far too much emphasis has been placed on vehicle access and 
insufficient attention paid to pedestrian access and the linking of the 
proposed SANG with existing Public Rights of Way.  
  
4. The historic and cultural significance of the landscape around the 
proposed SANG  
  
The historical significance of this area to the heritage of Berkhamsted is 
enormous and is not adequately reflected in the application.  
  
I believe that the application in its current form would have a 
detrimental impact on the heritage landscape around the Castle, which, 
inter alia, includes the WW1 use of the site, potential Romano-British 
remains, as well as its national significance in the Norman period and 
the well documented use of the land as a royal deer park dating from 
that period on.  
  
In the context of this concern, I would like to draw attention to the 
Berkhamsted Castle Trust response in which the Chair of the Trust 

Page 95



notes:  
  
"from the first row of the table at para 5.7 of that document (on 
numbered page 11) that the case officer advised: "Berkhamsted Castle 
Trust - discussions with the Trust to advise how the site could be 
involved to secure the future of the Castle" I can confirm that no 
communication or engagement whatsoever has been received from the 
applicant in relation to the proposed SANG. Further, we understand 
from our partners at English Heritage that they have received no 
communication either. Nor, indeed, has Historic England been 
consulted on the proposals before the application has been submitted. 
We find this extremely troubling."  
  
4. Management arrangements  
  
Crucially, the application has little detail on what is actually proposed in 
the way of management activity to be undertaken by the managing 
agent. Without this level of detail, it is not possible to assess fully how 
the use and maintenance of the site will impact on local residents and 
the wider heritage and natural landscape and certainly provides little 
reassurance around the future stewardship of the site.   
  
More detail is therefore needed on the SANG Management Agreement 
and third-party monitoring.   
  
In summary, along with many local residents, I reiterate that I oppose 
the development on the basis that, fundamentally, it imposes on the 
site a wholly artificial landscape and environment that takes no 
meaningful account of the heritage of the location and its siting in the 
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. Specifically, that:  
  
It would be detrimental to the landscape forming part of the Chilterns 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty  
Introducing unnecessary car parking will have a hugely negative impact 
  
Adverse effects of additional vehicle traffic  
Adverse impact on the historic status of the Castle and the surrounding 
heritage  
Insufficient detail in the proposed future management plans  
 

132 Bridgewater Road
  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1EE 

I can't understand why this is needed. The outlook from the footpath 
overlooking the dell is stunningly beautiful and likewise looking back 
from the Ashridge side towards the proposed development. I doubt that 
Wimpey are getting involved here out of the kindness of their hearts. It's 
almost certainly a cynical attempt to build on the land at some future 
stage.  
  
Building a car park in the area will cause a completely unnecessary 
increase in traffic. The junction of Brownlow Road and Castle Hill is 
already lethal, particularly for pedestrians. Most drivers drive too fast 
and fail to indicate correctly at this junction, furthermore, there would be 
an increase of traffic under the railway bridge on Brownlow Road. 
Pedestrians crossing at the junction of Brownlow Road and Lower King 
Road already take their lives in their hands. This proposal would make 
this situation even worse due to increased traffic.  

Page 96



  
I strongly urge the planning department to leave this beautiful part of 
the Chilterns alone. Corporate development here, of whatever you care 
to call it, is simply not needed. 
 

12 Admiral Way  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1TE 

I object to this development, because I really do not see how such a 
change of use from agricultural to accessible footpaths will bring any 
benefit to the area or the local residents.   
 
It is a beautiful area, with footpaths already accessible and well walked 
- I have lived here for over 20 years and regularly walk this area from 
home & can not see the benefit of changing it.   
 
We are on the doorstep of a very large National Trust area, offering 
many accessible, well-used public footpaths and bridleways. There is 
absolutely no need for such a development.  
 

Ladybrand  
Cross Oak Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 3JB 

I would like to object to the proposal. As a long term resident of 
Berkhamsted I do not agree that this is the right place for this 
development.  
 

- The area is already suitable for walkers; it does not require 
further development. It does not seem logical to develop and 
area of natural beauty, to increase its use which will adversely 
affect the wildlife. I also don't understand why you would choose 
to develop this site which is miles away from the residential area 
it is meant to be serving. You are only bringing more cars and 
people into an already congested town and increasing car use 
and pollution.  
 
I think that this will actually increase the stress on Ashridge, just 
increasing visitors from a different direction.   

 
- The car park will end up being used by commuters and so the 

surrounding roads will become more congested. 
 

17 Hall Park  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 2NU 

I don't see the point of this. Wimpey will turn pleasant, natural rural 
farmland into an urban amenity which is not needed. It will develop from 
just a car park to toilets, to a playground, to concert venue to housing. 
What's wrong with it as it is? It will be a change for the worse and not 
benefit the residents of Berkhamsted, who enjoy this unspoiled land as 
it is.  
 

46 Meadow Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1EB 

I totally object to the proposed SANG on land by Castle Hill. This land 
has been used by the local community for many many decades. It is 
already a well used, beautiful piece of open countryside with multiple 
public footpaths. Proposing to fence it off to create what is effectively a 
middle class park is absolutely absurd. The only people who benefit 
from this are the developers - it seems to be being used to greenwash 
urban development elsewhere in Dacorum.  
  
The proposal not only suggests a fencing off of great swathes of land, 
but also the removal of existing public footpaths. Members of the public 
accessing the land from the public footpath/alleyway on Meadow Road 

Page 97



look like they will be forced to turn right and be funneled through the 
footpath in the middle of the site ( which is already uneven and can be 
treacherous in wet or icy weather), rather than being able to skirt the 
edges of the field on the left hand side. Surely existing public footpaths 
are protected?  
  
There are deer, ground nesting skylarks, kites and kestrels in these 
fields currently. Rather than benefitting wildlife, the fenced off 
proposals will surely threaten it.  
  
I agree with all other comments regarding access, traffic safety, 
parking, rubbish, noise, anti social behaviour and wildfire risks.  
  
I also agree that creating a SANG here will not alleviate issues with 
damage to Ashridge. It will just create more social and environmental 
problems in a beautiful place where there currently aren't any.  
  
AND it's a totally unnecessary waste of money  
  
Utterly bonkers, unnecessary and unwanted. 
 

5 Kitsbury Rd  
Berkhmstd  
HP4 1AA 

I object to the proposed Castle Hill SANG for the reasons set out below.
  
I have lived in Berkhamsted for many years and I am familiar with much 
of the surrounding countryside.  
  
My view, which appears to be shared by many others commenting on 
this application, is that the proposals for this site are unlikely to achieve 
the desired aim of deflecting visitors away from the Ashridge Commons 
and Woods SSSI (part of the wider SAC - the Mitigation Strategy is 
specifically concerned with damage to this SSSI). Creating a SANG 
here will not alleviate issues with damage to Ashridge - it will just create 
more social and environmental problems in a beautiful place where 
there currently aren't any.  
 
Change of use could lead eventually to inappropriate house building 
ruining the area. I am also deeply suspicious of the motives for this 
development as it is being proposed by building and estate agency 
companies, and feel that as soon as the change of use is granted, there 
will be proposals for house building. Assurances are needed that 
further development of the proposed SANG will never occur - e.g. 
provision of toilets, cafe or the construction of housing must be 
categorically forbidden.  
  
I endorse the objection raised by The Chiltern Society (comment 
submitted 6 Jan 2024).  
  
I endorse the concerns raised by CPRE (comment submitted 13 Jan 
2023).  
 
There are deer, ground nesting skylarks, kites and kestrels in these 
fields currently. Rather than benefitting wildlife, the fenced off 
proposals will surely threaten it.  
  
I agree with all other comments regarding access, traffic safety, 

Page 98



parking, rubbish, noise, anti social behaviour and wildfire risks. 
 

Farm View  
Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HH  
 

As a resident of Castle Hill and someone who has grown up in 
Berkhamsted, I believe we should protect the special natural 
environment that we are so fortunate to have here. This proposal 
detracts from this by imposing a fake environment where it is not 
required: The site sits in the AONB and views have been enjoyed by 
walkers and residents for generations - we should preserve that. And 
the extensive network of existing footpaths in the area have plenty of 
capacity without having to create a separate parkland.  
  
Its location on the boundary of the town means it is too close to housing 
and the town's amenities and as a result will create a number of issues 
that have already been highlighted by others, such as highway and 
pedestrian safety issues, impact on residents, potential misuse of 
parking.  
  
If the application is granted then we object to the woodland planting, 
particularly at the SW edge next to 'Dutch Barn' as this will block 
panoramic views of the open countryside. 
We refer to our original objection dated 4 January 2024. The revised 
application has not removed the woodland planting at the SW edge 
next to 'Dutch Barn', which will block panoramic views of the open 
countryside. We are a neighbour adjacent to the site and our objection 
remains. 
 

Rocamar  
18 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE  
 

We are very concerned about the plans for a SANG in Castle Hill and 
our main points are as follows;  
  
1. Car park and traffic  
2. Security and anti-social behaviour  
3. Footpath connections and local use  
4. Management plan  
5. Wildlife  
6. Landscaping  
  
The junction where the proposed entry to the car park/Cricket club is 
located, is already a very busy corner of Castle Hill. What seems to 
have been disregarded, is the additional traffic and use of the entrance 
to Kitchener's field at all times of the day, whether it is staff or students 
parking their cars, or the hundreds of school children who walk to this 
sports field during the school day for their lessons, matches etc. As well 
as this, there are often coaches from other schools who come and go 
when matches are hosted by Berkhamsted School.   
 
Over the 13 years I have lived here, there have been several near 
accidents which I have witnessed, plus heard about numerous others 
where the children are crossing the corner and as you would expect, 
not always looking properly.  
 
To add more traffic coming in and out of this tight corner would certainly 
increase the risks of an accident happening.  
  
Additionally, when the Cricket club is operational, there are also a huge 
number of cars coming in and out. There would need to be double 

Page 99



yellow lines along parts of Castle Hill to deter people from parking too 
close to these entrances and driveways nearby. It really is already a 
problem with the amount of vehicles driving into both entrances and 
often forgetting that Castle Hill continues around this bend, resulting in 
more potential accidents.   
 
Also, it doesn't help that the junction from Brownlow Road into Castle 
Hill is already a tight, dangerous turning with limited visibility from all 
three directions.  
  
The proposed car park will be an absolute eyesore on this land and it 
worries us greatly that not enough information has been provided about 
the opening times, parking fees and restrictions for this, as well as 
details on any proposed lighting which would very much impact the 
area. Additionally, we would want some commitment that the parking 
area does not grow into an area with toilets, cafes etc.  
 
The current parking restriction on Castle Hill is between 11-12 which 
stops the commuters from using our road, however, this new car park 
would potentially be full as an overflow from the station.  
 
If the car park were to be agreed, there would need to be a gate, similar 
to the current one set up by the Cricket club, at the entrance from 
Castle Hill, to deter people from parking anywhere behind the houses 
between dusk and dawn. As soon as you open that driveway up, it 
becomes a huge added security risk to all the houses facing the site as 
well as the Cricket club whereby there would be an increase in 
anti-social behaviour, particularly in the evenings and in the summer 
months. This is already happening behind Kitchener's Field and before 
they put their barrier up, the car park there was regularly mis-used in 
the evenings.  
 
Surely, the proposed car park is not needed when we have the station 
and the new multi-storey car park in town, plus if this site is to be used 
by local residents, there are plenty of ways to walk or use public 
transport to get there.   
 
In this regard, there will potentially be more people travelling into 
Berkhamsted by train to use this area and walk further into the Chiltern 
Beechwoods SAC. We already see many walking groups arriving from 
the station to walk around the current footpaths we have.  
Making this a 'destination' rather than an extension of the footpaths, will 
really encourage people to gather here as we have seen in fields 
nearby.  
  
With regards to the proposed access points, the site seems to be 
fenced off from some of the main adjoining footpaths, in particular the 
one at the top of the Castle Hill, where there is well used path running 
along the fence line towards Bridgewater School. Currently this 
footpath is open to the proposed site, it would make sense to be able to 
access the SANG from here as well the path north of this one.  
  
We are also concerned with the lack of attention to the 'Management 
plan' and how this is going to be presented. It will not be acceptable for 
this site to become an overgrown mess where littering becomes a 

Page 100



problem and dog poo bins are not emptied regularly, plus vandalism 
and misuse goes unaddressed. This AONB could easily become an 
area for more people to use as a party area causing security and safety 
concerns for the residents backing onto the site.  
  
It should be noted that there are various wildlife groups living around 
the site boundaries. Foxes, badgers, skylarks, owls, deer and red kites 
seem to be the main ones we've seen and they currently live 
undisturbed by dogs and humans. This area will greatly impact their 
wellbeing.  
  
Also, we feel that any planting of hedgerows and trees needs to be 
consulted with the individual houses backing onto the site as some of 
us would be keen to have this additional screening but most, I think 
would feel they have lost their view over this beautiful valley and 
planting trees in particular would completely change the landscape. 
The updated application still fails to mention the maintenance and 
security of this area of land. Nothing is mentioned of the care of 
hedgerows and grassland, as well as littering etc.   
The car park has been relocated to a position where it is more than 
obvious to the residents and walkers in this AONB, thus changing the 
outlook for many and also puts it in the ball flight path of the cricket club, 
creating a danger to users.   
 
This car park is not required for this area and as I have lived here for 13 
years, it is obvious to me that it will be used predominantly by 
commuters as it is so close to the station. One idea raised at the council 
meeting was to use the field owned by TW on New Road as a car park. 
This should really be considered if the plans go ahead.  
There is already a problem in a neighbouring field whereby teenagers 
use it to hang out at all hours of the night, including incidents of fire and 
drug abuse. Having this new space so close to residents' properties will 
be a security risk to many and will potentially cause all sorts of 
problems and call outs to the local police etc. 
  
Also, the current levels of traffic at the proposed entrance to the SANG 
on the bend, are very high and this is already used by local residents, 
Berkhamsted School children and staff (walking, driving and cycling), 
Cricket club members, football teams and visiting coach loads of school 
children. There are often near accidents as the bend is a pinch point for 
traffic, especially if people are parked nearby and add in the 
dangerous, fairly blind junction from New Rd/Brownlow Rd into Castle 
Hill, it is not going to improve with more traffic and will increase the 
chances of a fatal incident.  
 
In conclusion, I believe this agricultural land should not be visually 
altered in any way, whether it is used for walkers or sheep. There are 
plenty of other areas locally which can be improved for local use. 
 

6 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE  
 

Object  
  
The scheme amounts to inappropriate development in the Chiterns 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and the Green Belt, as manifested 
by the associated car park. It is detrimental to the AONB being intrusive 
interms of noise disturbance, light pollution and traffic generation etc. [ 

Page 101



Policy 97 ] It does not conserve or enhance Dacorum's natural 
landscape. [ Core Srtatergy 25, Core Stratergy 26 ]  
  
Further there are: 
  
1. Security issues impacting on adjoining owners  
2. Highway issues created by, amongst other matters, replacing a   
 private access road to the cricket club with a public   
 thoroughfare. 
 

6 Brownlow Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HB  
 

I object to this development, because I do not see how such a change 
of use from agricultural to accessible footpaths will bring any benefit to 
the area or the local residents.  
 
This proposal would, in fact, spoil the stunning landscape and would 
negatively impact wildlife. In addition, the proposed car park would only 
add extra traffic in an already congested junction. 
 

Kinnerley  
10 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE  
 

  
1. Road Safety and Access Concerns  
 
We have been residents at 10 Castle Hill, for over 20 years. We have 
great concerns and objections regarding the proposed plans for a 
SANG. We currently experience frequent issues around on-street 
parking congestion creating road safety issues. These occur most 
frequently near the entrances to Berkhamsted School Playing Fields 
and the Cricket Club which is exactly where the proposed SANG Car 
Park entrance is also to be situated. We have witnessed near miss 
accidents between vehicles heading down the hill around the lower 
bend in Castle Hill before the junction with Brownlow Road and those 
either heading up Castle Hill and/or aiming to turn right into the current 
Cricket Club and Berkhamsted School playing fields entrances. This is 
due to a combination of parked cars, the narrowness of the road and 
poor visibility on this bend. Large numbers of pupils from Berkhamsted 
School, pedestrians, cyclists and dog walkers are often crossing this 
difficult, blind bend area simultaneously with busy traffic activity. There 
is indeed a current pressing road safety need for double yellow lines to 
be provided on Castle Hill from the junction with Brownlow Rd to the 
entrances of the School Playing Fields and Cricket Club. Turning right 
into Castle Hill from Brownlow Road is also hazardous due to very poor 
visibility for drivers executing that sharp right turn. Vehicle access to the 
SANG car park is going to create greater local traffic hazards. All these 
unacceptable extra highway safety issues on the road network 
approaching Castle Hill must be mitigated, as well those on Castle Hill. 
  
2. Car Park Concerns  
  
Where we live, at 10 Castle Hill, the vehicle access and proposed car 
park will be sited close to our rear garden boundary. We are very 
concerned that this represents a security risk to our and others' 
properties plus will encourage anti-social behaviour which will impact 
on us. There have already been burglaries at houses in the road plus 
damage caused by trespassers who have accessed unobserved, via a 
rear garden fence. We live close enough to have already experienced 
the negative effects of continued antisocial nuisance behaviours in 

Page 102



recent years occurring in the nearby school playing fields at Kitchener's 
Fields, and the farmer's field adjacent to New Road beyond them. Prior 
to the entrance barrier being erected to the Berkhamsted School 
Kitchener's Field car park, 24-hour vehicle access was possible and 
there were regular gatherings of large groups of young people in their 
cars late into the night. They would rev and race cars up and down the 
Berkhamsted School car park and driveway playing loud music from 
car stereos. Having driven in to meet up, they would park their vehicles 
in the parking zone by the school tennis courts, away from observation. 
The problems became so bad that Berkhamsted School erected an 
entrance barrier to Kitchener's Field and the Cricket Club now close 
and lock their gates. Security patrols have had to be implemented by 
Berkhamsted School to protect the school sports pavilion and property. 
On fine nights, because it is close to the town, still large groups of 
young people gather to head out on to the fields on foot regularly to play 
loud music, light BBQs and drink in the fields during the summer 
months. They cause noise nuisance, vandalism and leave associated 
litter waste. The farmer's meadow beyond the school playing fields was 
set on fire due to these activities on a hot summer evening in 2022, 
requiring the Fire Brigade to attend and considerable damage 
occurred. If people are further encouraged to gather by having a SANG 
car park to readily congregate in, the current anti-social noise, 
vandalism and fire risks will increase. This type of activity will be 
facilitated by access to a new open-all-hours unmonitored, remote 
parking area.   
 
There does not appear to be any thought or formal undertaking 
regarding mitigation of the above should the proposed SANG be 
approved. Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires local 
authorities to consider crime and disorder implications of all their 
functions including planning decisions, and to do all they can to reduce 
or prevent these problems. As a minimum requirement for this, a sturdy 
car park barrier to be closed at night and on-going night time security 
patrols and checks would be necessary.   
 
For the above stated reasons and more, we feel there is a strong 
argument against having a SANG car park at all. Visually it is going to 
be an eyesore within the SANG area. No proposals for screening off 
the car park itself appear to exist in the plans. We feel the SANG car 
park itself is unlikely to encourage a unique group of users. If there is to 
be a car park, it is as likely be used in the daytime by those wanting a 
close place to park either for visiting the town, or indeed by those more 
serious ramblers who wish to walk over towards Ashridge Forest along 
the existing footpaths. There is already parking at the nearby railway 
station, and it is an easy walk to the SANG from the town centre car 
parks.   
  
3. SANG Long Term Strategy and Management Concerns  
  
As there appears to be no access from footpaths from the direction and 
area of Bridgewater School, we feel the SANG is not well linked in with 
existing footpaths, and if additional entrances to the SANG are not 
provided, it will actually deter visitors and only result in more people 
driving to Ashridge, which is the opposite result from that intended. 
  

Page 103



Maintenance of the SANG does not seem to be addressed and it is 
unclear how the SANG will be maintained plus contractually how long 
any maintenance contract will last.  
 
There is an absolute need for details of the proposed SANG 
Management Agreement and for third party monitoring. What will 
happen if the company responsible for managing the SANG does not 
perform in line with the specified requirements, e.g. litter is allowed to 
accumulate, or dog poo bins are not emptied often enough, trees and 
or hedgerow thickets are allowed to become too tall, or the chalk 
grasslands are not maintained, and scrub takes over. There must be a 
clear legally binding agreement that ensures appropriate remedies for 
non-performance or breach of contract. There is no mention in the 
proposal of how frequently the contractors will maintain the land and 
there is no reference to what penalty will be imposed if they fail to meet 
the contract. The agreement must also ensure that ultimate 
responsibility for managing and maintaining the site remains with the 
landowner. There must be accountability to the local people and 
somewhere for the residents of Castle Hill to report problems. As we 
are overlooking and adjacent to the SANG site, we fear that we 
ourselves and other Castle Hill residents will effectively become the 
ones responsible for monitoring and reporting issues.  
Finally, there should be a binding commitment for no future housing 
developments on the SANG site. There cannot be valid arguments now 
for creating a SANG amenity, to then transform it in future to become a 
housing estate.  
 
In addition to my previously submitted written objections published Jan 
8th ,  in support of my objections, I wish to additionally submit the 
following photographic evidence of very recent traffic congestion 
27.01.2024  on Castle Hill around the entrance to the proposed SANG 
site.     
   
These photographs illustrate exactly the major traffic congestion and 
disruption that can occur currently when sporting events are in 
progress either at the Cricket Club or Berkhamsted School's 
Kitchener's Field, all without any extra traffic heading to the proposed 
SANG  
  

The Hide  
Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HF  
 

1. As we overlook the area of the proposed SANG, we are very 
concerned that despite Savills' statement in a recent update that paths 
will be located away from the rear gardens of existing homes, the 
proposed path is very much closer to our boundary than in the initial 
plan where the proposed path was located in the valley. We would like 
the proposed path to be relocated to its original position as the new 
position will be extremely intrusive to both our and our neighbours' 
privacy despite the proposed landscaping.   
  
2. In the Planning Application it is reported that skylarks are present in 
"neighbouring" fields but throughout spring and summer we constantly 
see and hear skylarks in and over the area of the proposed SANG. We 
wonder what measures will be implemented to protect this ground 
nesting, endangered species? And in particular we are concerned 
about dogs, off the lead, disturbing their nests.  
  

Page 104



3. We are also concerned about the impact of the proposed SANG on 
the foxes which are resident in the SANG area. Each spring we are 
delighted to watch them rear their cubs in a variety of areas in the 
proposed SANG area. Perhaps they could be given similar protection 
from the dogs as their dens are generally in the same areas as the 
badgers setts?  
  
4. We also continue to have concerns about the possible anti-social 
use of the area particularly given that recently there have been two 
occasions where groups have congregated and set fire to adjacent 
fields requiring the Fire Service and Police to attend the incidents.  
  
5. These groups have also left adjacent fields strewn with litter and we 
would like to ask what measures are to be implemented to avoid these 
problems, eg. a warden? 
 

Rookfield  
40 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HF  
 

1. Parking Security. All Car Parking needs management, who will 
manage the SANG to ensure appropriate usage and who will bear the 
cost of the management.  
  
2. Street Parking. The sports clubs (Cricket, Raiders, cycling, bowls, 
tennis) plus the Berkhamsted School Sports fields make Castle Hill 
incredibly busy. The local council has not included this additional traffic 
in their calculations and makes Castle Hill unsafe.  
  
3. Highway Safety & SANG Access from Castle Hill into Kitchener's 
Field is already on a blind corner and exacerbates the safety issues 
raised above. Access from Brownlow Rd is already dangerous coming 
in from Ashridge /Potten End side. This also impacts the traffic under 
the bridge at the railway station.  
  
4. SANG Maintenance. Who will maintain the SANG over time and who 
will bear the cost. There is a need for a legally binding condition to 
maintain naturalness of SANG and prevent incremental development. 
The Mitigation Strategy adopted by Dacorum in November 2022 
provides guidelines for the provision of SANGs.  
 

The Lodge  
Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HH  
 

I wish to object to the proposed Sang site, castle hill, Berkhamsted  
for the reasons given below.  
  
1. HIGHWAY SAFETY/PARKING ISSUES  
  
There is ALREADY a highway safety issue at the sharp curve on Castle 
Hill where the proposed entrance to the Sang is indicated.  
The Cricket club, Bowling Club, Berkhamsted school and walkers all 
use this entrance. When there is an event there is a large overspill of 
parking up the hill, much congestion and often a real safety hazard for 
schools pupils crossing the road at this juncture, coming and going 
from this site back to their school. Inviting more vehicles through this 
entrance heightens safety issues, particularly for pedestrians.  
More vehicle traffic parking up on the Hill will also increase 
inconvenience/ damage grass verges outside local residents homes.
  
Currently turning right into Castle Hill from Brownlow Road is tricky 
as it is semi-blind. Additional traffic generated by the proposed Sang 

Page 105



would increase possibility of an accident. The Chiltern Management 
Plan wishes to REDUCE visitors using cars to AONB  
  
2.LANDSCAPE ISSUES 
  
The distinctive character and appearance of the landscape will be 
undermined apropos Green belt, Chilterns AONB, Dacorum Core 
Strategy (Landscape Character Assessment, Area 119).  
Tree planting as proposed for Sang will block panoramic views from 
existing Public Rights of Way. 
  
Permanent fencing as proposed for Sang will undermine the natural 
aspect and relative wildness as would the proposed hard landscaping 
of a car park.  
  
3. WILDLIFE  
 
Skylarks - 'red listed' birds of conservation concern habitat this area. 
The proposed Sang would inevitably undermine their survival.  
  
4. Other issues- NOT ENOUGH INFO RE MANAGEMENT OF 
PROPOSED SANG  
  
The lack of information of management of proposed Sang, other than 
management being outsourced to another company is very 
disconcerting. There is no clarity about responsibility for ongoing 
management and maintenance of site.  
 

42 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HF  
 

In response to the application for the SANG adjacent to Castle Hill, we 
would share the following observations :  
  
The SANG does not meet its stated objectives 
  

- The proposal is in essence pointless as the area of the SANG is 
well served by an existing public footpath network on all sides. 
In this way, the "General Management Aims" are already fully 
achieved with the existing footpaths rendering the SANG wholly 
redundant. 
 

- It is also clear that the sole essence of this scheme is to provide 
a short term offset for a wealthy development company to build 
houses, for Dacorum to tick some boxes, and a farmer to 
bolster his pension. The scheme has no merit whatsoever 
beyond these outcomes and is likely to be detrimental to the 
immediate area in the medium to long-term. 
 

- The SANG will not 'deflect visitors away' from the Chiltern 
Beachwood and Chiltern Site of Special Interest but will only 
contribute to an increase in footfall - by bringing a car park even 
closer to these areas (many existing walkers already access 
these areas using Castle Hill as an entry point on foot).   

  
The Cark Park is a significant issue - and the proposal as it stands is 
not acceptable. 
  

Page 106



- Without a Car Park, the SANG would have some merit 
(although we acknowledge that the Car Park is likely a 
requirement within the SANG definition). Notwithstanding, the 
SANG's proximity to the Berkhamsted Station car park and 
Berkhamsted town should present an opportunity for the SANG 
to exist without parking - and we would urge exploration of 
getting approval for the SANG without it.  
 

- The residents of Castle Hill are convinced the Car Park will not 
be used for its intended purpose without some form or 
monitoring/ticketing system, however rather as an over-flow for 
station parking, sporting event parking, and for the gathering of 
locals in their cars, to play music, potentially behave antisocially 
etc. In this way, if there is to be a CarPark it must be properly 
monitored and controlled, and under no circumstances 
accessible after dark. An automated boom to effect this would 
be optimal. 
 

- The Car/Traffic assessments in the proposals are mis-leading. 
There is not room for both cars and pedestrians to safely enter 
the primary entrance together. This entry point should be for 
cars or pedestrians, but cannot safely be for both (a limitation of 
the site and another reason not to have a Car Park). Since there 
are few other entry points to the SANG this is an issue which 
must clearly addressed. 
 

- The narrow pinch points, tight corners, blind junctions, small 
tunnels under the railway bridges and other traffic 
considerations are not sufficiently analysed in the proposal. The 
fact that there have been few accidents in surrounding roads in 
recent times (as referenced in the proposal documents) does 
not address the future issues resulting from the establishment 
of this new car park. For example, the Berkhamsted school 
cricket field adjacent to the site attracts many children on foot, 
for whom it will be less safe due the issue highlighted here.  
 

- Re the Car park design. Landscaping, hedging, and low trees 
should be considered to obscure parked cars and retain the 
green environment from all sides. Screening to North is 
referenced in the proposal. Could more planting/landscaping be 
considered to reduce visual impact from south and west 
(residents) too?  

  
The proposal is light on governance.  
  
More granularity is required to give us comfort that there is a realistic 
governance and financial plan for the SANG  
  
It is not acceptable that clause 4.8 (Management Framework 
Document) states the Management Partner will solely be responsible 
for on-going management (after the first year where Taylor Wimpey 
defer this responsibility to the Management Partner).   
  
In this regard, the Applicant should specify information to address the 
following questions :  

Page 107



 
- On-going oversight and public opportunity to audit the activity of 

the Management Partner must be functional over the full 80 
years.   
 

- What is the governance structure? Will there be a constitutional 
framework? Please include a pro-forma be included in the 
proposal. 
 

- What are the specific mechanisms to deal with the 
Management Partner failing in its obligations, wishing to exit the 
arrangement, or going into liquidation? - and who has the 
powers for enforcement if the Management Partner fails in their 
obligations/?  
 

- How much will be paid into the endowment program by Taylor 
Wimpey? - and in what format? Please insert into the proposal a 
financial model as to how these amounts impact on an 
inflation-adjusted basis over 80years - to show a realistic 
prospect of the Management Partner having sufficient funds to 
fulfil their obligations over the 80 year period? (a very, very long 
time in financial terms)  
 

- How must the Management Partner segregate funds for the 
Castle Hill site specifically? Or, are funds paid to the 
Management Partner in general for it to disburse at its 
discretion?  
 

- Would the applicant consider a role for Castle Hill resident 
representation (to be elected from time to time by Castle Hill 
Resident Association) to be represented over the 80yr period?
  

- Lastly it must be constituted that no land-use creep is possible 
in respect of the SANG, eg introduction of a coffee shop, 
playground, use as music venue, no permissions for mobile ice 
cream / coffee vendors etc.   

  
Specifically regarding on-going maintenance: 
  

- Rubbish bins must be fox-proof to prevent foxes from digging 
into the bins and spreading rubbish on a nightly basis. 
 

- Who removes rubbish (both bins and inevitable litter)? We 
assume the Management Partner. It should be constituted 
up-front how often this takes place. Currently the proposal 
reads "Litter and dog waste bins to be emptied as required" 
which is unsatisfactory in its lack of detail. 
 

- Tree species to be planted in border between residents and 
SANG to be of a sort that do not become very tall at fully 
maturity (to preserve the view for Castle Hill residents)  
 

- Clarify appendix (Management Framework Document) stating 
Y1-Y5 does not relate to first 5 years but any 5 years over the 80 
year period?  

Page 108



  
In terms of Security/Policing. We welcome the insertion of a fence to 
put a boundary between the main SANG and Castle Hill resident 
boundaries - although it is important the fences themselves are not 
unsightly. Notwithstanding, the introduction of people will inevitably 
cause disruption. Kids have left rubbish and started fires on the fields 
near New Road. Likely this activity will be brought to the SANG. It will 
be for Castle Hill residents to call in the emergency services in the 
absence of any security provisions within the proposal - which will be 
impactful.  
  
Lastly, the environmental impact on existing families of foxes, badgers, 
deer and nesting birds is likely to be significant with free-running dogs 
being a stated objective of the SANG. We encourage all possible 
mechanisms be put in place to preserve the habitats and lives of 
existing animals on the SANG site. 
 

20 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE  
 

I am writing to object to 23/02972/MFA which is the planning 
application for the change of use from agricultural land to SANG in 
Castle Hill.  This will encompass access by vehicles, the development 
of a car park and the landscaping of the area including fencing.   
   
My reasons for objecting are below:  
   
1. The destruction of the panoramic views associated with this 
AONB.   
  
I have lived in Castle Hill with an unrestricted view of the AONB for 40 
years.  The proposal to plant trees and thicket hedges will impact not 
only my view but that of immediate neighbours and those using the 
existing network of footpaths in the local area.  The area is currently 
open and devoid of fencing, hedging and any form of enclosure.  The 
introduction of additional fencing, trees, thicket hedges will detract from 
the appearance of the AONB. 
  
The change to a SANG will necessitate the imposition of fencing (as yet 
the height has been not been determined), destroying the openness of 
this area and the expansive view that it affords.  I understand that the 
fencing will also limit access to the SANG from existing footpaths.   
   
2. Maintenance - lack of contract and details  
I have observed for the 40 years how the sheep have "maintained" the 
grassland.  There is no reference in the planning application to the 
requirement for maintenance contracts or the involvement of third party 
contractors to maintain the grass and boundaries.  There is no mention 
in the proposal of how frequently the contractors will have to maintain 
the land and there is no reference to what penalty will be imposed if 
they fail to meet the contract.  Without the presence of the sheep or the 
implementation of an enforceable contract, the area will return to wild 
overgrowth.  This will be unsightly and will not attract the users that are 
expected to use the SANG for recreational purposes. There will be 
associated litter, requirement for dog bins and I am concerned that this 
will negatively impact the beauty of the AONB.  
   
3. Availability of an existing network of footpaths which negate the 

Page 109



need for the proposed SANG  
 
I question why anyone would use the SANG when there are already 
multiple footpaths that are in constant use (I watch walkers daily using 
the paths) in the immediate vicinity.  There is no pressure on the 
existing footpaths.  Why would dog walkers drive to Castle Hill to walk 
their dogs in a field when there are areas of interest and beauty within 
easy driveable distance (Ashridge) and where there are facilities 
(toilets, refreshments) that can be enjoyed?  I can't imagine why 
anyone would drive to this area to walk.    
   
4. Impact on traffic in Castle Hill  
 
My main concern is the safety issues associated with the car park and 
access to the SANG.  To approach the car park, it will be necessary for 
cars to drive across the bottom of Castle Hill, turning right into a narrow 
access way.  There have been frequent incidents where infrequent 
users of the Cricket Club drive straight across the bottom of Castle Hill, 
without acknowledging cars that are driving down Castle Hill.  Without a 
give way sign or traffic management system, there is a high chance that 
there will be collisions between cars coming down the hill and those 
crossing the road to access the SANG.   
  
I am also really worried about the pedestrian access to the SANG as 
currently there is no pedestrian path and the proposals don't include 
how dog walker (in increased numbers) will access the SANG without 
being on the access road.    
   
5. Parking arrangements  
 
The suggestion that the car park will only be used by SANG users is not 
realistic.  The availability within 300m of the station of a free car park 
will mean that commuters and students from the Boys' School will use 
this car park.  If the car park is created there will be a requirement for an 
enforceable parking time limit to be implemented so that the carpark 
doesn't become an overflow car park for the station.  
  
When events are currently held at the cricket club or on the football 
pitches, the parking in Castle Hill is chaos.  Cars are parked on the 
verges, across driveways and I believe that emergency vehicles could 
not drive up the road due to the narrowing of the road as a result of 
parked cars.  IF the use of the SANG exceeds the capacity of the 
designated carpark, the same parking issues will arise.  For this 
reason, double yellow lines should be introduced (with wardens 
present) to ensure that the road is not used as an overflow car park.  
 
6. Security   
 
I have had to report 2 incidents to the police about people being present 
at night on the area that is being designated as SANG.  People have 
accessed my garden (over barbed wire fencing) from the SANG and 
spent time using drugs in my back garden.  This is extremely worrying 
for me.  At the age of 84 and widowed, I can't confront people using my 
garden for these purposes.  I am concerned that a carpark and paths 
will attract people at night who will use the area for inappropriate 

Page 110



activities.  I have already installed a security light in my property to 
mitigate the risk and to deter people accessing my garden.  On the 
second occasion, a neighbour's garden was accessed and property 
moved. This represents a worrying intrusion of my and my neighbours' 
privacy and sense of security.   
   
7. Recognition that the development of the SANG will be of no 
benefit for local or distant communities  
 
I don't believe that the SANG will be used extensively as there are 
alternative routes that are already used by the local community.  
People who live further away are not likely to drive to Castle Hill.  I can't 
understand why there is a requirement to impose the SANG on 
residents of Castle Hill and surrounding areas.  The SANG will involve 
the disruption to open views, negatively impact the existing wildlife.  
There will be increased noise, possible anti-social behaviour, security 
issues, uncertain maintenance contracts, traffic and parking problems 
that are potentially dangerous.  The purpose of the proposal is to "to 
provide additional dog walking" when there is already sufficient dog 
walking paths in the area.  This makes no sense to me.   
 

8 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE  
 

We have lived on Castle Hill for twelve years and would like to echo the 
sentiments of many others who have commented on this application 
here, by strongly objecting to the proposal.   
  
We do not believe that the creation of a SANG on this site is in any way 
necessary, given the extensive network of public footpaths in the area 
that already provides access to this very special AONB for all of the 
town's residents and other visitors, and the proposal for an alternative 
SANG at Haresfoot Farm which has significantly less direct residential 
impact.   
  
We also strongly object to the proposal to add new car parking facilities 
on this site; not only would this be an environmentally and visually 
damaging change to the area, but it would also be a completely 
unnecessary one, in view of significant parking facilities that are 
already sited at Berkhamsted station, 5 minutes walk away. The access 
to the proposed SANG is also a dangerous spot, being sited on 
something of a blind corner. With more traffic using that area the 
potential for disruption and accidents will increase significantly, as well 
as creating additional nuisance for local residents - who often already 
find Castle Hill reduced to single lane traffic and their property access 
blocked from extra cars parking on the road when major events are 
held at the Cricket Club, Bowling Club or Berkhamsted School fields. 
  
  
The boundaries at the Castle Hill edge of the SANG, which border the 
back gardens of residents on the north side of the road (of which we are 
one), have also not been thought through with enough consideration for 
the security and protection of properties on the road. As others have 
noted, use of the public land behind Castle Hill has increased since 
lockdown, and that's also come with a corresponding rise in rubbish 
dumping, fires and noise / nuisance. The addition of a SANG that 
directly abuts property creates significantly increased risks of bringing 
that nuisance even closer to dwellings, especially so if other amenities 

Page 111



such as food and drink amenities or toilets were also ever allowed to 
operate / or were built on the site.   
 

4 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE  
 

 
I have posted a comment on the planning portal in relation to this 
application but there is no ability to upload any photos. In this particular 
case one of our big concerns relates to highway safety and parking 
both within the proposed SANG and on Castle Hill. A photo says a 
thousand words and as such please find below a few photos showing 
the state of the road and some typical parking.  
   
I trust that these photos can be added to my objection and would be 
grateful if you could confirm the same.  
  
Please see 'Online Photos' under the describtion of '4 Castle Hill' 
I am a local resident and am writing to OBJECT to the proposed SANG 
development. My objections are based on the following reasoning;  
  
1). Existing environment  
  
The land proposed sits within the Green belt and AONB. The area is 
visually attractive and provides for many public rights of way that are 
well used by a large number of local residents. The land proposed for 
SANG development is subject to a number of policies which seek to 
protect it in its current form and appearance, such as the Landscape 
Character Assessment and Chilterns Management Plan. The proposed 
SANG is flawed in many areas, a few of which I set out below;  
  
2). Landscaping  
  
The proposed planting of trees and hedges will block most of the 
panoramic views across the valley from all directions. It will not 
enhance as is required by the policies but detract, which is in direct 
conflict with the policies aforementioned. Any planting should be 
reconsidered to lower levels, so as not to affect the skyline.   
  
3). Footpaths  
  
The proposed SANG has three points of entry but does not integrate 
with the existing network of public rights of way. Again this is in conflict 
with the policies which state that any planning policies and decisions 
should enhance public rights of way and access. Proposed access 
points need reworking to enable the SANG to be fully integrated with 
the existing network.  
  
4). Maintain natural feel  
  
If planning consent is granted to the proposed SANG then there should 
be a restriction on the title preventing incremental creep of 
development. The planning policy suggests "an air of relative wildness" 
and therefore there should be a contractual restriction throughout the 
life of the SANG against any development within this land such as 
cafes, WCs, kiosks and lighting.  
  
5). Fencing  

Page 112



The proposal suggests the introduction of a substantial amount of 
fencing. This again is contrary to the policy requirement to retain the 
character and appearance of the landscape and should be removed.
  
6). Highway safety  
  
a). The red line plan denoting the proposed SANG, as currently drawn, 
appears to run across three accesses, namely the cricket club, the 
Kitchener's Field access and our driveway. This appears to be 
inaccurate as there is no right of way/ access over the corner of our 
property title. This needs amending but the proposed access does not 
provide a safe visibility splay from these various access points 
especially if this is to become a busier intersection.  
  
b). General access to the site is dangerous and busy:  
  

- Vehicles cause blockages by the bridge/ railway underpass 
which will only get worse  

- New road to Brownlow road - this is a fast, tight road, with 
limited road markings leading to the New Road to Castle Hill 
junction.  

- Brownlow road to Castle Hill - this is a tight 90 degree+ 
semi-blind turn. More traffic is more likely to lead to the danger 
of collisions.  

- Access point to the proposed SANG - there are many conflicting 
users at this junction already - pedestrians, cyclists, vehicles 
and the access is narrow. The proposal is for a two way access 
but this is impractical and doesn't allow for any safe pedestrian 
passage. Many of the pedestrians are young children playing 
sport on the nearby cricket club ground. In addition school 
children are required to cross castle hill to gain access to 
Kitchener's Field.   

- Many drivers see the road from the station to cricket club as a 
"racing straight" and if the proposal is to go ahead there needs 
to be an element of traffic calming.  

  
  
7). Parking  
  
a). Parking within the SANG is unnecessary and contrary to AONB 
policy which would be against the introduction of a new car park that 
creates another significant built space within the AONB. Whilst policy 
suggests a SANG should have a car park, this location should be an 
exception as there are substantial car parking facilities at both the 
station (250 metres away) and the multi storey car park off Lower Kings 
Road (c. 500m away). The ease of access to other parking facilities and 
the AONB restrictions should override Natural England's requirements.
   
b). If permission is granted for the SANG, then the car park should be 
created with natural screening to hide it from view from residents and 
those using the rights of way, thus trying to preserve the characteristics 
and appearance of the landscape.  
  
c). Access to parking - should parking be provided free of charge then it 
will be used as a free car park for those going to the railway station, 

Page 113



shops and other activities. It will be virtually impossible to police that the 
parking is only being used for access to the SANG and therefore it is 
very likely the parking will be used for entirely other purposes. Access 
to any parking should only be between dawn and dusk to avoid 
disturbance from anti-social behaviour; noise; lights and so on.   
  
d). Parking restrictions on Castle Hill - the road is currently used daily 
for parking by those wishing to walk, shop in the high street, use the 
railway and so on. Cars regularly park badly, blocking driveways, 
parking on curbsides or fully on grass verges. This is particularly bad at 
peak times of use, for example when there are sporting fixtures where 
cars are often parked on both sides of the road. Any SANG 
development will increase the number of cars parking in the area 
exacerbating this problem. The proposed SANG does nothing to 
mitigate this issue and as such we would proposed the introduction of 
double yellow lines to both sides of Castle Hill.  
  
8). Wildlife  
  
The land in question is currently home to a number of species of wildlife 
including Badgers, Foxes, Skylarks, deer, Red Kites, and Owls 
amongst others. The proposed scheme will change their environment 
dramatically with fencing blocking off their usual roaming/ foraging 
routes and being in conflict with all the additional dogs.  
  
9). Ongoing maintenance and management   
  
The proposal doesn't provide detail as to "who and how" the site will be 
maintained. There is a concern over this site deteriorating over time 
and there needs to be recourse against the landowner in the 
agreement should this be the case. The Council should have oversight 
to ensure standards are being maintained.   
  
******************************************************************************* 
The revised plans submitted for the SANG application do not deal 
adequately with a number of issues.   
  
The highway report is clearly a desktop exercise and doesn't deal with 
the recording of existing ebbs and flows to the site, eg peak times and 
the congestion this causes, nor does it look at proposed usage. Peak 
use cannot be ignored under safety grounds.  
  
The access way is not sufficiently wide to cater for two way vehicular 
egress and safe pedestrian access. nothing in these proposals ease 
this issue.  
  
The conclusion of the TW report states all the benefits this SANG will 
provide - i would suggest the vast majority of these are already in place 
and therefore the SANG adds nothing, indeed the proposal detracts in 
many areas due to the existing natural AONB being altered by fencing, 
signs, benching and the cutting of new pathways and a car park into an 
AONB.  
  
There are still no clear plans as to how the maintenance of the SANG 
will be dealt with and funded.  

Page 114



  
No further consideration has been given to control of the car park - 
without this it will simply be used by commuters as it offers a free 
parking solution or if time restricted shoppers walking to the high street. 
Will this be secured at night, will there be security and so on? An empty 
car park will create opportunity for anti-social behaviour.  
  
The list of issues goes on and on and I don't believe they have been 
adequately dealt with. i am wholeheartedly against this illconceived 
idea.   
 

48 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HF  
 

I have many issues with the application, but my key ones are as 
follows:  
   
(1) Why are we doing this ? I don't know anyone in Berkhamsted 
who doesn't know the walkways over the countryside, including the 
proposed SANG area, and who use them already. People appreciate 
them exactly because they do not have formal pathways, picnic tables 
or car parks and that the area is unspoilt. Why would we collectively 
negatively impact something that the community currently highly values 
? (I am sure you could do a count of how many people currently walk in 
the area - maybe you should poll these people to see whether they see 
any benefits in setting up the SANG as they will all be directly 
impacted)?  
 
(2) My understanding is that the land in question is part of the 
Chilterns AONB. Yet the plan includes planting of trees on the SANG 
which without question will block the views, which are currently enjoyed 
by the large number of Berkhamsted residents who already walk in the 
area. How can this be allowed ? I think this is contradictory to what is 
included in the Chilterns Management Plan ? 
 
(3) We all know that there have been several reported incidents of 
unruly behaviour in the area - including fires etc. Having a SANG will no 
doubt make the likelihood of such incidents a lot higher. What are the 
hours of the SANG ? Surely it must be limited to daylight hours and 
access to it - and especially the car park must be actively monitored to 
ensure its not used out of hours.  
 
(4) I have big issues with the car park. Have any of your staff seen 
what it is like currently at the bottom of Castle Hill on Saturday or 
Sunday, especially when there are Raiders events ? It is simply chaos, 
with not enough space to pass, and actively suggesting that additional 
people come and park their cars there is utter madness. Why cant a 
deal be done with the train station, which is 200 yards away and has 
spaces available at the weekend ? That must be a better solution than 
building a car park in the exact spot where there is currently 
overcrowding.  
 
(5) SANG management. I noticed in the documentation that the 
management of the SANG would be outsourced - well ok but who is this 
company and what are their legal requirements to maintain it ? I also 
noticed that 'third party monitoring will not be required'. I would say 
100% that third party monitoring is very very much required ! we are 
encouraging people to bring dogs and picnics to an area of AONB and 

Page 115



then not monitoring the management company to ensure litter is picked 
up, bins are emptied, grass is cut, trees maintained etc etc. I have a 
major issue with this - as drafted we could be turning an AONB into a 
complete eyesore.  
 
(6) The area backs on to the back of my property. It is currently not 
clear what will be between the pathway and my wall. Can you confirm? 
Will this land also be properly maintained ? again third party monitoring 
of this is an absolute basic requirement.   
 
(7) If this idea does happen, and I really hope not, we need cast 
iron, legal guarantees that there isn't 'mission creep' - that the area 
continues in its 'wild' state - and under no circumstances do we see 
public toilets, ice cream vans, coffee vans, cafes or anything else.  
   
In summary, I think this plan has the potential to wreck an AONB, which 
we all currently 'own' and enjoy. Please please lets not wreck 
something beautiful for what are really limited benefits.  
 

Kaysfield  
38 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE  
 

38 Castle Hill Berkhamsted HP4 1HE formally OBJECT to the Planning 
Application 23/02972/MFA Proposed SANG Site, Castle Hill, 
Berkhamsted, Hertfordshire.   
 
I have read through other views and objections to this SANG.'I concur 
with all that has been stated.  
 
'I would add to the objection the serious risk of grassfires in the area of 
the SANG. This land turning into grassfires is a very serious risk which 
pose a real threat to people, wildlife, property and the environment in 
the area.  
 
2023 was the worst wildfire season on record and most wildfires in the 
UK originate from human activity.   
 
Last year by chance I was passing one of the bedroom windows in our 
home and saw 30+ youths based in the fields opposite the Cricket Club, 
at that moment I witnessed someone starting a fire and how easily this 
spread.  
 
This was despite the wildfires were continuing to spread across all 
areas of the UK and in fact globally with daily warning about fire risks in 
the area. Grass and Wildfires can travel at a rate of up to 14.27 miles 
per hour.  
 
The fire was spreading in the direction of the Baxters Farm and to the 
Golf Club and the woodland area behind this.  
 
I called Hertfordshire Fire Brigade ( and the police ) and we know where 
the fire station is in Berkhamsted and fortunately they were there in 
minutes and as it was easy access from the main road the fire was 
rapidly put out. 
  
With the grassland being in the Sang being like a tinderbox for the last 
few years it concerns me that the increased leisure activities from the 
SANG and / or deliberate acts will cause untold risks to our homes, and 

Page 116



set up an uncontrolled, destructive fire that could spread rapidly 
through woodland, heaths, grassland and farmland.  
  
Which as previously stated is a very serious risk and poses a real threat 
to people, wildlife, property and the environment.  
 
I hope this objection is taken into consideration. 
 

Broadfield  
36 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE  
 

We have lived in Dacorum for more than twenty years, primarily in 
Kings Langley and more recently Berkhamsted. We have made use of 
all walking amenities throughout the borough, including the fields 
surrounding Castle Hill, and have never felt there is a shortage of 
places to go.  
 
Changing the use of the field at the back of Castle Hill to a SANG does 
not offer anything positive to Berkhamsted - or the borough. Every 
aspect is negative.  
  
It will remove important agricultural land where wild life - foxes, 
skylarks, kites, badgers, deer, owls - live happily alongside the sheep. 
This field is currently not accessible to the public, human foot fall and 
encouraging dogs "to exercise freely" will have a detrimental effect on 
their future. This field is surrounded by accessible paths where one can 
enjoy the landscape and stunning views - seeing nature at close 
quarters - without disturbing it. Introducing man-made structures - 
fences, bins and picnic areas - in a field that is currently within the 
Green Belt and an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty - will destroy 
this for very little benefit.   
 
Adding trees to the landscape will distract from the natural scenery and 
block views from current pathways. I understand this is in direct 
contradiction to several current policies. 
  
The proposed access is in a precarious position. The site is already 
used by the cricket club, football club, bowls club, cyclists and school 
children as well as walkers and dogs. It is on a tight bend in the road 
with heavy traffic most weekends. Cars park the entire length of Castle 
Hill on these days making navigation difficult. Increasing the traffic flow 
would be incredibly dangerous.  
 
Dacorum offers plenty of parks for those people who require more 
structured public facilities. There are plans to increase four of these 
parks so this field should be left as it is - a stunning natural landscape 
which can continue to be enjoyed from the already accessible footpaths 
that surround it.   
 
New SANGs at Chipperfield Common and Bunkers Park were set up 
when the Borough adopted the Chilterns Beechwood Special Area of 
Conservation Mitigation Strategy in 2022 and plans for Gadebridge 
Park are at an advanced stage. Turning this field into a SANG - with 
direct country walking access to Ashridge - will encourage more people 
to visit Ashridge not fewer.  
 
The housebuilders could adopt the alternative proposal of paying an 
additional fee to the council per new home to support and improve the 

Page 117



current parks and SANGS, which are far more accessible to the wider 
public, without destroying the natural landscape of the Castle Hill field 
and thus denying the public access to nature at its natural best. 
 
Despite the rewording of the application our opposition remains. This 
field offers a unique closeness to nature that will be gone forever 
should this application be passed. At the moment, May 2024, it is full of 
sheep and lambs, nesting birds, rabbits and foxes. These will all be lost 
if it becomes a field for dog walkers. The area is full of footpaths all 
around this field where one can enjoy the views, the animals, the birds, 
and walk dogs. Destroying this beautiful natural site is beyond 
comprehension - there will be so little return for such a huge change of 
use.  
 
The SANG is closer to Ashridge than the development site and will 
attract, not detract, visitors who will have to drive from the new housing 
development in order to use the field. 
  
The entrance on the corner of Castle Hill is already precarious. 
Encouraging additional traffic will bring untold dangers to children, 
walkers and cyclists. 
 

32 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE  
 

For all local residents of Berkhamsted and surrounding areas this is a 
special view, unspoilt and natural. The proposed SANG would 
permanently alter this and have a detrimental impact on this AONB.
  
There are already miles of public footpaths accessible from or near to 
the cricket club and surrounding fields. Indeed, many of the existing 
footpaths are literally within metres of the proposed the SANG footpath.
  
There seems to be no justifiable reason to permanently alter and 
damage an AONB in this location with it's an abundance of wildlife 
(including newts, bats and bird species) in order to provide an amenity 
that already exists and is readily accessible. 
 

26 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE  
 

I strongly object to the proposal for a SANG at the bottom of my garden. 
This will not only have an impact on The Green Belt, The Chilterns 
AONB, my privacy and the traffic difficulties and safety issues we 
already have in our road, it will have a huge impact on my health and 
security.  
  
The site of the proposal is a valued landscape, and there are already 
plenty of public areas beyond the proposed site.   
  
I enjoy a gentle view of the cricket ground and the hills beyond. The 
proposed planting will obstruct and destroy this view. I am also a bird 
lover and the sighting of skylarks in the fields is surely a conservation 
necessity.   
 

24 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE  
 

I have been a resident for over 20years and regularly use the existing 
and well defined public footpaths and see no additional benefit to agree 
with the proposed SANG and I also have the following major concerns.
  
Access into the site and safety going forward - we currently see many 

Page 118



issues around parking and congestion , particularly going onto castle 
hill from brownlow road and also on the bend going into the current 
cricket and boys school playing fields. 
  
There is in fact a current need for double yellow lines to be provided 
rather than the current single yellow lines already in place. 
  
A higher volume of traffic along with additional parking spaces will only 
enhance the chances and traffic accidents as well as personal safety. 
 
I believe that there already exists within the immediate area ample 
parking and therefore no need to create the proposed new car park
  
Maintenance of the SANG - within the documents submitted there does 
not seem to be a plan of how and when the SANG will be maintained 
and contractually how long will this last. 
  
Parking security - having the proposed car park does not prevent non 
SANG users from using the car park as a cheaper way to get into town 
or use the trains and again there is little details as to how this will be 
managed and monitored   
  
As my house backs onto the field I note that there may well be some 
newly planted trees although not very clear from the Plans provided it 
would appear such new trees may well effect my current view and 
therefore I would request not to have trees planted.  
 
I also note that there is a new fence planned to run in parallel with my 
existing fence and again the detail is not clear as to where this new 
fence will be in relation to my fence , however should such a new fence 
be agreed is there any consideration to plant smaller trees to eventually 
create thicket hedging to cover the new fence.  
  
Existing wildlife - I am very concerned as to the effect and therefore the 
protection of the current wildlife (skylarks) which exists as I can only 
imagine having a SANG will only destroy and effect existing habitats 
which have been happily there for decades .  
  
I have a particular concern regarding the security of the potential dogs 
that will be set free in the SANG and any potential access into my or 
neighbors gardens   
  
Landscaping issues - as previously mentioned but in addition I fail to 
understand why any new trees ( apart for the fence hedging previously 
mentioned) are required to be planted at all which may well effect the 
current views enjoyed as is .  
  
What comes after the proposed SANG - again there seems to be little 
detail around any future plans to be able to simply change the SANG to 
then allow for future domestic households to be built , after all the 
SANG is being proposed and sponsored by major house builders .  
  
There seems to be a lot of emphasis that this proposed SANG will 
eventually reduce the numbers currently experienced at Ashridge . This 
I feel is misjudged as why would anyone compare Ashridge to the new 

Page 119



SANG - Ashridge will win hands down and therefore there will be no 
reduction in useage as indicated in this proposal   
  
Lastly we have experienced in the past in nearby fields youths having 
BBQs and picnic during the summer months and leaving associated 
waste , not to mention any potential fire Risks .  
There does not appear to be any thoughts regarding mitigation of the 
above should the proposed SANG be approved   
  

22 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE  
 

I object to the proposed SANG based on the following points, although 
note that if they were to be properly addressed, I would be far more 
open to the proposal:  
  
1. Management of the proposed facility  
 
I am very concerned by the lack of detail in the proposal regarding the 
ongoing management of the SANG. The emphasis is on the first 2 
years rather than the following 83 years, which strikes me as 
thoroughly short-sighted.  
  
I would like to see far more detail on who is going to manage the site, 
what funds will be dedicated to the ongoing maintenance, what the 
governance system will be (3rd party monitoring as a minimum) and 
also how local residents will be integrated. Having previously been a 
victim to rapacious management firms in new build sites, I am all too 
aware of how commercial interests can trump responsible and 
thoughtful management. This is all the more acute in an AONB, and a 
site that aims to provide an attractive destination drawing people away 
from Ashridge.  
  
Furthermore, there must be legally binding limitations on further 
development to ensure the integrity of the SANG e.g. prevent public 
toilets and other "facilities" such as kiosks etc thereby protecting the 
absolute requirement to preserve the relative "wildness" of the area.
  
2. Car parking  
  
I fail to understand why a car park is necessary within the SANG, when 
ample and underused parking is available very close by at the railway 
station and the centre of the town. The establishment of a car park not 
only damages the precious grassland, but also adds considerable 
pressure to an already dangerous and congested piece of highway i.e. 
the bottom corner of Castle Hill and the cricket club. There is a lack of 
imaginative thinking in this proposal beyond "a SANG must have a car 
park".  
  
If a car park is deemed essential, I would propose the following to limit 
it's impact: 
  

- Daytime only parking (and properly enforced) 
- A barrier to prevent nightime access / camping etc  
- Considerate screening from view of the carpark from all angles 
- Time limited access to prevent train station commuters using it 

as free parking 
- Ban on any commercial entities such as coffee / ice cream 

Page 120



trucks  
  
In addition, I would propose better limitations on parking near the 
SANG to prevent the local roads (especially Castle Hill) from being 
blocked up, the road is already blighted by inconsiderate parking 
practices. I appreciate this point is slightly counter to the argument 
against the car park, however both points need to be integrated into 
some proper planning and consultation.  
  
3. Landscaping  
  
I have the following issues with the landscaping of the SANG:  
  

- The proposed trees are being planted in locations which block 
the views from pathways. The trees need to be placed in lower 
lying areas where the precious views will not be blocked (in line 
with the Chilterns Management Plan).  

- The SANG appears to only consider access from one direction, 
not those arriving from other directions such as Bridgewater 
Road. Thus, those coming from those areas would be more 
inclined to use the car park rather than walking, which is 
counterintuitive and lazy thinking.  

- The edge of the SANG abutting the garden of Castle Hill needs 
to be carefully considered, ideally with low lying (1.5m) and 
deep thicket to ensure the privacy and security of these 
properties.  

  
In conclusion, I object to the proposal because the level of detail in both 
the SANG establishment plan and the ongoing management proposal 
have been poorly thought through. I respectfully suggest the plans are 
reworked integrating far more input from local residents, who will be 
able to help and support the plan rather than in the current format which 
has the whiff of inconsiderate and blind planning. 
 
******************************************************************************* 
We object to the proposal, nothing has substantially improved since the 
previous proposal:  
  
1. The car park is uncontrolled and therefore: 
  
a. Liable to be used by commuters not SANG users;  
b. Liable to be used and abused overnight (creating noise and likely 
litter nuisance);  
c. There is perfectly good parking spaces close to the proposed SANG. 
  
2. The access to the SANG is limited due to the surrounding roads, 
specifically the single lane Castle Hill. In addition the corner is already a 
dangerous turning point (I have personally had numerous near misses 
as a pedestrian and driver), this will be further exacerbated.  
  
3. The car park is being built on an AONB, as is the access - surely this 
is a misappropriation of AONB land. Furthermore, what is to stop 
people parking there to access Ashridge bearing in mind parking is 
already at a premium, thereby exacerbating the overloading of 
Ashridge rather than mitigating.  

Page 121



  
4. The long term maintenance issue has not been addressed other than 
a loose statement that it will be.   
  
5. The very fact the area needs fencing again surely is counter the the 
nature of an AONB.  
  
6. The plan still fails to link up to existing local footpaths. This limits the 
benefit to all residents in Berkhamsted, unless the plan is force people 
to drive in order to gain access, which seems contrary to environmental 
targets.  
  
7. The car park remains unscreened, creating an eyesore from all 
angles. Again surely contrary to the nature of an AONB.  
  
In short, this again seems to be forcing an issue to create a "SANG" to 
tick a box rather than a well thought through proposal.   
  

16 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE  
 

I live at number 16 Castle Hill, looking towards the proposed car park 
and have been very fortunate to live here since 1993.  
  
I fully support the comments made by the previous residents who have 
objected and give below my key reasons for objection;  
  
a) The proposed SANG offers, at best, a very marginal gain to the 
currently available walks.   
  
It adds one field to give access to the second which already has 
extensively used footpaths and access to and from four other directions 
viz Castle Hill, Bridgewater Rd, Northchurch Common and 
Berkhamsted Common  
  
This area is already extensively used by ramblers, dog walkers and 
joggers/runners who easily access the delights of the Common, Alpine 
Meadow and onto Potten End, Little Gaddesden and the Ashridge 
Estate without the need for this additional entrance point  
  
b) The proposed car park runs counter to existing regulations in respect 
of AONBs  
  
It will need extensive day to day management if it is to be used by only 
those for whom it is intended and not commuters and shoppers looking 
to avoid parking charges.  
  
It will need excellent screening in order for it to emulate that 
surrounding the current car parking for the Cricket Club and not to 
considerably damage the view currently enjoyed by the houseowners 
on the North side of Castle Hill  
  
There will need to be some form of barrier, such as employed by 
Berkhamsted School, to ensure that there is no access during the 
hours of darkness and obviate the noise and light disturbance/pollution 
cars would cause during these hours  
  
c) Car parking in Castle Hill is a growing problem already from the 

Page 122



sporting activities on the cricket ground and Kitchener's Fields   
  
Congestion from parking up the hill leaving only one navigable lane is 
not only a nuisance but also dangerous particularly on the blind bend at 
the bottom of the hill where the entrances to the proposed SANG and 
Kitchener's Fields are located.  
  
Current parking restrictions need to be enhanced as a matter of priority 
  
d) Increased nuisance to residents of Castle Hill  
  
Since the lockdowns the fields adjacent to New Rd above Kitchener's 
Field have increasingly been used as a recreation facility for the youth 
of Berkhamsted. This has resulted not only the depositing of all their 
waste rubbish and bottles (some of which my wife and I have had to 
remove) but also unwanted incursions into residents gardens and fires 
necessitating the attendance of the Fire Brigade.  
  
The proposed SANG would be an open invitation for this nuisance to 
transfer to the more pleasant and nearer area of Castle Hill  
 
I continue to vehemently object to this proposed development  
  
I can see nothing in this revision which properly addresses the 
concerns I raised on 7 January  
  
I agree with all the very detailed concerns raised by the other objectors 
to this totally unnecessary proposal 
 

12 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE  
 

Please see letter in documents tab 
 

Dutch Barn  
Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HH  
 

We live at Dutch Barn, Castle Hill and would like to object to this 
application on the grounds that our land/paddock will be adversely 
affected if this application is permitted as the proposed SANG would 
completely engulf our paddock and livestock within. We also need to 
question why some of the drawings include areas of land that are in our 
ownership.  
  
Firstly, due to the timing of the application being submitted over the 
Christmas period, whether by design or coincidence, we have had 
limited time to review the application and it's specific detail as we are 
currently out of the country and therefore reserve the right to comment 
further.  
  
''We are probably the most impacted by this application as our 
land/paddock sits bang in the middle of the scheme and creates the 
wedge of land dividing the proposed SANG.  
  
''There has been NO attempt to contact us from either the consults or 
the applicant regarding this proposal.  
  
''The landscape map within the applicants proposals show areas within 

Page 123



our ownership. The location plan also needs clarification as it appears 
to incorporate part of our land. Clarity is sought to confirm the proposals 
are only on the applicants land and to fences/gates within their 
ownership not ours.''  
  
The proposals have a new hedge line to the full length of the eastern 
boundary of our land/paddock which will fundamentally change the 
rolling hills outlook of this area, bisecting the wider views of the folding 
hills - a feature much enjoyed by all.''  
  
There are no proposals to manage this hedge line to stop it becoming a 
substantial tree'd boundary, which will put the eastern part of the 
paddock in shadow affecting the quality of the pastureland, in addition 
to this we would need to understand the species of trees to be planted 
(if this were to go ahead) to ensure they are not poisonous to livestock.''
  
The application also proposes to alter our fences and gates with no 
consent, agreement or authorisation and it proposes to block up our 
existing gates again with no consent, agreement or authorisation from 
our part. We have gates and access that they are proposing to fence 
across.''  
  
The application proposes to install a kissing gate where our existing 
gate exists - this gate is owned by us and on our land - we do not and 
have not given consent for this (the gate is at the bottom of the footpath 
that runs down from The Great Barn).''  
  
The application proposes new fencing on two sides of our 
land/paddock to be changed to stock proof fencing, we own the existing 
fences and have not given permission for this.  
  
''Are they proposing to install fencing a few meters off the existing? If 
so, at what distance from the existing fencing and how can we prevent 
our Alpacas being stressed by dogs off the lead harassing them along 
the fence line?  
  
''There is no mention of how they propose to stop dogs off the lead 
getting into our paddock when travelling along the footpath to the east 
of the paddock. Dog walkers are not likely to put their dogs on the lead 
when they pass through the kissing gate as they walk up the existing 
foot path towards The Great Barn.''  
  
An Alpaca in our paddock was mauled by a dog and subsequently 
destroyed some years ago. Currently due to the grazing sheep 99% of 
dogs are on the lead, which demonstrates the current harmony in the 
adjacent uses. ''  
  
The current owner of the proposed SANG land was himself physically 
assaulted a couple of years ago when asking a dog walker to put their 
dog on the lead when going through the sheep field - therefore there is 
a real concern that with the two longest boundaries of our field being 
surrounded by this proposed SANG, that there is no proposed 
protection of our ability to continue to use our paddock for our alpacas / 
livestock.''  
  

Page 124



We currently own and have one footpath running down the eastern 
edge of our land. This proposal would create footpaths to all three sides 
of our land/paddock, leaving our livestock completely surrounded and 
vulnerable and exposed to being stressed by dogs off the lead and as 
the focus of this SANG is to encourage people to this area rather than 
Ashridge there will be an intensification of use of this SANG - its very 
intention albeit at our detriment.  
  
''The entire area that forms the SANG along with the wider land owned 
by Mark Baxter, currently works in harmony as there is the foot path 
access across the land and a balance with the uses, with dogs being 
more carefully controlled on the lead due to the sheep grazing. With the 
proposed change to a SANG our ability to use our paddock for livestock 
will be significantly impacted - this can't be ok; the whole area is 
currently in agricultural use and it is the wider area that surrounds our 
paddock that is proposed for change of use, leaving our land 
surrounded.   
  
''Our paddock has two foot paths adjacent, one down the eastern side 
and the other along our road (also in our ownership) adding a third to 
the western side would completely surround the paddock as it is V 
shaped and would affect how we use the land.''  
  
Our fencing is adequate to keep our livestock in but will not keep out an 
uncontrolled dog or prevent a dog running up and down the boundary 
stressing our animals.''  
  
We have badger runs that cross the paddock currently and we have 
included a gap under the fence to accommodate them, but no 
provisions are proposed for this in the application.''  
  
There are also ground nesting birds present in our paddock and 
throughout the proposed SANG (skylarks amongst others), these will 
be affected by dogs off the lead if permission is granted.''  
  
To summarise, we are concerned about the potential inaccuracies 
within the submission, the wrongly identified land, the assumption that 
they can carry out works to fences in our ownership, blocking existing 
gates / field access', changes gates that are in our ownership, and the 
impact on how we can use our paddock with the change of use to the 
land surrounding it, upending the harmony of the current side by side 
uses. We are very concerned for the ongoing use of the paddock.''  
  
We have not had any contact about this proposal despite being the 
wedge of land that bisects the proposal. It will have a huge impact on 
how we use our land, it will change the character of the area with the 
proposed hedging to my eastern boundary (which appears to be on my 
land) and again bisects the rolling hills that fold one into the other.   
  
'Please do contact us to arrange a site meeting as we would like to 
ensure that you see the impacts of this proposal from within our 
property and the land/paddock. Please note I am currently abroad and 
would like to schedule a time some weeks forward to enable 
arrangements to be made. ''  
  

Page 125



  
*******************************************************************************  
Letter received from James Gardiner of Dacorum Borough council 
dated 18/04/2024 outlining the latest amended updated information 
does not address  any of our genuine concerns detailed below in our 
original objection January 2024.Again no detail of how additional 
fencing would sit next to our own fencing, our right of way being 
blocked, proposal to change gates in our ownership and to erect a 
fence inside land in our ownership without permission. Considerably 
more fine details and clarification are required if this proposal is to be 
considered for approval.   
  
ORIGINAL OBJECTION Jan 24  
  
We live at Dutch Barn, Castle Hill and would like to object to this 
application on the grounds that our land/paddock will be adversely 
affected if this application is permitted as the proposed SANG would 
completely engulf our paddock and livestock within. We also need to 
question why some of the drawings include areas of land that are in our 
ownership.  
  
''We are probably the most impacted by this application as our 
land/paddock sits bang in the middle of the scheme and creates the 
wedge of land dividing the proposed SANG.  
  
''There has been NO attempt to contact us from either the consults or 
the applicant regarding this proposal.  
  
''The landscape map within the applicants proposals show areas within 
our ownership. The location plan also needs clarification as it appears 
to incorporate part of our land. Clarity is sought to confirm the proposals 
are only on the applicants land and to fences/gates within their 
ownership not ours.''  
  
The proposals have a new hedge line to the full length of the eastern 
boundary of our land/paddock which will fundamentally change the 
rolling hills outlook of this area, bisecting the wider views of the folding 
hills - a feature much enjoyed by all.''  
  
There are no proposals to manage this hedge line to stop it becoming a 
substantial tree'd boundary, which will put the eastern part of the 
paddock in shadow affecting the quality of the pastureland, in addition 
to this we would need to understand the species of trees to be planted 
(if this were to go ahead) to ensure they are not poisonous to livestock.''
  
The application also proposes to alter our fences and gates with no 
consent, agreement or authorisation and it proposes to block up our 
existing gates again with no consent, agreement or authorisation from 
our part. We have gates and access that they are proposing to fence 
across.''  
  
The application proposes to install a kissing gate where our existing 
gate exists - this gate is owned by us and on our land - we do not and 
have not given consent for this (the gate is at the bottom of the footpath 
that runs down from The Great Barn).''  

Page 126



  
The application proposes new fencing on two sides of our 
land/paddock to be changed to stock proof fencing, we own the existing 
fences and have not given permission for this.  
  
''Are they proposing to install fencing a few meters off the existing? If 
so, at what distance from the existing fencing and how can we prevent 
our Alpacas being stressed by dogs off the lead harassing them along 
the fence line?  
  
''There is no mention of how they propose to stop dogs off the lead 
getting into our paddock when travelling along the footpath to the east 
of the paddock. Dog walkers are not likely to put their dogs on the lead 
when they pass through the kissing gate as they walk up the existing 
foot path towards The Great Barn.''  
  
An Alpaca in our paddock was mauled by a dog and subsequently 
destroyed some years ago. Currently due to the grazing sheep 99% of 
dogs are on the lead, which demonstrates the current harmony in the 
adjacent uses. ''  
  
The current owner of the proposed SANG land was himself physically 
assaulted a couple of years ago when asking a dog walker to put their 
dog on the lead when going through the sheep field - therefore there is 
a real concern that with the two longest boundaries of our field being 
surrounded by this proposed SANG, that there is no proposed 
protection of our ability to continue to use our paddock for our alpacas / 
livestock.''  
  
We currently own and have one footpath running down the eastern 
edge of our land. This proposal would create footpaths to all three sides 
of our land/paddock, leaving our livestock completely surrounded and 
vulnerable and exposed to being stressed by dogs off the lead and as 
the focus of this SANG is to encourage people to this area rather than 
Ashridge there will be an intensification of use of this SANG - its very 
intention albeit at our detriment.  
  
''The entire area that forms the SANG along with the wider land owned 
by Mark Baxter, currently works in harmony as there is the foot path 
access across the land and a balance with the uses, with dogs being 
more carefully controlled on the lead due to the sheep grazing. With the 
proposed change to a SANG our ability to use our paddock for livestock 
will be significantly impacted - this can't be ok; the whole area is 
currently in agricultural use and it is the wider area that surrounds our 
paddock that is proposed for change of use, leaving our land 
surrounded.   
  
''Our paddock has two foot paths adjacent, one down the eastern side 
and the other along our road (also in our ownership) adding a third to 
the western side would completely surround the paddock as it is V 
shaped and would affect how we use the land.''  
  
Our fencing is adequate to keep our livestock in but will not keep out an 
uncontrolled dog or prevent a dog running up and down the boundary 
stressing our animals.''  

Page 127



  
We have badger runs that cross the paddock currently and we have 
included a gap under the fence to accommodate them, but no 
provisions are proposed for this in the application.''  
  
To summarise, we are concerned about the potential inaccuracies 
within the submission, the wrongly identified land, the assumption that 
they can carry out works to fences in our ownership, blocking existing 
gates / field access', changes gates that are in our ownership, and the 
impact on how we can use our paddock with the change of use to the 
land surrounding it, upending the harmony of the current side by side 
uses. We are very concerned for the ongoing use of the paddock.''  
  
We have not had any contact about this proposal despite being the 
wedge of land that bisects the proposal. It will have a huge impact on 
how we use our land, it will change the character of the area with the 
proposed hedging to my eastern boundary (which appears to be on my 
land) and again bisects the rolling hills that fold one into the other.   
  
'Please do contact us to arrange a site meeting as we would like to 
ensure that you see the impacts of this proposal from within our 
property and the land/paddock. 
 

18 Boxwell Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 3EX 

Anyone who thinks that these housing related businesses are 
genuinely wishing the best for our community with these plans must be 
supremely naive. It is obviously part of a long term process to develop 
this lovely part of land in an AONB. There is a pattern of first of all 
providing an amenity then putting forward a case that not enough 
people are using said amenity and then applying for a change of 
purpose. By supporting this proposal you are basically giving a green 
light to development. 
 

Berkhamsted Castle  
Brownlow Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1LJ  
 

Proposed SANG Site, Castle Hill, Berkhamsted, Hertfordshire  
Planning application for the change of use from agricultural land to 
Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space (SANG), together with a 
vehicular access, car park, paths, fencing and landscaping  
 
We write in our capacity as managers of Berkhamsted Castle, which 
lies approximately 70m south east of the proposed development site, to 
OPPOSE the above development due to the adverse impact it will have 
on the scheduled ancient monument site (List entry number 1010756) 
and the historic landscape inextricably connected to the Castle. 
  
You may also perhaps be aware that our Charity has recently received 
a £29,600 grant from the UK Government through the UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund to explore the feasibility of protecting the historic 
landscape connected to the Castle thorough the establishment of a 
protected green space / park centred on the Castle and surrounding 
heritage assets in the immediate landscape. The UK Shared Prosperity 
Fund is a central pillar of the UK government's Levelling Up agenda 
and provides £2.6 billion of funding for local investment by March 2025. 
The Fund aims to improve pride in place and increase life chances 
across the UK investing in communities and place, supporting local 
business, and people and skills. For more information, visit 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fun

Page 128

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus


d-prospectus  
 
Historic significance of the proposed development site  
 
The application rightly notes that the site falls within an area that was 
once the deer park of the Castle. The history of the deer park is 
extensively set out in Dr Anne Rowe's two books, Medieval Parks of 
Hertfordshire and Tudor and Early Stuart Parks of Hertfordshire, and I 
will not repeat it here. Those publications are, rightly, noted by the 
applicant in the desk-based Archaeological Survey and the Heritage 
Statement. Other heritage assets in the vicinity are, most notably, the 
Roman Building Scheduled Ancient Monument (List entry number 
1005253) approximately 80m to the east of the site, an as yet 
unscheduled significant WW1 trench structure within the site itself, and 
a significant dyke or ditch structure running across the southern end of 
the site - which possibly connected to the Castle water defences / moat, 
or is of similar date / construction to the dyke connected to the 
Romano-British villa and temple site on Berkhamsted Common 
(Scheduled Ancient Monument List entry number 1020914). 
  
Brief mention is made of the WW1 trench structure at the south of the 
site in the Archaeological Survey (although not in the Heritage 
Statement), but the wider significance of the site as part of the overall 
area in Berkhamsted made available by Earl Brownlow to the Inns of 
Court Officer Training Corps between 1914 and 1919 is not referenced. 
The site formed part of the extensive green space to the north of 
Berkhamsted that was put at the disposal of the Inns of Court Officer 
Training Corps throughout WW1 and used for practice drills, parades, 
trench warfare training and encampment by the more than 12,000 
officers posted to Berkhamsted during that period. The area currently 
occupied by Berkhamsted School's sports pitches, by Berkhamsted 
Cricket Club and the southern end of the site forming part of the 
planning application were renamed "Kitchener's Fields" in recognition 
of this use. A history of the Inns of Court Officer Training Corps in 
Berkhamsted during the period - The Inns of Court Officers Training 
Corps during the Great War - was written by the commanding officer, 
Lt. Col. F. H. L. Errington, C.B., V.D. Significant numbers of 
photographs of their activities in the area were taken by local 
photographer, James T Newman, and show the encampment, sports 
activities and the WW1 trench structure referred to as "The Labyrinth" 
which is within the site under consideration. The historical significance 
of this area to the heritage of Berkhamsted is immense, and has been 
materially overlooked / glossed-over by the applicant. 
  
We are of the view that the application as presently structured would 
have a material and irreparable detrimental impact on the heritage 
landscape to the north of the Castle. It would materially alter the area 
around the WW1 trench structure at the south of the site (the full extent 
of which, in the absence of a full geophysical survey, is unknown), and 
cut through the ditch / dyke structure which, like the site on 
Berkhamsted Common, may possibly date to the Romano-British 
period or earlier. Fundamentally, it imposes on the site a wholly artificial 
landscape and environment that takes no meaningful account of the 
heritage of the location and its siting in the Chilterns Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty.  

Page 129

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-shared-prosperity-fund-prospectus


 
Whilst we recognise that there is lack of public green space in 
Berkhamsted compared to the other urban centres in the Borough (i.e. 
although there are numerous, privately-owned green fields in the area, 
public access is only lawful along the existing network of footpaths 
recorded on the definitive map maintained by Hertfordshire County 
Council), and that there is potential for a well-considered and planned 
park area to the immediate north of Berkhamsted / the Castle to help 
relieve pressure on the Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of 
Conservation at Ashridge, we do not believe that the proposed SANG 
in the form put forward by the applicant is appropriate or suitable.  
Impact on the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty / access 
arrangements  
 
Of particular concern is the proposal to construct a car park within the 
site, which falls within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty. Whilst we recognise that Natural England's updated Guidelines 
for Creation of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) - 
August 2021 says:  
 
"Accessibility  
 
Most visitors come by car and want the site to be fairly close to home. 
Unless SANG are provided for the sole use of a local population living 
within a 400-metre catchment around the site, then the availability of 
adequate car parking at sites larger than 4 ha is essential. The amount 
and nature of parking provision should reflect the anticipated use of the 
site by visitors and the catchment size of the SANG. It should provide 
an attractive alternative to parking by the part of SPA for which it is 
mitigation. Car parks should be clearly signposted and easily 
accessed.  
 
New parking provision for SANG should be advertised as necessary to 
ensure that it is known of by potential visitors." 
  
we have significant concerns that the manner in which the applicant 
seeks to achieve this requirement for the proposed site is detrimental to 
the existing green space that already exists in the Chilterns Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (by replacing green space with a gravelled 
car park and access road). In addition, the proposal seems to pay little 
attention to the significant, and well documented, local parking issues 
that exist in Berkhamsted. Any car park provision in this area would, 
unless carefully managed and properly enforced, inevitably end up 
being used for commuters rather than visitors to the proposed SANG.
  
Further, the proposed access to the site on the bend in Castle Hill, 
making use of the existing unadopted access road to Berkhamsted 
Cricket Club, would exacerbate existing issues that result in that area. 
Events at Berkhamsted School's sports pitches and Berkhamsted 
Cricket Club regularly increase the number of parked cars on Castle 
Hill and seeking to enter and exit those sites via the existing access 
roads. This significantly impacts on local residents and impedes traffic 
flow along Castle Hill. Any access to a further car park in the manner 
suggested would have a significant negative impact on the local area. 
Further, given a SANG is required to be established in perpetuity (in 

Page 130



practice, at least 80 years), the suggestion that entry to the site be 
along an unadopted access road, with no clarity on the ongoing 
maintenance and liability issues, is wholly inappropriate.  
Applicant's response to pre-application engagement with Dacorum 
Borough Council  
 
The applicant has submitted a Planning Statement which summarises 
engagement with neighbours in the immediate vicinity of the site and 
the responses received from the case officer who handled its 
pre-application enquiry to Dacorum Borough Council. We note from the 
first row of the table at para 5.7 of that document (on numbered page 
11) that the case officer advised: 
  
"Berkhamsted Castle Trust - discussions with the Trust to advise how 
the site could be involved to secure the future of the Castle" 
  
I can confirm that no communication or engagement whatsoever has 
been received from the applicant in relation to the proposed SANG. 
Further, we understand from our partners at English Heritage that they 
have received no communication either. Nor, indeed, has Historic 
England been consulted on the proposals before the application has 
been submitted. We find this extremely troubling.  
 
Management arrangements  
 
It is a legal requirement for a SANG to be established in perpetuity (in 
practice, at least 80 years), and for clear and credible management and 
financial arrangements to be put in place to support that. The 
applicant's SANG Delivery Framework Document merely provides for 
the site to be cared for by the landscape contractor who undertakes the 
works for the applicant for the first 12 months after establishment. No 
details on the management of the site thereafter, other than to note that 
"a suitable future managing agent will need to be put in place to secure 
the future maintenance of the newly created SANG in perpetuity." (para 
4.3, on numbered page 20) are provided. The document is silent on 
what is actually proposed in the way of management activity to be 
undertaken by the managing agent. Without this level of detail, it is not 
possible to assess fully how the use and maintenance of the site will 
impact on local residents and on the Castle and wider heritage 
landscape. Likewise, it is not possible truly to assess the potential 
impact on the wildlife and ecology of the site and wider area.  
Whilst it might be possible to design a Suitable Alternative Natural 
Green Space in the area to the north of Berkhamsted Castle / in the 
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, the  
applicant's proposal is inappropriate and ill thought-out. We would 
invite the applicant to withdraw the current application and to engage 
meaningfully with us, our appointed consultants (Land Use Consultants 
Ltd), the Town Council and wider community to help devise a solution 
that would be acceptable to all.  
 
We reiterate that, as currently formulated, we OPPOSE the 
development on the basis that it would be detrimental to the historic 
status of the Castle and the surrounding heritage landscape forming 
part of the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, introduce a 
significant risk to the highway at the access point at the corner of Castle 

Page 131



Hill, and does not appear to us to have the level of management detail 
necessary to be able to assess the long-term viability of the proposed 
SANG. 
 

19 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE 

Whilst recognising that this is generally a well thought-out application I 
have several concerns.  
  
Parking: 
  
I presume a time limit will prevent the otherwise certain use by 
commuters. Currently dog-walkers pay to use fenced areas nearby, so 
they are sure to use a free facility like this. Also visitors to the castle and 
the town's shops will use this free parking option. So, the car park will fill 
up and hence it is essential to prevent parking on Castle Hill (narrow 
road) and the Brownlow Road junction (low visibility). Double yellow 
lines in these places should be part of the development.  
  
Anti-social behaviour:  
 
Prior to the gating of the school and cricket club parking, anti-social 
behaviour took place after dark. It is essential that the new car park is 
gated from dusk to dawn.  
  
Planting:  
 
The plans appear to omit screening of the car park, which is necessary 
for the residents of Castle Hill and users of the SANG.  
  
Access:  
 
Kissing gates are needed at the points where the existing footpaths 
meet the SANG, to avoid people having to walk around to get in.  
  
Management:  
 
The application is silent on the specifics of what the outsourced 
operator will do. We need requirements on them to empty the bins, 
repair infrastructure, keep low planting below the required height, 
operate the car park gate, police the car park time limit, and so on. We 
need details of oversight and remedies for the residents in the event of 
lapses.  
  
Aesthetics: 
  
Please can the "hardware" (signposts, interpretation panels) be 
minimised to avoid destroying the landscape. Fences to protect young 
planting should be removed promptly. Dog litter bins should be discreet 
or screened from most angles.  
 

CPRE  
31A Church Street  
Welwyn  
Herts  
AL6 9LW 

  
I write with regard to the above application for SANG as part of the 
Mitigation Strategy to reduce the public impact on the Chilterns 
Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation (SAC). Whereas we accept 
that SANG may constitute an appropriate use for land in the Green Belt 
and Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), we have 

Page 132



several significant concerns which we would appreciate the Council 
taking into account in their determination of this application.  
 
1. In general, the importance of issues relating to the countryside are 
considerably increased by the location of the site in the Chilterns AONB 
and partly in the Green Belt. The site immediately adjoins the 
settlement boundary of Berkhamsted and so performs a critical 
purpose of the Green Belt in preventing encroachment and urban 
sprawl.   
  
2. The site is already an important open area widely used by the local 
communities that value both the landscape character and the network 
of Public Rights of Way (PRoW) providing access for public recreation. 
It is important that this character is protected and enhanced as required 
by several policies in the adopted Dacorum Core Strategy as well as 
those of the Chilterns Conservation Board.   
  
3. A key concern relates to the openness of the countryside which is a 
particular feature of the site, enabling superb views of the Chiltern Hills 
in the area covered by the site. Tree planting is proposed which will 
jeopardise this landscape character at the higher elevations and affect 
detrimentally views from the PRoWs just outside the site; further 
consideration should be given to tree planting at lower levels which will 
benefit biodiversity while maintaining the open aspect of the site and 
impressive views   
  
4. The benefits of the SANG are reduced by the location of only three 
entrance points as identified in the Applicant's consultant's Transport 
Statement (Figure 4.1) and this may diminish the attractiveness of the 
site for visitors. Pedestrians from residential areas to the south and 
further afield will need to walk along the boundary fencing before being 
able to access the open space and there appear to be no access points 
at all to the north and east of the site, except in the south-east corner. 
  
5. A crucial issue for CPRE Hertfordshire is to maintain the open and 
natural countryside nature of the site, as required by the Mitigation 
Strategy in its call for SANG to reflect the "wild" nature within the 
Chiltern Beechwoods SAC, and specifically the Ashridge Commons 
and Woods Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). We believe that 
such an objective is significantly prejudiced by the presence of 
permanent fencing within the site, and any fencing as part of measures 
to increase biodiversity should be temporary at best.   
  
6. It will also be necessary to prevent the possible proliferation of 
additional facilities such as cafes, toilets or other activities which are 
incompatible with a more natural landscape character. Similar 
concerns relate to the shielding of car-parking and we would urge the 
Council to be flexible with regard to the amount of car-parking required 
to be provided which will also have a direct impact on the landscape 
character.   
  
7. Further concern may be expressed with regard to the lack of detail in 
the application on the future management of the SANG and overall 
monitoring of the performance of a management entity. This is a wider 
issue which applies to SANG generally and requires careful 

Page 133



consideration by the Council to prevent the deterioration of this site and 
others through lack of maintenance and upkeep.   
  
8. Although a significant increase in biodiversity is proposed by the 
Applicant, the proposal is silent with regard to specific protected 
species, principally skylarks, which are present on the site and in 
severe decline nationally. A much more comprehensive treatment of 
the biodiversity issues is required than is presently being proposed to 
ensure that the fullest possible protections are being provided.   
  
9. A specific concern relates to the impacts of a likely increase in 
dog-walking in relation to the guidelines for SANG which promote dogs 
running freely. This is likely to have significant consequences for 
wildlife. There may be additional impact if dog-owners transfer from 
local commercial dog-walking facilities to the free provision offered by 
the SANG.   
  
10. CPRE Hertfordshire supports fully the wide range of local 
community responses which relate to the above concerns and related 
matters. The provision of this SANG in respect of a potential 
development approximately three miles away west of Hemel 
Hempstead is not credible when there are many options for residents 
much closer.   
  
11. A coordinated and more comprehensive review of SANG provision 
is required to fulfil the objectives of the Mitigation Strategy, rather than 
the piecemeal determination of individual applications initiated by 
developers. CPRE Hertfordshire would be pleased to assist the Council 
in responding to the requirements of the Mitigation Strategy in providing 
a robust and effective response to the over-use and damage being 
caused to the Chilterns Beechwood SAC. 
 

14 Hunters Park  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 2PT 

'If it ain't broken - don't fix it'  
Part of the beauty of Berkhamsted is that is surrounded by farmland. An 
attempt to change to park land has to be a retrograde step. There must 
be other opportunities for a developer to absolve the conscience. 
 

24 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE 

I object to the proposed SANG for the following reasons  
  
1. there already are a number of footpaths well used by local walkers 
who enjoy the unspoilt nature of the area  
  
2. The impact on existing wildlife  
  
3. Unacceptable highway safety issues at the point of access on Castle 
Hill. Traffic and parking congestion at the bottom of Castle Hill coming 
from Browlow Road which poses a major safety concern specially with 
the number of schoolchildren who walk to the playing fields that way 
  
4. There are no details regarding maintenance of the SANG going 
forward after the first 12 month period  
  
5. Parking within the SANG is both unnecessary at this location, and 
contrary to the Chilterns Management Plan. The proposed car park 
represents the introduction of a significant built  

Page 134



element within the AONB.The proposed car park will not prevent non 
SANG users from using the car park to go into town or to the station 
and again there is no information regarding management and 
maintenance   
  
6. Problems with anti social behaviour. There have been issues in the 
past of youths using the fields in the summer as a gathering point for 
parties and BBQs which has led to the emergency services being 
called which is a waste of local resources  
  
7. The nature of the proposed SANG is notable for its unspoilt nature 
and absence of man-made features which is what currently attracts 
people to the area. If they want somewhere with facilities and parking 
they'll continue to go up to Ashridge therefore defeating the supposed 
purpose of the SANG which is to stop people from going there  
  
8. I endorse the objection raised by the Chiltern Society  
  
9. I endorse the concerns raised by the CPRE  
  
This proposal will be the nail in the coffin of a beautiful, unspoilt area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty that is appreciated and enjoyed in its 
current format by a large number of local residents. I do not see how it 
would have any impact on visitors to Ashridge.  
  

Nettleden Grange  
Nettleden Road  
Nettleden Hemel 
Hempstead  
Hertfordshire  
HP1 3DQ 

I object to the proposed Castle Hill SANG for the reasons set out below.
  
I have lived in and near to Berkhamsted for many years and I am 
familiar with much of the surrounding countryside. The efficacy of the 
SANG strategy as set out in the Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) - Mitigation Strategy, published in 2022 by 
Dacorum Borough Council, has yet to be evaluated. My view, which 
appears to be shared by many others commenting on this application, 
is that the proposals for this site are unlikely to achieve the desired aim 
of deflecting visitors away from the Ashridge Commons and Woods 
SSSI (part of the wider SAC - the Mitigation Strategy is specifically 
concerned with damage to this SSSI). 
  
Paragraph 2.1.5 of the Mitigation Strategy quotes from recent visitor 
surveys at the Ashridge Estate. Visitors typically spent around 1.5 
hours on site. I think that in that time a regular dog walker would easily 
complete a round trip into the Ashridge Commons and Woods SSSI 
from the proposed SANG car park, given that the boundary of the SSSI 
is almost exactly I mile (1.6 km) from the proposed car park. In my view 
the attractions of the 2,000 hectares of the Ashridge Estate including 
the Commons and Woods SSSI, with its numerous walking options, 
varied vegetation and wildlife, and the views from and within the area, 
would far outweigh the attractions of the proposed SANG, especially in 
the SANG's early years. As such the car park can be predicted to 
become regarded as another parking area conveniently located for 
reaching the Ashridge Estate. 
  
The car park capacity of 38 would serve the relatively small area of the 
SANG (25.23 hectares/62.5 acres). In its early years there would be 
little vegetation cover to enhance the carrying capacity of the SANG to 

Page 135



absorb people and reduce the impact of these numbers. On the other 
hand due to its areas of mature trees and other tall vegetation, and its 
extent, the Ashridge Commons and Woods SSSI and the wider 
Ashridge Estate continue to feel relatively remote and tranquil in all but 
the busiest places.  
 
As the proposed SANG car park might have the effect of increasing 
visitor pressure on the Ashridge Commons and Woods SSSI, and on 
the Alpine Meadow SSSI located less than a kilometre from the nearest 
edge of the proposed SANG and accessible from it by a public footpath, 
paragraph 186b of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
(December 2023 edition) should be considered to apply. 
  
The proposed SANG is deemed to have a catchment area of a radius of 
5 km, taking in the western side of Hemel Hempstead, as set out in 
Figure 1.2 of the Design and Access Statement. It is clearly intended to 
attract visitors arriving by car. This will have the effect of increasing the 
amount of vehicular traffic entering and passing through the Chilterns 
AONB, contrary to the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB) Management Plan 2019-2024, produced by the Chilterns 
Conservation Board. This plan includes policies to minimise traffic 
within the AONB and its setting, and to reduce impacts from traffic, 
including noise and pollution.  
 
The proposed SANG would bring further traffic into the historic centre 
of Berkhamsted, already heavily congested for much of the day. Traffic 
arriving from the south would need to use one of the two constricted 
routes under the railway, or the residential Bridgewater Road. Traffic 
arriving from the north would pass through the AONB and would 
potentially travel through Potten End and other villages which already 
suffer from heavy traffic.  
 
Paragraph 1.11 of the SANG Delivery Framework Document states 
that the SANG is 'intended to divert, intercept or provide a credible 
alternative to recreational visits of local residents to the SAC', thus 
ensuring that additional local residents will not lead to significant 
adverse effects on the SAC. Paragraph 1.12 states in particular that 
'the proposed SANG is well-related to the existing settlement of 
Berkhamsted and lies between/intersects potential visits to the SAC 
from further afield, such as Hemel Hempstead'. In my view all of this is 
debatable. As stated above, traffic from the south would add to existing 
congestion in the centre of Berkhamsted. Traffic from Hemel 
Hempstead may travel through Berkhamsted town centre, but might 
also use the network of roads and lanes passing through Potten End 
and the AONB to reach the SANG via New Road, then Brownlow 
Road. Existing traffic on New Road already impacts on the tranquillity 
of the adjoining valley within the AONB. At its lower end New Road, 
together with Brownlow Road, lie within the immediate setting of 
Berkhamsted Castle. The blind and potentially dangerous right-hand 
turn into Castle Hill from Brownlow Road is a significant consideration 
in this application.  
 
In my view the SANG is highly unlikely to divert or intercept visitors or 
provide a credible alternative to the SAC. Once in their cars visitors, not 
least in a quest for variety of location, might choose to use car parks 

Page 136



within the Ashridge Estate, including those within or close to the 
Ashridge Commons and Woods SSSI. This especially applies to 
visitors resident in Hemel Hempstead if they travel via Potten End - 
they would first encounter the car park opposite the Inns of Court 
memorial at the top of New Road which gives access to a network of 
paths which are close to and run into the SSSI. It is also possible to 
park just off the road leading from here to Ashridge House which 
adjoins the SSSI.  
 
Others have commented on the safety and safeguarding issues which 
could arise from the regular use of the pavement adjoining Brownlow 
Road and Castle Hill by Berkhamsted School students, who also walk 
along the access route to the playing fields which would also serve the 
proposed SANG carpark. Many local residents have in addition 
expressed considerable concern about existing parking issues 
associated with the sports facilities located off this access route. 
  
Impact on Heritage Assets 
  
In my view the setting of Berkhamsted Castle is an important 
consideration in respect of this proposal. As a result of the SANG traffic 
could be expected to increase substantially on New Road and 
Brownlow Road, which surround the castle site immediately adjacent to 
its boundary. Berkhamsted Castle itself is a significant historical site, a 
Scheduled Monument under the Ancient Monuments and 
Archaeological Areas Act 1979 as amended and as such is regarded 
as being of national importance. The site also contains the Grade II 
listed Cottage and former Soup Kitchen. Impacts on these heritage 
assets and their setting must be considered in respect of any planning 
proposal in accordance with paragraph 200 and subsequent 
paragraphs of the NPPF (December 2023 edition). Consideration of 
impacts on the setting of heritage assets should be in accordance with 
Historic England advice contained in The Setting of Heritage Assets 
(2nd Edition) 2017. In particular, this advice notes that the setting of a 
heritage asset may be impacted by noise, dust and vibration as well as 
visual impacts, any of which may detract from the ability to appreciate 
the significance of such an asset. The conservation areas in 
Berkhamsted and in nearby villages would be further impacted by 
increased traffic. It is also clear from the objection submitted by the 
managers of Berkhamsted Castle (English Heritage) that neither they, 
nor Historic England, have been consulted at the pre-application stage, 
as would appear to have been required given the national status of the 
castle and its associated historic landscape.  
 
Landscape and visual impacts  
 
As the proposal site is entirely contained within the AONB, its impacts 
on this nationally important designated landscape must be considered. 
Other online comments have covered many of these issues which I do 
not intend to repeat. In my view the impact on existing Public Rights of 
Way (PRoWs), the impact on views into and out of the AONB and the 
changes to vegetation proposed represent a significant impact on the 
AONB landscape and as such would not be acceptable. 
  
The Landscape, Visual and Green Belt Technical Note submitted by 

Page 137



the applicant attempts to reconcile the proposed impacts with the 
information contained within the Landscape Character Assessment 
(LCA) for Dacorum for Area 119, Berkhamsted Castle Farmland. The 
Note comments in paragraph 3.2 that the LCA claims that Area 119 is 
relatively hidden from view, but for the proposal site and for the whole 
of Area 119 this is clearly untrue. The Note omits to mention that the 
Evaluation for Area 119 states that there are 'commanding elevated 
views into the valley'. From the lower end of New Road and the PRoWs 
to the east of the road there is a clear view into the valley occupied by 
the proposal site, which is also crossed by, adjoined by and close to 
numerous PRoWs.  
 
One of the key characteristics noted for Area 119 is the open pastoral 
farmland, predominantly with sheep grazing. The LCA's Strategy and 
Guidelines for Managing Change for Area 119 include consideration of 
views to and from the AONB when considering development or land 
use change proposals on sites adjacent to the AONB, but this 
consideration applies equally to any proposals within the AONB. The 
Strategy and Guidelines encourage traditional management by 
grazing. The final bullet point of the Strategy and Guidelines states: 
'proposals to change agricultural land to other uses such as golf 
courses should be very carefully examined and should only be 
permitted where they do not undermine the distinctive character of the 
landscape'. In my view the landscaping proposals for the SANG would 
make it appear similar to a golf course, with groups of trees, long 
narrow stretches of grass of varied heights, dog bins, signposts, 
information boards and a sizable car park. The appearance of the 
SANG, when viewed from a distance, would be in marked contrast to 
the remainder of the LCA Area 119 and in particular the distinctive open 
pastoral farmland maintained by sheep grazing would be lost. 
  
The claim in paragraph 5.6 of the Landscape, Visual and Green Belt 
Technical Note that there would be little alteration to the character of 
existing views is clearly incorrect, as has been pointed out by others' 
comments. In its early years the car park would also be very visible, 
until the proposed screening planting grows sufficiently. Given that this 
planting should be predominantly deciduous broadleaved species, to fit 
in with the landscape of the AONB, it would become less effective as a 
screen in the winter months, typically from mid November to mid April, 
not an insignificant period in any year. 
  
The proposals in the Design and Access Statement that tree and 
'thicket' planting will screen views in and out of the site where required, 
in particular (as stated in the table on page 54) 'screening planting 
proposed will visually screen adjoining dwellings from site, providing 
greater sense of enclosure, whilst still allowing views into the site from 
adjoining properties' are clearly contradictory.  
Impacts on wildlife  
 
The field survey for the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) was 
carried out in August 2023. This was preceded by a site visit in 
February 2023 with Natural England. No serious attempt appears to 
have been made to survey birds or other fauna on the site in addition to 
the habitat survey (despite a skylark being noted over adjacent fields 
during the August survey). At the time of the earlier visit with Natural 

Page 138



England it might have been concluded that the site could support 
priority species of birds and other fauna, which require surveys at 
specific times. Breeding birds need to be surveyed between April and 
June, preferably involving three visits.  
 
It is also noted in paragraph 3.11 of the PEA that the habitat 
classification was carried out outside the optimum time of year (May to 
July). In August many birds are silent and often hidden away in 
undergrowth as they moult and renew feathers. While it is appreciated 
that the online comments from local residents were only submitted later 
in the year, during the two site visits conducted it might have been 
assumed that the site, including the hedgerows and mature trees, had 
potential to support some priority species of birds as well as red-and 
amber-listed bird species of conservation concern. The residents' 
comments in a number of cases refer to skylarks using the site. 
Skylarks are priority species (otherwise known as species of principal 
importance or section 41 species) and thus protected by the NPPF in 
paragraph 185b (of the December 2023 edition).  
 
Paragraph 4.40 of the PEA concludes that the site 'provides 
opportunities for a range of common farmland birds associated with 
open and parkland habitats, with hedgerows and trees providing the 
greatest refuge and nesting opportunities'. Many of the species which 
were once common farmland birds are now in serious decline and have 
become sufficiently threatened to be included in the red and amber lists 
of birds of conservation concern or listed as priority species. These 
include ground-nesting and ground-using species: the latter nest in 
hedges or other vegetation but typically feed on the ground. Both 
groups can be considered threatened by the presence of large 
numbers of visitors and especially by free-running dogs on the site. 
This is reflected on page 35 of the Chilterns AONB Management Plan 
2019-2024, where it is stated under the heading 'Impacts of people and 
dogs': 'The actions of visitors to the Chilterns can damage many of  
the area's wildlife habitats. For example, dogs can disturb ground 
nesting birds and high visitor numbers can make it harder to carry out 
appropriate site management'.  
 
Priority species of birds which might be expected to be using the site 
and threatened in this way include, as well as skylarks (which have 
been observed on the site), yellow wagtail, grey partridge, linnet, 
dunnock, bullfinch, song thrush and yellowhammer. Skylarks are 
particularly vulnerable to being impacted by the proposed land-use 
changes on the SANG site because their habitat requirements may not 
be compatible with the planting and management proposals. They 
require a specific vegetation height and large open spaces, as 
specified in the paper by Harry Fox Blithe Spirit: Are Skylarks Being 
Overlooked in Impact Assessment? published in the Bulletin of the 
Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management, 
September 2022. In particular for nesting they require wide open land 
without tall structures, hedges or trees. Harry Fox quotes a dimension 
of 200 metres in all directions, where optimal vegetation height is 20-60 
cm. An appraisal of the planting proposals contained within the 
Landscape Strategy suggests that none of the short grass areas meet 
this requirement.  
 

Page 139



If skylarks are indeed found to be nesting on the site the changes to the 
vegetation proposed might be expected to displace or reduce the 
number of nesting pairs. To this must be added the impact of visitors 
and especially free-running dogs. There is no assessment included 
within the application documents of any consideration of the mitigation 
hierarchy of minimise, mitigate or compensate where harm to any 
protected species on a site is expected. It seems unlikely that the 
impacts on skylarks can be mitigated on site, so that off-site measures 
will be needed to avoid a diminution of the skylark population locally. In 
the absence of such measures paragraph 186a of the NPPF 
(December 2023 edition) would apply.  
 
Despite the PEA noting the suitability of the site as bat habitat, with 
both potential roosting features and opportunities for bats to forage, no 
bat surveys were undertaken. Eight bat species have been recorded 
within the search area of 1km radius, including an Annex II species 
under the Habitat Regulations (Barbastelle). As bats are European 
protected species, with stringent offences for causing harm to bats or 
their habitats, this is surprising. Bats are sensitive to a number of forms 
of disturbance and knowledge of the individual species present is 
important when designing any land-use changes, as some impacts are 
species specific. Paragraphs 5.2 and 5.4 to 5.9 of the Sang Delivery 
Framework Document illustrate the potential conflict between health 
and safety considerations and the potential loss of bat roosts. Take-up 
of any bat boxes provided as mitigation is not guaranteed, which would 
potentially result in a loss of bat habitat on site.  
 
No invertebrate surveys were carried out even over the small remnants 
of chalk grassland, nor were the hedgerows or the mature tress 
surveyed for invertebrates. Both might be expected to support some 
priority species. In both cases any such species present might require 
specific mitigation measures and ongoing management measures to 
ensure their continued presence.  
 
Natural England/DEFRA advice for Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) 
on Protected species and development 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/protected-species-how-to-review-plannin
g-applications includes the following requirements:  
-  
LPAs should ask for a survey if there is suitable habitat on site to 
support protected species, if it is likely that protected species are 
present and may be affected by the proposed development or if 
protected species are present but it is not clear if they will be affected.
  
- Applicants may not need to provide a detailed survey if they are able 
to show that protected species are unlikely to be affected even if they 
are on or near a development site.  
- LPAs should not decide on planning applications until they have 
received all the necessary surveys, and should not usually attach 
planning conditions that ask for surveys.  
In my view surveys for birds, bats and invertebrates should have been 
completed.  
 
Biodiversity Nat Gain (BNG)  
 

Page 140



The (BNG) calculations are shown in the PEA in summary form only. I 
was unable to find the full BNG metric among the application 
documents. This is essential to ensure that the metric has been 
completed appropriately. Without the metric it is impossible to appraise 
the split between the BNG units attributable to the achievement of the 
SANG criteria and those additional to these which may be counted 
within the BNG assessment, including the excess above 10% which it 
is proposed to be offered for biodiversity offsetting.  
Paragraph 4.15 of the Planning Statement states that full details of the 
future management and maintenance of the SANG is anticipated to be 
secured by condition or s106 agreement following the approval of this 
planning application. In my view this detail is critical to the 
determination of the planning application.  
 
The SANG Delivery Framework Document  
 
I have particular concerns with regard to the SANG Delivery Statement 
Document. Paragraph 1.22 asserts that there will be 'intrinsic benefits 
to biodiversity', disregarding potential impacts on existing species on 
the site, such as ground nesting and ground using birds, due to 
vegetation changes and especially disturbance. Any such benefits 
would be heavily dependent on successful establishment of the 
vegetation proposed, and there has been no assessment of the 
potential issues with deer and squirrel damage in particular. 
  
The large fallow deer herd in the Ashridge Estate also moves out into 
the surrounding area and can cause substantial damage to vegetation, 
as many local gardeners have experienced. Fallow deer were seen on 
site during the site survey but seem to have been ignored. In my view a 
1.8 metre deer fence is needed to ensure that the planting is 
established as proposed and to support the BNG claims. This will need 
to be in place for many years because deer can cause huge damage to 
maturing trees and other vegetation. Such fencing is intrusive and must 
be kept in good condition.  
 
 
Species choice for the proposed planting is not ideal and very 
restricted. Small-leaved lime is not typical on shallow soils over chalk in 
the Chilterns, since despite its name it grows mainly on acidic soils. 
Species common in the Chilterns such as wild cherry (Prunus avium), 
whitebeam (Sorbus aria), dogwood (Cornus sanguinea) and spindle 
(Euonymus europea) would help to diversity the mix. Holly (Ilex 
aquifolium) would add winter colour and cover, while juniper (Juniperus 
communis) is another locally-native evergreen. There is heavy 
dependence on only three species for the native tree planting. Of these, 
beech is known to be difficult to establish in the open: it is a tree which 
typically regenerates under a canopy and was traditionally established 
with a conifer nurse crop. Beech is also prone to frost damage, which 
might be an issue in this Chilterns dry valley: such sites are notorious 
frost hollows. Both beech and hornbeam are very prone to grey squirrel 
damage, primarily bark stripping. Control of squirrels and the locally 
common edible dormouse (Glis glis), which also strips tree bark, can 
only be achieved by trapping which might be difficult to manage in an 
area freely accessible to the public and free-running dogs. There is 
nothing specified about the provenance of the seed supply for the 

Page 141



proposed plantings, which should be considered so close to SSSIs. All 
stock should be raised in the UK, not imported.  
 
Many of the maintenance tasks specified seem impractical at the scale 
of planting proposed. This includes watering: it is not clear how the 
water will be supplied to the site and in a water-stressed area it would 
seem inappropriate to use large amounts of water, for example to 
'spray crowns' in hot weather. 
 

Lockside  
Wharf Lane  
Northchurch 
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 3TG 

I am not a close resident of this proposal, but I am a professional rural 
property surveyor and a native of Berkhamsted. I know the Ashridge 
Estate very well and understand the purpose SANG sites are intended 
to achieve.   
  
My reason for writing is to express my view on a strategic level that this 
site will not achieve the desired objective of mitigating existing or future 
visitor demand at Ashridge. This is because:  
  
1. The proposed site in its wider context is very small, 60 acres or so. 
Ashridge covers over 5,000 acres of varied landscape and wildlife 
habitat a large portion of which is within the Beechwoods SAC.  
  
2. The proposed site will offer no special attraction to an external 
Berkhamsted or potential Ashridge visitor. Consequently I do not 
believe any significant numbers of car bound visitors, either from within 
Berkhamsted, or from beyond the immediate locality, will park in the 
proposed location and use the SANG site exclusively and therefore 
relieve Ashridge of overuse. To my mind a SANG site has to provide a 
good quality visitor experience sufficient to genuinely draw the public 
away from the area to be mitigated. This proposal does not do that.
  
3. This complex of fields is already available and extensively used on 
foot by local people utilising the existing public footpath network. Apart 
from habitat related changes and freedom to wander over the existing 
fieldscape the only extra provision in reality will be a new car park.  
  
4. I foresee that this site will be used almost exclusively on foot by local 
residents routinely walking their dogs close to their homes. It will 
complement their existing dog walking opportunities close to their 
home. This reflects the existing use of the local footpath network. The 
site will also be used by those who wish to park their vehicle and walk 
the short distance beyond the SANG site to the same Ashridge 
Beechwoods Designated Area that the SANG is supposed to mitigate 
and protect against.   
  
5. The carpark will potentially become just another convenient means 
of accessing Ashridge. I believe it will benefit visitors to the nearby 
castle grounds, where there is very limited parking, or provide overflow 
parking associated with events at the nearby sports grounds. Neither of 
these uses mitigates against pressures on the Ashridge SAC.   
  
I genuinely believe the proposed SANG site is geographically too close 
to the Ashridge Estate Commons. It is of insufficient size and limited 
scope to act as a new visitor attraction and have any meaningful effect 
on the increasingly high visitor numbers both now and arising from new 

Page 142



developments in the locality in the future.  
  
Thank you for taking my comments into account when determining this 
application. 
 

39 Meadow Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1EB 

  
I am appalled by the idea that the following are suggested.   
 
Car parks, fencing, landscaping and more vehicular access.  
These are totally inappropriate in the beautiful area where there are 
natural green paths with walks that provide wonderful opportunities for 
healthy walking, bird watching, introducing children and young people 
to nature.   
 
Change of use could lead eventually to inappropriate house building 
ruining the area.   
 
As a psychotherapist and counsellor providing adults and young people 
with in depth therapy I am very aware of the real need for natural fields 
and countryside to support individuals' mental health. 
 

20 Haynes Mead  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1BU 

I strongly object to this application and fail to see how the proposed 
change will provide any benefit to this beautiful countryside with well 
established footpaths.   
This plan would increase traffic to the area, which is already congested 
during the day. We do not need another car park, and should be 
considering promoting walking, cycling or public transport rather than 
driving. This is particularly important given the climate crisis.   
This would seriously impact the wildlife and ecological diversity which is 
well established in the area. The bats, badgers, deer and foxes 
alongside the array of birds in this area should be protected.  
This site should not be developed.  
 

2 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE 

I strongly object to this planning application for a number of reasons.
  
Firstly it is planning to change an AONB and Greenbelt into a small 
park area that is supposedly going to lure walkers away from the large 
Ashridge Estate which is only less that 2 miles away. If anything, it will 
encourage walkers to park here to begin their walks over to Ashridge. It 
is an area that is already covered in footpaths and used heavily by local 
walkers.  
 
The proposed access is on a very hidden corner of a bend in Castle Hill 
and will be very unsafe for drivers and especially pedestrians including 
the large groups of students from the nearby school accessing the 
adjoining playing fields daily.  
 
I can see that the free car parking facilities proposed will end up being 
used by shoppers and users of the nearby train station. There is 
already an underused car park at the train station and a new underused 
multi-storey carpark in the town only 5 minutes walk away and so this 
seems totally unnecessary and a damage to an AONB. 
 

Shawlands  We note the comments submitted by others, in particular aspects in 

Page 143



Water End Road  
Potten End Berkhamsted 
Hertfordshire  
HP4 2SH 

relation to the access and parking arrangements to the proposed 
SANG area (as described in the Design and Access Document, section 
5).  
  
As the council and local residents will be aware, Berkhamsted Rotary 
Club organises two significant annual community events hosted at the 
Cricket Club - the Half Marathon in March and Fireworks in November.
   
Both events are critically dependent on access to the Cricket Club 
facilities from Castle Hill. Specifically, these events necessarily limit 
public access along the existing road to the Cricket Club on event days 
(and adjacent set-up days). The proposed access to the SANG car 
park (should it be allowed) would be in direct conflict with the event site 
access and use requirements and associated road closures.  
  
We can advise that no other locations have been identified in the local 
vicinity that would be capable of hosting these two important 
community events, hence it is essential that this is taken into 
consideration for the SANG application. Loss, or a significant reduction 
of a suitable facility for such events would be a tremendous loss - both 
financially and socially - for the local community and for the numerous 
charities that are supported annually.   
  
it is therefore requested that the council, should it be minded to approve 
the SANG application, consider the inclusion of specific conditions on 
the applicant (or its designated management entity) that would enable 
the proposed SANG car park and its associated vehicular access route 
to be closed to the general public when required for the events 
described, and on those occasions allow free parking for the purposes 
of the event organisers (via Berkhamsted Cricket Club).   
 
 

15 Hillside Gardens  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 2LF 

I OBJECT to the proposed Castle Hill SANG.  
  
I am a regular user (walker & mountain biker) of the many footpaths & 
byways around Berkhamsted and am highly familiar with the footpaths 
and countryside in the area of the proposed SANG.  
  
The SANG is totally unnecessary as this area is already very well 
served with a number of footpaths & byways. The SANG does not open 
up any significant extra routes or amenities. Since much of the area 
near the proposed SANG is already well known and well utilised by 
walkers & bikers its designation as a SANG would not significantly 
increase this usage. Therefore the SANG would not be effective in 
meeting its proposed objective of taking pressure off other areas.  
  
The area of the proposed SANG is currently unspoiled & natural with an 
absence of man-made features & development. When visiting this area 
it is possible to feel a sense of remoteness that is rare to find so close to 
a major conurbation. Developing the SANG, by its very nature, disturbs 
this beautiful & unspoilt environment. By including elements such as 
mown footpaths, picnic benches, bins and interpretation boards this 
would hugely distract from the feeling of remoteness & beauty that 
makes this area so special. Litter bins in particular, and possibly 
interpretation boards, are likely to become targets for graffiti or 

Page 144



vandalism, and could therefore become eyesores. Plus unless the bins 
are emptied very regularly they are likely to become overfull & then a 
source of littter themselves with litter blowing around this area. Who is 
going to pay for an attendent to empty the bins each day following the 
initial period?  
  
The development of a car park is going to an issue as it is likely to be 
used by users of the station. Parking charges would need to be made 
so as to prevent this, and these would need to be high enough to deter 
rail users. This would make the car park unattractive to the intended 
users of the proposed SANG, who would travel elsewhere to places 
where parking is cheaper or free. Again the very fact that the SANG 
encourages vehicle use would cause unnecessary pollution in this 
unspoilt area.  
  
The SANG Delivery Framework Document (21 November 2023, 
Revision A) describes a maintenance schedule for the SANG. The 
documentation does not specify how this is to be assured & paid for 
following an initial 12 month period.   
  
The SANG Delivery Framework Document (21 November 2023, 
Revision A) includes the statement at para 4.8 - "Following transfer of 
the management responsibility to an established, experienced 
Management Partner, third part monitoring of the implementation of 
management will not be required.". This is unacceptable - the 
proposals need to define the mechanism for the assurance & financing 
of any ongoing management. Assurances also need to made 
forbidding any future development of the SANG.  
  
I endorse the objection raised by The Chiltern Society (comment 
submitted 6 Jan 2024).  
  
I endorse the concerns raised by CPRE (comment submitted 13 Jan 
2023).  
  
It is my personal view that this proposed development is a, not very well 
disguised, segway by a development company into a full scale 
development proposal in the next few years which would have a major 
& negative impact on this currently natural unspoilt environment, the 
town & character of Berkhamsted. 
 

4 Haynes Mead  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1BU 

There is plenty of natural land, paths etc. for people to enjoy already. 
This development would only spoil it. We don't want huge groups of 
people turning up to party or whatever. It wouldn't be natural then. 
Makes me suspicious as to what Wimpey are getting out of this. 
 

40 Meadow Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1EB 

I am a life-long Berkhamsted resident living a 5 minute walk from the 
SANG boundary. My main objections are as follows:  
  
1. Possible future housing.  
 
Over time I envisage inappropriate housing on all accessible areas of 
the SANG.  
  
2. Car Park  

Page 145



 
I consider this unnecessary as ample town centre parking nearby. Also 
unclear if charging would be via DBC. 
  
Current entry point to Cricket Ground/ Playing Fields from Castle Hill is 
already a dangerous hazard for drivers and pedestrians.   
  
3. Longterm Maintenance   
 
Despite Applicant's promises, I am concerned about this. The SANG 
covers a very large area of beautiful undulating landscape. The 
proposed planting of trees, new hedges, wildflower areas, etc, together 
with grass, path and boundary fence maintenance would always be a 
huge task. If not done properly the whole site could become an 
eyesore.  
  
4. Foot Paths  
 
All existing Public Rights of Way Footpaths must be retained. For 
example, on western boundary of SANG, Footpath 62 would need to be 
retained just OUTSIDE the boundary fence to allow easy access to 
other footpaths to Alpine Meadow and beyond. Otherwise Footpath 61 
running beside the privately-owned Paddock and private house and 
garden, would become seriously over-used. Many large Rambling 
Groups as well as individuals use these Footpaths. 
 

14 Bridge Street  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 2EB 

I object to this proposal on the following grounds:  
 
1: Wrong location for a SANG - The Footprint Ecology 2022 survey 
found that many visitors to Ashridge were travelling up to 12km. This 
site is too close to existing footpaths and also the small car park near 
the golf club, and is unlikely to attract people away from Ashridge. 
Neither is it local enough to attract visitors from the proposed new 
housing to the south of Berkhamsted.  
  
2: Too small to be a useful additional green space: part of this site 
already has footpaths across it and is well-integrated into the footpath 
network from Berkhamsted. It is already utilised by local dog-walkers 
from this part of the town, without the need for vehicular access. Only 
50% of this site is additional land for recreation. The Footprint Ecology 
2022 survey of visitors to Ashridge and Tring SAC found that the 
median route length was 3km. This site only has a circular pathway of 
2.3km.  
 
3: Unnecessary: the site is presumably being proposed as a SANG in 
order to release other land held by Taylor Wimpey for development - 
the amended local plan has rejected much of the proposed 
development to the south of Berkhamsted, refocussing some of the 
housing allocation for Dacorum on brownfield sites instead of further 
building on the green belt.  
 
4: Overstated ecological benefits: the site is grazed, but not all of it is 
intensively grazed. There is a mismatch between the stated objective 
for long-term grassland restoration and the plan for easy-access for 
off-lead dog walking. One is not compatible with the other.   

Page 146



 
5: Lack of long-term management plan or long-term financial 
resources: any grassland restoration will take more than one year. If 
intensive grazing is removed and grassland is reseeded this will take 
more than one year to establish. It will need continuous management, 
either from annual mowing or from occasional light grazing, otherwise 
the dominant tall grasses will take over, reducing biodiversity. There is 
no plan for how the site will be managed beyond the first year, and how 
this will be funded.  
 
Likewise there is no stated financial plan as to how the car park/dog 
bins will be serviced.  
 
6: Vehicular access: increased traffic on this corner will be an additional 
risk to all road users.  
 
7: Visual intrusion in the AONB: the site forms part of a geological dry 
valley feature common in the Chilterns chalk landscape. The car park 
will be a visual intrusion on the AONB and this sensitive feature. 
 

40 Trevelyan Way  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1JH 

I have lived in Berkhamsted since 2000. I live with my family on 
Trevelyan Way since 2008. It is a lovely town, with great history, 
character and amenities. I do though worry for its future. There is a 
housing shortage in this country and especially in this area, but the 
continual adding of housing to areas, like ours, without the appropriate 
expansion of facilities (including traffic management problems amongst 
many others) to support, is creating ever more problems for residents. I 
have a number of concerns with the proposed SANG, they are:  
  
TRAFFIC AND CONGESTION 
  
The main purpose of the SANG is to protect the Chilterns AONB. By 
definition this mean diverting people away from the AONB and to the 
SANG. The SANG means more cars coming into Berkhamsted than 
today, where the roads are already jammed.  
 
I assume you will have to charge for parking, otherwise it will be used 
by train commuters? If so then this is likely to encourage SANG users 
to park on the nearest available road sides to avoid the cost. This is 
likely to increase the amount of parked cars, driving "blind spots" and 
further increase the probability of accidents.  
  
ACCESS AND ROAD SAFETY  
 
The access point proposed is at the corner on the bottom of Castle Hill. 
This is already a tricky spot for drivers and pedestrians with its 90 
degree bend. There is a steady flow of school children on foot on week 
days across this road, lots of cars already accessing this area (cricket, 
bowls, football, school pupils) and when events are on (which can be 
quite frequently) the whole area gets clogged up with parked cars. In 
addition, the turning to and from Castle Hill onto Brownlow road can be 
difficult given the angles of the roads.  
  
OUT OF CHARACTER 
  

Page 147



Big fences, existing trees taken down, new trees planted, additional car 
parks etc - has to be the detriment of the current natural landscape. I 
understand there has been talk of a fenced off area for big dogs to run 
off the lead. One this would be an eye sore, esp the height of fences 
needed to keep these dogs safely in and secondly the danger to other 
wildlife (including pets in the local area) and potentially walkers if a dog 
was ever able to escape the fenced area.  
  
FUTURE CHANGE OF USE  
 
Whilst I understand that the SANG is protected for 80 years currently, 
what is to stop a change of use being made by legislation at some 
future point? Given the idea of it is to protect the AONB then even the 
smallest possibility of houses being built on this site in the future has to 
be incredibly worrying for anyone interested in our country's natural 
habitats.  
  
ANTI SCOIAL BEHAVIOUR  
 
There is a history of anti social behaviour, esp. in summer months, in 
the fields near the SANG, with the Police regularly being called out. The 
provision of benches and another an additional area for this type of 
behaviour is just another incentive. What are the proposals to prevent 
the SANG being misused in this way? 
 

66 Chiltern Park Avenue 
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1EX 

I object to this development on the basis that the area already provides 
much-needed green space for the local community to enjoy walks in 
nature, in an unspoiled environment that is accessible to residents, 
whilst providing natural habitat for the wildlife. There is no need to 
over-develop the area that already meets those needs and is part of an 
AONB - it would only damage the existing ecology and create more 
issues with traffic and pollution. 
 

Broadfield  
36 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE 

I am totally opposed to this application to turn a field - that is home to 
wildlife and farmstock - into a SANG.  
  
The area has plenty of paths surrounding this field, open to walkers, 
offering stunning views of the countryside with the bonus of close up 
contact with nature without disturbing it with man-made additions.  
We regularly have visitors from London, and other urban areas, who 
bring their children/grandchildren to gain an understanding of 
agriculture and nature - sheep grazing, skylarks nesting, red kites 
gliding and swooping over the field. Deer often visit for a run around. 
  
This field offers a unique closeness to nature that will be gone forever 
should this application, to turn it into a fenced off park, be passed.   
The SANG is closer to Ashridge than the development site so how does 
it detract people visiting Ashridge?  
 
If a SANG is to attract walkers away from sites protected for their 
valuable ecology - why allow this SANG to destroy the habitat of local 
wildlife and flocks of sheep?  
Why encourage humans and dogs to walk through this field, rather than 
around it?   
 

Page 148



The SANG is a long way from the site on which the developers plan to 
build houses - so how does this encourage those residents to visit this 
field when they would have to drive?   
 
Encouraging additional traffic with the building of a car park will bring 
untold dangers to what is already a precarious sharp bend on a road 
heavily used by children, walkers and cyclists.  
 

35 North Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 3DU 

The landscape with the rolling hills is one of the most special features of 
Berkhamsted and surrounding areas. I fail to not see how building a 
new parking and creating a park would improve an already beautiful 
and unspoiled landscape. The proposed SANG would alter this and 
have a lasting negative impact on this AONB. I see no reasonable 
justification to damage the AONB and its wildlife.  
  
Living on the other side of side of the high street and regularly reach the 
Castle Hill and cricket club area by walking as I see no point using cars 
unnecessarily and contribute to congestion. The proposed solution of 
adding more parking will not improve traffic, to the contrary. There are 
several other locations already existing within minutes where walkers 
can drive and park. Furthermore, it is easy to see that the parking will 
be used by commuters who do not want to pay the full fare at the 
station, which will increase traffic at rush hour.  
 

9 Castle Hill Avenue  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HJ 

Firstly I would much rather see Taylor Wimpey spend this money on 
greening a brownfield site which would be much more beneficial to 
communities. Purchasing an already green and pleasant landscape 
seems an easy hit for them.   
  
Aesthetically that valley is a very pleasing sight - a true rolling valley of 
the Chilterns. It does not need "improving".   
  
I am concerned for the established wildlife in the area - skylarks, foxes, 
badgers, deer. The grass is not over grazed so there are probably a 
number of native wild flowers and plants already there too.   
  
As the land is to be enclosed there will most likely be a loss of access to 
public footpaths which already span much of the area.   
  
If the SANG goes ahead, a car park should not be allowed. The land is 
very near the town and so walkable, and also the railway station and 
local bus routes are close by. We should be encouraging people to 
walk there or take public transport, not to drive.   
  
The assumption that the SANG will relieve pressure on Ashridge is 
ridiculous. Ashridge is vast and is even on hot summers days it is still 
peaceful. Perhaps a few days a year on a hot bank holiday weekend 
the main car parks are busy but that is all. 
 

28 Kings Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 3BD 

This is a totally unnecessary development in a beautiful part of the 
town, a place that is loved and cherished by all. I wholly object to this 
meaningless proposal. 
 

12 The Hall Walk  The proposal is a brilliant idea- there is simply not enough green 

Page 149



London Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 2BU 

spaces in berkhamsted and making an easily accessible, large, open 
area is exactly what is needed for citizens.   
 
Unlike many of the comments here, I work full time and do not have a 
garden. Areas such as this are vital for wellbeing and general quality of 
life of living round here. If the objectors love nature so much why are 
they against making it more accessible for the general public - children, 
those with disabilities, and those with less time to spend hiking all day 
can all have the opportunity to enjoy such an area.   
  
I am fully in agreement with this plan 
 

33 Bridgewater Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HP 

This is an absolutely unnecessary development and I object because I 
see no gain for either local residents or the existing natural 
environment. It is already well used for nature walks and meets the 
local needs. In fact I do not understand the driver and therefore can 
draw only one conclusion, that the ulterior motive is to develop it for 
housing in future years (when the lease runs out for parkland). If there 
really was an altruistic goal, then surely the land would be bought by 
the developer and handed over to the National Trust to expand the 
existing ANOB. 
 

20 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE 

I wrote an objection on 31 December 2023 outlining my fierce 
opposition to the original proposal to convert an agricultural field to an 
area designated for dog walking.  
  
I was seriously opposed to the impact that this proposal would have on 
the land, the local traffic conditions and the AONB. The destruction of 
views, the imposition of a carpark, hedges, designated footpaths and 
fencing would totally alter the area.   
 
I live at 20 Castle Hill and enjoy unobstructed views to the cricket pitch 
and beyond. A view shared by my neighbours.   
 
I strongly object to a car park accommodating 25 spaces being built, as 
outlined in the latest proposal - it will involve a green field being 
tarmaced over by an access road.   
I am sure that Historic England's initial objections were to counter the 
concept of a car park being built at all. They would surely not 
countenance the destruction of green field to provide car parking space 
for 25 cars in an alternative location.   
 
How is the use of the car park going to be monitored? Commuters and 
school pupils will use the carpark throughout the day - this will prevent 
use of the carpark by the dog walkers that the car park is designed to 
serve. It will become an overflow station carpark.  
  
I am not convinced that there is even a need for this dog walking area. 
The surrounding footpaths provide sufficient walking opportunities. The 
destruction of green field site to build a car park that will be used 
inappropriately (during the day and night - thereby posing a threat to 
the privacy and security of residents of Castle Hill) is NOT necessary or 
demanded.   
 
I strongly oppose the decision to convert the use of this land and in 

Page 150



particular the development of a carpark in the new location. It will be a 
complete eyesore. 
 

4 Rosehill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 3EW 

1. Not sure I understand why additional parking is required. Peo 
ple can walk there. More cars just add to an already congested area.
  
2. Access to the site on Caste Hill is not great off a small residential 
road. Castle Hill cannot cope with further traffic. People already park on 
Castle Hill making this single lane on weekends  
 
3. The sports clubs (cricket, Raiders, cycling, bowls, tennis) plus the 
school sports fields make this area busy on weekends any way & 
people park all over the place. If i understand the drawing correctly, this 
reduces the off road parking for cricket club access rd. 
  
4. Turning into the Cricket Club access rd & Kitcheners is already 
difficult being on the corner.  
 
5. Access from Brownlow Rd is already dangerous coming in from 
Ashridge /Potten End side & this clogs up on weekends. This also 
impacts the traffic under the bridge at the railway station.  
 
6. This solution makes it more dangerous for cyclists  
I would prefer a more natural solution with pedestrian access, but we 
need less traffic in this area; not more  
 

Chaileys  
Felden Lawns  
Felden Hemel 
Hempstead  
Hertfordshire  
HP3 0BG 

This development would not an asset to Berkhamsted and would be 
damaging to the existing ecology of the area (ANOB). I regularly use 
the site for walking and existing parking and access is adequate. The 
ecology is maintained well by sheep grazing at the moment and no 
development is needed. It is a peaceful and ecologically diverse site 
which should not be developed for profit by a multinational company, 
which has long term corporate goals of developing for shareholder 
profit. 
 

3 Chalet Close  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 3NR 

I wish to object strongly to this application   
  
This is the wrong site in the wrong place. In particular it is highly unlikely 
to fulfil its remit to provide an alternative to the Chiltern Beechwoods 
SAC. Its increased use is predicated for the most part on car journeys. - 
when all local councils are working to reduce car journeys why are we 
even considering an application specifically designed to attract more 
car journeys into an already congested town with acknowledged air 
quality issues.   
  
Not only that but just declare this area a SANG -with the 
implementation of SANG rules It is proposed to change an area 
currently naturally maintained by grazing sheep into one that requires 
intensive maintenance with tractors and mowers with all the associated 
carbon output. .   
  
This is a beautiful area already widely used by local people, and the 
real issues and impacts are   
 caused by the need to implement SANG rules in order for it to be used 

Page 151



to release large scale development.   
  
Whatever gloss the various documents put on this application The TW 
rep at the BTC planing meeting in October stated that this is primarily a 
site for dogwalkwers. It's A lot of impact on the AONB, residents and 
wildlife to cater for dog walking!!  
   
1) Useage- As indicated in correspondence its prime purpose is to 
release development (1100 dwellings) on LA3 west of Hemel. There is 
no chance that people will get in their cars to drive to Berkhamsted 
when there are so many closer sites - Gadebridge Park (2.8km) 
Shrubhill Common, Boxmoor Trust, and GU canal for instance, and 
there is no easy direct route. Despite what the transport study says, 
because of the topography and layout of the town the site is not within 
walking distance for the majority of Berkhamsted residents, and once in 
a car Ashridge ( <2km) with its real countryside and additional facilities 
will always be the preferred option.   
  
2) It is already widely used for walking and dog walking by those in the 
immediate vicinity who can access the area on foot, and there are 
public rights of way across the site.   
  
3) The Design and access statement mentions "" a large amenity park 
in the southern part of the site will provide residents a place to relax, 
exercise and have social interaction" which might have been a draw, 
however, this is not indicated on the Landscape Strategy plan and I 
understand had been abandoned.   
  
4) The implementation of SANG rules including parking, sign posting 
and dog bins together with fencing, will detract from the area and may 
deter those who already use it.   
  
5) The Transport Study also promotes off road cycling on the site 
suggesting cyclists from a area from Aldbury to Great Gaddesden and 
back, will use the site. This seems unlikely but it may well be used by 
local youth on all terrain bikes. This would not only impact nearby 
residents but could also seriously impact the site.   
  
6) It's AONB - its part of an open area of rolling countryside whose 
intrinsic beauty is in its openness. Stock fencing to the perimeter, will 
intrude across and into the landscape, as will the proposed thickets, 3m 
tall hedges and new copses ( Delivery Framework). High Stock fencing 
and 3m hedges along the boundary with Castle Hill will also adversely 
affect residents current open aspect.   
  
7) Wild Life - Fencing will restrict the movement of wildlife and be 
obtrusive. It will be necessary to exclude deer from the site to protect 
the proposed tree planting - that needs at least a 1.8m stock proof 
fence simply to define the boundary, and contain an off lead dog 
walking area. No indication of the height of fencing nor the age/ size of 
trees to be planted is given.   
  
8) Creating an area to allow off lead dog walking with a protected 
badger set at its heart defies belief. The proposed path is close to the 
set and off lead dogs will inevitably be drawn to it and even into it, which 

Page 152



is not only dangerous for the dogs but is an offence.  
  
9) Similarly the ground nesting skylarks will be harassed by off lead 
dogs unless protective measures are in place.   
  
10) Landscaping - success for the most part will depend on whether 
deer are excluded. Proposals for wild flower planting in the chalk 
grassland (Landscape Strategy) are unlikely to succeed as grass will 
always out compete wild flowers. Specific wild flower meadows were 
indicated on previous iterations but are no longer identified in the 
Landscape Strategy. Wild flowers will be sown under trees, but 
maintenance ( Delivery Framework) requires the area under trees to be 
kept weed free - conflicting proposals ?   
  
11) Parking is a SANG rule though it is not actually needed as there is 
much parking close by. If free - It will largely be used by commuters, 
workers, shoppers and 6th formers (who are happy to swap over cars 
at lunchtime if hours are restricted).   
  
How will any use restrictions be enforced? An open all hours car park 
risks the area becoming used for mass gatherings, events, raves & wild 
camping. These have taken place previously on school fields before 
they were gated.   
  
12) Maintenance - the transport study says it is assumed that 
maintenance access needs to be sufficient for a small truck with a 
trailer, however, the Delivery Framework indicates Tractors and 
machinery will be needed. Highways expressed concern about the 
manoeuvrability of the truck and trailer - there is no correspondence on 
tractor access.   
  
13) Long term management ( 80 years) - a reasonably detailed if 
unrealistic plan is proposed ranging from maintenance with mowers, 
tractors and flails, and regular watering - presumably with bowsers, to 
hand weeding and pruning and almost constant monitoring. The 
proposed mowing schedule means that large areas CG3 will quickly 
turn to scrub, primarily hawthorn, holly and brambles   
  
No contract has yet been issued for this, I assume this will be 
conditioned if approved. I would ask that approval also includes 
provisions for when said company ceases trading, and third party 
monitoring of ongoing fulfilment of the contract.   
This comment ( Delivery Framework) is unacceptable.   
  
 "Following transfer of the management responsibility to an 
established, experienced Management Partner, third part monitoring of 
the implementation of management will not be required."  
  
There is a strong likelihood of this area over the years reverting to 
scrub, if there is any failure of the required intensive management   
  
14) No impact assessment of the SANG implementation on local 
residents, is included in the documentation. There is clearly potential 
for detrimental effects from increased traffic through the town, to 
reduced amenity and disturbance to Castle Hill residents, and the 

Page 153



cricket club from landscaping and fencing, off road cycling, mass 
gatherings and wild camping.   
  
15) If approved Is the area classed as private or public space? It should 
be made clear who is responsible for policing, emptying waste bins and 
who to contact if there are issues.  
 

19 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE 

It's disappointing that the applicant's revised SANG documentation 
does not address many of the flaws in the original application, as noted 
in my earlier comment dated 4 January 2024. To address these the 
Council should ensure that Conditions are included if permission is 
granted, including:  
  
There must be no harm to existing public recreational amenity. This 
includes no tree planting at heights of land where existing, adjacent 
Public Rights of Way have extensive views. (Note - the applicant's 
amended Landscape Strategy still omits most of Public Footpath 62, 
and still shows tree planting at all of the highest elevations where 
existing public viewpoints will be blocked by the proposed new 
planting.)  
  
Ensure pedestrian access (i.e. kissing gates) to the SANG from all 
existing, adjacent Public Rights of Way. If the purpose of the SANG is 
truly to encourage people to use it rather than driving to Ashridge, and 
not just a tick-box exercise, then there must be more means of 
pedestrian access from all directions. This is in keeping with Dacorum's 
stated strategy of reducing and discouraging car usage throughout the 
Borough.  
  
Amenities such as ice cream vans, coffee kiosks, cafes, public 
conveniences and other built facilities must never be permitted or 
licensed on the site.  
  
Safety issues arising from the narrow vehicle access to the SANG site 
at the sharp curve of Castle Hill must be addressed. Applicant's 
amended Transport Statement fails to address the safety issues arising 
from competition between cars, cyclists, pedestrians and dogs all 
entering and exiting from this narrow access point.  
  
Safety issues with the right hand turn from Brownlow Road into Castle 
Hill must be addressed. This dangerous turn has very poor visibility - 
Council Officers should visit and experience this for themselves.  
  
Car park, vehicle access track, signage, and any other hardware must 
be screened from view of neighbouring residents and those using 
nearby Public Rights of Way, using native plant species. The 
applicant's amended Landscape Strategy does not include this 
screening.  
  
Car park barrier to be locked from dusk to dawn every day.  
  
Existing parking restrictions on Castle Hill must be enhanced and 
enforced. There must be double yellow line restrictions at the junction 
of Castle Hill and Brownlow Road (on both sides of both roads), and 
also at the sharp curve on Castle Hill (at the access point to the SANG). 

Page 154



  
SANG Management Agreement must provide for ongoing third-party 
monitoring and a means for neighbouring residents to report 
performance breaches and concerns i.e. if the chalk grasslands are not 
being managed properly, hedgerows allowed to become too tall, litter 
not being collected, etc.   
 
Introduction   
  
1. I have lived on Castle Hill for nearly 20 years and frequently use the 
many Public Rights of Way in the immediate area for running, walking, 
and general enjoyment.   
  
2. The site of the proposed Castle Hill SANG is a highly valued 
landscape. The visual prominence of this particular landscape makes it 
an important part of the recreational amenity enjoyed by large numbers 
of local residents and visitors using the many Public Rights of Way in 
and around the proposed SANG site. The site lies within the Green Belt 
and also within the Chilterns AONB, and is further protected via several 
of the Saved Policies in the Dacorum Core Strategy, including 
Landscape Character Assessment, Area 119. Both the Chilterns 
Management Plan 2019-2024, which is the statutory management plan 
for the AONB and a material consideration in planning applications, 
and Dacorum's local planning policies with respect to the Green Belt, 
the AONB, and landscape character (CS5, CS7, CS24, and CS25) all 
require that the distinctive character and appearance of the countryside 
at this location be retained and not undermined by any change of use. 
A SANG might be an acceptable use of the land in areas with these 
protective designations, but this particular SANG proposal has 
significant flaws.  
  
Landscape Issues  
  
3. SANG tree planting at heights of land will block panoramic views 
from existing Public Rights of Way, contrary to the NPPF, the Chilterns 
Management Plan, and the Dacorum Local Plan. The applicant's 
proposal includes new woodland tree planting in four locations just 
inside the SANG boundary, directly adjacent to Public Footpaths 60, 62 
and 26 (which are all just outside the SANG boundary) at or near the 
heights of land. (See the applicant's Landscape Strategy, areas 
marked W1). Tree planting at these locations will block the open 
long-range views currently enjoyed from these well-used footpaths. On 
a fine day these views are as good as any in the entire Chilterns AONB. 
Blocking these existing views is contrary to National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) paragraph 100 (para. 104 in the December 2023 
NPPF) which says "Planning policies and decisions should protect and 
enhance public rights of way..." Blocking the existing views is also 
contrary to the Chilterns Management Plan which lists the special 
qualities of the Chilterns including panoramic views, and clearly states 
"There should be no adverse impact on landscape special qualities..." 
(page 23). Blocking these existing views is also contrary to Saved 
Policy 79 which says "The public footpath network will be protected, 
improved and promoted...". Moreover, there is simply no need for tree 
planting in these specific locations; tree planting can instead be done at 
lower elevations within the site. Note - much of Public Footpath 62 has 

Page 155



been omitted from the applicant's diagrams in their Landscape 
Strategy, so the existing application documentation is not accurate.
  
4. There is insufficient pedestrian access and the SANG is not well 
linked with existing Public Rights of Way, contrary to the NPPF. As 
proposed, there are three points of access into the SANG: from near 
the Cricket Club, and from two kissing gates along Public Footpath 61 
(see Figure 4.1 in the applicant's Transport Statement). But there is no 
access into the SANG for visitors arriving on foot from other directions, 
including: on Public Footpath 25 from the western part of Berkhamsted 
(i.e. the area around Bridgewater School and beyond); on Public 
Footpath 20 from the Bridgewater Road area and much of the town of 
Berkhamsted; and on Public Footpaths 58, 59, 26 and 54 from the east 
and northeast (i.e. the Gravel Path area and Berkhamsted Common 
and beyond). This is a significant issue, as it means all of these visitors 
must walk along the outside boundary fence-line of the SANG for a 
considerable distance before they are able to enter it. If the SANG is 
granted permission, there should be at least three additional kissing 
gate entrances to the SANG specifically for those arriving on foot: one 
entrance directly from Public Footpath 62 at the westernmost corner of 
the SANG (as noted above, much of Footpath 62 has been omitted 
from the applicant's diagrams); one entrance directly from Public 
Footpath 60 i.e. west of the privately owned Dutch Barn; and one 
entrance directly from Public Footpath 26 in the northerly part of the 
SANG.  
These additional kissing gate entrances would bring the SANG into 
better alignment with NPPF paragraph 100 (para. 104 in the December 
2023 NPPF) which states "Planning policies and decisions should 
protect and enhance public rights of way and access, including ... by 
adding links to existing rights of way". If these additional entrances to 
the SANG are not provided, thus facilitating access, it could deter 
visitors and result in more people driving to Ashridge which is the 
opposite result from what is intended.  
  
5. Need for a legally binding condition to maintain naturalness of SANG 
and prevent incremental development. The Mitigation Strategy adopted 
by Dacorum in November 2022 provides guidelines for the provision of 
SANGs. The Mitigation Strategy notes the quality of the Ashridge 
Commons and Woods SSSI as possessing an "air of relative wildness" 
and that "SANG should aim to reproduce this quality" (Chilterns 
Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation Mitigation Strategy, 
Dacorum Borough Council, pages 30-31). If permission is granted for 
the proposed Castle Hill SANG, there should be a legally-binding 
condition that will ensure the natural aspect and relative wildness of the 
site is maintained in perpetuity and never compromised. Amenities 
such as ice cream vans, coffee kiosks, cafes, public conveniences and 
other built facilities must never be permitted or licensed on the site. 
Also, the Castle Hill SANG must never become one of the so-called 
Ashridge "Gateway Sites" (see page 33 of the Mitigation Strategy 
which states: "a gateway site should provide equivalent attractions and 
facilities (i.e. to Monument Drive) sufficient to draw people away from 
more sensitive areas within Ashridge". )  
  
6. All the proposed post-and-wire fencing around areas of planting 
must be temporary. There are over a dozen areas within the proposed 

Page 156



SANG that would be enclosed with fencing (see the applicant's 
Landscape Strategy). As noted above, the objective is to reproduce the 
natural aspect and wildness of Ashridge, and having permanent 
fencing within the SANG area is not consistent with this aim. These 
fenced off areas are also contrary to the policy requirement to retain the 
character and appearance of the landscape. Some temporary fencing 
may be necessary for a short time to protect newly-planted young 
trees, but otherwise there should not be any fencing within the SANG.  
 
Highway Safety and Parking Issues  
  
7. Unacceptable highway safety issues at the point of access on Castle 
Hill must be addressed. The proposed main entrance to the SANG is 
the small lane leading to the Cricket Club from the sharp curve on 
Castle Hill (see Figure 3.1 Existing Site Access, Transport Statement). I 
am concerned about safety issues at this access point arising from 
competition between cars, cyclists, pedestrians and dogs entering and 
exiting. The applicant's proposal does not include a dedicated 
pedestrian footpath, contrary to the image they have provided (see 
Image 1 on Site Access Proposal, Appendix D, Transport Statement). 
This safety issue is further compounded by the large numbers of 
Berkhamsted School students walking to and from the school playing 
fields at Kitcheners Field every day; this necessitates the students 
crossing the street at precisely the sharp curve on Castle Hill where the 
proposed entrance to the SANG would be located.  
  
8. Unacceptable highway safety issues on the road network 
approaching Castle Hill must be mitigated. Approaching Castle Hill 
from the northeast i.e. from Hemel Hempstead via Potten End, the right 
hand turn from Brownlow Road into Castle Hill is semi-blind and 
unsafe. Additional traffic generated by the SANG will make it even 
more unsafe, and some sort of mitigation is essential.  
  
9. Parking within the SANG is both unnecessary at this location, and 
contrary to the Chilterns Management Plan. The proposed car park 
represents the introduction of a significant built element within the 
AONB. While I appreciate that Natural England's standard guidance is 
that all SANGs above 4 hectares in size must have a car park, I think 
this SANG should be the exception to the rule, for two reasons. Firstly, 
the Chilterns Management Plan (statutory plan that is a material 
consideration in planning decisions) has an explicit objective to reduce 
car use by visitors to the AONB (see Policy EP7 on page 62). The 
proposed SANG car park is contrary to this objective. Further, the 
Chilterns Management Plan states "Where there is a conflict between 
conserving the special qualities of the Chilterns and its use or 
enjoyment, we must give greater weight to its conservation and 
enhancement" (see page 9). This is a strong argument against having a 
SANG car park. Secondly, the entrance to the proposed SANG is only 
300m from the Berkhamsted rail station, and 800m from the centre of 
town and numerous bus stops. This is an easy walk on level ground 
along pavements on Brownlow Road and Lower Kings Road. Given 
this ease of access, I believe an onsite car park in the SANG is 
unnecessary in this location. I would hope that Natural England's 
protocols would be sufficiently flexible to take into account the specifics 
of each SANG site, rather than imposing a car park in an inappropriate 

Page 157



location such as this one within the AONB.  
  
10. Parking within the SANG, if there is any, must be screened from 
view. If permission is granted for the SANG and if it is determined that 
there must be a car park, then it will need to comply with planning 
policies CS5, CS7, CS24 and CS25 all of which require the character 
and appearance of the landscape to be retained. In addition, Saved 
Policy 97 states that "careful attention will be paid to the provision of 
ancillary facilities such as car parks... in order to minimise their impact 
on the local scene." To comply with these policy requirements the car 
park would need extensive native-species vegetation to screen it from 
view, both from those using the many Public Rights of Way in the area 
and from neighbouring residents. Any car park infrastructure such as 
signage, cameras or other hardware to enforce short term parking 
restrictions would also need to be low-level and appropriately 
screened.  
  
11. Parking within the SANG, if there is any, must not be permitted at 
night. If there is a car park, it will be heavily used by those wanting a 
place to park for in-town activities (shopping, eating out, entertainment, 
etc). Night-time use in particular will harm the amenity of neighbouring 
residents, due to traffic, car headlights, noise, and importantly, the 
potential for anti-social behaviour. Section 17 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 requires local authorities to consider crime and 
disorder implications of all their functions including planning decisions, 
and to do all they can to reduce or prevent these problems. For these 
reasons there must be a gate at the entrance to the SANG car park to 
be kept closed every day between dusk and dawn. There is precedent 
for this at other SANGs, such as Hogmoor Inclosure SANG at Bordon 
in Hampshire which is a Taylor Wimpey joint venture, and at other 
locations including Wendover Woods in nearby Buckinghamshire.   
  
12. Parking restrictions on Castle Hill near the SANG need to be 
enhanced and enforced. Castle Hill is a popular on-street parking 
location for dog-walkers, rail travellers, and those using it as a free car 
parking option for their in-town activities. Currently we residents must 
cope regularly with parked cars blocking our driveways / parking across 
dropped curbs, parking right on the junction with Brownlow Road (a 
safety issue), parking right on the sharp curve (also a safety issue), and 
parking on and destroying our grassy verges. This happens at peak 
times, and on good-weather days when large numbers of walkers use 
the existing Public Rights of Way, and for special events, and it is a big 
problem. If granted permission, the SANG will bring even more traffic. 
To control on-street parking, there must be new double yellow lines to 
restrict parking on Castle Hill. Ideally these would be all along Castle 
Hill, but at a minimum there should be double yellow lines on both sides 
of Castle Hill at the junction with Brownlow Road, and all along both 
sides of the sharp curve of Castle Hill.  
  
Other Issues  
  
13. Need for details of SANG Management Agreement and for third 
party monitoring. The applicant has not provided any information 
regarding the management arrangements for the SANG, apart from 
stating that it will be outsourced to another company (see the 

Page 158



applicant's SANG Delivery Framework). This is not reassuring. It is 
particularly concerning because the applicant states at paragraph 4.8 
of the SANG Delivery Framework that "third party monitoring... will not 
be required." What will happen if the company responsible for 
managing the SANG doesn't perform in line with the specified 
requirements, e.g. litter is not collected, or dog poo bins are not 
emptied often enough, or hedgerow thickets are allowed to become too 
tall, or the chalk grasslands are not maintained and scrub takes over. 
There must be a clear legally-binding agreement that ensures 
appropriate remedies for non-performance or breach of contract. The 
agreement must also ensure that ultimate responsibility for managing 
and maintaining the site remains with the landowner.  
  
14. Need for protection of priority species - skylarks. Skylarks are 
regularly observed within the site area proposed for the SANG. The 
skylark is in critical decline and is one of the UK's most threatened 
species, listed under Section 41 of the 2006 Natural Environment and 
Rural Communities Act as a priority species and as a 'red listed' 
species of conservation concern. According to the RSPB, skylark 
numbers declined by 75% between 1972 and 1996 and by a further 
15% by 2020. Given this large and recent decline, skylark protection is 
important. NPPF paragraph 179b (para. 185 in the December 2023 
NPPF) requires "the protection and recovery of priority species". The 
applicant makes no mention of how skylarks will be protected. Indeed, 
the applicant states in their Preliminary Ecological Assessment, 
paragraph 4.40, that "The Site provides opportunities for a range of 
common farmland birds associated with open and parkland habitats, 
with hedgerows and trees providing the greatest refuge and nesting 
opportunities." This will certainly not help the skylarks as they nest in 
grasslands, and human and dog footfall will inevitably harm the skylark 
habitat in this location. 
 

14 Castle Hill Avenue  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HJ 

I wish to strongly object to this proposal for the following reasons :  
There is already good access to the site with a comprehensive network 
of footpaths which are well used by walkers, dog walkers and joggers. 
  
There is an abundance of wildlife in the designated area which will be 
adversely affected by the proposed SANG. Skylarks nest here and 
other endangered species of birds habituate the area eg Yellow 
Hammers and Whitethroat. There is a fox den, rabbit warrens and a 
badger sett in the proposed area.   
 
Access to the area is dangerous, especially the junction with Brownlow 
Road approaching from the New Road direction.  
 
The proposed car park will create extra traffic which will endanger 
pedestrians and Berkhamsted School children accessing the school 
playing fields and public footpath.  
 
The car park will need to be strictly managed to ensure that it is not 
used by commuters and misused in other respects.  
 
The privacy and security of residents in Castle Hill will be greatly 
increased and the proposed tree planting will obstruct their views over 
the area.  

Page 159



 
If the SANG is agreed a huge concern is the maintenance of the area. If 
the contract is awarded to DBC, in my opinion, they do not have the 
expertise to carry out the work as is evident from their maintenance of 
Lime Walk ! 
 
I am writing to strongly object to the revised plans that Taylor Wimpey 
have submitted in respect of the proposed SANG in Castle Hill 
Berkhamsted.  
 
I concur totally with comments of objection made by previous residents.
  
The creation of a SANG will create an urban environment in what is 
currently a delightful rural retreat from the hustle and bustle of everyday 
life. It is totally unnecessary and in all likelihood will not be utilised by 
those for whom it is technically intended. 
 

39 Lombardy Drive  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 2LQ 

I am commenting on behalf of Berkhamsted Raiders football club who 
are long term amenity users of the grounds of the cricket club for 
hosting youth football matches.  
  
Whilst we recognise and fully appreciate the objections of the local 
residents to this plan and the direct impact it will have on them we are 
neutral to this proposed development in so far as it impacts 
Berkhamsted Raiders directly.  
  
With the addition of the car park and accompanying access impact we 
are concerned that it will restrict fair usage of the cricket club grounds 
for our members when they come to watch their child play football. We 
would want to be assured that our members would be able to use the 
car parks, especially if it is causing the loss of existing spaces, without 
restriction or cost.  
  
We are also concerned that access to the car park would need to be 
designed in a safe and considerate way for pedestrians (namely 
children) to be able to walk from the car park to the cricket clubhouse 
and pitches. Ideally there would also be a pedestrian shortcut access to 
the cricket club grounds from the car park to avoid the need to walk 
back along the access road and back down again to the cricket club. 
 

Castle Hill Access and Parking:   
 
Increasing traffic to Castle Hill presents obvious safety issues and a 
higher probability of accidents. This area is accessed by a tight and 
dangerous bend which is already heavily frequented, especially by 
children to access the school playing fields. The access into Castle Hill 
presents a clear highway safety issue which cannot be mitigated.   
  
Increased traffic from the Potten End direction coming down Brownlow 
Road, may also make what is already a dangerous corner with the turn 
into Castle Hill even more so.   
  
There is adequate and suitable parking close by, within 200 metres, so 
if the SANG were to go ahead that the parking in the town should be 
utilised, rather than a dedicated carpark onsite.   

Page 160



  
Given the proposed site is in an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, it 
feels counterintuitive and against the intention to protect the natural 
environment to propose parking. I understand it's also contrary to the 
Chilterns Management Plan.    
  
A car park would need to be maintained, controlled and closed after 
hours. Operating outside of daylight hours would be harmful to local 
residents due to traffic noise, headlights and potential lighting. There is 
the possibility this would be mis-used by commuters or town traffic 
rather than the intended use. There is no allocation in the proposed 
plan for the provision of maintenance and controls.    
  
Landscaping:   
 
This area already has beautiful, natural countryside enjoyed by the 
public on a regular basis. There is no need, in a designated area of 
outstanding beauty to supplement that with additional planting, thicket 
fences, rustic wooden signage. It feels like this is a box ticking exercise 
and would not actually deter people from Ashridge. Rather, it is 
encouraging more people into the area, to arrive by car (rather than 
foot, bike or public transport) on the fringe of Frithsden beeches, the 
historic WW1 trenches and other important archaeological and 
ecological sites.   
  
There are existing public rights over way nearby that the proposed 
planting would block views from which I believe is contrary to both the 
council local plan and Chilterns Management plan.   
  
This area is home to a number of wildlife and the introduction of 
different landscaping, more people and dogs to the area will disrupt 
their natural habitat. There are many properties that currently overlook 
this natural area and the proposed plan would disrupt their privacy.
  
Management:   
 
There is no specification for management of the site in the proposal. 
There is bound to be waste, from dog walkers and litter that will need to 
be dealt with on a regular basis.   
  
If the SANG is to proceed, on a long term basis and as a condition of it's 
existence it needs to be ensured that amenities such as ice cream 
vans, public toilets or kiosks are never permitted. This also presents an 
issue if you're trying to encourage more families to the area.   
  
Overall these reasons above make the site unsuitable for a SANG and 
I'd propose another location is sought and strongly that this application 
is rejected.    
 

34 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
HP4 1HE 

I am a resident of Castle Hill, no 34.  I have been kept informed of the 
developments.  Having digested the proposal to convert the green belt 
land behind our home to a SANG.  We would like it registered that we 
strongly object the proposal based on the following:  
  
1. The areas is designated green belt and further more is on the 

Page 161



register of the Chilterns as an area of outstanding natural beauty.  
2. I am incredibly concerned about our privacy and garden/property 
being overlooked and the expected noise pollution.  I am concerned for 
the potential for crime with easy access to the rear of our property.  
3. Castle Hill is a narrow residential road with very little traffic I am 
therefore concerned about road safety and potential for accidents in the 
surrounding area.  
4. We live within .5 mile of the railway station and therefore there are 
expected car parking challenges and regulations in place, the proposal 
of the SANG will congest the area and the car parking proposed (which 
I feel is not within the greenbelt or AONB classification) will be woefully 
inadequate.  
5. The details of the landscape character and appearance are at odds 
with the natural and unspoilt landscape.  I am amazed that  this 
proposal is progressing with the changes planned to vegetation and 
impact on public rights of way.  
6. Finally I have concerns of the maintenance of the SANG and that this 
will be the "thin end of the wedge" and we will see incremental 
development again at odds with the greenbelt and AONB 
classifications. 
 

Woodfield House  
Ivy House Lane  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 2PP 

The application provides for a car park and changed highway access 
from Castle Hill. The new car park is unnecessary as the area is 
already used extensively for recreation and the car park is proposed to 
be situated in the middle of an AONB. Providing vehicular access to the 
SANG also gives rise to an increased risk of anti-social behaviour as 
witnessed by the land adjacent to New Road where fires and vandalism 
have taken place. No detailed management proposals have been 
lodged and controlling the car park and ensuring it is safe for winter use 
will mean lighting and ticketing points, all contrary to the natural habitat 
that currently exists.  
 
There are no detailed proposals for the management of the SANG and 
unless properly maintained the current landscape is likely to change 
adversely.   
 
As a representative of both Berkhamsted Cricket Club and the BSGCA, 
the proposals materially affect the usage of the cricket field by 
restricting existing parking and it raises safety concerns with potentially 
increased vehicular traffic. Other organisations using the cricket field 
will also be adversely affected.  
Others have commented on the effect on wildlife but fences, signage, 
lighting and mown footpaths will likely have an undesired effect.  
The SANG designation imposes "rules" where none are required and 
the consequences of the application are not welcome.  
 

39 Meadow Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1EB 

I object strongly to the change of use for this land. I cannot see any 
need for the development as I have been freely walking the footpaths 
on this land for the last 33 years.  
I am also deeply suspicious of the motives for this development as it is 
being proposed by building and estate agency companies, and feel that 
as soon as the change of use is granted, there will be proposals for 
house building 
 

Page 162



14 Castle Hill Avenue  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HJ 

I have been a resident of Dacorum for over 60 years and have lived in 
Berkhamsted for the past 18 years.  
I am an Honorary Freeman of the Borough of Dacorum and a Past 
Chairman of Boxmoor Trust.  
 
I have helpful knowledge of the large number of open spaces within 
Dacorum. Many of these are underused apart from those used for 
sporting activities, mainly at weekends. 
  
As a Past Chairman and Trustee of Boxmoor Trust I am aware that 
there has been great difficulty in getting the general public to make use 
of the approximate 400 acres of open access land that they manage.
  
The old adage says, ' You can lead a horse to water but not make it 
drink'.  
 
The same applies to the general public making use of green spaces. 
Therefore I see no need to turn a beautiful piece of farmland in AONB 
into a SANG.  
 
The countryside is fast decreasing and changing this area into a SANG 
makes no sense. 
  
It can only be for someone's gain and the Community's loss.  
  
I have read through other views and objections to this SANG.  
I concur with all that has been stated and do not feel I need to add 
chapter and verse.  
  

The Base  
15B Middle Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 3EQ 

To what is this the Alternative? The land is already green space and 
sits within the Green Belt and Chilterns AONB. Is there another 
proposal ready to be submitted which swallows up a different bit of the 
Green Belt and AONB? 
  
I am in favour of increasing public access to the countryside (right to 
roam responsibly).  
 
This area has several public rights of way, mainly footpaths, which are 
much used by local residents (one can tell by the mud!). There are a 
number of policies which seek to protect the land in its current form and 
appearance, such as the Landscape Character Assessment and 
Chilterns Management Plan. In my use of the various rights of way over 
20 years, I remember it as grassland with trees.  
 
I don't understand why this space is separating itself from the existing 
footpaths at What3Words locations ///pull.nurture.taller, 
///spreading.outnumber.resonates and ///album.partly.inch There is an 
existing farm gate at ///cooks.endearing.bluffing This is not marked on 
the plan. If there is to be any improvement to the landscape, additional 
man made fencing is not the answer but traditional hedging techniques 
(as is carried out along the canal) would provide stock and dog proof 
edging.  
 
The designation of an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty is based 
around the existing landscape with its open views of rolling landscape. 

Page 163



  
The carpark is quite unnecessary as there are plenty of car parking 
facilities at both the station and the new, council multi storey car park 
off Lower Kings Road, both a few minutes walk away. Longstanding 
AONB policy is against the introduction of car parks within the AONB. 
The ready access to other parking facilities and the AONB restrictions 
should override Natural England's requirements. Visitors from outside 
Berkhamsted are within walking distance of both the railway station, the 
canal and local bus services. The ethos of public access to green 
space should be encouraging exercise.  
 
The land in question is currently home to a number of species of wildlife 
including Badgers, Foxes, Skylarks, deer, Red Kites, and Owls 
amongst others. The proposed scheme will change their environment 
dramatically with fencing blocking off their usual roaming/ foraging 
routes and being in conflict with all the additional dogs. There will be 
considerable disturbance during the creation ("landscaping") of the 
area.  
 
The nearest point of the Ashridge Estate is a kilometre distant past the 
housing of Northchurch Common thus nearly 2 km from the car park. I 
don't see how they complement each other or how this small space 
would draw people from the wonderful extened area at Ashridge.  
I can see no point in adding signage and "interpretation" boards to a 
rural location.  
 
The walking route largely mirrors existing footpaths, so offers no 
planning gain.  
 
A builder has bought some green agricultural land and wants to 
redevelop it along the lines of Georgian parkland to leverage 
forthcoming assaults on the Green Belt, Chilterns Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty and the Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of 
Conservation (see Design & Access Statement Foreword and 
statement on capacity page 33).  
 

12 Trevelyan Way  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1JG 

1. I am a regular user of the many footpaths around Berkhamsted and I 
am particularly familiar with the footpaths and countryside in the area of 
the proposed SANG.  
  
2. I OBJECT to the proposed Castle Hill SANG.  
  
3. The area around the proposed SANG is already served with a 
number of footpaths. The SANG does not open up significant additional 
routes for walking. Since much of the area near the proposed SANG is 
already well known and well used by walkers its designation as a 
SANG would not significantly increase this usage. Therefore the SANG 
would not be effective in meeting its objective of taking pressure off 
other areas.  
  
4. Entering the SANG from the proposed car park requires a climb up a 
fairly steep hill. I believe this would be a disincentive to anyone wishing 
to take a 'short stroll' - other areas where footpaths are more level will 
be more attractive. Therefore the car park is more likely to be used by 
those seeking to take longer walks, quite possibly into Ashridge and 

Page 164



parts of the Chiltern Beechwoods. Since the intention of the SANG is to 
minimise the use of these areas the SANG would be failing in its intent.
  
5. The area of the proposed SANG is notable for its unspoiled nature 
and for the absence of man-made features. When visiting this area it is 
possible to feel that one is a long way from any town or city. The SANG 
proposal includes the provision of mown footpaths, picnic benches, 
bins and interpretation boards. The presence of these artificial features 
would reduce the impression of remoteness that currently exists and 
therefore such features would be detrimental to the area. Litter bins in 
particular, and possibly interpretation boards, are likely to become 
targets for graffiti or vandalism, and could therefore become eyesores. 
   
6. The provision of a car park is problematic. If the car park is free then 
it is likely to be used by users of the station. Parking charges would 
need to be made so as to prevent or reduce this, and these would need 
to be high enough to deter rail users. This would make the car park 
unattractive to the intended users of the proposed SANG, who would 
travel elsewhere to places where parking is cheaper or free.  
  
7. To minimise anti-social behaviour, the car park would need to be 
closed at night. The proposals therefore need to include provision for 
implementing and managing this.  
  
8. The SANG Delivery Framework Document (21 November 2023, 
Revision A) describes an extensive (and presumably costly) 
maintenance schedule for the SANG. The documentation does not 
specify how this is to be assured following an initial 12 month period.
  
9. The SANG Delivery Framework Document (21 November 2023, 
Revision A) includes the statement at para 4.8 - "Following transfer of 
the management responsibility to an established, experienced 
Management Partner, third part monitoring of the implementation of 
management will not be required.". This is surely an unacceptable 
position - the proposals need to define the mechanism for the 
assurance of ongoing management, and for the effective monitoring of 
that management, for the likely required 80 year period.  
  
10. Assurances are needed that further development of the proposed 
SANG will never occur - e.g. provision of toilets, cafe or the 
construction of housing must be categorically forbidden.  
  
11. I endorse the objection raised by The Chiltern Society (comment 
submitted 6 Jan 2024).  
  
12. I endorse the concerns raised by CPRE (comment submitted 13 
Jan 2023). 
 

6 Finch Road  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 3LH 

We are against this proposal as it will cause disruption to the current 
green space which will reduce wildlife and the natural area which the 
general public currently enjoys. It is also far away from the intended 
development so will not bring the benefits that it claims. This is already 
a beautiful green area and does not need any additional changes, or a 
car park nearby. 
 

Page 165



2 Chalet Close  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 3NR 

The creation of this SANG is unlikely to ease recreation pressure on the 
Ashridge estate and the Chiltern Beechwoods. There are no new 
developments nearby in Berkhamsted. The area is already used by 
walkers and ramblers who use the existing public footpaths. New 
residents in the proposed LA3 site in Hemel Hempstead are unlikely to 
drive here to walk their dogs or engage in informal recreational 
activities .  
 
People driving to this site would have more incentives to use Ashridge 
with its facilities such as toilets and cafes.  
Stock fencing, bins ,signposts and information boards will be intrusive 
in an AONB.  
 
Enclosing a badger set is unacceptable. If badgers are to be able to get 
out then dogs will be able to get in. These protected animals would be 
in danger of dog attacks. Badgers would be likely to tunnel under the 
stock fencing and create access for dogs to  livestock in the 
surrounding fields.   
 
Ground nesting birds will be disturbed by off lead dogs.  
 
The car park is very undesirable in an AONB.   
 
How is the time limited parking to be enforced?   
 
The car park and the screening of this area with hedgerows could lead 
to more antisocial behaviour . I have experienced camping and off-road 
motor bikes on the school field behind my property.  
  

7 Castle Hill  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1HE 

  
Planning Application 23/02972/MFA: Proposed SANG Site Castle Hill 
Berkhamsted HP4  
  
I am not in favour of this development, for the following reasons:-  
  
1. This is an area of AONB, which on this basis has previously had 
planning applications refused to protect it. This should continue.   
 
2. The car park will lead to increased traffic in the road, with the 
entrance on a dangerous corner, which already causes issues for local 
residents. The station car park is near enough to use for any additional 
visitors. 
  
3. That said, the area already attracts dog walkers and walkers, along 
with the football and cricket clubs and of course the continual use of 
Berkhamsted school. This is already a very busy site, causing 
congestion and parking issues for Castle Hill residents. The road itself 
is not equipped for the current volume of traffic.  
 
4. Double yellow lines should be a minimum requirement on Castle Hill 
to encourage visitors to use the already available station car park.  
 
5. Antisocial behaviour is likely to increase for residents on the side of 
the proposed car park, which isn't likely to be policed in the evenings; 
causing distress and safety issues.  

Page 166



 
6. The lighting from the proposed car park would affect the wildlife, 
included protected species, like the bats. Furthermore, additional foot 
traffic in this area (which already used by many people) could be 
detrimental to the current wildlife in general.  
 
7. The proposed planting plan for the SANG of trees on the higher 
levels, will obscure views that are currently enjoyed by walkers and 
residents.   
  
If this proposal is accepted, there will be an overwhelming detrimental 
affect to the local area, residents, and wildlife. Site management will be 
a priority, to ensure the area is maintained according to the increased 
volume of traffic; including the management of littering, dog waste 
removal regularly, car park traffic controls and security.  
  
The residents would insist to receive your assurances will there be that 
there are no further developments in this area of AONB, like cafes, 
toilets, or any further development of the site for sporting activities? 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 167



ITEM NUMBER: 5b 
 

23/02195/FUL Construction of 9 dwellings including the creation of a new 
vehicular access, parking and landscaping 

Site Address: Land West Of Tring Road Tring Road Wilstone Tring Hertfordshire  

Applicant/Agent: H2O Urban (No 2) LLP Mr Philip Smith 

Case Officer: Martin Stickley 

Parish/Ward: Tring Rural Parish Council Tring West & Rural 

Referral to Committee: Called-In by Ward Councillor 

 
1. RECOMMENDATION  
 
1.1 That planning permission be DELEGATED with a view to APPROVAL subject to a Section 

106 legal agreement securing a mitigation package to avoid any further significant effects on 
the Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation and the footpath, play area and 
associated management responsibilities. 

 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1  The application lies within Wilstone and the Rural Area, whereby small-scale housing 

developments are acceptable subject to compliance with Policies CS1, CS2 and CS7. The 
assessment below concludes that the proposals would comply with these policies and the 
benefit of providing nine residential units is given substantial weight considering the lack of 
the council’s five-year supply of housing. 

 
2.2 The applicant has responded to points raised by council officers and the scheme has 

evolved accordingly. No specific reasons for refusal have been identified. 
 
3. SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
3.1  The application site comprises a triangular parcel of land situated on the eastern side of 

Tring Road, south-west of Wilstone Bridge. Wilstone is located directly south approximately 
four-minutes’ walk to the centre of the village. The site is bound by residential dwellings on 
Tring Road to the south. There is a current development underway to the east for 28 
dwellings (see 20/01754/MFA, which was allowed on appeal). To the north lies the Aylesbury 
Arm of the Grand Union Canal followed by the recently completed ‘Wilstone Wharf’ 
development of seven units and one live/work unit (see 4/02833/16/MFA). The application 
site is on the edge of the settlement. 

 
4. PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 Planning permission is sought for nine dwellinghouses including two larger four-bedroom 

detached properties and two rows of terraced properties comprising three and four-bed 
units. An access road would be provided from Tring Road to serve the terraced properties, 
which back onto the Canal. The two detached properties would be accessed from driveways 
on Tring Road. The scheme would also provide a new footpath along Tring Road within the 
site boundaries with play equipment. 

 
4.2 The proposed units would be of contemporary design, constructed from buff and red brick at 

ground-floor level and black timber cladding at first-floor. The roofing material would be dark 
grey metal cladding. Areas of landscaping and tree planting would be provided within and 
around the plots. 

 
 

Page 168

Agenda Item 5b



5. PLANNING HISTORY 
 
5.1 No relevant planning applications. 
 
6. CONSTRAINTS 
 

Advert Control 
Canal Buffer Zones: Major and Minor 
CIL Zone: 2 
Former Land Use (Risk Zone) 
Parish: Tring Rural CP 
RAF Halton and Chenies Zone: Yellow (45.7m) 
RAF Halton and Chenies Zone: RAF HALTON: DOTTED BLACK ZONE 
Rural Area 
Parking Standards: Zone 3 
Wildlife Sites: Grand Union Canal, Aylesbury Arm 

 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Consultation responses 
 
7.1 These are reproduced in full at Appendix A. 
 

Neighbour notification/site notice responses 
  
7.2  These are reproduced in full at Appendix B. 
 
8. PLANNING POLICIES 
 

Main Documents: 
 

National Planning Policy Framework (December 2023) 
Dacorum Borough Core Strategy 2006-2031 (adopted September 2013) 
Hertfordshire County Council Waste Core Strategy (2012) 
Dacorum Borough Local Plan 1999-2011 (adopted April 2004) 

 
Core Strategy (Policies) 

 
NP1 – Supporting Development 
CS1 – Distribution of Development 
CS2 – Selection of Development Sites 
CS7 – Rural Area 
CS8 – Sustainable Transport 
CS10 – Quality of Settlement Design 
CS11 – Quality of Neighbourhood Design 
CS12 – Quality of Site Design 
CS13 – Quality of Public Realm 
CS17 – New Housing 
CS18 – Mix of Housing 
CS25 – Landscape Character 
CS26 – Green Infrastructure 
CS27 – Quality of the Historic Environment 
CS28 – Carbon Emission Reductions 
CS29 – Sustainable Design and Construction 
CS31 – Water Management 

Page 169



CS32 – Air, Soil and Water Quality 
CS35 – Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 
 
Dacorum Borough Local Plan (DBLP) (Saved Policies) 
 
Policy 18 – Size of New Dwellings 
Policy 21 – Density of Residential Development 
Policy 37 – Environmental Improvements 
Policy 51 – Development and Transport Impacts 
Policy 57 – Provision and Management of Parking 
Policy 58 – Private Parking Provision| 
Policy 62 – Cyclists 
Policy 79 – Footpath Network 
Policy 99 – Preservation of Trees, Hedgerows and Woodlands 
Policy 101 – Tree and Woodland Management 
Policy 102 – Sites of Importance to Nature Conservation 
Policy 103 – Management of Sites of Nature Conservation Importance 
Policy 106 – The Canalside Environment 
Policy 111 – Height of Buildings 
Policy 113 – Exterior Lighting 
Policy 119 – Development Affecting Listed Buildings 
Policy 129 – Storage and Recycling of Waste on Development Sites 
Appendix 1 – Sustainability Checklist  
Appendix 3 – Layout and Design of Residential Areas 
Appendix 8 – Exterior Lighting 
 
Hertfordshire County Council Waste Core Strategy 
 
Policy 1 – Strategy for the Provision for Waste Management Facilities 
Policy 2 – Waste Prevention and Reduction 
Policy 12 – Sustainable Design, Construction and Demolition 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents and Other Relevant Information/Legislation 
 
Site Layout and Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: A Guide to Good Practice (2022) 
Visitor Survey, Recreation Impact Assessment and Mitigation Requirements for the Chilterns 
Beechwoods SAC and the Dacorum Local Plan (2022) 
Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation – Mitigation Strategy for Ashridge 
Commons and Woods Site of Special Scientific Interest (2022) 
Car Parking Standards (2020) 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations (2017) 
Sustainable Development Advice Note (2016) 
Refuse Storage Guidance Note (2015) 
Planning Obligations (2011) 
Roads in Hertfordshire, Highway Design Guide 3rd Edition (2011) 
Environmental Guidelines (2004) 

 
9. CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Main Issues 
 
9.1 The main issues to consider are: 
 

 The policy and principle justification for the proposal; 

 The quality of design and impact on visual amenity; 

Page 170



 The impact on residential amenity; 

 Environmental and ecological implications; 

 The impact on highway safety and car parking; and 

 Any other material planning considerations. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
9.2  The application site lies within the designated ‘Rural Area’ whereby Policy CS7 of the Core 

Strategy applies. The policy states that ‘small-scale development for housing…will be 
permitted at…Wilstone, provided that it complies with Policy CS1: Distribution of 
Development and Policy CS2: Selection of Development Sites. 

 
9.3 Policy CS1 explains that the rural character of the borough shall be conserved. Development 

that supports the vitality and viability of local communities, causes no damage to the existing 
character of a village and/or surrounding area and is compatible with policies protecting and 
enhancing the Rural Area will be supported. 

 
9.4 Paragraph 83 of the National Planning Policy Framework (“NPPF”) aligns with Policy CS1, 

highlighting that: 
 

To promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located 
where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. Planning Policies 
should identify opportunities for villages to grow and thrive, especially where this will 
support local services. 

 
9.5 Policy CS2 notes that within defined settlements, the preference is to develop previously 

developed land and buildings; followed by areas of high accessibility and then ‘other land’. 
 
9.6 Although the Core Strategy does not specifically define ‘small-scale’ development for 

housing, the proposals would represent an overall increase of housing numbers in Wilstone 
of circa 3-4%. This is considered small-scale. Whilst the site is not previously developed or 
considered to be in an area of high accessibility. However, as noted in paragraph 9.5 above, 
housing development can be supported on ‘other land’ such as this, even though it ranks 
lower on the preferred sites for development. Overall, the proposals would not be sited on 
land most suitable for residential development, albeit the level of harm would be limited. 

 
9.7 The above should be balanced with the significant need for housing in the borough. Recent 

appeal decisions have highlighted issues with the delivery of housing in Dacorum1 and an 
inability to demonstrate a five-year supply of housing, with a figure of 1.69 years2. It is also 
recognised that small sites can play an important role in delivering homes, as small sites 
typically deliver homes faster than larger schemes because they tend to be built in a single 
phase and are not reliant on new infrastructure delivery3. Taking the council’s lack of a 
five-year housing land supply into account, the provisions of Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF 
are invoked. This states that planning permission should be given for a development unless 
the benefits are significantly and demonstrably outweighed. This is referred to as the ‘tilted 
balance’. 

 
9.8 Councillor Smith-Wright and several residents have highlighted that Wilstone has grown 

considerably over recent years (e.g. noting the surrounding developments discussed in the 
‘Site Description’ section). They have stated that the increased housing numbers/residents 
are putting pressure on the existing infrastructure. The growth of Wilstone is acknowledged 

                                                
1 Land East of Tring (Appeal Reference: APP/A1910/W/22/3309923) 
2 Rectory Farm, Kings Langley (Appeal Reference APP/A1910/W/23/3333545) 
3 Lichfields – Small Sites: Unlocking housing delivery 

Page 171



by the local planning authority and strategic discussions are currently taking place regarding 
future growth. However, the council’s current lack of a five-year land supply has emphasised 
the need for housing sites to come forward. The proposals would provide much needed 
housing and the associated social benefits. The proposals would also provide modest 
economic benefits by supporting local services such as the Wilstone Community Shop and 
P. E. Mead and Sons Farm Shop. 

 
Quality of Design / Impact on Visual Amenity 
 

Planning Policies 
 
9.9 Section 12 of the NPPF identifies that good design is a key aspect of sustainable 

development, creates better places to live and work and makes development acceptable to 
communities. Furthermore, high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places are 
fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. 

 
9.10 Permission should therefore be refused for poor design that fails to improve the character 

and quality of an area and the way it functions. Equally, if the design of a development 
accords with clear expectations in plan policies, design should not be used by the 
decision-maker as a valid reason to object to development. 

 
9.11 The emphasis on good design is highlighted in the Core Strategy, Policies CS10, CS11 and 

CS12; which state that development should coordinate streetscape design between 
character areas, integrate with such character, and respect adjoining properties in terms of 
layout, site coverage, scale, height, bulk, landscaping, and amenity space. 

 
9.12 Policy CS18 requires housing developments to provide a choice of homes. This comprises a 

range of housing types, sizes and tenure; housing for those with disabilities and affordable 
housing in accordance with Policy CS19. Saved Policy 18 states that the development of a 
range of dwellings (size and type) will be encouraged. 

 
9.13 Consideration should be given to Policy CS29: Sustainable Design and Construction when 

planning for new development to recycle and reduce construction waste and provide on-site 
recycling facilities for waste. Further information regarding waste management is set out in 
paragraphs 18.35-36 of the Core Strategy and the council’s ‘Refuse Storage Guidance Note 
(2015)’. 

 
9.14 Appendix 3 of the DBLP states that development should be guided by the existing 

topographical features of the site, its immediate surroundings, and respect the character of 
the surrounding area with an emphasis on there being adequate space for the development 
in order to avoid a cramped appearance. 

 
Assessment 

 
9.15 The application originally proposed 11 units, however, it was deemed that the layout was 

cramped and dominated by hardstanding for vehicular parking (see superseded layout). In 
addition, the proposals appeared to ‘turn their back’ on Tring Road with properties facing 
inwards. To address these issues, the local planning authority provided feedback on layout, 
urban design and a number of other matters through the course of this application. Some key 
improvements were made via the evolution of design process, including: 

 
(a) re-orientation of buildings to address Tring Road and follow an established 
pattern of development; 
(b) reduction in the number of units to provide a more spacious development with 
improved living conditions for future occupiers; 

Page 172



(c) the provision of a footpath to connect to existing footways on Tring Road and the 
canal towpath; 
(d) the inclusion of some ‘play-on-the-way’ play equipment features to provide an 
interesting walking route and a ‘Local Area of Play’ (LAP) for children; and 
(e) various other amendments such as larger gardens, reductions in hardstanding, 
and alterations to the bin store locations. The amendments are discussed in more 
detail in the revised Planning Statement and the council’s Urban Design Officers 
comments. 

 
9.16 In terms of the designs of the individual units, they are of a contemporary appearance, 

incorporating brick (buff and red) at ground-floor, dark timber cladding at first-floor and dark 
grey metal roofs. They have truncated roof forms, similar to those at Wilstone Wharf to the 
north. The modern approach, whilst differing from the neighbouring bungalows, would add 
variety to the streetscape and would not appear out-of-place when considering more recent 
developments in the area. Although the units are two-storey, their overall height has been 
kept low, respecting the height of the neighbouring properties. The Proposed Street 
Elevation / Section AA (Drawing No. A1-05, Revision A) illustrates that units 8 and 9 would sit 
approximately 0.49 metres above the ridge height of 71 Tring Road. 

 
9.17 Although the design is considered acceptable, it is acknowledged that there would be some 

limited harm to the character and appearance of the area. This is because the proposals 
would replace a verdant, open field with built development. The extensive landscaping 
proposals, which will be discussed later, have helped to reduce the harm. Although some 
harm to the character and appearance of the area is acknowledged, the proposals are 
considered high quality and policy-compliant in terms of layout, design and building 
appearance, subject to a condition capturing high quality materials. The proposals would 
therefore have an acceptable impact in relation to visual amenity. 

 
Unit Size and Mix 

 
9.18 Whilst not formally adopted by the local planning authority, the proposed residential units are 

in-line with the Nationally Described Space Standards (2015). They are also provided with a 
sufficient amount of storage, refuse stores, cycle sheds and amenity space. The proposals 
originally included a housing mix of two-bed (3), three-bed (4) and four-bed (4) properties, 
comprising terraced, semi-detached and detached properties. Unfortunately, whilst 
providing a greater mixture of smaller and larger homes (and affordable housing) the larger 
scheme resulted in a cramped layout and other issues. This is discussed in more detail later, 
in the ‘Affordable Housing’ section. 

 
9.19 The revised proposals, now considered acceptable on urban design and layout terms, 

provide only three-bed (4) and four-bed (5) properties. Whilst the scheme does not provide 
smaller one or two-bed properties, the South West Hertfordshire Local Housing Needs 
Assessment (2020) identifies that there is a higher need for three-bedroom (45%) and 
four-bedroom (31%) market housing across Dacorum, as opposed to one-bedroom (4%) 
and two-bedroom (20%). The document also notes that ‘according to estate agents the most 
sought after properties are 1-2 bed homes near train stations’.  

 
9.20 Taking all of the above into account, it is considered that the housing mix is considered 

appropriate in this area. 
 

Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings and Spaces 
 
9.21 The Design and Access Statement states that the proposed units would provide a level 

access with an internal layout that accommodates a ground floor toilet compliant with M4(2) 
standards. It is also noted that a number of the units have larger parking areas that would be 

Page 173



able to easily accommodate for disabled occupiers or visitors. The proposals are acceptable 
in relation to accessible and adaptable dwellings and spaces. 

 
Building Heights 

 
9.22 The proposed units are all around 6.8 metres in height. Whilst they step up from the adjacent 

bungalows on Tring Road, the recent developments at Wilstone Wharf to the north and the 
development to the east (i.e. 20/01754/MFA) both include two-storey development of a 
similar height. Therefore, the proposed building heights are not considered out-of-character 
nor would they be unduly prominent within the street scene. 

 
Crime Prevention 

 
9.23 The Crime Prevention Officer at Hertfordshire Constabulary responded to the original 

drawings (superseded scheme). They explained that this is a ‘low crime area’ and made 
some suggestions to make the footpath to the rear of the properties as wide and straight as 
possible, well-lit and devoid of hiding places. It is assumed that they were referring to the 
canal towpath, as there were no other footpaths to the rear of the properties. The canal 
towpath falls outside of the site boundaries and would not be altered by the proposals. 
However, these principles can be applied to the new footpath to the front of the site, which 
was added upon request of the local planning authority (see amended plans). There is some 
conflict with the suggestions of the Urban Design officer, as it was considered that a windier 
footpath with the play-on-the-way equipment would make the walkway to the canal more 
interactive and interesting. Although there are competing priorities here, it is considered that 
the proposed dwellings would provide sufficient natural surveillance to deter crime along the 
footpath. Units eight and nine have numerous ground and first-floor windows facing the 
southern part of the footpath. Unit seven has three large first-floor windows overlooking the 
northern section. 

 
9.24 In addition to the above, the applicant has confirmed that the proposals would comply with 

Approved Document, Part Q, which is equivalent to Secured by Design Silver Award. 
Overall, the proposals are considered acceptable in terms of crime prevention.  

 
Waste Management 

 
9.25 Hertfordshire Property Services have commented on waste management, highlighting that 

Policy 12 (Sustainable Design, Construction and Demolition) requires all relevant 
construction projects to be supported by a Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP). This 
should be implemented throughout the duration of the development from site preparation 
through to completion of the final construction phase. If approved, a SWMP condition would 
be included to ensure that the waste produced via construction is minimised and handled 
adequately. 

 
9.26 Regarding waste storage/collection during the operational phase, the proposals involve 

personal bin stores for units eight and nine with individual bins that would be pulled to the 
roadside for collection. There is also a communal bin collection area for units 1-7, which 
incorporates 1 x 1100 litre refuse and 1 x 1100 litre recycling bin. This is within 25 metres of 
the highway collection point as required by policy. Design details of the specific bin stores 
would be captured via planning condition should permission be granted. 

 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 

Planning Policies 
 

Page 174



9.27 The impact on the established residential amenity of neighbouring properties is a significant 
factor in determining whether the development is acceptable and Paragraph 135(f) of the 
NPPF states that developments should provide a high standard of amenity for existing and 
future users. 

 
9.28 Policy CS12 states that, with regards to the effect of a development on the amenity of 

neighbours, development should avoid visual intrusion, loss of sunlight and daylight, loss of 
privacy and disturbance to surrounding properties. 

 
9.29 Saved Appendix 3 (Layout and Design of Residential Areas) requires new developments to 

provide sufficient space around residential buildings to avoid a cramped layout and maintain 
residential character. Spacing between buildings ensures privacy and allows movement 
around buildings for maintenance and other purposes. All residential development is 
required to provide private open space for use by residents whether the development be 
houses or flats. 

 
Assessment 

 
Light 

 
9.30 Concerning light, it appears that the Building Research Establishment’s (BRE) ‘Site layout 

planning for daylight and sunlight: a guide to good practice’ has broadly been followed. 
Spacing appears adequate and all of the main living/kitchen areas would be served by large 
windows and some are dual aspect. It is noted Plot 8 may result in some level of 
overshadowing to the front of plots 4-7, as the property is located around 11.5 metres to the 
south. Any direct loss of light would be more apparent during winter months. It is expected 
that this may occur around midday when the sun is due south. Although the kitchens for 
these properties may lose several hours of direct sunlight through the day, it would not 
considered to be for an extended period of time or unacceptable in planning policy terms. 
Overall, the lighting conditions for new residents would be satisfactory. 

 
9.31 Based on the Proposed Site Plan (Drawing A1-01, Revision 20), the neighbours at Wilstone 

Wharf would be sited over 30 metres from the proposed units and the new/proposed 
properties to the east would be around 27 metres away. Considering these separation 
distances, there would be no significant loss of light or overshadowing impacts. 

 
9.32 The two-storey nature of Plot 9 may result in some loss of light to 71 Tring Road, particularly 

early morning sunlight to its northern flank and rear garden. However, by noon and into the 
afternoon, direct sunlight to the property would not be affected. Based on an application 
approved in 2014 for a rear extension to No. 71 (see 4/00416/14/HPA), there is a room that 
only has one window, which faces Plot 9. Although there may be some reductions to daylight 
to this room, due to the proposed orientation/angle of Plot 9, is it not considered the reduction 
of light would be to an unacceptable degree. In addition, the location of Plot 9 (to the 
north/north-east of No. 71) would avoid almost all loss of direct sunlight to this neighbour. 
The other windows on this flank serve a larger, open-plan room with primary windows on the 
rear elevation. Overall, despite some impacts on light to No. 71, the proposed layout and 
subsequent light impacts on neighbours is considered acceptable. 

 
Privacy 

 
9.33 Regarding privacy, the proposed development should be designed in accordance with saved 

Appendix 3 of the DBLP. Distances between habitable room windows should meet or exceed 
the recommended 23-metre back-to-back distance. 

 

Page 175



9.34 As identified in the ‘Light’ section above, the separation distances are sufficient to ensure no 
significant impacts in relation to loss of privacy or overlooking to the neighbours to the north 
and east. Plot 9 would introduce a new two-storey unit adjacent to No. 71. The windows on 
Plot 9 have been sensitively positioned and the proposed orientation would ensure that there 
are no direct impacts on the neighbouring windows. In addition, there would be no significant 
overlooking impacts on the private garden space immediately behind No. 71. However, Plot 
9 would introduce windows that would provide first-floor views towards the north-western 
part No. 71’s garden. This would subsequently reduce privacy as you move towards the rear 
of the neighbours garden. Whilst some harm is identified here, it is not considered significant 
enough to warrant refusal of the planning application. 

 
Visual Intrusion 

 
9.35 Sufficient separation distances should be provided between existing and proposed 

development to ensure that there are no significant impacts regarding visual intrusion. Based 
on the Proposed Site Plan (Drawing A1-01, Revision 20), no unacceptable impacts have 
been identified regarding visual intrusion. 

 
Outdoor Amenity Space 

 
9.36 In terms of private gardens, saved Appendix 3 sets out the following guidance: 
 

Private gardens should normally be positioned to the rear of the dwelling and have an 
average minimum depth of 11.5m. Ideally, a range of garden sizes should be 
provided to cater for different family compositions, ages and interests. A reduced rear 
garden depth may be acceptable for small starter homes, homes for the elderly and 
development backing onto or in close proximity, to open land, public open space or 
other amenity land. Larger family or executive style homes will be expected to 
provide a garden of greater depth. Generally all gardens should be of a width, shape 
and size to ensure the space is functional and compatible with the surrounding area. 

 
9.37 Following discussions during the course of the application, efforts have been made to 

increase garden sizes across the site. All of the proposed properties now exceed the 
recommended average minimum depth of 11.5 metres. This, combined with the new 
connection to the canal towpath and play-on-the-way items, is considered sufficient to 
provide a satisfactory level of outdoor amenity space for future occupiers. As previously 
mentioned, the play equipment and new footpath would also serve wider benefits in terms of 
connectivity and safety. 

 
Environmental and Ecological Implications 
 

Planning Policies 
 
9.38 Policy CS26 states that development and management action will contribute towards the 

conservation and restoration of habitats and species; the strengthening of biodiversity 
corridors; the creation of better public access and links through green space; and a greater 
range of uses in urban green spaces. Policy CS29 seeks to ensure that development 
minimises impacts on biodiversity and incorporates positive measures to support wildlife. 

 
9.39 Paragraph 186 (a) of the NPPF advocates a hierarchical approach to biodiversity mitigation 

– the principle that on-site biodiversity loss should be avoided, mitigated and, as a last resort, 
compensated. 

 
Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation – Habitat Regulation Assessment 

 

Page 176



9.40 The Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation (“SAC”) includes a number of 
separate sites in the Chiltern Hills and spans three counties. A SAC is an internationally 
recognised designation with habitats and species of significant ecological importance. The 
relevant sites to Dacorum are the Ashridge Commons and Woods Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest (“SSSI”) and the Tring Woodlands SSSI. 

 
9.41 As part of Dacorum’s emerging Local Plan, evidence was found that additional residential 

development in the Borough would lead to more visitors to these protected sites and an 
increase in adverse activities e.g. trampling. To limit this impact, a Habitat Regulations 
Assessment (“HRA”) is required for any development that results in an additional residential 
unit within the ‘zone of influence’. 

 
9.42 As the proposals involve new residential units, suitable mitigation will be needed in-line with 

the Council’s Mitigation Strategy. The Strategy provides that each new residential unit shall 
provide a financial contribution Strategic Access Management and Maintenance (“SAMM”) 
measures at the Ashridge Estate and a contribution towards Suitable Alternative Natural 
Green Space (“SANG”) via a legal agreement.  

 
9.43 As the proposals involve nine units, the application would benefit from ‘floating’ council-led 

SANG. Council-led SANGs currently have capacity to accommodate the proposed 
development and the applicant has secured credits at the time of submitting the application. 
The following charges are applicable: SAMM = £913.88 per unit and SANG = £4,251.71 per 
unit, which are payable prior to the commencement of development. The agreed 
figures/details will be captured via the S106 agreement. As such, it is considered the 
proposals will provide adequate mitigation to remove, beyond reasonable scientific doubt, 
any adverse effect on the integrity of the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC from recreational 
pressure associated with residential growth. 

 
Ecology 

 
9.44 The site is located adjacent to the Grand Union Canal, Aylesbury Arm, Local Wildlife Site 

(LWS), which is considered as an important ecological route. Measures to protect this habitat 
are therefore important if the proposals are approved. 

 
9.45 The application documents include a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA), which is 

supported by a Phase 1 Habitat Walkover Survey, Environmental DNA (eDNA) Surveys of 
nearby waterbodies and ditches, and Reptile Surveys. The ecological baseline identifies the 
site as ‘other neutral grassland’ with species indicative of wet conditions. The hedgerows on 
the site are considered priority habitats, with one qualifying as being important under the 
Hedgerows Act. The PEA identifies the site as having potential habitat for badgers, 
hedgehogs, nesting birds, reptiles and great crested newts. The further surveys revealed no 
reptiles or great crested newts on the site. The Ecology Department at Hertfordshire County 
Council have reviewed the documents and have concluded that the information provided 
details a ‘reasonable assessment of the ecological conditions on the site’ and they have no 
reason to doubt the overall conclusions. 

 
9.46 Considering the proximity to the LWS and other ecological sensitives, it is considered 

necessary to impose three planning conditions relating to ecology, should permission be 
granted. These include: 

 

 Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP); 

 Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP); and 

 Lighting Design Strategy. 
 

Page 177



9.47 Subject to the imposition of the above conditions, the proposals are considered acceptable in 
ecological terms. In particular, the LEMP would ensure that ecology and biodiversity is 
incorporated into the development. It should also be noted that the application was submitted 
prior to the requirements for Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) and although the determination 
period was reset during the course of the amendments, it was not considered reasonable to 
subsequently require BNG. 

 
Impact on Trees 

 
9.48 The proposals would involve the removal of two Category B (moderate) and one Category C 

(low) quality trees. The proposals also include the partial removal of one Category C group 
along the site frontage. Supplementary planting is proposed in order to address the tree loss. 
Around 40 new trees would be provided either stand-alone or within existing and new 
hedgerows to bolster them. The proposals also include new native hedgerows and other 
landscaping details that can be seen on the Proposed Site Layout Plan (A1-01, Revision 20). 
A comprehensive landscaping scheme would be captured via a planning condition if 
permission is granted. 

 
9.49 Dacorum Borough Council’s Trees and Woodlands Team have highlighted that eight of the 

trees proposed for retention are Ash, noting that ‘in all likelihood, they will need to be 
removed in near future due to Ash Dieback…’. Whilst the applicant ‘admirably refers to 
retaining most of the existing site trees’, they consider that in this instance they believe it 
‘…to be the wrong decision’. This is because the Ash Dieback fungal disease is impacting 
80-90% of Ash trees nationwide and it is predicted that within the next five to ten years, it is 
highly probable that all of the Ash trees would need to be removed due to the hazard they 
present to homeowners and their homes. 

 
9.50 The above has been discussed with the applicant who has confirmed that the trees fall 

outside of the application site ‘red line’ boundary. They have explained that the Canal and 
River Trust monitor trees along the canal network in terms of their condition and whether 
they pose a hazard. As the trees are outside of the application and the development seeks to 
avoid any impact on them, it is considered that this point can be picked up with the Canal and 
River Trust separately. They have been made aware of the comments from the Trees and 
Woodlands Team and that they will need to closely monitor these trees going forward. 

 
Impact on Highway Safety and Parking 
 

Planning Policies 
 
9.51 Policies CS8, CS9 and saved Policy 51 seek to ensure developments have no detrimental 

impacts in terms of highway safety. Paragraph 111 of the NPPF23 states, ‘Development 
should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe.' Attention should also be given to the Local Transport Plan (LTP), specifically 
Policies 1 (Transport User Hierarchy) and 5 (Development Management). 

 
Assessment 

 
9.52 The Highways Department at Hertfordshire County Council have responded to the 

application and have not raised any significant concerns over highway safety, noting that the 
‘speed survey of the adjacent highway…found 85th percentile speeds to be between 
24-27mph. Therefore, visibility splays have been provided based on this and are illustrated 
on drawing A1-01 P 20. The main access and internal layout would provide satisfactory 
manouverability for private vehicles and a fire tender. The refuse lorry would be required to 
wait on the highway network but this ‘is deemed acceptable for the classification of the 

Page 178



adjacent highway network and its speeds.’ A secondary access would be provided for the 
private driveways for the two detached units, which has also been considered acceptable on 
highway and pedestrian safety grounds. 

 
9.53 The site is located within close proximity to Wilstone Bridge. The agent has confirmed that 

the canal bridge can accommodate additional traffic associated with the proposed 
development without causing damage to the structure. The weight limit would apply to all 
traffic and any larger vehicles over this weight would need to use an alternative route. The 
Transport Statement confirms that the housing development of nine units would not generate 
significant heavy goods vehicle movements following construction. No specific concerns 
have been raised by the Highway Authority in this regard. 

 
9.54 The proposals comprise a two-metre footway fronting the site, which would ensure inclusive 

mobility for two wheelchair users to pass another. The footway would connect to the existing 
footway network along Tring Road and would therefore connect the development to Wilstone 
and its amenities. It would also serve a wider benefit by providing a safe walkway for existing 
residents in Wilstone to access the canal towpath without the need to walk along this stretch 
of Tring Road (in the road). 

 
9.55 All of the works to the highway network would need to be agreed and constructed via a 

Section 278 Agreement with the Highway Authority, who have confirmed that the entire 
footway (including the new section outside of the site) could be captured through this 
process. 

 
9.56 The Highway Authority have raised no objections on highway safety grounds subject to the 

inclusion of conditions relating to highways improvements and visibility splays. It was not 
considered that the ‘off-site highways improvements’ condition is required, as this would be 
dealt with separately as part of the S278 process. They have also requested that a number of 
informatives be added to the decision notice, should the application be approved. Taking all 
of this into account, the proposals are considered acceptable on highway safety terms. 

 
9.57 Turning to parking, the proposals would provide four three-bed properties and five four-beds. 

The site is located within ‘Accessibility Zone 3’ whereby the Car Parking Standards (2020) 
SPD would requires: 

 

 3-bedrooms = 2.25 allocated spaces or 1.5 unallocated spaces 

 4-bedrooms = 3 allocated spaces or 2.4 unallocated spaces 
 
9.58 Based on all of the spaces being allocated, 21 allocated parking spaces would be required 

for the proposals. As the scheme is below ten units, no additional visitor parking is required. 
The Proposed Site Plan illustrates that a total of 21 parking spaces would be provided 
(including the internal garages and space on the driveways for the detached units). The 
proposals therefore provide a policy-compliant level of parking spaces. To ensure that the 
garages are retained for parking, a specific condition would be added if the application is 
approved. 

 
9.59 The proposal would provide integrated cycle stores within the front porches, which exceed 

the requirements of the Parking SPD. A condition would be imposed, if approved, ensuring 
that sufficient electric vehicle charging infrastructure is provided in-line with policy 
requirements. 

 
Fire Safety 

 
9.60 The Fire and Rescue Team at Hertfordshire County Council have reviewed the proposals 

and have identified that the access is adequate to comply with Building Regulations. The 

Page 179



Water Officer has highlighted that a condition relating to fire hydrants would be required to 
ensure there is an adequate water supply available for use in event of an emergency. This 
condition would be added if the application is approved. Subject to this, the proposals are 
considered acceptable in terms of fire safety. The access also provides adequate space for 
other emergency vehicles. 

 
Other Material Planning Considerations 
 

Climate Change and Sustainability 
 
9.61 The NPPF identifies that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the 

achievement of sustainable development. This encompasses economic, social and 
environmental factors. DBC has declared a climate emergency and therefore, sustainable 
design and construction is a key consideration. 

 
9.62 The proposals should be designed in accordance with DBC’s ‘Be Lean, Clean and Green’ 

principles (see Figure 16 (p.121) of the Core Strategy). Policy CS29 requires new 
development to comply with the highest standards of sustainable design and construction. 

 
9.63 The proposal has been supported by an Energy Statement, which identifies several 

measures to follow a low carbon approach, including: 
 

 Fabric first approach; 

 Better than Part L fabric compliance; 

 Use of solar panels; 

 Use of high efficiency boilers or air source heat pumps; 

 All dwellings to be designed to limit water use to no more than 110 litres/person/day; 
and 

 An overall reduction in CO2 emissions compared to Part L 2021 targets. 
 
9.64 These measures would be satisfactory in providing a sustainable development in terms of 

energy efficiency and low carbon. Planning conditions would be included, if approved, to 
ensure that these measures are followed through. 

 
Flood Risk and Drainage 

 
9.65 The NPPF states that when determining any planning applications, local planning authorities 

should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Where appropriate, applications 
should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment. Core Strategy Policy CS31 
echoes this approach. 

 
9.66 The application site is situated entirely within Flood Zone 1, indicating that there is a less 

than 1 in 1000 year probability of the site flooding and therefore at a low risk of fluvial 
flooding. The risk of flooding from rivers, seas, groundwater sewers and reservoirs is also 
considered to be low. 

 
9.67 The application is supported by a Drainage Assessment that sets out how the site would be 

drained.  The application proposes roof runoff will be captured by a combination of rainwater 
and downpipes and discharge into the permeable paving sub-base and then via 
below-ground drainage network to the attenuation tank. The remaining hardstanding surface 
water runoff is proposed to discharge into the permeable paving and thereafter into the 
attenuation tank prior to discharging into the Grand Union Canal at a restricted rate. A linear 
drainage channel will be added to the site entrance, which would discharge through a 

Page 180



drainage pipe network around the attenuation tank and connect to the system downstream of 
the flow control and discharging towards the Canal. 

 
9.68 The Drainage Assessment states that the discharge rates would be managed to ensure that 

they do not exceed the current levels and concludes that there would be no increased run-off 
rate and the proposed development would not impact/change levels of water in the canal. 

 
9.69 Although this application is not a major and therefore the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) 

are not a statutory consultee, they have provided advice. They have requested some further 
confirmation on the drainage proposals, namely the flow control rate as there is a 
discrepancy in the documentation provided. They have also requested evidence of the 
drainage calculations and details regarding surface water flood paths. The applicant has 
consulted their drainage engineers on this point and therefore members will be provided with 
an update on this matter via the addendum or through a verbal update at the committee 
meeting. 

 
9.70 Aside from requesting some further information, the LLFA have not raised any specific 

concerns with flood risk or the drainage proposals. They have made some recommendations 
such as a condition regarding finished floor levels, which would be added if the application is 
approved. 

 
9.71 The Canal and River Trust have not raised any concerns over the proposed drainage 

strategy, the capacity of the canal or the implication of managing the water within it. Overall 
and subject to final details being provided, the drainage proposals are considered to 
satisfactorily address flood risk subject to the condition recommended by the LLFA. 

 
Utilities 

 
9.72 Thames Water have provided comments in relation to sewerage, wastewater and surface 

water drainage. They have not raised any concerns but have provided a number of 
informatives, which would be added to the application if it is approved. 

 
9.73 No comments were received from other utility providers (e.g. Affinity Water, EDF Energy, 

etc.). 
 

Archaeology 
 
9.74 The application site is not within an Area of Archaeological Significance. However, there is a 

designated area (No. 13) located around 100 metres to the south. As there are limited details 
of the earlier uses of the site and limited archaeological investigations in this area, the 
Archaeology Unit at Hertfordshire County Council have suggested that the proposals may 
impact on heritage assets of archaeological interest. 

 
9.75 Taking the above into account, it has been recommended that planning conditions be 

applied, if approved, to secure a sufficient level of investigation via an Archaeological Written 
Scheme of Investigation. The conditions should also comprise a post-investigation 
assessment. The archaeological conditions would ensure that the proposals would have an 
acceptable impact in terms of buried archaeology. 

 
Social Infrastructure 

 
9.76 The proposed development is not considered of a scale that would require any significant 

social infrastructure contributions (e.g. education, health, etc.). However, the application is 
liable for Community Infrastructure Levy contributions. The Growth and Infrastructure Unit at 

Page 181



Hertfordshire County Council have stated that they reserve the right to seek these 
contributions if required for infrastructure in the area, if needed. 

 
Community Infrastructure Levy 

 
9.77 Policy CS35 requires all developments to make appropriate contributions towards 

infrastructure required to support the development. These contributions will normally extend 
only to the payment of CIL where applicable. The current CIL requirements, as set out in the 
Annual CIL Rate Summary 2023, for residential within Zone 2 is £225 per sq.m. 

 
S106 and Planning Obligations 

 
9.78 This application is delegated with a view to approval subject to the completion of a Section 

106 legal agreement. The agreement would include the following matters. 
 

Matter Contribution 

Footpath, play area and management company Provision of footpath, play-on-the-way proposals 
and associated management arrangements. 
 

SANG and SAMM £913.88 per unit to provide SAMM mitigation. 
£4,251.71 per unit to provide SANG mitigation. 
 

 
Affordable Housing 

 
9.79 The application originally proposed 11 units. This would have triggered a policy requirement 

to provide affordable housing (i.e. 10+ units in this area). Although the applicant was willing 
to provide affordable housing, unfortunately from a layout and urban design perspective, the 
scheme ‘did not reflect a coherent design’ and the buildings did not positively respond to their 
surroundings (see superseded plans and the comments from Urban Designer in Appendix 
A). The original proposals were also considered to be ‘dominated by vehicular infrastructure’ 
and would have provided ‘worryingly small gardens’. The proposal for 11 units, whilst 
providing some welcomed affordable housing, would have provided an unacceptable 
design/layout with knock-on effects on the living conditions of future occupiers (e.g. minimal 
garden sizes). The proposals were reduced to nine units and although the loss of affordable 
housing is regrettable, it is not considered that the larger proposal could have been 
supported. 

 
Impact on the Waterway Infrastructure 

 
9.80 Saved Policy 106 of the DBLP states that development adjoining the Grand Union Canal will 

be expected to make a positive contribution to the canal-side environment. 
 
9.81 The Canal and River Trust (CRT), who are joint applicants for this application, have 

responded to the application stating that they: 
 

…wish to ensure that the historic character, appearance and setting of the canal 
corridor and designated assets are not adversely affected by any subsequent 
additions or alterations, and considering the proximity to the waterway, that 
landscaping to be retained and the structural integrity of the canal infrastructure are 
not adversely affected.  

 
9.82 They have been party to the discussions regarding the evolution of the scheme and have 

helped shape the proposals. Overall, the proposals are considered to make a positive 
contribution to the canal-side environment. 

Page 182



 
9.83 CRT have requested that permitted development rights are removed to ensure that the 

structural integrity of the canal is safeguarded and to ensure that the significance of the 
neighbouring heritage assets are preserved. Therefore, they have requested that plots 1 to 7 
have the following permitted development removed: Classes A, B, C, E and F of Part 1; and 
Class A of Part 2, Schedule 2; and Classes A-I of Part 14. Whilst it is understood that any 
significant groundworks may impact the structural integrity of the Canal, it is not felt that 
certain permitted development rights (e.g. roof lights, dormer windows or solar panels) would 
impact the Canal, nor would they impact the setting of the heritage assets. As such, the 
suggested condition would be tailored to only remove the permitted development rights that 
are considered necessary to make the development acceptable. 

 
Heritage Assets 

 
9.84 The Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas Act 1990, Sections 16 and 66 require 

local planning authorities to have special regard to the desirability of preserving historic 
buildings and their settings. Special regard must be given by the decision maker, in the 
exercise of planning functions, to the desirability of preserving (i.e. keeping from harm) listed 
buildings and their setting. 

 
9.85 The specific historic environment policies within the NPPF are contained within paragraphs 

195-214.  Paragraph 203 states that in determining planning applications, LPAs should take 
account of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets.  
Paragraph 205 outlines that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, ‘great weight’ should be given to the asset’s 
conservation. Paragraph 206 provides that any harm to or loss of significance of a 
designated heritage asset should require clear and convincing justification. Paragraph 207 
states that where proposed development will lead to substantial harm or total loss of 
significance of a designated heritage asset, LPAs should refuse consent unless it can be 
demonstrated that the harm is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh 
the harm.  Where the harm is considered less than substantial, Paragraph 208 states that 
this should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. 

 
9.86 The site is situated near to Wilstone Bridge and its associated lock, which are Grade II listed. 

This structure is grade II listed and would appear to have been constructed at the time the 
canal was built. The proposed new development would be within the setting of the bridge and 
the lock as it would be adjacent to the site. The bridge gains significance mainly from its 
architecture and materials but also from its surroundings. The majority of the significance of 
the bridge is gained from the canal whilst a low level is gained from its prominence in the 
rural setting. The significance of the locks is gained mainly from the surrounding canal. The 
proposed development is not considered to significantly impact views of the bridge when 
examined from the tow path in both directions. However, it is considered that there would be 
a low level of harm, at the ‘less than substantial’ level to the setting of the heritage assets. 
There are public benefits arising from the development, namely the provision of the 
enhanced connection to the canal and the play-on-the-way features. The provision of much 
needed housing in the context of the council’s lack of a five-year must also be considered. 
Overall, the public benefits of the proposal are considered to outweigh the harm identified. 

 
Land Contamination 

 
9.87 The Environmental and Community Protection (ECP) Team have reviewed the Paddock 

Geo Engineering Preliminary Contamination Risk Assessment Report (ref. P23-114pra) 
dated June 2023 and consulted their own records. They have confirmed that ‘…there is no 
objection to the proposed development’. However, they highlighted that it would be 
necessary for the developer to demonstrate that the potential for land contamination to affect 

Page 183



the proposed development has been further considered and where it is present will be 
remediated. 

  
9.88 This is necessary because of the residential end use proposed, which will be particularly 

vulnerable to the presence of any ground contamination and the fact that there is some 
uncertainty over the historical uses of the site, particularly circa 2000. As such, two planning 
conditions have been recommended and would be included if permission is granted.   

 
Noise 

 
9.89 The ECP Team have reviewed the application in relation to noise impacts and have not 

raised any concerns. 
 

Air Quality 
 
9.90 No significant impacts regarding air quality have been identified by the ECP Team. 
 
Response to Neighbour Comments 
 
9.91  The public consultation has elicited around 15 comments, the majority (14) of which are 

objecting to the proposed development. One comment was neutral. There are some key 
themes arising from the comments many of which have been discussed in detail throughout 
this report. 

 
9.92 The key themes already addressed are as follows: 
 

 Impact on wildlife and the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC 

 Impact on trees 

 Flood risk 

 Over development in Wilstone 

 Lack of affordable housing and housing mix 

 Out of character 

 Traffic and highways impacts 
 
9.93 A number of other points have been raised and some further comments have been added 

below. 
 

 Lack of amenities in the village 
 
9.94 Some of the residents have raised the point that Wilstone has a limited number of amenities 

to serve the development. This is acknowledged, as Wilstone sits lower on the sustainability 
and settlement hierarchy for housing. However, as discussed in the ‘Principle of 
Development’ section, it does not mean that the provision of housing is unacceptable here. 

 

 Safety of walkers 
 
9.95 A concern has been raised regarding the safety of walkers. It is considered that the revised 

scheme with the additional footpath connection would provide overall benefits in terms of the 
safety of walkers along this stretch of Tring Road. 

 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 The application lies on the settlement edge and within the Rural Area. In this instance, the 

benefits of the development include nine new dwellinghouses and any associated social and 

Page 184



economic benefits. The proposals would provide a new footpath connection into Wilstone, 
which would serve wider benefits (i.e. providing a safer, more attractive route for existing 
residents to the canal towpath). 

 
10.2 The provision of nine residential units is given substantial weight considering the lack of the 

council’s five-year supply of housing and it is recognised that small sites typically deliver 
homes quicker than larger schemes. Having applied the ‘tilted balance’, it is concluded that 
any harm arising from the development does not significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits. 

 
10.2 The growth of Wilstone in recent years is acknowledged by the local planning authority and 

internal discussions are taking place in relation to this and how growth in the settlement 
should be managed in the future. However, it is not considered that this point would warrant 
a reason for refusal, particularly when considering the proceeding paragraph. 

 
10.3 The applicant has worked with the local planning authority and produced a revised scheme, 

taking account of the points raised by council officers. The proposals are therefore 
considered acceptable in terms of their design, housing mix and residential amenity. 

 
10.4 The application was submitted prior to the requirement for Biodiversity Net Gain. However, 

conditions relating to ecology would be imposed ensuring that ecology and biodiversity is 
incorporated into the development and managed thereafter. No specific concerns have been 
raised in terms of existing ecology on the site or the impact on trees. The applicant has 
agreed to providing mitigation towards the Chiltern Beechwoods SAC and these details 
would be finalised via a legal agreement should planning permission be granted. 

 
10.5 No unacceptable highway impacts have been identified and it is considered that the 

proposed footpath incorporating ‘play-on-the-way’ would provide a safer connection to the 
canal towpath, serving a wider benefit to existing residents in Wilstone and users of the 
canal. These details would also be secured via legal agreements. 

 
10.6 The proposals are also considered acceptable on climate change, sustainability, flood risk 

and drainage, utilities, archaeology, the impact on the waterway infrastructure, land 
contamination, noise and air quality. 

 
10.7 For the reasons outlined in this report, the application is considered to provide a high quality 

development and would contribute towards the council’s five-year land supply. No specific 
reasons for refusal have been identified and therefore the following recommendation is 
made. 

 
11. RECOMMENDATION 
 
11.1  That planning permission be DELEGATED with a view to APPROVAL subject to a Section 

106 legal agreement securing a mitigation package to avoid any further significant effects on 
the Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation and the footpath, play area and 
associated management responsibilities. 

 
 
Condition(s) and Reason(s):  
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall begin before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 
  

Page 185



 Reason:  To comply with the requirements of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 (1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 

 
 2. No development (excluding demolition/ground investigations) shall take place until 

details of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development hereby permitted have been submitted and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  Please do not send materials to the Council offices.  Materials 
should be kept on site and arrangements made with the Planning Officer for 
inspection. 

  
 Reason:  To ensure satisfactory appearance to the development and to safeguard the visual 

character of the area in accordance with Policies CS11 and CS12 of the Dacorum Borough 
Core Strategy (2013). 

 
 3. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a Construction 

Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) and Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

  
 The CEMP shall set out, as a minimum, the proposed demolition, earthworks and 

construction methodology. The CEMP shall outline site specific measures to control 
and monitor impact arising in relation to construction traffic, noise and vibration, 
dust and air pollutants, land contamination, ecology and ground water. It shall also 
set out arrangements, by which the developer shall maintain communication with 
residents and businesses in the vicinity of the site, and by which the developer shall 
monitor and document compliance with the measures set out in the CEMP. 

  
 The SWMP shall, as a minimum, describe how materials will be managed efficiently 

and disposed of during the construction of the works, explaining how the re-use and 
recycling of materials will be maximised. It shall provide details on how measures 
have been taken to reduce the amount of waste produced on site and shall contain 
information including estimated types and quantities of waste to arise from 
construction and waste management actions for each waste type. 

  
 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
  
 Reason: To reduce the environmental impact of the construction and impact on the public 

highway and amenities of neighbouring residents in accordance with saved Policy 129 of the 
Dacorum Borough Local Plan (2004), Policies CS8, CS12, CS29 and CS32 of the Dacorum 
Borough Core Strategy (2013) and Paragraphs 109, 112, 114 and 192 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (December 2023). 

 
 4. Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a Sustainability and Energy 

Compliance Statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The Compliance Statement shall provide detail on energy demand 
and supply, carbon emissions, waste and materials, water supply and demand and 
climate resilience. It shall provide details of measures to demonstrate and achieve 
reduced regulated carbon emissions against Part L 2021 (Building Regulations) as 
per the Energy Statement (Revision 4) by Cass Design, dated February 2024. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the development combats climate changes, provides a sustainable 

development and reduces carbon emissions in compliance with Policies CS28 and CS29 of 
the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy (2013), as well as Section 14 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2023). 

Page 186



 
 5. Prior to the commencement of the development, a Landscape and Ecological 

Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The LEMP shall describe how it is planned to incorporate ecology 
and biodiversity as part of the development. The LEMP should refer to the 
recommendations set out in the Ecology Department's consultee comments and shall 
include the habitat creation measures set out at points (a) to (d) and the integrated 
bird and bat boxes. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved LEMP. 

   
 Reason: To ensure that the development contributes to and enhances the natural 

environment in accordance with Policy CS26 of the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy (2013) 
and Paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2023). These details are 
required prior to commencement to ensure that the ecological and biodiversity 
enhancements can be achieved before construction works begin. The LEMP should include 
details of when the biodiversity enhancements will be introduced and this may be reliant on 
the construction process/timings. 

 
 6. No construction of the superstructure shall take place until full details of both hard 

and soft landscape works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  These details shall include: 

  
 o all external hard surfaces within the site; 
 o other surfacing materials; 
 o means of enclosure; 
 o soft landscape works including a planting scheme with the number, size, 

species and position of trees, plants and shrubs; and 
 o minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, signs, refuse or 

other storage units, etc.). 
  
 The planting must be carried out within one planting season of completing the 

development. 
  
 Any tree or shrub which forms part of the approved landscaping scheme which within 

a period of five years from planting fails to become established, becomes seriously 
damaged or diseased, dies or for any reason is removed shall be replaced in the next 
planting season by a tree or shrub of a similar species, size and maturity. 

  
 Reason:  To improve the appearance of the development and its contribution to biodiversity 

and the local environment, as required by saved Policy 99 of the Dacorum Borough Local 
Plan (2004) and Policy CS12 (e) of the Dacorum Borough Council Core Strategy (2013). 

 
 7. Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, full details of the layout and 

siting of Electric Vehicle Charging Points and any associated infrastructure shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall not be occupied until these measures have been provided in 
accordance with the approved details. 

   
 Reason: To ensure that adequate provision is made for the charging of electric vehicles in 

accordance with Policies CS8, CS12 and CS29 of the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy 
(2013) and the Car Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (2020). 

 
 8. Prior to commencement of the development, a Lighting Design Strategy (LDS) shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The LDS 
shall take account of the Principles of Lighting Design for Bats (Document ID74, 

Page 187



paragraphs 12 and 13), and any necessary lighting requirements to secure road 
adoption or highway safety (if applicable). The strategy shall: 

   
 - Identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for birds and bats 

and that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their breeding sites and resting 
places or along important routes used to access key areas of their territory, for 
example, for foraging; 

 - Demonstrate that the canal waterway is protected from excessive glare and that 
additional lighting does not raise its illumination above 0.5 lux; and 

 - Show how and where external lighting will be installed, including street lighting 
(through the provision of appropriate lighting contour plans and technical 
specifications), so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not 
disturb or prevent the above species using their territory or having access to their 
breeding sites and resting places. 

   
 All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and 

locations set out in the LDS, and these shall be maintained thereafter in accordance 
with the LDS. 

   
 Reason: To ensure habitat protection and enhancement within the landscape of the 

development in compliance with saved Policy 113 and Appendix 8 of the Dacorum Borough 
Local Plan (2004), Policies CS10, CS26 and CS29 of the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy 
(2013) and Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework (December 2023). 

 
9. The dwelling shall be constructed to meet as a minimum the higher Building 

Regulation standard Part G for water consumption limited to 110 litres per person per 
day using the fittings approach.  

  
 Reason:  The site is in an area of serious water stress requiring water efficiency opportunities 

to be maximised; to mitigate the impacts of climate change; in the interests of sustainability; 
to use natural resources prudently in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (December 2023), and in accordance with Policy CS29 of the Dacorum Core 
Strategy (2013). 

 
10. Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, details of fire hydrants or 

alternative emergency water supply to protect the development from fire have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Such details 
shall include provision of the mains water services for the development whether by 
means of existing water services, new mains, or extension to or diversion of existing 
services where the provision of fire hydrants is considered necessary. The proposed 
development shall not be occupied/used until such measures have been 
implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

    
 Reason: To ensure that the development complies with Policies CS28 and CS29 of the 

Dacorum Borough Core Strategy (2013). 
 
11. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted a visibility splay 

shall be provided in full accordance with the details indicated on the approved 
drawing number A1-01 P 20. 

  
 The splay shall thereafter be retained at all times free from any obstruction between 

600mm and 2m above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway. 
  
 Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the interests of 

highway safety in accordance with saved Policy 51 of the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy 

Page 188



(2004), Policies CS8 and CS9 of the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy (2013) and Paragraph 
115 of the National Planning Policy Framework (December 2023). 

 
12. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any revoking and re-enacting that order with 
or without modification), no development within Plots 1-7 (inclusive) and covered by 
Class A, E and F of Part 1; Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2; or Classes B, C, D and I of 
Part 14 of that Order shall be carried out without the express written consent of the 
Local Planning Authority. 

   
 Reason: In the interests of minimising the risk of creating land instability arising from any 

adverse impacts from earthmoving, excavations or other construction works upon the 
stability of the canal and in accordance with the advice and guidance on land stability 
contained in paragraphs 180 and 189-190 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(December 2023) and the National Planning Practice Guidance. 

 
13. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification) the garages for Plots 8 and 9 hereby permitted 
shall be kept available at all times for the parking of vehicles associated with the 
residential occupation of the dwellings and they shall not be converted or adapted to 
form living accommodation without the express permission of the local planning 
authority following the submission of a planning application. 

  
 Reason:  In order to ensure a satisfactory level of off-street parking and to protect highway 

safety and the amenity of other users of the public highway, in accordance with saved 
Policies 51 and 54 of the Dacorum Borough Local Plan (2004), Policy CS8 of the Dacorum 
Borough Core Strategy (2013), Paragraphs 110 and 112 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (December 2023) and the Dacorum Borough Parking Standards Supplementary 
Parking Document (2020). 

 
14. (a) No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until an 

Intrusive Site Investigation Risk Assessment Report has been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority which includes: 

   
 (i) A full identification of the location and concentration of all pollutants on this 

site and the presence of relevant receptors, and; 
 (ii) The results from the application of an appropriate risk assessment 

methodology. 
   
 (b) No development approved by this permission (other than that necessary for 

the discharge of this condition) shall be commenced until a Remediation Method 
Statement report; if required as a result of (a), above; has been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

   
 (c) This site shall not be occupied, or brought into use, until: 
  
 (i) All works which form part of the Remediation Method Statement report 

pursuant to the discharge of condition (b) above have been fully completed and if 
required a formal agreement is submitted that commits to ongoing monitoring and/or 
maintenance of the remediation scheme. 

 (ii) A Remediation Verification Report confirming that the site is suitable for use 
has been submitted to, and agreed by, the Local Planning Authority. 

   

Page 189



 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors in accordance with 
Policy CS32 of the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy (2013) and Paragraphs 189 and 191 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (December 2023). 

 
15. Any contamination, other than that reported by virtue of Condition 15 encountered 

during the development of this site shall be brought to the attention of the Local 
Planning Authority as soon as practically possible; a scheme to render this 
contamination harmless shall be submitted to and agreed by, the Local Planning 
Authority and subsequently fully implemented prior to the occupation of this site. 
Works shall be temporarily suspended, unless otherwise agreed in writing during this 
process because the safe development and secure occupancy of the site lies with the 
developer. 

   
 Should no ground contamination be encountered or suspected upon the completion 

of the groundworks, a statement to that effect shall be submitted in writing to the 
Local Planning Authority prior to the first occupation of the development hereby 
approved. 

   
 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors in accordance with 
Policy CS32 of the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy (2013) and Paragraphs 189 and 191 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (December 2023). 

 
16. Finished floor levels shall either be set a minimum of 300mm above all sources of 

flood risk or be a minimum of 150mm above the surrounding ground levels, sloping 
away from all doorways. 

  
 Reason: To provide flood resilience in any exceedance flood events in accordance with 

Policy CS31 of the Dacorum Borough Core Strategy (2013) and Paragraph 175 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (December 2023). 

 
17. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans/documents: 
  
 G4611_A1-01_Site Plan_REV22 
 G4611_A1-02_Plots 1_2_3_Plans_ Elevation_REV08 
 G4611_A1-03_Plots 4-7_Plans_ Elevations_REV07 
 G4611_A1-04_Plots 8-9_Plans_ Elevations_REV12 
 G4611_A1-06_Ramp Sections_REV02 
 LN00728 -OUT-L-100 - General Arrangement Plan_REV07 
 LN00728-OUT-L-400 - Softworks Plan_REV05 
 P20-553 Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy - Issue 02 (June 2024) 
 RECORD - P20-553 WIP SK01 P6 DRAINAGE STRATEGY 
 200224 Energy Statement HE5348 - Wilstone Rev4 
  
 Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
 
Informatives: 
 

Page 190



 
 1. Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. The Council acted pro-actively 

through positive engagement with the applicant at the pre-application stage and during the 
determination process which lead to improvements to the scheme. The Council has 
therefore acted pro-actively in line with the requirements of the Framework (paragraph 38) 
and in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) (Amendment No. 2) Order 2015. 

 
 2. Environmental Health Informatives 
  
 (a) Land Contamination 
  
 Guidance on how to assess and manage the risks from land contamination can be found 

here 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm 
and here: 
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/environment-health/development-on-pote
ntially-contaminated-land.pdf?sfvrsn=c00f109f_8 

  
 (b) Working Hours 
  
 Contractors and sub-contractors must have regard to BS 5228-2:2009 "Code of Practice for 

Noise Control on Construction and Open Sites" and the Control of Pollution Act 1974.  
   
 As a guideline, the following hours for noisy works and/or deliveries should be observed: 

Monday to Friday, 7.30am to 5:30pm, Saturday, 8am to 1pm, Sunday and bank holidays - no 
noisy work allowed.  

   
 Where permission is sought for works to be carried out outside the hours stated, applications 

in writing must be made with at least seven days' notice to Environmental and Community 
Protection Team ecp@dacorum.gov.uk or The Forum, Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead, HP1 
1DN.  Local residents that may be affected by the work shall also be notified in writing, after 
approval is received from the LPA or Environmental Health.  

   
 Works audible at the site boundary outside these hours may result in the service of a Notice 

restricting the hours as above.  Breach of the notice may result in prosecution and an 
unlimited fine and/or six months imprisonment. 

  
 (c) Waste Management 
  
 Under no circumstances should waste produced from the development be incinerated on 

site. This includes but is not limited to pallet stretch wrap, used bulk bags, building materials, 
product of demolition and so on. Suitable waste management should be in place to reduce, 
reuse, recover or recycle waste product on site, or dispose of appropriately. 

  
 (d) Air Quality 
  
 As an authority we are looking for all development to support sustainable travel and air 

quality improvements as required by the NPPF. We are looking to minimise the cumulative 
impact on local air quality that ongoing development has, rather than looking at significance. 
This is also being encouraged by DEFRA.  

   
 As a result as part of the planning application I would recommend that the applicant be asked 

to propose what measures they can take as part of this new development, to support 

Page 191



sustainable travel and air quality improvements. These measures may be conditioned 
through the planning consent if the proposals are acceptable.   

   
 A key theme of the NPPF is that developments should enable future occupiers to make 

"green" vehicle choices and (paragraph 35) "incorporates facilities for charging plug-in and 
other ultra-low emission vehicles". Therefore an electric vehicle recharging provision rate of 
1 vehicle charging point per 10 spaces (unallocated parking) is expected. To prepare for 
increased demand in future years, appropriate cable provision should be included in the 
scheme design and development, in agreement with the local authority. 

  
 Please note that with regard to EV charging for residential units with dedicated parking, we 

are not talking about physical charging points in all units but the capacity to install one. The 
cost of installing appropriate trunking/ducting and a dedicated fuse at the point of build is 
miniscule, compared to the cost of retrofitting an EV charging unit after the fact, without the 
relevant base work in place.   

   
 In addition, mitigation in regards to NOx emissions should be addressed in that all gas fired 

boilers to meet a minimum standard of 40 mg NOx/Kwh or consideration of alternative heat 
sources. 

  
 (e) Invasive and Injurious Weeds 
  
 Weeds such as Japanese Knotweed, Giant Hogsweed and Ragwort are having a 

detrimental impact on our environment and may injure livestock. Land owners must not plant 
or otherwise cause to grow in the wild any plant listed on schedule 9 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. Developers and land owners should therefore undertake an invasive 
weeds survey before development commences and take the steps necessary to avoid weed 
spread. Further advice can be obtained from the Environment Agency website at 
https://www.gov.uk/japanese-knotweed-giant-hogweed-and-other-invasive-plants 

 
 3. Thames Water Informatives 
  
 Waste Comments 
  
 There are public sewers crossing or close to your development. If you're planning significant 

work near our sewers, it's important that you minimize the risk of damage. We'll need to 
check that your development doesn't limit repair or maintenance activities, or inhibit the 
services we provide in any other way. The applicant is advised to read our guide working 
near or diverting our pipes. 
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developments/planning-your-devel
opment/working-near-our-pipes 

  
 With regard to SURFACE WATER drainage, Thames Water would advise that if the 

developer follows the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water we would have no 
objection. Management of surface water from new developments should follow guidance 
under sections 167 & 168 in the National Planning Policy Framework.  Where the developer 
proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer 
Services will be required. Should you require further information please refer to our website. 
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developments/planning-your-devel
opment/working-near-our-pipes  

   
 Thames Water would advise that with regard to WASTE WATER NETWORK and SEWAGE 

TREATMENT WORKS infrastructure capacity, we would not have any objection to the above 
planning application, based on the information provided. 

  

Page 192



 Water Comments 
  
 On the basis of information provided, Thames Water would advise that with regard to water 

network and water treatment infrastructure capacity, we would not have any objection to the 
above planning application. Thames Water recommends the following informative be 
attached to this planning permission. Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a 
minimum pressure of 10m head (approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point 
where it leaves Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this minimum 
pressure in the design of the proposed development.  

   
 If you are planning on using mains water for construction purposes, it's important you let 

Thames Water know before you start using it, to avoid potential fines for improper usage. 
More information and how to apply can be found online at thameswater.co.uk/buildingwater. 

 
 4. AN 1) Works within the highway (section 278): The applicant is advised that in order to 

comply with this permission it will be necessary for the developer of the site to enter into an 
agreement with Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority under Section 278 of the 
Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion of the access and associated road 
improvements. The construction of such works must be undertaken to the satisfaction and 
specification of the Highway Authority, and by a contractor who is authorised to work in the 
public highway. Before works commence the applicant will need to apply to the Highway 
Authority to obtain their permission and requirements. Further information is available via the 
County Council website at:  

  
 https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-d

eveloper-information/development-management/highways-development-management.aspx 
or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 

  
 AN 2) Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of materials associated 

with the construction of this development should be provided within the site on land which is 
not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere with the public highway. If 
this is not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway Authority before 
construction works commence. 

  
 Further information is available via the County Council website at: 
  
 https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-d

eveloper-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 

   
 AN 3) Obstruction of highway: It is an offence under section 137 of the Highways Act 1980 

for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free 
passage along a highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to result in the 
public highway or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the 
applicant must contact the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements 
before construction works commence. 

  
 Further information is available via the County Council website at:  
  
 https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavements/business-and-d

eveloper-information/business-licences/business-licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 
1234047. 

  
 AN 4) Debris and deposits on the highway: It is an offence under section 148 of the 

Highways Act 1980 to deposit compost, dung or other material for dressing land, or any 

Page 193



rubbish on a made up carriageway, or any or other debris on a highway to the interruption of 
any highway user. Section 149 of the same Act gives the Highway Authority powers to 
remove such material at the expense of the party responsible. Therefore, best practical 
means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles leaving the site during 
construction of the development and use thereafter are in a condition such as not to emit 
dust or deposit mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is available by 
telephoning 0300 1234047. 

 
 5. UK Power Networks 
  
 Please note there are HV and LV overhead cables on the site running within close proximity 

to the proposed development. Prior to commencement of work accurate records should be 
obtained from our Plan Provision Department at UK Power Networks, Fore Hamlet, Ipswich, 
IP3 8AA.   

  
 All works should be undertaken with due regard to Health & Safety Guidance notes HS(G)47 

Avoiding Danger from Underground services. This document is available from local HSE 
offices.   

   
 Should any diversion works be necessary as a result of the development then enquiries 

should be made to our Customer Connections department. The address is UK Power 
Networks, Metropolitan house, Darkes Lane, Potters Bar, Herts, EN6 1AG. 

 
 
APPENDIX A: CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 

Consultee 
 

Comments 

Natural England NATURAL ENGLAND'S ADVICE – OBJECTION 
 
FURTHER INFORMATION REQUIRED TO DETERMINE IMPACTS 
ON DESIGNATED SITES - DEVELOPMENT WITHIN 12.6 
KILOMETRES OF CHILTERNS BEECHWOODS SPECIAL AREA OF 
CONSERVATION (SAC) WITHIN 12.6 KILOMETRES 
  
Between 500 metres to 12.6km from Chilterns Beechwoods SAC, a 
Habitats Regulations Assessment is required to determine Likely 
Significant Effect. Mitigation measures will be necessary to rule out 
adverse effects on integrity:  
 
o provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) or 
financial contributions towards an LPA-owned strategic SANG (1-9 
dwellings only); and,  
o financial contributions towards the Strategic Access Management and 
Monitoring (SAMM) strategy.  
 
Natural England notes that a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 
has not been produced. 
  
Natural England requires further information in order to determine the 
significance of potential adverse impacts of the development proposal 
on the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC and the scope for mitigation.  
Please re-consult Natural England once this information has been 
obtained. 
  

Page 194



When there is sufficient scientific uncertainty about the likely effects of 
the planning application under consideration, the precautionary 
principle is applied to fully protect the qualifying features of the 
European Site designated under the Habitats Directive. 
 
Footprint Ecology caried out research in 2021 on the impacts of 
recreational and urban growth at Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC), in particular Ashridge Commons and Woods Site 
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). Due to this new evidence, Natural 
England recognises that new housing within 12.6km of the 
internationally designated Chilterns Beechwoods SAC can be expected 
to result in an increase in recreation pressure. 
  
The 12.6km zone proposed within the evidence base1 carried out by 
Footprint Ecology represents the core area around Ashridge Commons 
and Woods SSSI where increases in the number of residential 
properties will require Habitats Regulations Assessment. Mitigation 
measures will be necessary to rule out adverse effects on the integrity 
of the SAC from the cumulative impacts of development. 
 
In addition Footprint Ecology identified that an exclusion zone of within 
500m of the SAC boundary was necessary as evidence indicates that 
mitigation measures are unlikely to protect the integrity of the SAC.
  
Impacts to the SAC as a result of increasing recreation pressure are 
varied and have long been a concern. The report identified several 
ways in which public access and disturbance can have an impact upon 
the conservation interest of the site, these included:  
 
o Damage: encompassing trampling and vegetation wear, soil 
compaction and erosion;  
o Contamination: including nutrient enrichment (e.g. dog fouling), litter, 
invasive species;  
o Fire: increased incidence and risk of fire; and  
o Other: all other impacts, including harvesting and activities associated 
with site management.  
 
In light of the new evidence relating to the recreation impact zone of 
influence, planning authorities must apply the requirements of 
Regulation 63 of The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019, to housing development 
within 12.6km of the SAC boundary. The authority must decide whether 
a particular proposal, alone or in combination with other plans or 
projects, would be likely to have a significant effect on the SAC. 
  
Natural England are working alongside all the involved parties in order 
to achieve a Strategic Solution that brings benefits to both the SAC and 
the local area to deliver high quality mitigation. All net new dwellings 
within the 500m - 12.6km zone of influence will be expected to pay 
financial contributions towards the formal strategy. 
 
Consequently, it is Natural England's view that the planning authority 
will not be able to ascertain that this proposed development as it is 
currently submitted would not adversely affect the integrity of the SAC. 
In combination with other plans and projects, the development would be 

Page 195



likely to contribute to a deterioration of the quality of the habitat by 
reason of increased access to the site including access for general 
recreation and dog-walking. There being alternative solutions to the 
proposal and there being no imperative reasons of overriding public 
interest to allow the proposal, despite a negative assessment, the 
proposal will not pass the tests of Regulation 64. 
 
We would like to draw your attention to a recent appeal for St Leonard's 
Church Hall (Ref: APP/X0415/W/21/3278072) dated 1 March 2022. The 
appeal relates to net development within 12.6km of Chilterns 
Beechwoods SAC and was dismissed. The appeal decision is attached 
in 1 Panter. C, Liley. D, Lake. S, Saunders. P & Caals. Z, March 2022, 
Visitor Survey, recreation impact assessment and mitigation 
requirements for the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC and the Dacorum 
Local Plan. Available at: 
dacorum-recreation-evidence-base-200322.pdf  
 
Annex A.  
 
Planning Statement  
 
On page 20 of the Planning Statement accompanying the planning 
application, a case is made for the 'tilted balance'. The Planning 
Statement acknowledges that Footnote 7 of NPPF (2021) Paragraph 11 
(d) makes clear that areas or assets of particular importance include 
habitat sites and/or designated as SSSIs, as well as AONBs. 
  
The Chilterns Beechwoods SAC is a habitats site as defined by the 
NPPF, and comprises Ashridge Commons and Woods SSSI. The 
planning application sits within the Impact Risk Zones for both the 
Chilterns Beechwoods SAC and the Chilterns AONB. 
  
Paragraph 182 of the NPPF states that 'the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development does not apply where the plan or project is 
likely to have a significant effect on a habitats site (either alone or in 
combination with other plans or projects), unless an appropriate 
assessment has concluded that the plan or project will not adversely 
affect the integrity of the habitats site'. The Impact Risk Zone (Zone of 
Influence) for the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC has been determined to 
be 12.6km, within which this development application sits.  
 
Paragraph 176 of the NPPF further states that 'development within 
[National Park or AONB] settings should be sensitively located and 
designed to avoid or minimise adverse impacts on the designated 
areas'. The proposed development is for a site within or close to a 
nationally designated landscape namely Chilterns AONB. However, the 
Planning Statement for this proposal makes no reference to the 
Chilterns AONB.  
 
Natural England advises that the planning authority uses national and 
local policies, together with local landscape expertise and information to 
determine the proposal. The policy and statutory framework to guide 
your decision and the role of local advice are explained below.  
 
We also advise that you consult the relevant AONB Partnership or 

Page 196



Conservation Board. Their knowledge of the site and its wider 
landscape setting, together with the aims and objectives of the AONB's 
statutory management plan, will be a valuable contribution to the 
planning decision. Where available, a local Landscape Character 
Assessment can also be a helpful guide to the landscape's sensitivity to 
this type of development and its capacity to accommodate the proposed 
development.  
 
The statutory purpose of the AONB is to conserve and enhance the 
area's natural beauty. You should assess the application carefully as to 
whether the proposed development would have a significant impact on 
or harm that statutory purpose. Relevant to this is the duty on public 
bodies to 'have regard' for that statutory purpose in carrying out their 
functions (S85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act, 2000). The 
Planning Practice Guidance confirms that this duty also applies to 
proposals outside the designated area but impacting on its natural 
beauty. 
 
The Planning Statement is incorrect in stating that planning permission 
should be granted on the basis of the 'tilted balance', as an appropriate 
assessment for the Chilterns Beechwoods SAC has not been carried 
out, and no account has been taken of the setting of the Chilterns 
AONB.  
 
SANG provision  
 
Please refer to Dacorum Borough Council's website for their criteria for 
allocating strategic SANG capacity to development proposals Appendix 
A - Draft Mitigation Strategy 2.pdf (dacorum.gov.uk)). As proposed, the 
development proposal does not meet any of the defined criteria for 
making a financial contribution to a DBC-owned strategic SANG, 
contrary to the assertion in the Planning Statement.  
 
The developer has the following options, outlined below.  
 
1) The developer could choose to reduce the development proposal to 
nine homes or fewer, in order to meet criterion 2 of Dacorum Borough 
Council's Allocations Protocol for strategic SANG.  
2) The Planning Statement that accompanies the planning application 
makes reference to two nearby planning applications (23/00414/MFA 
and 20/01754/MFA), both of which also need to provide SANG to 
mitigate the adverse effects of the developments on the integrity of the 
Chilterns Beechwoods SAC. The developer for this scheme may wish 
to consider a joint approach with these other two applications in order to 
provide a bespoke SANG solution for all three sites. Natural England 
can provide charged advice on the requirements of a bespoke SANG 
through its Discretionary Advice Service (DAS). 
  
Further general advice on the consideration of protected species and 
other natural environment issues is provided at Annex B.  
 
If you have any queries relating to the advice in this letter please contact 
the case officer Fiona Martin via fiona.martin@naturalengland.org.uk.  
 
For any new consultations or to provide further information on this 

Page 197

mailto:fiona.martin@naturalengland.org.uk


consultation please send your correspondences to 
consultations@naturalengland.org.uk. 
 
Further comments 
 
NATURAL ENGLAND'S ADVICE 
 
OBJECTION - FURTHER INFORMATION REQUIRED TO 
DETERMINE IMPACTS ON DESIGNATED SITES - DEVELOPMENT 
WITHIN 12.6 KILOMETRES OF CHILTERNS BEECHWOODS 
SPECIAL AREA OF CONSERVATION (SAC)  
 
WITHIN 12.6 KILOMETRES  
 
Between 500 metres to 12.6km from Chilterns Beechwoods SAC, a 
Habitats Regulations Assessment is required to determine Likely 
Significant Effect. Mitigation measures will be necessary to rule out 
adverse effects on integrity:  
 
o Provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) or 
financial contributions towards a strategic SANG.  
o Financial contributions towards the Strategic Access Management 
and Monitoring (SAMM) strategy. 
 
Natural England requires further information in order to determine the 
significance of these impacts and the scope for mitigation.  
Please re-consult Natural England once this information has been 
obtained. 
 

Lead Local Flood 
Authority 

Thank you for consulting us on your application on 14 March 2024 
regarding the full planning application for the construction of 9 dwellings 
including the creation of a new vehicular access, parking, and 
landscaping. 
 
We understand the applicant proposes roof runoff will be captured by a 
combination of rainwater and downpipes and discharge into the 
permeable paving sub-base and then via below-ground drainage 
network to the attenuation tank. The applicant proposes the remaining 
hardstanding surface water runoff will discharge into the permeable 
paving and thereafter into the attenuation tank prior to discharging into 
the Grand Union Canal at a restricted rate of 0.6 - 0.8 l/s. A linear 
drainage channel will be added to the site entrance which will discharge 
through a drainage pipe network around the attenuation tank and 
connect to the system downstream of the flow control and discharging 
towards the canal. 
 
As this is a non-major application the LLFA is not a statutory consultee 
and can only offer advice to the LPA: 
 

- We note the drainage strategy states "connection to canal and 
works on tow path subject to Canal & River Trust Approval". We 
advise the LPA to seek evidence of agreement from the Canal 
and Rivers Trust that the applicant is able to discharge the site 
water into the Grand Union Canal. 

- The drainage strategy shows a flow control restriction at 0.8l/s 

Page 198

mailto:consultations@naturalengland.org.uk


however sections 7.18 and 9.3 of the FRA suggests 0.6l/s. We 
recommend this is confirmed and updated accordingly. We 
would recommend the lower rate based on recent flood risk 
issues in the Long Marston area which may be associated with 
water levels in the canal. 

- We would recommend finished floor levels should be set a 
minimum of 300mm above all sources of flood risk or 150mm 
over finished ground levels, whichever is more precautionary. 

- We recommend the LPA seeks evidence of drainage 
calculations for all rainfall return periods up to and including 1% 
AEP plus climate change event, including a 1 in 30-year AEP + 
35% climate change event. Please note that we will only accept 
calculations informed by FEH 2013 or 2022. The CV on the 
rainfall calculations for winter and summer should be 1.0. We 
recommend that the applicant provide half drain down times for 
all attenuation features proposed in the drainage strategy. 
Considering the submerged outfall, we recommend calculations 
for a surcharged outfall are provided. 

- We suggest using these greenspaces to implement SuDS 
features to provide more attenuation storage for surface water 
runoff. Above-ground multi-beneficial SuDS such as rain 
gardens, tree pits and SuDS planters may be feasible in these 
locations and would help fulfil the SuDS pillars of amenity, water 
quality and biodiversity while also providing some attenuation. 
SuDS planters specifically can be designed to attenuate roof 
runoff on a plot-level basis, thereby promoting source control 
and reducing the requirement for storage in larger, potentially 
below-ground features. 

- We note that there is a surface water flood risk on the site. We 
would advise that the LPA seeks evidence of how the applicant 
plans to deal with the surface water flow path. 

- We strongly recommend that the applicant incorporate 
exceedance flow paths for surface water for all events greater 
than the 1 in 100-year + climate change event. 

- For further advice on what we expect to be contained within the 
FRA to support an outline planning application, please refer to 
our Developers Guide and Checklist on our surface water 
drainage webpage 
http://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/envplan/water/floods/s
urfacewaterdrainage/ this link also includes HCC's policies on 
SuDS in Hertfordshire. 

 
Please note if the LPA decide to grant planning permission, we wished 
to be notified for our records. 
 

Affordable Housing 
(DBC) 

Thank you for requesting comments on affordable housing.    
  
This application falls within the Dacorum Local Plan area. Attention 
should be paid to the relevant policies therein.   
  
Qualifying Sites 
  
The Council will seek affordable housing on:  
 

Page 199



1. Sites of 10 or more homes gross; or with a site area of 0.5 hectares or 
more; or if the proposed floorspace is 1000 sq. metres or more.   
2. Sites for 6-9 homes in the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty.  
  
Quantum 
 
The proportion of affordable housing required is set out below: 
  
Type of Site Affordable housing percentage 
  
1. All except those in rows 2-4 below 35%  
2. Local allocations 1 40%  
3. Other greenfield sites 40%  
4. Rural/First Homes/Entry level exception sites 100% 
 
1 as defined in the Dacorum Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document  
2 a small proportion of market housing may be permitted if necessary to 
make a scheme viable  
  
Where the application of the above percentages result in a fraction of an 
affordable home this shall be rounded to the nearest whole number. If 
the requirement is for half a home this shall be rounded up.  
  
Therefore 35% applies to this site. If the scheme achieves 11 dwellings 
this would equate to 4 affordable homes.  
  
The amount of affordable housing will only be reduced or waived where 
it is fully justified. For example where vacant building credit applies; 
where it is deemed unviable; and where prior approval for change of 
use from office to residential is applied for under permitted development 
rights.   
  
Only where robustly justified might affordable housing be provided 
off-site, or a financial contribution made in lieu.   
  
Mix and Tenure 
 
Taking account of paragraphs 001 and 015 in the PPG relating to First 
Homes and Policy CS19 of the Dacorum Core Strategy, the Council will 
seek the following split of affordable homes on schemes other than 
those that are exempted, such as Build to Rent, 100% affordable and 
Exception schemes.   
  
Tenure      Percentage of Affordable Housing 
 
First Homes - as per Planning Practice Guidance - Minimum 25%  
Other affordable home ownership - shared ownership preferred - 
Maximum 19%  
Affordable housing for rent - social and/or affordable rent and/or 
Dacorum affordable rent - Minimum 56%  
Total  100%  
  
Ordinarily the Council would seek 25% First Homes on site as per 

Page 200



government guidance, however in this instance with only 4 Affordable 
Housing dwellings required we would take the approach that this may 
not be appropriate on a small development and due to First Homes 
being more suited to one and two bed flats.   
  
Other affordable home ownership - These should be aimed at those 
with lower deposits. A variety of homes for shared ownership with an 
emphasis on 3 and then 2 bed houses would be preferable here.  
 
Any unavoidable service charges should be fair, affordable, and kept to 
a minimum.  
  
Affordable housing for rent - These must be owned and managed by 
registered providers of affordable housing unless they have come 
forward as part of a Build to Rent scheme. Rents must comply with the 
Government's rent standard. 
 
The Council's priority is to ensure that affordable housing for rent is 
genuinely affordable to those in housing need. The paper 'Affordable 
Rents in Dacorum', produced in May 2022, advises that providing 
affordable rents at 60% of market values (including service charges) 
would be a sensible start point for affordable rented housing, subject to 
the viability of delivering housing at these costs. The Council, therefore,  
encourages developers and registered providers, where possible, to 
deliver  
 
o Social rents; or  
o Dacorum affordable rents (as described above).   
 
Where these are not viable Affordable rents must be set at least 20% 
below local market rent (including service charges where applicable) or 
at Local Housing Allowance rates, whichever figure is the lower.  
  
There is a greater need for 2 bed 4 person, 3 bed 5 and 6 person and 4 
bed 6 to 8 person affordable houses for rent on suburban, village and 
greenfield sites. 1 bed 2 person and 2 bed 4 person flats are generally 
more appropriate on flatted developments. 
  
The mix of affordable homes should generally reflect the open market 
dwellings and the South West Herts Local Housing Needs Assessment. 
The latter has been adapted below to accommodate the First Homes 
requirement. The following should act as a guide only across the 
council area:  
  
Type Affordable housing for rent First Homes Affordable home 
ownership  
1 bed flat 20% 50% None or few  
2 bed flat/house 30% 50% 30%  
3 bed house 40% - 70%  
4+ bed house 10% - None or few  
  
Accessibility 
   
The Government announced in July 2022 its intention to amend the 
Building Regulations to make M4(2) the minimum standard for all new 

Page 201



homes. In addition the South West Herts Local Housing Needs 
Assessment suggested the level of provision in the table below:  
  
Building Regulations standards  LHNA recommendations   
   
M4(2) accessible and adaptable dwellings   
  All new homes should be compliant    
   
M4(3)(a) wheelchair adaptable dwellings  Up to 5% of market 
properties   
   
M4(3)(b) wheelchair accessible dwellings  Up to 10% of affordable 
homes   
  
The Council, therefore, encourages all affordable dwellings to which it 
allocates or nominates a person to live, to meet the above standards 
unless this is not possible for viability or other reasons (such as the 
suitability of the site or building to accommodate wheelchair users and 
its proximity to services and facilities and public transport).  
  
M4(3)affordable dwellings should have their own direct ground floor 
access, a wetroom/level access shower (as opposed to a bath) and be 
offered for rent, unless otherwise agreed.  
  
Design  
 
As with all housing, affordable housing should be built to a high 
standard of design and amenity. In particular the Council will expect a 
tenure-neutral approach, so that it is not possible to distinguish between 
the affordable and open market housing.  
 
The Council will require proposed housing developments including 
affordable housing to comply with the NPPF, the National Design 
Guide, any future guidance from Homes England and other relevant 
local policies and guidance. 
 
The Council will consider the distribution of the affordable homes 
across a development on a site by site basis, particularly on sites for 50 
or more homes. Affordable housing should be distributed appropriately 
in groups across the site, as should any blocks of flats for affordable 
housing. 
  
On larger sites which will be developed in phases there should be 
between 25% and 50% affordable housing in each phase with a fully 
policy compliant percentage achieved cumulatively through the whole 
site.    
  
We ask that unit sizes should be broadly in line with the Nationally 
Described Space Standards.   
   
Occupancy  
  
The council's nomination rights, and the occupancy of the affordable 
housing, will be controlled through the s106 agreement. Unless 
otherwise agreed, no more than 50% of the private units [on a 

Page 202



residential phase] are to be occupied until all relevant affordable units 
[on that phase] have been completed and transferred to a Registered 
Provider.  The Council works with registered providers to support the 
delivery of affordable homes and can provide contact details of upon 
request.   
  
The applicant will need to supply an affordable housing plan at the 
earliest opportunity illustrating the location, tenures, sizes, mix and the 
wheelchair user dwellings that will be supplied, taking in to account the 
points above.  
  
Should the applicant advise that a proposal is unviable in light of any 
policy requirements, specific site characteristics and other financial 
factors, they must provide an open book financial appraisal of the 
development. This would be independently assessed by a consultant of 
the council's choosing, at the expense of the applicant. Negotiations 
would be undertaken to secure any affordable housing contribution, 
preferably on-site, unless exceptional circumstances prevail. If it is 
determined that little or no affordable housing is viable, the Council may 
seek an appropriate viability review mechanism in the s106 to ensure 
that an uplift in the value of the development is reflected in a deferred 
contribution towards affordable housing. 
 

Canal & River Trust We are the charity who look after and bring to life 2000 miles of canals & 
rivers. Our waterways contribute to the health and wellbeing of local 
communities and economies, creating attractive and connected places 
to live, work, volunteer and spend leisure time. These historic, natural, 
and cultural assets form part of the strategic and local green-blue 
infrastructure network, linking urban and rural communities as well as 
habitats. By caring for our waterways and promoting their use we 
believe we can improve the wellbeing of our nation. The Trust is a  
statutory consultee in the Development Management process.  
  
The Trust is a joint applicant in this case and owns the site. Given the 
Trust's involvement in the development, we have already sought to 
ensure that matters relevant to our role as statutory consultee have 
been addressed throughout the scheme's evolution.  
  
The Trust would however wish to ensure that the historic character, 
appearance and setting of the canal corridor  and designated assets 
are not adversely affected by any subsequent additions or alterations, 
and considering the proximity to the waterway, that landscaping to be 
retained and the structural integrity of the canal infrastructure are not 
adversely affected.  
  
Therefore, based on the information available our substantive response 
(as required by the Town & Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended)) is to 
advise that a suitably worded condition is necessary to remove 
permitted development rights for plots 1-7(inc) to address this matter. 
 
Condition - Permitted Development  
  
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England)  Order 2015 (or any 

Page 203



revoking and re-enacting that order with or without modification) no 
development within Plots 1-7(inc) and covered by Class A, B, C, E and 
F of Part 1; Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2; or Classes A-I of Part 14 of 
that Order shall be carried out without the express written consent of the 
Local Planning Authority. 
  
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality and to 
ensure any development preserves or enhances the significance of the 
designated heritage assets in accordance with Policies 106 and 119 of 
the Dacorum Borough Local Plan 1991-2011 and Policy CS27 of the 
Dacorum Core Strategy 2013, and in the interests of minimising the risk 
of creating land instability arising from any adverse impacts from 
earthmoving, excavations or other construction works upon the stability 
of the canal and in accordance with the advice and guidance on land 
stability contained in paragraphs 174 & 183-184 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework and in the National Planning Practice 
Guidance. 
  
Please do not hesitate to contact me with any queries you may have. 
 
Further comments 
 
Thank you for your consultation on amendments.  
 
We are the charity who look after and bring to life 2000 miles of canals & 
rivers. Our waterways contribute to the health and wellbeing of local 
communities and economies, creating attractive and connected places 
to live, work, volunteer and spend leisure time. These historic, natural, 
and cultural assets form part of the strategic and local green-blue 
infrastructure network, linking urban and rural communities as well as 
habitats. By caring for our waterways and promoting their use we 
believe we can improve the wellbeing of our nation. The Trust is a 
statutory consultee in the Development Management process. 
  
The Trust is a joint applicant in this case and owns the site. Given the 
Trust's involvement in the development, we have already sought to 
ensure that matters relevant to our role as statutory consultee have 
been addressed throughout the scheme's evolution, including the 
amendments to the scheme.  
 
As advised previously though the Trust would still wish to ensure that 
the historic character, appearance and setting of the canal corridor and 
designated assets are not adversely affected by any subsequent 
additions or alterations, and considering the proximity to the waterway, 
that landscaping to be retained and the structural integrity of the canal 
infrastructure are not adversely affected.   
  
Therefore, based on the information available our substantive response 
(as required by the Town & Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended)) is to 
advise that a suitably worded condition is necessary to remove 
permitted development rights for plots 1-7(inc) to address this matter.  
 
Condition - Permitted Development 
 

Page 204



Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any 
revoking and re-enacting that order with or without modification) no 
development within Plots 1-7(inc) and covered by Class A, B, C, E and 
F of Part 1; Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2; or Classes A-I of Part 14 of 
that Order shall be carried out without the express written consent of the 
Local Planning Authority. Reason: In the interests of the visual 
amenities of the locality and to ensure any development preserves or
  
enhances the significance of the designated heritage assets in 
accordance with Policies 106 and 119 of the Dacorum Borough Local 
Plan 1991-2011 and Policy CS27 of the Dacorum Core Strategy 2013, 
and in the interests of minimising the risk of creating land instability 
arising from any adverse impacts from earthmoving, excavations or 
other construction works upon the stability of the canal and in 
accordance with the advice and guidance on land stability contained in 
paragraphs 180 & 189-190 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
and in the National Planning Practice Guidance. 
 

Tring Rural Parish 
Council 

Neutral - The Tring Rural Parish Council do not object to this 
application. The focus of the council's concerns is invariably flooding 
and drainage. However, it is noted that this proposed development site 
is entirely within zone 1 for flood risk, as is the immediate surrounding 
area. Furthermore, the council is not aware of any flooding issues in the 
immediate vicinity. The council leave it to the expertise of the planning 
officers to consider the comprehensive Flood Risk Assessment, 
although it is understood that such an assessment was not strictly 
necessary as the site is entirely zone 1. 
 
Further comments 
 
No further submission. 
 

Environmental And 
Community Protection 
(DBC) 

Having reviewed the planning application submission, in particular the 
Paddock Geo Engineering Preliminary Contamination Risk 
Assessment Report (ref. P23-114pra) dated June 2023, and having 
reviewed the ECP Team records I am able to confirm that there is no 
objection to the proposed development. However, it will be necessary 
for the developer to demonstrate that the potential for land 
contamination to affect the proposed development has been further 
considered and where it is present will be remediated.   
  
This is necessary because of the residential end use proposed, which 
will be particularly vulnerable to the presence of any ground 
contamination and the fact that there is some uncertainty over the 
historical uses of the site, particularly circa 2000. As such the following 
planning conditions should be included if permission is granted.   
  
It should also be noted that the above referenced report recommends 
that further land contamination assessment should occur.   
  
The report does not appear, however, to have identified that for an 
unspecified period around 2000, an area around the site entrance was 
cleared of vegetation and in use for an unspecified purpose. As such 
this information should be made available to the applicant, so that it can 

Page 205



be taken into account by their environmental consultant.  
  
Contaminated Land Conditions:  
  
Condition 1:  
  
(a) No development approved by this permission shall be 
commenced until an Intrusive Site Investigation Risk Assessment 
Report has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority which includes:  
(i) A full identification of the location and concentration of all 
pollutants on this site and the presence of relevant receptors, and;  
(ii) The results from the application of an appropriate risk 
assessment    
methodology.  
  
(b) No development approved by this permission (other than that 
necessary for the discharge of this condition) shall be commenced until 
a Remediation Method Statement report; if required as a result of (a), 
above; has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
  
(c) This site shall not be occupied, or brought into use, until:  
(i) All works which form part of the Remediation Method Statement 
report pursuant to the discharge of condition (b) above have been fully 
completed and if required a formal agreement is submitted that commits 
to ongoing monitoring and/or maintenance of the remediation scheme.
  
(ii) A Remediation Verification Report confirming that the site is 
suitable for use has been submitted to, and agreed by, the Local 
Planning Authority.  
  
Reason: To ensure that the issue of contamination is adequately 
addressed to protect human health and the surrounding environment 
and to ensure a satisfactory development, in accordance with Core 
Strategy (2013) Policy CS32.  
  
Condition 2:  
  
Any contamination, other than that reported by virtue of Condition 1 
encountered during the development of this site shall be brought to the 
attention of the Local Planning Authority as soon as practically possible; 
a scheme to render this contamination harmless shall be submitted to 
and agreed by, the Local Planning Authority and subsequently fully 
implemented prior to the occupation of this site. Works shall be 
temporarily suspended, unless otherwise agreed in writing during this 
process because the safe development and secure occupancy of the 
site lies with the developer.  
  
Should no ground contamination be encountered or suspected upon 
the completion of the groundworks, a statement to that effect shall be 
submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority prior to the first 
occupation of the development hereby approved.  
  
Reason: To ensure that the issue of contamination is adequately 

Page 206



addressed to protect human health and the surrounding environment 
and to ensure a satisfactory development, in accordance with Core 
Strategy (2013) Policy CS32.  
   
Informative: 
 
The above conditions are considered to be in line with paragraphs 174 
(e) & (f) and 183 and 184 of the NPPF 2021.  
  
Guidance on how to assess and manage the risks from land 
contamination can be found here 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-
management-lcrm and here: 
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/environment-health/
development-on-potentially-contaminated-land.pdf?sfvrsn=c00f109f_8 
  
Please let me know if you have any questions, otherwise I would be 
grateful if you would pass the necessary information on to the applicant. 
 
Good afternoon Martin, apologies for the delay in replying to this one.  
  
Following consultation for the above application, this team would not 
look to add formal conditions in regards to noise, air quality etc.  
  
Please find the below informative comments in regards to the proposed 
development however, which we respectfully request to be included in 
the decision notice.   
  
Working Hours Informative 
  
Contractors and sub-contractors must have regard to BS 5228-2:2009 
"Code of Practice for Noise Control on Construction and Open Sites" 
and the Control of Pollution Act 1974.  
  
As a guideline, the following hours for noisy works and/or deliveries 
should be observed: Monday to Friday, 7.30am to 5:30pm, Saturday, 
8am to 1pm, Sunday and bank holidays - no noisy work allowed.  
  
Where permission is sought for works to be carried out outside the 
hours stated, applications in writing must be made with at least seven 
days' notice to Environmental and Community Protection Team 
ecp@dacorum.gov.uk or The Forum, Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead, 
HP1 1DN.  Local residents that may be affected by the work shall also 
be notified in writing, after approval is received from the LPA or 
Environmental Health.  
  
Works audible at the site boundary outside these hours may result in 
the service of a Notice restricting the hours as above.  Breach of the 
notice may result in prosecution and an unlimited fine and/or six months 
imprisonment.  
  
Waste Management Informative 
 
Under no circumstances should waste produced from the development 
be incinerated on site. This includes but is not limited to pallet stretch 

Page 207

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/environment-health/development-on-potentially-contaminated-land.pdf?sfvrsn=c00f109f_8
https://www.dacorum.gov.uk/docs/default-source/environment-health/development-on-potentially-contaminated-land.pdf?sfvrsn=c00f109f_8


wrap, used bulk bags, building materials, product of demolition and so 
on. Suitable waste management should be in place to reduce, reuse, 
recover or recycle waste product on site, or dispose of appropriately. 
  
Air Quality Informative 
  
As an authority we are looking for all development to support 
sustainable travel and air quality improvements as required by the 
NPPF. We are looking to minimise the cumulative impact on local air 
quality that ongoing development has, rather than looking at 
significance. This is also being encouraged by DEFRA.  
  
As a result as part of the planning application I would recommend that 
the applicant be asked to propose what measures they can take as part 
of this new development, to support sustainable travel and air quality 
improvements. These measures may be conditioned through the 
planning consent if the proposals are acceptable.   
  
A key theme of the NPPF is that developments should enable future 
occupiers to make "green" vehicle choices and (paragraph 35) 
"incorporates facilities for charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission 
vehicles". Therefore an electric vehicle recharging provision rate of 1 
vehicle charging point per 10 spaces (unallocated parking) is expected. 
To prepare for increased demand in future years, appropriate cable 
provision should be included in the scheme design and development, in 
agreement with the local authority.  
  
Please note that with regard to EV charging for residential units with 
dedicated parking, we are not talking about physical charging points in 
all units but the capacity to install one. The cost of installing appropriate 
trunking/ducting and a dedicated fuse at the point of build is miniscule, 
compared to the cost of retrofitting an EV charging unit after the fact, 
without the relevant base work in place.   
  
In addition, mitigation in regards to NOx emissions should be 
addressed in that all gas fired boilers to meet a minimum standard of 40 
mg NOx/Kwh or consideration of alternative heat sources.  
  
Invasive and Injurious Weeds – Informative 
 
Weeds such as Japanese Knotweed, Giant Hogsweed and Ragwort 
are having a detrimental impact on our environment and may injure 
livestock. Land owners must not plant or otherwise cause to grow in the 
wild any plant listed on schedule 9 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981. Developers and land owners should therefore undertake an 
invasive weeds survey before development commences and take the 
steps necessary to avoid weed spread. Further advice can be obtained 
from the Environment Agency website at 
https://www.gov.uk/japanese-knotweed-giant-hogweed-and-other-inva
sive-plants  
  
If you need anything further please let me know.  
 

Hertfordshire Ecology Ecological Summary: The site is adjacent to the Grand Union Canal, 
Aylesbury Arm Local Wildlife Site important as the banks and tow path 

Page 208



of this section supports a diverse range of plant species including fen 
and marsh indicator species. Images on street view show the grass 
land to be dominated by tall herb and grass species. The grassland is 
identified in the ecological base line as semi improved based on phase 
1 surveys and could qualify as the UK habitat type other neutral 
grassland. The ecological survey assessed it as other neutral 
grassland, species indicative of wet conditions such as such as 
meadow sweet reed canary grass were present, and the report 
assessed the area as being probably derived from flood plain meadow 
or pasture.  Areas of ruderal vegetation and scrub are also noted with 
some areas of nettle and other species characteristics of nutrient 
enrichment. The hedgerows on site are all priority habitats with one 
hedgerow qualifying as being important under the hedgerows act. 
Hertfordshire Environmental Records Centre has records of otters in 
the near vicinity and nearby land parcels are highlighted as having high 
potential for this species.  The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
highlighted the site as providing potential habitat for badgers, 
hedgehogs, nesting birds, reptiles and great crested newts.  A common 
toad was found on site.   
  
Ecological sensitivity: The site is adjacent to the grand union canal an 
important ecological route and Local Wildlife Site measures to protect 
this habitat are essential if the proposal is to proceed.   
  
Surveys: The Phase 1 Habitat walkover survey was carried out on 12th 
May 2023 and within the optimal season, and a UK habitats 
assessment carried out. The provision of complete species lists, or 
Quadrate data and condition sheets would have been preferred and if a 
metric calculation is required should be provided as supporting 
information. The indicative species list provided, shows it is a complex 
mix of wetland, ruderal and meadow species. The potential presence of 
orchid species indicates that the grassland has some botanical interest, 
nevertheless the species listed do not indicate it is of wildlife site quality. 
  
EDNA surveys of nearby waterbodies and ditches and Reptile surveys 
of the site were carried out in 2021 and 2023 and found no evidence of 
great crested newts or reptiles.   
  
Over all the ecological surveys listed above, notwithstanding the above 
comments, provide a reasonable assessment of the ecological 
conditions on site and I have no reason to doubt there over all 
conclusions.    
  
Ecological constraints that should be avoided: The site contains priority 
habitats which should be retained or compensated for. Nevertheless, 
these are not of distinctiveness or rarity so as to represent a 
fundamental constrain to the principle of this development.  
  
Hedgerow H2: qualifies as an important hedgerow under the hedgerow 
acts and requires written permission from LPA if it is to be removed. I 
am pleased to see and support its retention. This hedgerow should be 
maintained and managed to maximise its biodiversity value.   
  
Mitigation: The Requirement for precautionary mitigation measures for 
badgers, dormice, and herpetofauna species/ habitats are outlined in 

Page 209



section R5 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal R5. This should be 
amended to exclude dormouse for which there is no evidence of their 
presence and to include the two priority species hedgehogs and hare 
for which the site contains habitat potential. I support the inclusion of 
these mitigation measures within a CEMP This should be informed by 
suitable ecological guidance, and I advise is secured by Condition. 
  
In addition, environmental protection measures to ensure the canal and 
Local Wildlife Site is not negatively impacted should form part of the 
CEMP.  
  
Whilst it is acknowledged that the retention of the northern hedgerow 
and position of access routes should provide a degree of light screening 
for the waterway. In order to ensure that it retains its function as an 
ecological corridor for bats, a lighting plan demonstrating that the water 
way is protected from excessive glare and that additional lighting does 
not raise its illumination above 0.5 lux should be provided.   
  
Compensation: In order to demonstrate that any permission granted for 
this application is consistent with the principles relating to the mitigation 
hierarchy embed within the NPPF, compensation measures for the loss 
of the grassland, a single tree and the area of scrub on the eastern 
boundaries are required. The landscaping plan includes replacement 
and additional planting. This includes the addition of native hedgerow 
along the eastern boundary wildflower meadow and woodland ground 
cover planting. In order for these to make a meaningful contribution to 
biodiversity I advise the following measures:  
  
a. The native hedgerow should be a mixed hedgerow composed of 
a minimum of 4 native shrub species and managed for biodiversity. 
  
b. The wildflower meadow mix should be for species adapted to 
the wet conditions and include the species associated with marsh and 
wet grassland habitats already present. 
  
c. The proposed tree planting in this wildflower meadow area 
should be of a low density and include shrub species managed by 
rotational coppicing to ensure the wildflower species are not shaded 
out.  
 
d. The tree cover above the woodland ground cover planting 
should be deciduous to allow vernal and pre vernal species and be of 
species that cast only a dappled shade.   
  
Ecological Opportunities: The area is identified within the Hertfordshire 
Ecological Network map as existing habitat not listed as S41 priority 
habitat and represents an opportunity for enhancement of existing 
habitat to improve the ecological network. Its connection to the Grand 
Union Canal an effective linear ecological connection to numerous 
other habitats heightens the benefits of the retention and enhancement 
of some or all the existing areas of grassland and hedgerows.   
  
If the application is approved the opportunity should be taken to 
enhance the existing habitat by suitable planting and management. In 
addition, it would be a suitable location for Integrated bird and bat boxes 

Page 210



within any new dwellings adjacent to this beneficial aquatic habitat. 
 
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan: The compensation and 
enhancement opportunities listed above and any additional measures 
to improve the biodiversity of the site should be outlined within a 
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan and I advise secured by 
condition.  
  
Biodiversity net gain: No Biodiversity Metric has been submitted with 
the application although recommended within the Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisal. Measurable biodiversity net gain is not now 
expected to become a mandatory requirement until January 2024.  
However, its provision would allow the LPA to assess the level of 
biodiversity change resulting from the proposal. Its absence however, 
unless a requirement of local policy, cannot be used as a reason for 
refusal.   
  
Habitat Regulations assessment: The proposed development will result 
in an increase in residential accommodation.  Given that the proposed 
development lies within the Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) 'Zone of Influence', the Habitats Regulations 2017 
(as amended) apply, and we recommend that as the competent 
authority, the Council must undertake a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA).  
  
This is because we consider there is a credible risk that harmful impacts 
from the increase in recreational pressure on the SAC (alone or in 
combination with other plans or projects) may arise and that likely 
significant effects cannot be ruled out.  
  
If, following further 'appropriate assessment', the HRA is subsequently 
unable to rule out adverse effects on the integrity of the SAC, mitigation 
will be required.  
  
Effective mitigation will be best delivered by adopting the measures set 
out in the Council's strategic mitigation plan and the payment of the 
appropriate tariff(s).  The latter will contribute to the implementation of 
'strategic access management and mitigation measures' (SAMMs) 
alongside the creation of suitable alternative natural green spaces' 
(SANGs).  
  
As there is no indication in the application that the tariff(s) will be paid, it 
is our opinion that adverse effects cannot be ruled out and consent 
cannot be granted until adequate mitigation is provided. 
 
Further comments 
 
ECOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS  
 
Thank you for consulting this office on the above application. 
  
Overall Recommendation:  
 
 Application can be determined (with any conditions listed below).  
Summary of Advice:  

Page 211



 
o A biodiversity net gain should be demonstrated using the statutory 
metric.  
 
Supporting documents: 
  
I have made use of the following documents in providing this advice:
  
o Amended Soft works plan (revision 3)  
 
Comments:  
 
Since our previous response 29/09/2023, the site lay out has been 
amended which has resulted in a change to the proposed landscaping 
and soft. In the absence of a biodiversity metric the overall net gain or 
loss is hard to quantify. However, the greatest change is an apparent 
reduction in public green space which can be managed for biodiversity 
and controlled through planning. For example, the increase  in area of 
the private garden spaces for properties 8 and 9. Whilst I support the 
use of species rich lawn mix within these garden spaces the retention 
of these cannot be guaranteed. Likewise, it is difficult to assess the 
impact to BNG of changes to the northeast corner with the creation of 
the new path and changes to the lay out. And landscaping. The value of 
some of the proposed BNG measures could be compromised by their 
exposure to disturbance, trampling etc, such as the wildflower meadow 
area under the tulip tree, within the new car parking spaces.  
 
For the LPA to be confident that the development will be policy 
compliant and deliver a biodiversity net gain. I advise that this should be 
demonstrated using the statutory biodiversity metric and measures 
outlined as to how any short fall in Biodiversity units  will be achieved 
whilst meeting the trading rules. This can be secured as a Pre- 
Commencement Condition. 
 
I trust these comments are of assistance. 
 

Thames Water Waste Comments 
 
There are public sewers crossing or close to your development. If 
you're planning significant work near our sewers, it's important that you 
minimize the risk of damage. We'll need to check that your development 
doesn't limit repair or maintenance activities, or inhibit the services we 
provide in any other way. The applicant is advised to read our guide 
working near or diverting our pipes. 
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developments
/planning-your-development/working-near-our-pipes  
  
With regard to SURFACE WATER drainage, Thames Water would 
advise that if the developer follows the sequential approach to the 
disposal of surface water we would have no objection. Management of 
surface water from new developments should follow guidance under 
sections 167 & 168 in the National Planning Policy Framework.  Where 
the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval 
from Thames Water Developer Services will be required. Should you 
require further information please refer to our website. 

Page 212



https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/larger-scale-developments
/planning-your-development/working-near-our-pipes  
  
Thames Water would advise that with regard to WASTE WATER 
NETWORK and SEWAGE TREATMENT WORKS infrastructure 
capacity, we would not have any objection to the above planning 
application, based on the information provided.  
  
Water Comments 
 
On the basis of information provided, Thames Water would advise that 
with regard to water network and water treatment infrastructure 
capacity, we would not have any objection to the above planning 
application. Thames Water recommends the following informative be 
attached to this planning permission. Thames Water will aim to provide 
customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head (approx 1 bar) and a 
flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves Thames Waters 
pipes. The developer should take account of this minimum pressure in 
the design of the proposed development.  
  
If you are planning on using mains water for construction purposes, it's 
important you let Thames Water know before you start using it, to avoid 
potential fines for improper usage. More information and how to apply 
can be found online at thameswater.co.uk/buildingwater.  
 

Hertfordshire Highways 
(HCC) 

This is an interim to start a discussion to enable the site to be 
acceptable. Firstly, HCC Highways would like to see the raw speed 
survey data quoted in the transport statement to ensure that the 85th 
percentile number is accurate.  
  
Secondly as per inclusive mobility the width of a footway should be a 
minimum of 2 metres. This is stated in section 4.2 of Inclusive mobility 
where it states;  
  
"Footways and footpaths should be made as wide as is practicable, but 
under normal circumstances, a width of 2000mm is the minimum that 
should be provided, as this allows enough space for two wheelchair 
users to pass, even if they are using larger electric mobility scooters."
  
This ensures that the site is accessible to all people especially to be 
able to reach the village centre.  
  
Once this has been provided then HCC Highways can make an 
informed recommendation. 
 
Further comments 
 
Interim 
  
Following emails the raw data for the speed survey has now been 
produced, however, within our previous interim we requested the 
footway be widened as per inclusive mobility the width of a footway 
should be a minimum of 2 metres. This is stated in section 4.2 of 
Inclusive mobility where it states; 
 

Page 213



"Footways and footpaths should be made as wide as is practicable, but 
under normal circumstances, a width of 2000mm is the minimum that 
should be provided, as this allows enough space for two wheelchair 
users to pass, even if they are using larger electric mobility scooters."
  
This ensures that the site is accessible to all people especially to be 
able to reach the village centre 
  
The footway is currently proposed at 1.8 metres. Once this has been 
provided then HCC Highways can make an informed recommendation. 
 
Final comments 
 
AMENDED PROPOSAL 
  
Construction of 9 dwellings including the creation of a new vehicular 
access, parking and landscaping 
 

Recommendation 
 
Notice is given under article 22 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 that 
Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority does not wish to 
restrict the grant of permission subject to the following conditions: 
 
1) Highway Improvements - Offsite 
 
A) Design Approval  
 
Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings, no 
on-site works above slab level shall commence until a detailed scheme 
for the off-site highway improvement works as indicated on drawing 
number A1-01 P 20 have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority. 
 
B) Implementation / Construction 
  
Prior to the first use of the development hereby permitted, the 
improvement works referred to in part A of this condition shall be 
completed in accordance with the approved details for works including;
  
- Footway of 2 metres in width from the site linking to existing footway to 
the south of the sites location  
- Bell mouth Access for 7 dwellings along ring Road  
- Dropped kerb for access for two dwelling which will access across he 
proposed 2 metre wide footway. 
 
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and that 
the highway improvement works are designed to an appropriate 
standard in the interest of highway safety and amenity and in  
accordance with Policy 5, 13 and 21 of Hertfordshire's Local Transport 
Plan (adopted 2018). 
 
2) Provision of Visibility Splays - Dimensioned on Approved Plan  
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted a 

Page 214



visibility splay shall be provided in full accordance with the details 
indicated on the approved drawing number A1-01 P 20. 
 
The splay shall thereafter be retained at all times free from any 
obstruction between 600mm and 2m above the level of the adjacent 
highway carriageway.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the level of visibility for pedestrians, cyclists 
and vehicles is satisfactory in the interests of highway safety in 
accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire's Local Transport Plan 
(adopted 2018). 
  
Highway Informatives 
 
HCC as Highway Authority recommends inclusion of the following 
Advisory Note (AN) / highway  informative to ensure that any works 
within the highway are carried out in accordance with the provisions of 
the Highway Act 1980: 
 
AN 1) Works within the highway (section 278): The applicant is advised 
that in order to comply with this permission it will be necessary for the 
developer of the site to enter into an agreement with Hertfordshire 
County Council as Highway Authority under Section 278 of the 
Highways Act 1980 to ensure the satisfactory completion of the access 
and associated road improvements. The construction of such works 
must be undertaken to the satisfaction and specification of the Highway 
Authority, and by a contractor who is authorised to work in the public 
highway. Before works commence the applicant will need to apply to 
the Highway Authority to obtain their permission and requirements. 
Further information is available via the County Council website at:  
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavem
ents/business-and-developer-information/development-management/h
ighways-development-management.aspx or by telephoning  
0300 1234047. 
 
AN 2) Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the storage of 
materials associated with the construction of this development should 
be provided within the site on land which is not public highway, and the 
use of such areas must not interfere with the public highway. If this is 
not possible, authorisation should be sought from the Highway 
Authority before construction works commence. 
 
Further information is available via the County Council website at:  
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavem
ents/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-l
icences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
  
AN 3) Obstruction of highway: It is an offence under section 137 of the 
Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority or excuse, in 
any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a highway or public 
right of way. If this development is likely to result in the public highway 
or public right of way network becoming routinely blocked (fully or 
partly) the applicant must contact the  Highway Authority to obtain their 
permission and requirements before construction works commence.
  

Page 215



Further information is available via the County Council website at:  
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-pavem
ents/business-and-developer-information/business-licences/business-l
icences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
 
AN 4) Debris and deposits on the highway: It is an offence under 
section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit compost, dung or other 
material for dressing land, or any rubbish on a made up carriageway, or 
any or other debris on a highway to the interruption of any highway 
user. Section 149 of the same Act gives the Highway Authority powers 
to remove such material at the expense of the party responsible. 
Therefore, best practical means shall be taken at all times to ensure 
that all vehicles leaving the site during construction of the development 
and use thereafter are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit 
mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is 
available by telephoning 0300 1234047. 
 
Comments 
 
The proposal is for the construction of 9 dwellings including the creation 
of a new vehicular access, parking and landscaping a Land West Of 
Tring Road, Tring Road, Wilstone. Tring Road is a 60 mph unclassified 
local access route that is highway maintainable at public expense. Tring 
Road in relation to HCC's new Place and Movement Planning Design 
Guide is allocated as a P1/M1 (e.g. Rural Lane). 
 
Highway Matters 
 
The existing s ite is a field on the edge of Wilstone. The applicant has 
carried out a speed survey ofthe adjacent highway network along Tring 
Road and found tha 85th percentile speeds to be between 24 mph and 
27 mph and as such has illustrated visibility splays in relation to these 
speeds on drawing number A1-01 P 20 for the proposed two accesses. 
The applicant is proposing two new accesses to the site. The first 
being a bellmouth to access 7 of the 9 dwelling in the location of a 
previous field gate. This access has been shown that it can 
accommodate a fire vehicle turning on site as well as private cars. The 
surface of the internal road network will be for shared use. A refuse 
truck is proposed to wait within the highway network as opposed to 
going into the site which is deemed acceptable for the classification of 
the adjacent highway network and its speeds. There is proposed to be 
another access to the south of the larger bellmouth which will 
accommodate access for two of the dwellings. This access has not be 
illustrated on any drawings to its layout but owing to the proposed 
footway should be constructed as a dropped kerb to a maximum of 7.2 
metres (6 dropped kerbs and 2 risers) which would accommodate two 
properties. There is proposed to be a 2 metre footway fronting the site 
which ensure as per inclusive mobility two wheelchair users to pass one 
another. 
  
This two metre footway should connect to the existing footway network 
along Tring Road and will connect the development to Wilstone and its 
amenities. All of these should be constructed under a section 278 
agreement - please see informative 1 - in line with the suggested 
conditions by HCC Highways. 

Page 216



 
Conclusion 
 
HCC has no objections or further comments on highway grounds to the 
proposed development, subject to the inclusion of the above highway 
informatives (in relation to entering into a Section 278 Agreement) and 
conditions. 
 

Trees & Woodlands Regarding this app, I have no issues to raise in principle but need to 
raise a serious longer term concern.    
  
The Arb Report accurately notes the presence of moderate (x9) and low 
(x5 plus x3 groups) quality trees, and of these x12 individual trees are 
Ash.   
  
It is proposed to remove two Cat B (mod) and one Cat C (low) quality 
trees and partially remove one C group along the frontage of the site. 
Mitigation planting is planned in order to address tree loss.  
  
Of the trees noted as Ash for retention (T5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13), 
these are all located in a row on the canal side - and in all likelihood, 
they will need to be removed in near future due to Ash Dieback (ADB). 
ADB is a fungal disease that is killing 80 - 90% of affected Ash trees 
nationwide. ADB is prevalent across the Tring area and the Borough 
Council are soon to embark on a five-year long series of Ash removal 
projects that will involve thousands of trees in Dacorum.   
  
The DAS admirably refers to retaining most of the existing site trees, but 
in this instance I believe this to be the wrong decision. Although a date 
cannot yet be fixed, it is highly probable in the next 5 to 10 years that all 
site Ash will need to be removed due to the hazard they present to 
homeowners and their homes. At that stage, the LPA will have no 
control concerning replanting.     
  
It seems sensible to mitigate against the devastating impact of ADB 
now, when tree removal operations could occur on a clear site rather 
than when surrounded by new houses, landscaping, cars and people. 
Removal now would cause a considerable visual impact but would 
enable sensible tree replacement to be controlled via the planning 
process. This would also enable construction works to be completed 
more efficiently as site operations would be less constrained by tree 
protection measures.    
  
ADB is going to significantly change our urban and rural landscapes, 
but more importantly has already caused injury and death within the 
tree contracting industry due to the unpredictable nature of the fungus' 
effect on the structural integrity of trees. Accordingly, ADB works are 
becoming more reliant on mechanisation, which will be very difficult to 
complete should the new dwelling that are proposed be built. 
 

Urban Design (DBC) As discussed, please find below some initial thoughts on the application 
at Land West of Tring Road. I am happy to talk these through with the 
applicants once they have decided their next steps if it would help with 
any future submission.   
  

Page 217



Key considerations that should be incorporated to any future 
submission: 
 
o Units adjacent to no. 71 should follow the existing building line 
and front onto Tring Road. With this in mind, units 8 - 11 should front 
onto Tring Road, with their primary residential amenity space to the 
rear. Following the existing settlement pattern should result in a 
landscaped set back from the road as well.  
 
o Buildings should positively respond to Tring Road and the 
adjacent recently approved scheme to create a sense of arrival into the 
village. As such, it is suggested that the proposed unit in the north 
eastern corner of the site, immediately adjacent to Wilstone Bridge 
should create a landmark feature. Employing a corner typology would 
allow the building to respond positively to views from Wilstone Bridge, 
whilst adhering to the above suggestion of fronting onto Tring Road. 
  
o The existing layout does not reflect a coherent design. The 
orientation and layout of the units is jarring and not cohesive. The form 
and building lines should respond to neighbouring units, and follow a 
degree of symmetry, ensuring the spaces between buildings is both 
attractive and functional. 
 
o All rear gardens must adhere to policy requirements for 
minimum back garden space standards: "Private gardens should 
normally be positioned to the rear of the dwelling and have an average 
minimum depth of 11.5 m. Ideally a range of garden sizes should be 
provided to cater for different family compositions, ages and interests." 
[Local Plan: Appendix 3]. At present it appears a number of units have 
worryingly small rear gardens.  
 
o Any car parking should be well-screened and where possible 
allow for flexible use dependent on demand. Large areas of surface car 
parking should be avoided, with successive spaces limited to a 
maximum of 4, with landscaped verges and tree planting breaking up 
areas of consecutive spaces. At present the location of the main car 
parking area is in a prominent location within the scheme and would be 
not only dominant within the development but highly visible from the 
road and main access point.  
 
o Where parking spaces are between dwellings, they should be 
set back from the primary frontage.  
 
o The outdoor storage of bins and bike stores should be designed 
in from the outset, to ensure that they are in practical and functional 
locations within the plots. With this in mind, we would expect to see 
integrated or well-designed bin storage, which is well-screened and 
does not dominate residential amenity space. 
  
o The proposed extension to the footpath along Tring Road 
should continue the full extent of the site boundary, providing 
pedestrian connection to the towpath. 
  
o The central area of the development is currently dominated by 
vehicle infrastructure and at present there do not appear to be any 

Page 218



pedestrian footpaths within the development. Whilst the access road 
only serves a small number of units, we would expect to see some sort 
of provision for pedestrian movement across the site. This should 
enable pedestrians to move safely from the car parking areas, to 
access homes and to connect into the wider footpath and towpath 
connections. 
 
o The appearance and design of the proposed units should 
respond to and reflect local existing and future character of 
neighbouring areas. The appearance of the buildings should be of a 
high-quality, employing brickwork detailing, a subtle mix of materials, 
and a coherence across the site. 
 
Further comment 
 
Having reviewed the latest revisions to the scheme I have compiled the 
following, in summary, they have generally responded to the majority of 
previous comments which is welcomed:  
 
o It appears there are elements of play-on-the-way which are all 
welcomed. The appearance and proposed materials should be 
conditioned with any decision to ensure they are of a high quality;  
o The introduction of the link to the towpath is welcomed and 
supported;  
o The integrated cycle stores, located at the front of the dwellings, 
immediately adjacent to the primary entrances are considered to be 
appropriate and acceptable from a design perspective. This will 
encourage and promote sustainable choices through design.   
o The revisions to the layout are acceptable from a design 
perspective. With greater spacing between units 3no and 4no it has 
created a more functional and practical space, which is supported. 
  
o The shared bin storage is also considered to be an 
improvement, however, in this prominent location, in close proximity to 
the main entrance from Tring Road, the design and materials will be 
important to ensure this is an attractive feature.   
  
Generally, we welcome the revisions to the scheme and consider them 
to be an overall improvement to the application. Sample materials will 
need to be conditioned to ensure high-quality appearance that 
responds to the sites context. 
 

Hertfordshire Property 
Services (HCC) 

I am writing in response to the above planning application insofar as it 
raises issues in connection with minerals and waste matters. Should 
the Borough Council be minded to permit this Full application, a number 
of detailed matters should be given careful consideration.  
  
Minerals  
  
In relation to minerals, the site is not located within the 'Sand and 
Gravel Belt' as identified in Hertfordshire County Council's Minerals 
Local Plan 2002 - 2016, adopted 2007. The Sand and Gravel Belt is a 
geological area that spans across the southern part of the county and 
contains the most concentrated deposits of sand and gravel throughout 
Hertfordshire. BGS data does not identify superficial sand and gravel 

Page 219



deposits on the site and the council therefore has no mineral concerns.
   
Waste  
  
Government policy seeks to ensure that all planning authorities take 
responsibility for waste management. This is reflected in the County 
Council's adopted waste Development Plan Documents (DPDs). In 
particular, these documents seek to promote the sustainable 
management of waste in the county and encourage Local Planning 
Authorities to have regard to the potential for minimising waste 
generated by development.  
  
The National Planning Policy for Waste (October 2014) sets out the 
following:  
  
'When determining planning applications for non-waste development, 
local planning authorities should, to the extent appropriate to their 
responsibilities, ensure that:  
  
the likely impact of proposed, non-waste related development on 
existing waste management facilities, and on sites and areas allocated 
for waste management, is acceptable and does not prejudice the 
implementation of the waste hierarchy and/or the efficient operation of 
such facilities;  
new, non-waste development makes sufficient provision for waste 
management and promotes good design to secure the integration of 
waste management facilities with the rest of the development and, in 
less developed areas, with the local landscape. This includes providing 
adequate storage facilities at residential premises, for example by 
ensuring that there is sufficient and discrete provision for bins, to 
facilitate a high quality, comprehensive and frequent household 
collection service;  
the handling of waste arising from the construction and operation of 
development maximises reuse/recovery opportunities, and minimises 
off-site disposal.'  
  
The policies in the adopted Waste Core Strategy and Development 
Management Policies DPD (2012) that relate to this proposal, and 
which must be considered by the Local Planning Authority in 
determining the application, include Policy 1: Strategy for the Provision 
for Waste Management Facilities (namely the penultimate paragraph of 
the policy) and Policy 12: Sustainable Design, Construction and 
Demolition.  
  
Many of the policy requirements can be met through the imposition of 
planning conditions.  
  
As a general point, built development should have regard to the overall 
infrastructure required to support it, including where appropriate a 
sufficient number of waste storage areas that should be integrated 
accordingly and facilitate the separate storage of recyclable wastes. 
  
Waste Policy 12: Sustainable Design, Construction and Demolition 
requires all relevant construction projects to be supported by a Site 
Waste Management Plan (SWMP).  

Page 220



  
The Waste Planning Authority would expect to see a SWMP prepared 
to support this project. The SWMP must be prepared and agreed in 
consultation with the Waste Planning Authority prior to commencement 
of the development. The SWMP must be implemented throughout the 
duration of the development, from initial site preparation works, through 
to final completion of the construction phase, and during the operational 
phase of the proposed development.  
 
By preparing a SWMP prior to commencement, early decisions can be 
made relating to the management of waste arisings and building 
supplies made from recycled and secondary materials can be sourced, 
to help alleviate the demand for primary materials such as virgin sand 
and gravel. Early planning for waste arisings will help to establish what 
types of containers/skips are required for the project and when 
segregation would be best implemented for various waste streams. It 
will also help in determining the costs of removing waste from the site. 
  
As a minimum, the SWMP should include the following:  
  
Project and People  
  
Identification of the client  
Identification of the Principal Contractor  
Identification of the person who drafted the SWMP  
Location of the site  
An estimated cost of the project  
Declaration that the client and contractor will comply with the 
requirements of Duty of care that materials will be handled efficiently 
and waste managed appropriately (Section 34 of Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 and Environmental Protection (Duty of Care) Regs 
1991)  
  
Estimating Waste  
  
A description of the types of waste that are expected to arise on site 
(recorded through the use of 6-digit European Waste Catalogue codes) 
and an estimated quantity for each of the types (in tonnes)  
Waste management actions for each waste type (i.e., will the waste be 
re-used, recycled, recovered or disposed)  
Space for Later Recordings  
Space for the recording of actual figures against the estimated figures
  
Space for the recording and identification of those responsible for 
removing the waste from site and details of the sites they will be taking it 
too  
Space to record explanations for any deviations from what has been set 
out in the SWMP, including explanations for differences in actual waste 
arisings compared to the estimates  
  
If a SWMP is not produced at the planning application stage, the Waste 
Planning Authority requests the following pre-commencement condition 
be attached to any approved planning application:  
  
'Condition: Before the commencement of the development hereby 

Page 221



permitted, a Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP) for the for the 
site/each phase of the development (use as necessary) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Waste Planning Authority. The SWMP should aim 
to reduce the amount of waste produced on site and should contain 
information including estimated types and quantities of waste to arise 
from construction and waste management actions for each waste type. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
SWMP for the duration of the development hereby permitted.  
  
Reason: To promote the sustainable management of waste arisings 
and contribution towards resource efficiency, in accordance with Policy 
12 of the Hertfordshire Waste Core Strategy and Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document (2012).' 
 

Hertfordshire Fire & 
Rescue (HCC) 

Following information sent to us from Highways Agency, with regards to 
the above planning application, we have examined the drawings and 
note that the provision for access appears to be adequate to comply 
with the building regulations 2010. I have been in touch with our Water 
Officer who has already made comment on this application with regards 
to the request for hydrants.  
   
We have no further comments at this stage. 
 
This will require a condition for the provision and installation of fire 
hydrants, at no cost to the county council, or fire and rescue services. 
This is to ensure there are adequate water supplies available for use in 
the event of an emergency. 
 

Lead Local Flood 
Authority (HCC) 

Thank you for your consultation regarding the above application 
(received 22 September 2023) for the full planning permission for the 
construction of 11 dwellings including the creation of a new vehicular 
access, parking, and landscaping. We have reviewed the application as 
submitted and wish to make the following comments. 
  
We object to this planning application in the absence of an acceptable 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA), Drainage Strategy and supporting 
information relating to: 
  
o Increased vulnerability of use on a greenfield site which has not fully 
assessed the risk of flooding the development may have elsewhere 
from the drainage scheme.  
o Not complying with NPPF, PPG or local policies (Policy CS29 
Sustainable Design and Construction, Policy CS26 Green 
infrastructure, policy C231 Water Management).  
 
Reason  
 
To prevent flooding in accordance with National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraph 167, 169 and 174 by ensuring the satisfactory 
management of local flood risk, surface water flow paths, storage and 
disposal of surface water from the site in a range of rainfall events and 
ensuring the SuDS proposed operates as designed for the lifetime of 
the development.  
 

Page 222



We will consider reviewing this objection if the issues highlighted on the 
accompanying Planning Application Technical Response document are 
adequately addressed. Please be aware that the reasons for objection, 
highlighted on the technical response are mainly due to the Flood Risk 
Assessment referring to preliminary design. For a full planning 
application all SuDS features, four pillars of SuDS and discharge 
locations should be final and confirmed within the layout of the 
development. 
 
Informative  
 
In December 2022 it was announced FEH rainfall data has been 
updated to account for additional long term rainfall statistics and new 
data. As a consequence, the rainfall statistics used for surface water 
modelling and drainage design has changed. In some areas there is a 
reduction in comparison to FEH2013 and some places an increase (see 
FEH22 - User Guide (hydrosolutions.co.uk)). Any new planning 
applications that have not already commissioned an FRA or drainage 
strategy to be completed, should use the most up to date FEH22 data. 
Other planning applications using FEH2013 rainfall, will be accepted in 
the transition period up to Autumn 2023. This includes those 
applications that are currently at and advanced stage or have already 
been submitted to the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of 
doubt the use of FSR and FEH1999 data has been superseded by FEH 
2013 and 2022 and therefore, use in rainfall simulations are not 
accepted. 
 
Informative to the LPA 
  
Please note if, you the Local Planning Authority review the application 
and decide to grant planning permission, you should notify the us, the 
Lead Local Flood Authority, by email at 
FRMConsultations@hertfordshire.gov.uk. 
 

Crime Prevention Design 
Advisor 

Thank you for sight of planning application Reference: 23/02195/MFA, 
Proposal: Construction of 11 dwellings including the creation of a new 
vehicular access, parking, and landscaping Address: Land West of 
Tring Road Tring Road Wellstone Tring Hertfordshire  
   
In relation to security, footpaths at the rear of properties have been 
proven to generate crime. I  would therefore ask that the footpath is: 
   
 . as wide and straight as possible   
 . well lit ( if possible )  
 . devoid of hiding places   
   
Although this is a small development in a low crime area, I would always 
advise building to the police minimum security standard Secured by 
Design.  
 

Historic Environment 
(HCC) 

Thank you for consulting us on the above application.  
  
The proposed development area is located to the north of Area of 
Archaeological Significance No13, as identified in the Local Plan. This 
notes that Wilstone is a village of medieval origin, first documented in 

Page 223



1220. The main focus of the early settlement appears to have been 
focused around Chapel End. Earthworks of ridge and furrow surround 
the village, the closest to the proposed development area being present 
on the recreation ground to the west [Historic Environment Record no. 
18721]. There is evidence supporting medieval occupation from sites in 
the village such as the timber-framed buildings of Wilstone Great Farm 
[HER 10796]. The Half Moon public house [HER 13394] dates from the 
early post-medieval period.  
   
No evidence of earlier use of the proposed development area has been 
identified, and the Archaeological and Heritage Assessment 
(Environmental Dimension Partnership Ltd, 2023) submitted with the 
planning application, while recognising that few archaeological 
investigations have been carried out in the general area, assesses its 
potential to contain archaeological remains (heritage assets) of 
medieval and earlier date as low. The area has been shown on historic 
mapping to have been used as agricultural land throughout the 
post-medieval and modern periods. There is, therefore, the possibility 
that earlier remains will survive below the ground, and if so, they may be 
well preserved.  
  
I believe that the proposed development is such that it should be 
regarded as having the potential to have an impact on heritage assets 
of archaeological interest, and I recommend that the following 
provisions be made, should you be minded to grant consent:  
  
1. the archaeological field evaluation of the proposed development 
area, via trial trenching, prior to development commencing;   
  
2. such appropriate mitigation measures indicated as necessary 
by that evaluation. These may include:  
a. the preservation of any remains in situ, if warranted,  
b. appropriate archaeological excavation of any remains before 
any development commences on the site, with provisions for 
subsequent analysis and publication of results,  
c. archaeological monitoring of the groundworks of the 
development (also including a contingency for the preservation or 
further investigation of any remains then encountered),  
d. such other provisions as may be necessary to protect the 
archaeological interests of the site;   
  
3. the analysis of the results of the archaeological work with 
provision for the subsequent production of a report and an archive, and 
the publication of the results;  
  
4. such other provisions as may be necessary to protect the 
archaeological interests of the site;   
  
I believe that these recommendations are both reasonable and 
necessary to provide properly for the likely archaeological implications 
of this development proposal. I further believe that these 
recommendations closely follow the policies included within Policy 16 
(para. 205, etc.) of the National Planning Policy Framework, and 
relevant guidance contained in the National Planning Practice 
Guidance, and in the Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in 

Page 224



Planning Note 2: Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in the 
Historic Environment (Historic England, 2015).  
  
In this case three appropriately worded conditions on any planning 
consent would be sufficient to provide for the level of investigation that 
this proposal warrants. I suggest the following wording:  
  
A No demolition/development shall take place/commence until an 
Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation has been submitted to 
and approved by the local planning authority in writing.  The scheme 
shall include an assessment of archaeological significance and 
research questions; and:  
1. The programme and methodology of site investigation and 
recording  
2. The programme and methodology of site investigation and 
recording as required by the evaluation  
3. The programme for post investigation assessment  
4. Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and 
recording  
5. Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the 
analysis and records of the site investigation  
6. Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and 
records of the site investigation  
7. Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to 
undertake the works set out within the Archaeological Written Scheme 
of Investigation.  
   
B  The demolition/development shall take place/commence in 
accordance with the programme of archaeological works set out in the 
Written Scheme of Investigation   
approved under condition (A)  
  
C The development shall not be occupied/used until the site 
investigation and post investigation assessment has been completed in 
accordance with the programme set out in the Written Scheme of 
Investigation approved under condition (A) and the provision made for 
analysis and publication where appropriate.  
  
If planning consent is granted, I will be able to provide detailed advice 
concerning the requirements for the investigations, and to provide 
information on professionally  accredited archaeological contractors 
who may be able to carry out the necessary work.  
  
I hope that you will be able to accommodate the above 
recommendations.    
  
Please do not hesitate to contact me should you require any further 
information or clarification. 
 
Further comments 
 
ARCHAEOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS 
  
Thank you for consulting this office on the above application. 
  

Page 225



Please note that the following advice is based on the policies contained 
in the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
Our advice on this application remains the same as that given in Alison 
Tinniswood's letter P04/23/2195-1, dated 30/10/2023: 
  
'The proposed development area is located to the north of Area of 
Archaeological Significance No13, as identified in the Local Plan. This 
notes that Wilstone is a village of medieval origin, first documented in 
1220. The main focus of the early settlement appears to have been 
focused around Chapel End. Earthworks of ridge and furrow surround 
the village, the closest to the proposed development area being present 
on the recreation ground to the west [Historic Environment Record no. 
18721]. There is evidence supporting medieval occupation from sites in 
the village such as the timber-framed buildings of Wilstone Great Farm 
[HER 10796]. The Half Moon public house [HER 13394] dates from the 
early post-medieval period.  
 
No evidence of earlier use of the proposed development area has been 
identified, and the Archaeological and Heritage Assessment 
(Environmental Dimension Partnership Ltd, 2023) submitted with the 
planning application, while recognising that few archaeological 
investigations have been carried out in the general area, assesses its 
potential to contain archaeological remains (heritage assets) of 
medieval and earlier date as low. The area has been shown on historic 
mapping to have been used as agricultural land throughout the 
post-medieval and modern periods. There is, therefore, the possibility 
that earlier remains will survive below the ground, and if so, they may be 
well preserved.  
 
I believe that the proposed development is such that it should be 
regarded as having the potential to have an impact on heritage assets 
of archaeological interest, and I recommend that the following 
provisions be made, should you be minded to grant consent:  
 
1. the archaeological field evaluation of the proposed development 
area, via trial trenching, prior to development commencing;  
 
2. such appropriate mitigation measures indicated as necessary by that 
evaluation. These may include:  
 
a. the preservation of any remains in situ, if warranted,  
b. appropriate archaeological excavation of any remains before any 
development commences on the site, with provisions for subsequent 
analysis and publication of results,  
c. archaeological monitoring of the groundworks of the development 
(also including a contingency for the preservation or further 
investigation of any remains then encountered),  
d. such other provisions as may be necessary to protect the 
archaeological interests of the site;  
 
3. the analysis of the results of the archaeological work with provision 
for the subsequent production of a report and an archive, and the 
publication of the results;  
 

Page 226



4. such other provisions as may be necessary to protect the 
archaeological interests of the site; '  
 
I believe that these recommendations are both reasonable and 
necessary to provide properly for the likely archaeological implications 
of this development proposal. I further believe that these 
recommendations closely follow the policies included within Policy 16 
(para. 211, etc.) of the National Planning Policy Framework, and 
relevant guidance contained in the National Planning Practice 
Guidance, and in the Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in 
Planning Note 2: Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in the 
Historic Environment (Historic England, 2015). 
  
If planning consent is granted, I will be able to provide detailed advice 
concerning the requirements for the investigations, and to provide 
information on professionally accredited archaeological contractors 
who may be able to carry out the necessary work.  
 
Please do not hesitate to contact me should you require any further 
information or clarification. 
 

Education (HCC) Hertfordshire County Council's Growth & Infrastructure Unit do not have 
any comments to make in relation to financial contributions required by 
the Hertfordshire County Council's Guide to Developer Infrastructure 
Contributions 2021. 
 
Notwithstanding this, we reserve the right to seek Community 
Infrastructure Levy contributions towards the provision of infrastructure 
through the appropriate channels. 
 
We therefore have no further comment on behalf of these services, 
although you may be contacted separately from our Highways 
Department. 
 
PLEASE NOTE: Please consult the Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue 
Service Water Officer directly at water@hertfordshire.gov.uk, who may 
request the provision of fire hydrants through a planning condition.  
 
I trust the above is of assistance if you require any further information 
please contact  the Growth & Infrastructure Unit. 
 

Environmental And 
Community Protection 
(DBC) 

Regarding the above planning application, I have reviewed the 
additionally submitted information and the recommendations for land 
contamination planning conditions within the memo sent out to you on 
the 13/10/2023 have not change.  
  
Pollution Team 
   
With reference to the above planning application, please be advised the 
Environmental Health Pollution Team have no objections or concerns 
re noise, odour or air quality. However I would  recommend the 
application is subject to informatives for waste management, 
construction working hours with Best Practical Means for dust, Air 
Quality and Invasive and Injurious Weeds which we respectfully request 
to be included in the decision notice.    

Page 227



  
Working Hours Informative  
 
Contractors and sub-contractors must have regard to BS 5228-2:2009 
"Code of Practice for Noise Control on Construction and Open Sites" 
and the Control of Pollution Act 1974.  
  
As a guideline, the following hours for noisy works and/or deliveries 
should be observed: Monday to Friday, 7.30am to 5:30pm, Saturday, 
8am to 1pm, Sunday and bank holidays - no noisy work allowed.  
  
Where permission is sought for works to be carried out outside the 
hours stated, applications in writing must be made with at least seven 
days' notice to Environmental and Community Protection Team 
ecp@dacorum.gov.uk or The Forum, Marlowes, Hemel Hempstead, 
HP1 1DN.  Local residents that may be affected by the work shall also 
be notified in writing, after approval is received from the LPA or 
Environmental Health.  
  
Works audible at the site boundary outside these hours may result in 
the service of a Notice restricting the hours as above.  Breach of the 
notice may result in prosecution and an unlimited fine and/or six months 
imprisonment.  
  
Construction Dust Informative  
  
Dust from operations on the site should be minimised by spraying with 
water or by carrying out of other such works that may be necessary to 
supress dust. Visual monitoring of dust is to be carried out continuously 
and Best Practical Means (BPM) should be used at all times. The 
applicant is advised to consider the control of dust and emissions from 
construction and demolition Best Practice Guidance, produced in 
partnership by the Greater London Authority and London Councils. 
  
Waste Management Informative  
 
Under no circumstances should waste produced from construction work 
be incinerated on site. This includes but is not limited to pallet stretch 
wrap, used bulk bags, building materials, product of demolition and so 
on. Suitable waste management should be in place to reduce, reuse, 
recover or recycle waste product on site, or dispose of appropriately. 
  
Air Quality Informative 
  
As an authority we are looking for all development to support 
sustainable travel and air quality improvements as required by the 
NPPF. We are looking to minimise the cumulative impact on local air 
quality that ongoing development has, rather than looking at 
significance. This is also being encouraged by DEFRA.  
  
As a result as part of the planning application I would recommend that 
the applicant be asked to propose what measures they can take as part 
of this new development, to support sustainable travel and air quality 
improvements. These measures may be conditioned through the 
planning consent if the proposals are acceptable.   

Page 228



  
A key theme of the NPPF is that developments should enable future 
occupiers to make "green" vehicle choices and (paragraph 35) 
"incorporates facilities for charging plug-in and other ultra-low emission 
vehicles". Therefore an electric vehicle recharging provision rate of 1 
vehicle charging point per 10 spaces (unallocated parking) is expected. 
To prepare for increased demand in future years, appropriate cable 
provision should be included in the scheme design and development, in 
agreement with the local authority.  
  
Please note that with regard to EV charging for residential units with 
dedicated parking, we are not talking about physical charging points in 
all units but the capacity to install one. The cost of installing appropriate 
trunking/ducting and a dedicated fuse at the point of build is miniscule, 
compared to the cost of retrofitting an EV charging unit after the fact, 
without the relevant base work in place.   
  
In addition, mitigation in regards to NOx emissions should be 
addressed in that all gas fired boilers to meet a minimum standard of 40 
mg NOx/Kwh or consideration of alternative heat sources.  
  
Invasive and Injurious Weeds - Informative  
Weeds such as Japanese Knotweed, Giant Hogsweed and Ragwort 
are having a detrimental impact on our environment and may injure 
livestock. Land owners must not plant or otherwise cause to grow in the 
wild any plant listed on schedule 9 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981. Developers and land owners should therefore undertake an 
invasive weeds survey before development commences and take the 
steps necessary to avoid weed spread. Further advice can be obtained 
from the Environment Agency website at 
https://www.gov.uk/japanese-knotweed-giant-hogweed-and-other-inva
sive-plants  
 

Crime Prevention Design 
Advisor 

Thank you for sight of planning application 23/02195/FUL, Construction 
of 9 dwellings including the creation of a new vehicular access, parking, 
and landscaping . Land West of Tring Road Tring Road Wilstone Tring 
Hertfordshire  
   
In relation to security and crime prevention the superseded layout is 
significantly better.   
   
I would ask that the dwellings are built to the police security standard 
Secured by Design 
 

Affinity Water - Three 
Valleys Water PLC 

Affinity Water has no comments to make regarding planning application 
23/02195/FUL.  
 

Thames Water Thank you for consulting Thames Water on this planning application. 
Having reviewed the details, we have no comments to make at this 
time.  
  
Should the details of the application change, we would welcome the 
opportunity to be re-consulted. 
 

Page 229



Refuse, Cupid Green 
Depot 

There should be space to store 3 x wheeled bins and a curb side caddie 
and space to present 2 x wheeled bins and the curb side caddie outside 
the boundary nearest the road on collection day. The collection vehicle 
is a 26t rigid freighter. 
 

Tring Rural Parish 
Council 

Tring Rural Parish Council do not object to this application. The focus of 
the, council's concerns is invariably flooding and drainage. However, it 
is noted that this proposed development site is entirely within zone 1 for 
flood risk, as is the immediate surrounding area. Furthermore the 
council is not aware of any flooding issues in the immediate vicinity. The 
council leave it to the expertise of the planning officers to consider the 
comprehensive Flood Risk Assessment, although it is understood that 
such an assessment was not strictly necessary as the site is entirely 
zone 1. 
 

UK Power Networks Please note there are HV and LV overhead cables on the site running 
within close proximity to the proposed development. Prior to 
commencement of work accurate records should be obtained from our 
Plan Provision Department at UK Power Networks, Fore Hamlet, 
Ipswich, IP3 8AA.   
  
All works should be undertaken with due regard to Health & Safety 
Guidance notes HS(G)47 Avoiding Danger from Underground services. 
This document is available from local HSE offices.   
  
Should any diversion works be necessary as a result of the 
development then enquiries should be made to our Customer 
Connections department. The address is UK Power Networks, 
Metropolitan house, Darkes Lane, Potters Bar, Herts, EN6 1AG. 
 

 
APPENDIX B: NEIGHBOUR RESPONSES 
 
Number of Neighbour Comments 
 

Neighbour 
Consultations 
 

Contributors Neutral Objections Support 

28 15 1 14 0 

 
Neighbour Responses 
 

Address 
 

Comments 

67 Tring Road  
Wilstone  
Tring  
Hertfordshire  
HP23 4PE  
 

My objections are for the following reasons:-  
  
- The direct impact this will have on the SSSI site at Ashridge.  
- Loss of a natural habitat for wildlife.  
- The area is prone to significant flooding.  
- Local amenities are already at bursting point (Doctors and Schools). 
- The impact on the safety to walkers.  
- There is already considerable over-development within Wilstone. 
 
Further to previous comments made we would like to add the 

Page 230



following:-  
  
- The previous development plan allowed for 2-Bed houses which have 
now been removed. The village and local area is in desperate need of 
'affordable-housing' and this new proposal provides none for the 
younger generation and this is inexcusable. Time and time again 
developments are passed with no thought for the young house buyers. 
Dacorum, please take a stand on this urgent matter that needs to be 
addressed. 
 

90 Tring Road  
Wilstone  
Tring  
Hertfordshire  
HP23 4PD  
 

90 Tring Road, Wilstone   
   
OBJECT  
  
Planning application 23/02195/MFA Proposal: construction of 11 new 
houses, land off Tring Road.  
  
This application is contrary to policies CS1, CS2, CS7, CS10, and 
CS20 of the core strategy. 
 
This proposed development is on the opposite side of the road to our 
bungalow at 90 Tring Road. Our bungalow is single story.   
  
Wilstone has a good mix of all age groups. The village has no school. 
The children use the school bus to travel to both primary and secondary 
school which the secondary school is over subscribed. In 2022 Tring 
secondary school had 480 applicants for year 7 with only 240 place 
available. Due to further development in Tring there will be further 
pressure for school places.  
  
This local shop is the hub of our community. A large number of 
volunteers help run the shop along with many local teenagers as part of 
their D of E award scheme.   
  
Wilstone has had its fair share of new housing:   
  
Wilstone has approx. 280 homes and since 2012 has seen the 
approval of 74 new homes meaning an increase of over 25% of the 
entire village. This does not include the 28 further homes by Rectory 
Homes which is currently with planning and not yet granted.  
  
Planning application: 4/01533/12/MFA - Dixon's Wharf, Dixon's Gap, 
Wilstone. Change of use from B1 (business) to C3 (dwelling house) 
and construction of 21 dwellings. 
 
Granted permission 08/11/12 a previously developed location within 
the designated rural area".  
  
2. Planning application: 4/02833/16/MFA - Victory House, Wilstone 
Bridge, Tring Road 
  
Demolition of existing buildings and construction of 8 new homes.   
Granted permission 16/03/17. Planning officer's report to committee 
highlighted the brownfield status of the site and to grant permission 
would "improve the appearance of a previously developed, derelict 

Page 231



site".  
  
3. Planning application: 4/01331/17/FUL - 17 Tring Road, Wilstone  
Demolition of house and garage and construction of 3, 3 bedroom 
dwellings 
 
Granted permission 14/09/17.   
  
4. Application 4/02469/18/FUL demolition of agricultural barn and 
replace single dwelling. Granted Jan 2020  
  
5. Application 19/03229/FUL demolition of garage and construction of a 
single dwelling. Granted Jan 2020  
  
6. Application 4/01803/18/FUL Construction of 3 bed dwelling on 
garden land behind Tring Road.  
  
7. Application 21/00854/FUL Demolish storage yard and construct 6 
new homes outside village boundary. Granted and completed currently 
homes on the market.  
  
8. Current application 20/003864/FUL land off 36-44 Tring Road build 6 
new homes on behalf of Dacorum Council. With planning officer  
  
Traffic through village  
  
The Glanville transport report on file dated 2019 trip rates only apply to 
estimated households in the village.  
  
Trip rates household privately owned  
8-9am peak inbound 0.085 outbound 0.447 two-way 0.532  
17.00 -18.00 inbound 0.404 outbound 0.170 two-way 0.574  
daily 7am-19.00pm 2.313 inbound outbound 2.283 two-way 4.596  
  
trip rates traffic generation 15 houses  
  
8-9am inbound 1 outbound 7 two-way 8  
17-18.00pm inbound 6 outbound 3 two-way 9  
7am-19.00pm inbound 35 outbound 34 two-way 69  
  
Tring Rural Parish Council carried out their own survey on village traffic 
also in 2019 which greatly differs from Tring Trial villages survey. 
  
Tring Rural Parish Council in 2019 shows that between 7-10am 408 
vehicles passed through the village averaging 1 every 26.4 seconds of 
which 167 (40.9%) exceeded the speed limit with the highest recorded 
speed 55-60mph.  
 
Between 3-6pm 448 vehicles passed through the village at a rate of 1 
every 24 seconds of which 171 (38.2%) were speeding with the highest 
recorded speeds in 40-45mph. 
 
1852 vehicles were recorded in a 24 hour period. (Graph forwarded to 
planner showing traffic from 00.00 to 23.00)  
  

Page 232



Wingrave Road which Tring Road joins at the T junction over the canal 
bridge between 7am-7pm a total of 3805 vehicles passed. During a 24 
hour period 4426 vehicles passed.  
  
Traffic/ junction  
  
Living at the junction of Tring Road and Grange Road I know first-hand 
how dangerous this junction along with Tring Road is.  
  
Mostly we reverse out of our driveway due to its layout and be on high 
alert. Traffic from both directions travel at speed and especially from 
around the bend. The peak time volumes can have bursts of 
continuous traffic. The speed limits are in the main not observed by cut 
through traffic. Last summer cars travelling in opposite directions 
damaged each side of their cars as the view at this bend is obscure 
until you are near to the bend.  
  
Effects on the Environment  
  
Rectory Homes has paused building on 28 homes which is opposite 
this application. This is due to the economic climate and the Chiltern 
Beechwoods area of Conservation. This site currently has seven 
homes built on site which are now boarded up and hopes to reopen the 
site in autumn 2024.  
  
The effects of this building site has had a big impact on the village. All 
vehicles over 10 ton have to access the site through the village as the 
canal bridge has a weight restriction off 10 ton. Tring Road leading into 
the village the majority of the grass verges have eroded away along 
with the road due to these heavy vehicles. The road through the village 
is very narrow. The terraced homes before the village hall have only a 
very small frontage and a number of these houses have young 
children. There is no protection against cars or heavy laden vehicles as 
there is no pavement from the village hall through the village right up to 
New Road. It is becoming more increasingly difficult at times to 
manoeuvre around the bend at the village hall.  
 
The road has also narrowed by The Forge in the centre of the village as 
cars now park on Tring Road which vehicles have to give way to 
oncoming traffic. The village roadway is not suitable for constant 
movement of heavy vehicles.  
  
If this build goes ahead along with Rectory Homes building work we will 
be looking at building work in our small village continuing for a number 
of years possibly 2030. Can the village sustain this environmentally 
without damage to the village considering all building materials will 
have to come through the village to reach the site due to the 10 ton 
restriction at the canal bridge. I have also witnessed a number of over 
10 ton vehicles ignoring the restrictions and using the bridge.  
  
Current building  
  
Rectory has also applied for a further 28 homes on land behind the 
current site which is with planning. That would be in total 56 new homes 
accessing Tring Road with this application of 11 a total of 67 new 

Page 233



homes.  
  
Wilstone currently has a number of homes for sale which have been on 
the market for more than six months. Do we really need a further 11 
homes?   
  
What Wilstone needs is new affordable homes for young people who 
have lived in the village all their life and want to remain in the village. A 
good example would be the 6 new family homes Dacorum Council 
have just completed in Grange Road, homes for young families. We do 
not need new homes in price ranges of approx 700k just affordable 
homes. 
 

71 Tring Road  
Wilstone  
Tring  
Hertfordshire  
HP23 4PE  
 

We live at Nr 71 Tring Road and our property makes up the third 
boundary to the proposed development and we have the flowing 
reasons for objecting to the scheme.  
  
The properties along this side of Tring Road are bungalows and yet you 
are proposing houses which is not in keeping with the rest of the 
properties along Tring Road before the canal.  
  
In your brochure you state there is significant shortfall of market and 
affordable housing in the Dacorum and that is why you are putting 
forward this scheme. The proposed design is for affordable housing 
based on a design to match the properties in Wilstone Wharf. These 
properties sold for between £620 and £725 thousand. How can this be 
classified as affordable even as shared ownership.  
  
The village has only got a part time voluntary village shop, there are no 
schools within the village or doctors. The schools within the catchment 
area are already struggling to accommodate the growing population of 
Tring and the surrounding villages. The doctors surgeries are under 
staffed and are struggling to accommodate existing patients. This 
development will only add to these problems.  
  
This is a valuable ecological area, it supports, deer, foxes and a vast 
variety of birdlife and other animals and plants. Although they may not 
be endangered at the moment, but if we continue to remove their 
habitat they will be.  
  
The land is part of the flood plain for the reservoirs at Marsworth, that is 
why the existing adjoining properties have had there levels increased. 
  
Currently the Rectory Homes site is for 28 properties (Now Stopped). 
They have also put plans in for a further 28 homes connecting to the 
stopped site. Across the canal 6 new dwellings have been built plus a 
further 6 houses have built along Grange Road. This is a total 40 new 
residential buildings which have been granted planning permission with 
a further 28 awaiting a decision within the last two years. With this 
proposed development of 11 homes this would bring the total new 
properties in this VILLAGE to 79. The current infrastructure (Drainage, 
Telecommunications and parking) cannot cope with the existing 
properties never alone the new properties.  
  
The entrance to the site is between the existing single track hump back 

Page 234



bridge over the canal and a narrow bend which has already got the 
access road for the Rectory Homes site of a possible 56 houses. With 
your proposed development of 11 homes this would make this 
congested area even worse. With this being a village in a rural setting 
this stretch of road has no footpath and is regularly used by dog 
walkers and ramblers joining the canal towpath and cyclist who have to 
regularly use the gate way of this land to avoid on-coming traffic. This is 
because it is only just wide enough for two cars to pass. If a bus or 
larger vehicle is using the road the on-coming vehicle has to wait in the 
passing bay this side of the bridge. With the additional vehicles from 
your development this only make the matters worse.  
  
Will this development be adopted by the local authority who will 
maintain the communal areas or will it remain the responsibility of the 
Canal and River Trust. If it is to remain under the control of the Canal 
and River Trust what assurance will we get that they will actually 
maintain these areas; as the current land has never been maintained in 
the 10 years we have lived here. In fact the hedge along Tring Road is 
now so overgrown it has reduced the already narrow road by at least 
600mm.  
  
Following the mitigation strategy set out by Dacorum Borough Council 
to Protect Ashridge Commons and Woods, what measures have been 
included within this proposed development. In the Mitigation statement 
any development of 10 or more homes is classified as a larger 
development the mitigation statement makes the following comment
  
Currently there is no SANG in place for larger developments outside 
the catchment area of Hemel Hempstead. This means that 
developments will not be able to proceed, unless they can bring 
forward their own SANG solution. 
 

12 Gilders  
Sawbridgeworth  
Sawbridgeworth  
CM21 0EF 

This site is suitable for the inclusion of integrated Swift bricks within the 
fabric of the new dwellings, which at present do not appear to include 
any biodiversity enhancements, other than a suggestion for e LEMP to 
be produced at a later stage  
  
Swift bricks conform to BS 42021:2022 and are universal as they 
provide nest cavities for a number of birds including four red-listed 
species of conservation concern: Swift, House Martin, Starling and 
House Sparrow, making inclusion a real biodiversity enhancement.
  
For this development Swift bricks would be ideally located high up on 
the north facing gable end of plots 8-10, away from windows.  
  
Bearing in mind the scale of the development and the lack of clarity in 
terms of biodiversity enhancements so far, I would suggest that Swift 
bricks are secured by way of a condition, the wording adapted from BS 
42021:2022: "no development shall take place until written details are 
approved by the LPA of the model and location of 4 integrated Swift 
bricks, such bricks to be fully installed prior to occupation and retained 
thereafter", in accordance with the NPPF  
  
Please do not make a pre-occupation condition as integrated bird 
boxes have to be installed at the construction stage and requiring 

Page 235



details after this has taken place is therefore not appropriate. 
 

4 Chapel Fields  
Wilstone  
Tring  
Hertfordshire  
HP23 4SL 

I object to this application because it would significantly increase traffic 
across the small canal bridge at the north of the village and along the 
high street. It would also mean turning a rural area into more of an 
urban sprawl and put further pressure on already stretched local 
services. Wilstone is a village and this development would damage its 
character and the existing community. There are many towns nearby 
where the developers could build these houses without impacting our 
existing and cherished way of life. In addition, further concreting over 
green space would increase rainfall run off adding to the already 
significant flooding issues, and put further pressure on drainage and 
effluent systems that are already overflowing. I urge the planning 
authorities to turn this down and ask the developers to focus on towns 
that can cope with more development - Wilstone already has 
development sites in progress that represent a 20% increase in homes 
and this has got to stop before the village is totally ruined and 
unrecognisable 
 

9 New Road  
Wilstone  
Tring  
Hertfordshire  
HP23 4NZ 

As this development is already adjacent to another large development 
(Rectory Homes) and accessible by the same inadequate road access, 
close to a small canal road bridge, without an alteration to the road 
access this creates a significant safety risk to pedestrians and other 
road users alike.   
  
In addition, Wilstone remains a small village with limited housing need. 
Two developments have recently been agreed to by the Planning 
Officer, one of which the developer (Rectory Homes) has since 
mothballed due to a lack of demand, and current housing value. If 
Dacorum Council is willing to allow developers to take this approach, 
despite the promise of affordable housing, it really should assess 
whether there is truly demand for further sustainable development in 
this small village.   
  
The housing volume being requested here is also highly limited, and 
what demand there is for housing in a small village, with limited public 
services, will be fully met by the Rectory Homes development (should it 
ever by completed). 
 

71 Tring Road  
Wilstone  
Tring  
Hertfordshire  
HP23 4PE 

We live at Nr 71 Tring Road and our property makes up the third 
boundary to the proposed development and we have the following 
reasons for objecting to the scheme.  
  
1) The properties along this side of Tring Road are bungalows and yet 
you are proposing houses which is not in keeping with the rest of the 
properties along Tring Road before the canal.  
  
2) In your original application it was stated that there is a shortfall of 
affordable housing in Dacorum and yet the proposed scheme has no 
affordable housing proposed. It also states that Wilstone is outside of 
the 'rural area' for the purposes of affordable housing, and yet we are 
surrounded on all boundaries by farming and a rural landscape. Also 
we fall under Tring Rural for Building Control, so to say we are not rural 
to me is incorrect and therefore the development is incorrect for the 

Page 236



needs of the council.  
  
3) In the original scheme the unit adjacent our property was at least 4 
-5m away from the red line boundary of the site with a blank wall facing 
us and the front of the house was orientated to look into the proposed 
site. In the planning statement you state you have reorientated and 
moved this unit further away from our property. In actual fact the rear 
corner of the house is within 2-3m of the red line boundary, the 
elevation facing us has now got two windows that can look into our 
property; also, the orientation of the house has the rear elevation 
looking into our property. In the planning statement it states these 
changes have been done to further protect our amenities, in actual fact 
they have made them worse.  
  
4) In the planning Statement it is stated there are 2 no two-bed, 6no 
three-bed and 3no three bed and that you will be providing 25.5 spaces 
although you only need to provide 20.4 spaces. The actual scheme 
proposed has the following accommodation schedule  
  
4No 3 bed 6-person houses  
3No 4 bed 6-person houses  
2No 4 bed 8 person houses  
  
There are 15 parking bays for units 1-7 and possibly 2/3 cars parking 
per plot for 8 & 9. This gives a total allocation of 21 parking spaces, yet 
there is the potential for 58 people with cars to live on the scheme. The 
village already has an issue with on and off-street parking which will 
only be made worse with the proposed scheme  
   
Clearly this Planning Statement isn't in full alignment with the proposed 
scheme so how can anything in it have any credibility to fact  
  
5) In the planning Statement it states that a footpath will be constructed 
from the southern side of the bellmouth and this would connect to the 
existing footpath. The drawings show the footpath stopping at the north 
side of the existing drainage ditch that runs along side our property, and 
there currently is no footpath outside the front of our property.  
  
6) Policy CS1 identifies Wilstone as a SMALL VILLAGE and allows 
developments in rural settlements which support the vitality and 
viability of local communities. With this and other pending applications 
will no longer be a small village. In the planning statement it states that 
the proposed development won't damage the existing character of the 
site and that the hedge along the north boundary will screen views into 
the site from the canal. However, the scheme is for contemporary 
houses which are totally out of character to the rest of the houses in the 
village except for the houses to the north of the canal which will be 
screened from new development and are therefore not connected.  
  
7) Under Policy CS2 planning statement they state that until recently 
the site was considered outside the defined settlement of Wilstone but 
because of the developments to the North and East of the site it can 
now be considered an infill site. The two sites north of the scheme were 
built on brown field sites and the site to the west is still awaiting a 
decision. Therefore, if it wasn't considered an infill site then why should 

Page 237



it be considered one now.  
  
8) Policy CS7 allows small scale development will be permitted in 
Aldbury, Long Marston and Wilstone. We already have 2 small scale 
schemes completed, we have a further larger scheme started and have 
2 further schemes in planning and this now makes three. I therefore say 
we have provided enough small-scale developments in this village and 
its time to say enough is enough to continually rip up green belt land. 
Ther are existing Brownfield sites within the Dacorum borough which 
should be developed before any consideration should be given to 
developments of green belt   
  
9) The village has only got a part time voluntary village shop, there are 
no schools within the village or doctors. The schools within the 
catchment area are already struggling to accommodate the growing 
population of Tring and the surrounding villages. The doctor's surgeries 
are under staffed and are struggling to accommodate existing patients. 
This development will only add to these problems.  
  
10) This is a valuable ecological area, it supports, deer, foxes and a 
vast variety of birdlife and other animals and plants. Although they may 
not be endangered at the moment, but if we continue to remove their 
habitat they will be.  
  
11) The land is part of the flood plain for the reservoirs at Marsworth, 
that is why the existing adjoining properties have had their levels 
increased.   
  
12) Currently the Rectory Homes site is for 28 properties (Now 
Stopped). They have also put plans in for a further 28 homes 
connecting to the stopped site at the junction of Tring a further nine 
self-build houses have been proposed. Across the canal 6 new 
dwellings have been built plus a further 6 houses have built along 
Grange Road. This is a total 40 new residential buildings which have 
been granted planning permission with a further 37 awaiting a decision 
within the last two years. With this proposed development of 9 homes 
this would bring the total new properties in this VILLAGE to 86. The 
current infrastructure (Drainage, Telecommunications and parking) 
cannot cope with the existing properties never alone the new 
properties.  
  
13) In the first application there was one vehicular access and egress 
from the site now the proposal has two vehicular access and egress 
points. These access and egress points are between the existing single 
track hump back bridge over the canal and a narrow bend which has 
already got the access road for the Rectory Homes site of a possible 56 
houses. With your proposed development of 9 homes this would make 
this congested area even worse.  
  
14) The original scheme allowed for dust carts to access the site 
leaving Tring Road free. However, the proposed scheme has the waste 
removal from Tring Road on a narrow and obscured bend which will 
leave both road users and the waste removal operatives vulnerable to 
accidents  
  

Page 238



15) With this being a village in a rural setting this stretch of road has no 
footpath and is regularly used by dog walkers and ramblers joining the 
canal towpath and cyclist, who have to regularly use the gate way of 
this land to avoid on-coming traffic. This is because it is only just wide 
enough for two cars to pass. If a bus or larger vehicle is using the road 
the on-coming vehicle has to wait in the passing bay this side of the 
bridge. With the additional vehicles from your development this only 
make the matters worse.  
  
16) On drawing L-400 softworks plan it shows the existing retained 
scrub (which also contains trees) will be retained and yet the drawing 
P20-553 SK01 rev P6 has the surface water drainage outfall including a 
swale going through this area of retained scrub. Therefore, the 
drainage scheme cannot be built the way they are intending.  
  
17) Will this development be adopted by the local authority who will 
maintain the communal areas or will it remain the responsibility of the 
Canal and River Trust. If it is to remain under the control of the Canal 
and River Trust what assurance will we get that they will actually 
maintain these areas; as the current land has never been maintained in 
the 10 years we have lived here. In fact, the hedge along Tring Road is 
now so overgrown it has reduced the already narrow road by at least 
600mm.  
  
18) Following the mitigation strategy set out by Dacorum Borough 
Council to Protect Ashridge Commons and Woods, what measures 
have been included within this proposed development. In the Mitigation 
statement any development of 10 or more homes is classified as a 
larger development the mitigation statement makes the following 
comment  
  
Currently there is no SANG in place for larger developments outside 
the catchment area of Hemel Hempstead. This means that 
developments will not be able to proceed, unless they can bring 
forward their own SANG solution.  
  
Although this scheme may only be 9 houses it has the potential for 58 
people to live in this area and it is footfall in the Ashridge Estate not 
house numbers. If this development was for 10 2 bed 4-person houses 
would fall under the restriction and would house 40 people and would 
therefore has less footfall effect on the area of concern.  
 

Councillor Smith-Wright As I am the Ward Councillor for Tring Rural I wondered if you could call 
me to discuss 23/02195/FUL as I have several concerns and am 
considering 'calling it in' for the reasons below.   
  
1. Hazardous Access and Increased Traffic: The proposed site access 
is situated close to a blind bend, posing significant safety risks for cars 
and pedestrians exiting the site. The proximity to the canal bridge 
further complicates this issue of traffic congestion. With the additional 
traffic from this development opposite at Rectory homes, it is highly 
likely that this area will experience unacceptable levels of congestion 
for a small village from the potential 54 household cars, as well as 
delivery vehicle and increased traffic in the immediate facility. Which I 
think is inappropriate and dangerous. The dependency on cars also 

Page 239



contradicts the Dacorum's sustainable plan.   
  
2. Canal Bridge Limitations: The canal bridge next to the development 
has a weight restriction and is already appears to be suffering from a 
degraded road surface. That infrastructure is ill-equipped to handle 
increased traffic, especially heavy vehicles.  
  
3. Flooding Risk and Water Management Issues: The proposed sites 
gardens are directly backing onto the canal that has been at 
dangerously high levels recently in the floods this area experienced. 
The Canal and River Trust is facing challenges in managing water 
levels locally, the canal at this point in Wilstone regularly tops over and 
cascades around the lock gate and the sides of the canal are often 
under water. And with the overflow and water release incidents of 
letting water out into the villages that The Canal & River trust carried 
out such few weeks ago - all these villages in Rural Tring are in danger 
of flooding, especially vulnerable homes such as these that would back 
onto the canal.  
  
4. Negative Impact on Immediate Local Residents: The residents of 
Dixons Wharf, face onto the development directly from the FRONT of 
their properties. There will be extensive light intrusion and noise 
pollution which will directly impact their rights. No 7 Dixons Wharf is 
especially close to the perimeter of the new build.   
  
5. Lack of Affordable Housing and Overdevelopment: Again, this area 
is being ambushed by developers building 9 unobtainable houses. Out 
of most people's reach. The absence of affordable housing in the plan 
should not be allowed, especially given the increase in the number of 
houses in Wilstone over the last few years. In the UK the average 
earnings are £30,000. So, people on that salary can afford a house for 
£280,00  (8 times their salary).  These houses will be over £600,000 + 
so will not be providing affordable houses for essential workers. Many 
of the expensive homes in Rural Tring such as Puttenham, Wilstone 
and Gubblecote have been left unsold. This development seems to 
contribute to overdevelopment without addressing local housing needs. 
  
  
6. Environmental Degradation: The proposed development site serves 
as an important green field soak away for Wilstone which is a medieval 
village of historical significance. The hedges must be preserved as 
flood prevention and eco systems to survive. The field is a flood 
prevention soak away, it is also an ancient natural habitat corridor for 
local wildlife, including bats, badgers, deer, and birds. Ducks and their 
chicks have for many years used this field to access routes to 
Marsworth Reservoir. The construction will destroy this nature ark 
impacting the local ecosystem significantly. Which would balance the 
eco system with Rectory homes opposite.   
  
7. Inadequate Amenities and Pedestrian Access: A part time shop run 
by locals, a pub on the brink of survival. There is very little to offer 
residents. The lack of a footpath from this site to the village forces 
residents to rely on cars, as the amenities do not support walking. This 
reliance on vehicles contradicts the desire for a village experience and 
increases carbon footprint. The best access to the village or the 

Page 240



playground on foot would be along the dangerous road, over the bridge 
and then along the towpath to the recreation ground.   
  
9. Water Drainage Concerns: Rectory Homes' opposite made 
modifications to water drainage which have already impacted the 
canal, with blocked ditches and waterlogged towpath leading to water 
seepage into the canal. The proposed development which is even 
closer and densely built could worsen these drainage issues. Attached 
is a photo of the new barns next to Dixons Wharf showing the hight 
water level. I see this development has planned a run-off for surface 
water into a pipe that will run straight into the canal. Another source of 
water into an already full canal system..   
  
10. Infrastructure & Design Concerns: This area frequently experiences 
power outages and has precarious overhead electrics. The current 
sewage system in Wilstone is full and additional housing could 
overburden these systems. The type of two story urban designed 
buildings in a cud de sac is out of keeping with the village. The 
next-door houses in Tring Road are bungalows with appropriately sized 
gardens. There 2 c inadequate car parking spaces per house with no 
extra parking for children's cars. Wilstone already has a parking issue. 
  
In conclusion, this additional development is a flood risk and is an 
excessive over development of a small plot of land, with a dangerous 
access, built on a flood soak away and natural habitat. This proposal 
offers few amenities and encourages a reliance on cars to access the 
essential services.   
  
Wilstone has had to shoulder its fair share of new developments. And 
while development is necessary for community growth, it fields 
unnecessary to pick a village apart and create a sprawl. These villages 
need to be preserved for the beauty they bring to residents and visitors; 
they are vulnerable because of the proximity to water. The Water table 
is very high in all these villages which is why they flood often.   
  
Whatever is built here must be balanced and in harmony with the rest of 
the village, sustainable, safe for pedestrians, well placed that benefits a 
village and is not be detrimental to the local bio diversity, environment 
and infrastructure.  
  
Further comments  
  
Thanks very much for the chat today and as discussed, I would like to 
confirm that I would like to call in 23/02195/FUL. 
 

The Old Packing Station
  
Station Road  
Long Marston Tring  
Hertfordshire  
HP23 4QS 

I have two concerns about this proposal:  
  
1 The first relates to the existing row of trees along the northern site 
boundary which runs alongside the canal towpath. The Tree Survey in 
the application documents raises a series of problems relating to these 
trees with recommendations regarding the actions required, but the 
application does not appear to clarify what work will actually be 
undertaken as part of the development. The issues raised are as 
follows:  
  

Page 241



- The row of 9 ash trees along this boundary are squashed together and 
many of them are multi-stemmed, having probably started out life as a 
hedge. As a result and through the lack of any 
maintenance/management, they are now overgrown and choking each 
other ('etiolated' as the Tree Survey puts it). They are around 6 storeys 
in height and overhang the canal, partially obstructing the towpath and 
forcing people to duck around them in places. They therefore need to 
be judiciously pruned (in width and height) to ensure their longer term 
health and to respect their immediate environs.  
- To varying degrees of severity, the trees are being attacked by ivy. 
According to the tree survey, the ivy needs to be severed at the base of 
each trunk/stem in order to kill it off and give the trees a chance of 
survival.  
- It seems the willow tree which is immediately adjacent to the Grade II 
Listed Wilstone Bridge has been periodically pollarded over time and 
according to the tree survey, now needs to be pollarded again. This is 
to avoid it causing structural damage to the bridge and address it's 
encroachment onto Tring Road and the towpath.  
  
In view of the above, it would be irresponsible to ignore the problems 
that have already been identified because when the proposed 
development is complete it would be extremely difficult to deal with 
them. The application should therefore be amended to confirm that the 
above work will be undertaken at the appropriate time or a condition 
attached to any approval to achieve the same objective.   
  
2 The second point relates to dwellings 8, 9 & 10 which present their 
back gardens to Tring Road. In the current proposal the substantial 
hedge along this boundary is to be removed, making way for an 
extension to the public footpath (which ideally should lead all the way to 
the bridge).  
  
If this is accepted in principle, then in my view these three new 
dwellings should be flipped around so their fronts face the road, to 
present a more inviting sense of arrival to the village. This would also 
be more respectful to the traditional pattern of existing the housing 
along the street as a whole.   
  
The negative effects of presenting backs onto key streets is widely 
accepted and it seems this point has already been raised by the 
Planning Officer. It has also been reinforced by the comments from the 
Conservation and Design Officer and it is surprising therefore that 
Dacorum's advice has not been heeded. 
 

 

Page 242



 
ITEM NUMBER: 5c 
 

24/00390/FHA Two storey front extension, second storey side extension and 
raising of the ridge height, single storey rear extension, alterations 
of windows, over cladding of first floor, internal remodelling, new 
external drive configuration and landscaping. 

Site Address: Chedworth, Hemp Lane, Wigginton, Tring, Herts, HP23 6HE 

Applicant/Agent: Mr Peter Bryant  Peter Knightley 

Case Officer: Elspeth Palmer 

Parish/Ward: Wigginton Parish Council Aldbury & Wigginton 

Referral to Committee: Due to contrary view of the Wigginton Parish Council 

 

1. RECOMMENDATION  
 
That planning permission be REFUSED. 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1  The development by nature of its siting, scale, bulk and design is considered to be 

contrary to CS6, CS11 and CS12 and would not be sympathetic to the surroundings 
in terms of local character, design, scale and visual impact and does not retain and 
protect features essential to the character and appearance of the village. 

 
2.2 The design, scale, bulk and materials of the proposal are out of character with the 

street scene and the Chilterns AONB. 
 
2.3 The proposal by nature of its size and location of fenestration will have a detrimental 

impact on neighbours in terms of visual intrusion and loss of privacy. 
 
2.4 The proposal is considered to be contrary to CS6, CS12, CS24, the NPPF and Saved 

Appendix 7. 
 
3. SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
3.1  The site is located on the southern side of Hemp Lane, towards the top of the hill and 

within the village of Wigginton. The site comprises a brick two storey detached 
dwelling which is part of a corridor of residential development with a simple character 
that exists on both sides of this part of Hemp Lane. 

 
3.2 The site has an existing vehicular access from Hemp Lane with a front garden and 

parking to the front of the dwelling.  The dwelling has a large rear garden which backs 
onto fields. 

 
4. PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 Two storey front extension, second storey side extension and raising of the ridge 

height, single storey rear extension, alterations of windows, over cladding of first 
floor, internal remodelling, new external drive configuration and landscaping. 

 
5. PLANNING HISTORY 

Page 243

Agenda Item 5c



 
Planning Applications (If Any): 
 
4/1317/76 or 1903/76D – granted a single and two storey extension subject to conditions. 
 
Appeals (If Any): 
 
 6. CONSTRAINTS 
 
Advert Control: Advert Spec Control 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty: CAONB outside Dacorum 
CIL Zone: CIL1 
Green Belt: Policy: CS5 
Parish: Wigginton CP 
RAF Halton and Chenies Zone: Red (10.7m) 
RAF Halton and Chenies Zone: RAF HALTON: DOTTED BLACK ZONE 
Small Village: 4 
Parking Standards: New Zone 3 
EA Source Protection Zone: 3 
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Consultation responses 
 
7.1 These are reproduced in full at Appendix A. 
 
Neighbour notification/site notice responses 
  
7.2 These are reproduced in full at Appendix B. 
 
8. PLANNING POLICIES 
 
Main Documents: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2023) 
Dacorum Borough Core Strategy 2006-2031 (adopted September 2013) 
Dacorum Borough Local Plan 1999-2011 (adopted April 2004) 
 
Relevant Policies: 
 
NP1 - Supporting Development 
CS1 - Distribution of Development 
CS5 – Green Belt 
CS6 – Small Village in the Green Belt 
CS8 – Sustainable Transport 
CS10 - Quality of Settlement Design 
CS11 - Quality of Neighbourhood Design 
CS12 - Quality of Site Design 
CS24 – The Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
CS25 – Landscape Character 

Page 244



CS26 – Green Infrastructure 
CS29 - Sustainable Design and Construction 
CS32 – Air, Soil and Water Quality 
 
Dacorum Local Plan 
 
Saved Policy 99 – Preservation of Trees, Hedgerows and Woodlands 
Saved Appendix 3 – Layout and Design of Residential Areas 
Saved Appendix 7 – Small-scale House Extensions  
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents: 
 
Site Layout and Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: A Guide to Good Practice (2022) 
Accessibility Zones for the Application of Car Parking Standards (2020) 
Planning Obligations (2011) 
Roads in Hertfordshire, Highway Design Guide 3rd Edition (2011) 
HCC - Place & Movement Planning and Design Guidance (2024) 
 
9. CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Main Issues 
 
9.1 The main issues to consider are: 
 

 The policy and principle justification for the proposal; 

 Greenbelt assessment; 

 The quality of design and impact on visual amenity; 

 The impact on residential amenity; and 

 The impact on highway safety and car parking. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
9.2 The site is located within a designated small village in the Metropolitan Green Belt.  

The Government attaches great importance to Green Belts. The fundamental aim of 
Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the 
essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. 

 
9.3 Paragraph 154 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that a local 

planning authority should regard the construction of new buildings as inappropriate in 
the Green Belt, but then goes on to list a number of exceptions. Of relevance is 
paragraph 154 (c). 
“the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building” 
 

9.4 Annex 2 of the NPPF defines the term original building as a building as it existed on 1 
July 1948 or, if constructed after 1 July 1948, as it was built originally. 

 
9.5 Policy CS5 clarifies that small-scale development - such as limited extensions to 

existing buildings - are acceptable provided that: 

Page 245



i. It has no significant impact on the character and appearance of the countryside; 

and 

ii. It supports the rural economy and maintenance of the wider countryside.  

 
9.6 Policy CS6 of the Dacorum Core Strategy (2013) states that within the small village 

of Wigginton house extensions will be permitted subject to them being sympathetic to 
their surroundings in terms of local character, design, scale, landscaping and visual 
impact and retain and protect features essential to the character and appearance of 
the village. 

 
9.7 Policy CS6 acknowledges the unique circumstances of these villages; that is to say, 

that they are pre-existing built up areas in the Green Belt and therefore less sensitive 

than areas of land located in open countryside. As a result, more weight is given to 

Policy CS6, allowing greater scope for larger house extensions.  

 

9.8 It is concluded that the proposal is therefore acceptable in principle in the Green Belt, 

subject to it being sympathetic to its surroundings in terms of local character, design, 

scale, landscaping and visual impact and retaining and protecting features essential 

to the character and appearance of the village of Wigginton. 

 

Small Village in the Green Belt Assessment 
 
9.9 Whilst it has been established that a more relaxed approach can be taken to house 

extensions in this area, this does not negate the need for compliance with the 
qualifying requirements of CS6 such as being sympathetic to their surroundings in 
terms of local character, design, scale, landscaping and visual impact and retain and 
protect features essential to the character and appearance of the village. 

 
Site History 
 
9.10 4/1317/76 or 1903/76D – granted a single and two storey extension which has been 

partly built so could be completed at any time.  This scheme would allow the first floor 
part of the current scheme to be built but does not include the large two storey front 
extension. Also, it does not include the significant changes to the character and 
appearance of the dwelling now proposed. 

 

               
 
9.11 Table listing floor space figures: 

 Floor space Volume 

Original Dwelling 131.56 square metres 462.47 cubic metres 

Page 246



Existing dwelling 171.8 square metres 549.11 cubic metres 

The current scheme 257.7 square metres 830.44 cubic metres. 

 
9.12 The proposed scheme will result in a 95% increase in floor space from the original 

dwelling and a 79.6% increase in volume from the original dwelling. 
 
9.13 The existing dwelling has limited projections to the frontage except for a small single 

storey front extension and a single storey side projection set in from the boundary.  
The fenestration and materials are all traditional in terms of relating to the village of 
Wigginton and the CAONB. 

 
9.14 The front gables found in nearby dwellings are all subservient to the main dwelling by 

being well set down from the ridgeline, and of a length and width that does not 
dominate the frontage of the dwelling. 

 
9.15 The proposed development would have an adverse visual impact when compared 

with the existing building. The proposals would create a visually dislocated two storey 
front extension 5.9 metres deep, a 6.8 metre wide gable, a raised ridge to the main 
dwelling and the front extension and a first floor side extension which would all 
cumulatively increase the scale, bulk, width and span of the building. 

 
9.16 The changes to the fenestration and materials would add to the adverse visual 

impact of the proposals on the character of the existing building. 
 
9.17 The layout, siting and design of the proposed extensions would not sit comfortably 

within the profile of the existing dwelling nor relate well in terms of bulk and scale and 
therefore will have a significant detrimental impact on the overall character and 
appearance of the building. 

 
9.18 The proposed two storey front extension which is extremely large, blocky and visually 

separated from the main dwelling will not be sympathetic to the local surroundings in 
terms of the local character, design, scale and visual impact on the surrounding 
countryside and would provide a large, bulky, blocky, contemporary building which 
would be a detriment to the appearance of the streetscene. 

 
9.19 It is considered that the proposal would not be generally sympathetic and in keeping 

with the surrounding area or respect adjoining properties and would therefore result 
in significant adverse effects on the character and appearance of the streetscene in 
terms of visual amenity.   

 
9.20 Taking all the above into account, it is considered that the proposed development 

would be contrary to the criteria outlined in CS6. 
 
Quality of Design / Impact on Visual Amenity and the Chilterns AONB 
 
9.21 Para. 135 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should ensure that 

new development should be sympathetic to local character and history, including the 

surrounding built environment and landscape setting. Furthermore, Policies CS11 

and CS12 of the Core Strategy seek to ensure that new development respects 

adjoining properties in terms of layout, scale, height, bulk and materials. 

Page 247



9.22 Saved Appendix 7 states that extensions should harmonise with the original design 

and character of the house in terms of scale, roof form, window design and external 

finishes. Front extensions may be acceptable, if fairly small and does not project 

beyond the front wall of the dwelling in a way that dominates the street scene. 

9.23 Policy CS24 of the Core Strategy states that the special qualities of the Chilterns 
AONB will be conserved. The scarp slope will be protected from development that 
would have a negative impact upon its skyline. Development will have regard to the 
policies and actions set out in the Chilterns Conservation Board’s Management Plan 
and support the principles set out within the Chilterns Buildings Design Guide and 
associated technical notes. 

 
9.24 Paragraph 182 of the NPPF states that great weight should be given to conserving 

and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in AONBs which have the highest 
status of protection in relation to these issues. 

 
9.25 The harm to the local character, design, scale and visual impact and features 

essential to the character and appearance of the village has already been covered in 
the ‘Small Village in the Green Belt Assessment’ above. This assessment will focus 
on the impacts on the existing dwelling, the street scene and the CAONB. 

  
9.26 It is acknowledged that the existing dwelling has no particular architectural merit, is 

not a listed building and is not within a Conservation Area.  
 
9.27 The proposed scheme includes raising the ridge of the existing dwelling by approx. 

0.9 metres and a 5.9 metre long two storey front extension which has a degree of 
separation from the main dwelling due to the two-storey flat roof component between 
the main dwelling and the forward extension. The proposed side elevation of the 
scheme gives the appearance of a two-storey front extension taller than the main 
dwelling and visually separated. The roof appears dislocated in relation to the 
existing roof shape so would harm the dwelling and the street scene along Hemp 
Lane. 

 
9.28 This component of the proposed scheme will completely change the character and 

appearance of the existing dwelling from a more traditional character to a large, 
blocky contemporary design.  The two-storey front extension will be 8 metres to the 
ridge and 6.8 metres wide.  This part of the proposal will not harmonise with the 
original design and character of the house. This extension will dominate the frontage 
of the dwelling by being more than half the width of the proposed dwelling and will be 
visually obtrusive in the street scene. It will also detract from the simple character of 
the street scene.  

 
9.29 Adjacent dwellings to the site have front gables which are proportionate to the main 

dwelling, well set down from the ridge line and are subservient to the main dwelling. 
 
9.30 The first-floor side extension above the existing garage will be set back approx. 1 

metre from the side elevation of the main dwelling which is set back approx. 1 metre 
from the site boundary, thus leaving sufficient space between dwellings.  The 
first-floor side extension is not set down or set back from the front elevation of the 
original dwelling and therefore adds to the overall bulk and scale of the proposed 

Page 248



dwelling which in addition to the other changes to the front elevation has a 
detrimental impact on the existing dwelling and the street scene 

 
9.31 The single storey rear extension is approx. 3.2 metres deep and 11 metres wide. This 

will be raised up to build into the slope of the land and will have a raised patio and 
steps leading down into the garden.  This extension in itself is considered to be 
subservient to the main dwelling and although more contemporary in appearance 
than the existing dwelling is not considered to be out of character with the dwelling 
and due to its siting to the rear not visually prominent. 

 
9.32 The change in fenestration will contribute to the change in character of the original 

building from traditional to contemporary. This in addition to the other changes will 
cumulatively result in a dwelling which is out of character with the existing dwelling 
and the street scene. 

 
9.33 The solar panels are not mentioned in the description but are clearly shown on the 

plans on the rear roof slope. They dominate the rear roof slope but as located to the 
rear only they are considered not to be overly visually intrusive. The neighbour to the 
west also has solar panels on their rear roof slope. 
 

9.34 CS28 Carbon Emission Reductions states that carbon emission reductions will be 
sought in the generation and use of energy, building design and construction. 

 
9.35 CS29 Sustainable Design and Construction states that new development will comply 

with the highest standards of sustainable design and construction possible. 
 
9.36 On balance based on the above guidance and the dwelling being located within a 

corridor of residential development along Hemp Lane it is considered that the solar 
panels are acceptable. 

 
9.37 The new external drive configuration does not seem to require excavation as no 

sections have been submitted.  It is assumed that the parking area will be built into 
the existing frontage with minimal groundworks and is therefore acceptable. 

 
9.38 Hemp Lane is characterised by hedging along the frontage of gardens on both sides 

which with a set back of dwellings does reduce to some degree the visual impact of 
the corridor of residential development in this rural area.  However, this vegetation 
can be removed at any time without planning permission so cannot be seen as a 
reason to recommend approval for a development such as the proposed two storey 
front extension and second storey side extension which would otherwise be 
considered out of character in terms of scale, bulk, design and materials. In addition 
the current proposal by nature of its scale, bulk and siting will be visible over and 
above the existing hedge line. 

 
9.39 It is considered that the proposal as a whole does not harmonise with the original 

design and character of the house in terms of scale, roof form and external finishes. 
The proposed first floor side extension is not set down or set back from the front 
elevation of the original dwelling and therefore adds to the overall bulk and scale of 
the proposed dwelling. 

 

Page 249



9.40 The two-storey front extension by nature of its design, depth, height, scale, bulk and 

materials projects beyond the front wall of the dwelling in a way that dominates the 

frontage of the proposed dwelling and also dominates in the street scene and will 

have a detrimental impact on the dwelling, street scene and the CAONB. 

9.41 Due to the site’s location within the CAONB the Chiltern Society and Conservation 
and Design Officer were consulted. 

 
9.42 The Chiltern Society raised no objection provided the extension is not 

disproportionate in this Green Belt/CAONB location and that local materials are used 
on the house. 

 
9.43 Cumulatively (and some elements in isolation such as the two storey front extension) 

it is considered that the proposed scheme will not be sympathetic to its surroundings, 

including the adjoining countryside in terms of local character, design, scale and 

visual impact and would therefore be contrary to CS6, CS12, CS24, Saved Appendix 

7 and Para. 135 of the NPPF. 

Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
9.44 The NPPF paragraph 135 outlines the importance of planning decisions in securing 

high standards of amenity for existing and future occupiers of land and buildings. 

NPPF paragraph 135, Saved Appendix 3 of the Local Plan (2004) and policy CS12 of 

the Core Strategy (2013), seek to ensure that new development does not result in 

detrimental impact upon neighbouring properties and their amenity space. Thus, the 

proposals should be designed to reduce any impact on future and neighbouring 

properties amenity including loss of light and privacy.  

Loss of Light 
 
9.45 The daylight and sunlight tests normally used by Local Planning Authorities are set 

out in the Building Research Establishment (BRE) document ‘Site Layout Planning 
for Daylight and Sunlight: A guide to good practice (2022)’. The BRE guide gives two 
helpful rules of thumb (25° or 45° tests) which determine whether or not further 
detailed daylight and sunlight tests are required. 

 
9.46 The applicant has provided additional information demonstrating the 45 degree BRE 

test for the neighbour to the west Ty Gwyn and to the east Avalon. 
 
9.47 The extension to the rear is a 3.2 metre single storey extension and will create a 5 

metre rear extension in total when the existing single storey rear extension is 
included in the calculation.  

 
9.48 Ty Gwyn is on higher land with a rear conservatory. The proposed scheme passes 

the 45 degree test in relation to this neighbour. The side windows of the 
Conservatory may be affected by the proposed scheme but the rear windows of the 
conservatory will not be affected so overall there will not be a significant loss of 
sunlight and daylight. 

 

Page 250



9.49 Avalon to the east of the site is on lower ground. The two-storey flank elevation of 
Chedworth currently extends 3 metres to the rear of Avalon. In addition, a 1.8 metres 
single storey extension exists along this boundary.  The proposed scheme will add 
another 3.2 metres to the existing single storey extension making a 5-metre single 
storey extension. Due to the slope of the land the single storey rear extension will be 
approx. 4 metres tall when viewed from the rear garden of Avalon. 

 
9.50 It is considered that the increase in roof size and rear extension on higher land will 

exacerbate the existing situation and will be visually intrusive for this neighbour from 
their immediate garden area. 

 
9.51 Based on the above it is considered that the proposed rear extension in addition to 

the existing extension will result in visual intrusion for the neighbour to the east - 
Avalon.  

 
Loss of Privacy 
 
Ty Gwyn 
 
9.52 The proposed two storey front extension has a first-floor side window facing Ty Gwyn 

but this will overlook the front garden which is open to public views. The flat roof 
landing also appears to have a large window facing towards Ty Gwyn but this would 
also overlook the front garden area. 

 
9.53 There is a high-level window in the ground floor side elevation which would not result 

in a loss of privacy due to it being high level.  
 
9.54 There is also a roof light in the roof slope of the proposed two storey front extension 

which may have views over the front garden of this property. As stated previously this 
is already an area open to public views so will not result in any unacceptable level of 
overlooking. 

 
9.55 Bedroom 2 has large bay window with glass to the sides which would result in 

overlooking into the immediate back garden of this dwelling thus resulting in 
unacceptable overlooking for this neighbour. 

 
Avalon 
 
9.56 The proposed roof light in the front roof slope of the two-storey front extension will 

face towards the brick wall flank elevation of this neighbour.  There is a small window 
in this elevation but is small and appears to be a bathroom window. The roof light will 
be higher up than this window so there will be no overlooking in this regard. 

 
9.57 It appears that the two-storey flat roof extension may also have large windows 

looking towards the flank elevation of this neighbour. As these windows are facing a 
brick wall there will be no loss of privacy for this neighbour. 

 
9.58 The two other windows (at first floor and ground floor) in the main dwelling will also 

look towards the brick wall flank elevation of Avalon. 
 

Page 251



9.59 Proposed bedroom 2 of Chedworth has a large bay window with glass to the sides 
which would result in unacceptable overlooking into the immediate back garden of 
this dwelling. 

 
9.60 Based on the above it is considered that the proposed scheme will result in 

unacceptable overlooking and a loss of privacy for both neighbours in relation to their 
immediate rear gardens from the bay window serving bedroom 2 and therefore be 
contrary to CS12. 

 
Impact on Highway Safety and Parking 
 
Highway Safety 
 
9.61 Policy 51 of the Dacorum Local Plan states that the acceptability of all development 

proposals will be assessed specifically in highway and traffic terms and should have 
no significant impact upon, inter alia: 

 the nature, capacity and use of the highway network and its ability to 
accommodate the traffic generated by the development; and 

 the environmental and safety implications of the traffic generated by the 
development. 

 
9.62 Policy CS12 of the Dacorum Core Strategy states that on each site development 

should provide a safe and satisfactory means of access for all users.  
 
9.63 The application proposes the retention of the existing accesses and dropped kerb 

arrangement. 
 
9.64 Hertfordshire Highways stated that subject to the inclusion of a number of 

informatives, they do not wish to restrict the grant of planning permission. 
 
9.65 The proposal therefore does not result in any harm to the safety or operation of the 

adjacent highway and complies with the Policy CS12 of the Core Strategy 2013 and 
Saved Policy 51 of the Dacorum Local Plan. 

 
Parking 
 
9.66 Policy CS8 of the Dacorum Core Strategy states that new development should 

provide sufficient, safe and convenient parking based on car parking standards, 

while Policy CS12 of the Dacorum Core Strategy states that development should 

provide sufficient parking and sufficient space for servicing. Whilst Policy CS12 

makes clear that sufficient parking should be provided on site, Policy CS11 makes 

clear that development should avoid ‘large areas dominated by car parking’.  

9.67 The Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document was formally adopted on 

18th November 2020 and advocates the use of a ‘parking standard’ (rather than a 

maximum or minimum standard), with different levels of standard in appropriate 

locations and conditions to sustain lower car ownership.  

9.68 Section 6 of the Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document states that: 

Page 252



The starting principle is that all parking demand for residential development should 

be accommodated on site; and the requirements shown are ‘standards’ - departures 

from these will only be accepted in exceptional cases, when appropriate evidence is 

provided by the agent/developer for consideration by the Council, and the Council 

agrees with this assessment. 

….. 

Different standards for C3 use are provided as set out in the table in Appendix A, 

based on the three accessibility zones referred to in section 4.8 and shown in 

Appendix B. 

9.69 The application site is located within Accessibility Zone 3 wherein the expectation is 

that the following parking provision would be achieved: 

Existing 

number of 

bedrooms  and 

proposed 

number of 

bedrooms 

equals 4. 

Allocated 3.0 

Unallocated 2.4 

 
9.70  The proposed scheme would therefore require 3 parking spaces. 
  
9.71 The proposed site layout indicates that 2 parking spaces can be provided and also 

shows that there is sufficient space for at least one additional off street parking space 

in front of the dwelling bringing the total provision to at least 3 spaces. 

9.72 The proposed scheme will include the loss of an existing integral garage. This garage 

measures approx. 2.5 metres wide and approx. 6 metres long. The Parking SPD 

states that on plot garages must measure at least 3 metres wide and 6 metres long. If 

garages are not at least this size they will not be counted as part of the parking 

provision to meet the parking standards. Therefore there is no net loss of the garage 

in policy terms.  

9.73 Para 115 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented or refused 

on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highways safety, 

or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 

9.74 Based on the above (four bedroom property served by three off-street parking 

spaces) it is therefore concluded that the proposed scheme would not have an 

adverse impact on parking and highway safety in the surrounding road networks. 

9.75 The proposal therefore complies with the Parking Standards SPD and Policy CS8 
and CS12 of the Core Strategy 2013. 

 
Other Material Planning Considerations 
 
Impact on Trees and Landscaping 
 

Page 253



9.76 The Trees and Woodlands Officer was consulted but raised no objection no trees of 
significance will be detrimentally affected by the proposal. 

 
Ecology 
 
9.77 Due to the extensive changes to the roof and the rural location HCC Ecology were 

consulted on the application and concluded that the proposals are unlikely to have 
any significant ecological impacts.  

 
9.78 However, in the unlikely event that protected species are found, it is recommended 

that a precautionary approach to the works is taken and recommend an informative is 
added to any permission granted for the below species: 

  
1.            Bats 
2.            Great crested newts 
3.            Reptiles 
4.            Badgers 
5.            Nesting birds 

  
Response to Neighbour Comments 
 
9.79 There were no neighbour comments. 
 
Parish Council Comments 
 
9.80 Wigginton Parish Council supports the application on the basis that they consider the 

design detail consistent with a Chiltern hill-top village is encouraged to support the 
evolution of a degree of consistency in the Chiltern vernacular appearance and 
materials used. 

 
9.81 These comments are addressed in the section titled Quality of Design / Impact on 

Visual Amenity and the Chilterns AONB 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
9.82 Policy CS35 of the Core Strategy requires all developments to make appropriate 

contributions towards infrastructure required to support the development. These 
contributions will normally extend only to the payment of CIL where applicable. The 
Council's Community Infrastructure Levy was adopted in February 2015 and came 
into force on 1 July 2015. CIL relief is available for affordable housing, charities and 
Self Builders and may be claimed using the appropriate forms. 

 
Chiltern Beechwood Special Area of Conservation 
 
9.83 The planning application is within Zone of Influence of the Chilterns Beechwoods 

Special Area of Conservation (CB SAC). The Council has a duty under Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (Reg 63) and Conservation of Habitats 
and Species (EU exit amendment) Regulations 2019 to protect the CB SAC from 
harm, including increased recreational pressures.  

 

Page 254



9.84 A screening assessment has been undertaken and no likely significant effect is 
considered to occur to the CB SAC due to the scale of development being an 
extension to an existing dwelling so no additional recreation pressure and therefore 
an appropriate assessment is not required in this case. 

 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 The development by nature of its siting, scale, bulk and design is considered to be   

contrary to CS6 and would not be sympathetic to the surroundings in terms of the 
local character, design, scale, landscaping and visual impact and does not retain and 
protect features essential to the character and appearance of the village of 
Wigginton. 

 
10.2 It is felt that the works would have an adverse impact on the appearance of the 

dwelling and would significantly impact the street scene and the CAONB. The 
development would have a detrimental impact on the amenity of neighbouring 
properties but would not have a negative impact on highway safety/car parking.  

 
10.3 Therefore, the proposal is contrary to the aims of the National Planning Policy 

Framework 2023 and Policies CS6, CS11, CS12, CS24 of the Core Strategy 
2006-2031 and Saved Appendix 7. 

 
11. RECOMMENDATION 
 
11.1 That planning permission be REFUSED. 
 
Reasons for Refusal: 
 

1. The proposal by nature of its siting, scale, bulk and design is considered to be 
contrary to CS6 and would not be sympathetic to the surroundings in terms of the 
local character, design, scale, landscaping and visual impact and does not retain and 
protect features essential to the character and appearance of the village of 
Wigginton. 

 
The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy CS6 of the Dacorum Borough Core 
Strategy (2013). 

 
 

2. The proposed siting, design, scale and bulk of the proposed extensions would not sit 
comfortably within the profile of the existing dwelling and would result in a large, 
bulky, blocky building which would be out of character with the street scene and 
CAONB. 
 
The proposal would therefore have a significant detrimental impact on the overall 
character and appearance of the surrounding countryside and CAONB. 

 
The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy CS6, CS12 and CS24 of the Dacorum 
Borough Core Strategy (2013) and Paras. 135 and 182 of the NPPF (2023).  

 

Page 255



3. The proposed single storey rear extension in addition to the existing extension will 
result in visual intrusion for the neighbour to the east – Avalon and the new bay 
window for bedroom 2 at first floor in the rear elevation will result in overlooking into 
both of the neighbours’ immediate rear gardens. 
 
The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy CS12 of the Dacorum Borough Core 
Strategy and Para. 135 of the NPPF (2023). 

 
APPENDIX A: CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 

Consultee 

 

Comments 

The Chiltern Society no objection provided the extension is not disproportionate in this 

Green Belt/AONB location and that Local materials are used on 

the house 

 

Historic Environment 

(HCC) 

In this instance I consider that this development is unlikely to have 

a significant impact on heritage assets of archaeological interest 

and I have no comment to make upon the proposal.  

Please do not hesitate to contact me should you require any 

further information or clarification. 

 

Parish/Town Council The Parish Council supports the application. Design detail 

consistent with a Chiltern hill-top village is encouraged to support 

the evolution of a degree of consistency in the Chiltern vernacular 

appearance and materials used.  

 

Environmental And 

Community Protection 

(DBC) 

With reference to the above planning application, please be 

advised the Environmental Health Pollution Team have no 

objections or concerns re noise, odour or air quality. However I 

would recommend the application is subject to informatives for 

waste management, construction working hours with Best 

Practical Means for dust, Air Quality and Invasive and Injurious 

Weeds which we respectfully request to be included in the 

decision notice.    

  

Working Hours Informative  

Contractors and sub-contractors must have regard to BS 

5228-2:2009 "Code of Practice for Noise Control on Construction 

and Open Sites" and the Control of Pollution Act 1974.  

  

As a guideline, the following hours for noisy works and/or 

deliveries should be observed: Monday to Friday, 7.30am to 

5:30pm, Saturday, 8am to 1pm, Sunday and bank holidays - no 

noisy work allowed.  

Page 256



  

Where permission is sought for works to be carried out outside 

the hours stated, applications in writing must be made with at 

least seven days' notice to Environmental and Community 

Protection Team ecp@dacorum.gov.uk or The Forum, Marlowes, 

Hemel Hempstead, HP1 1DN.  Local residents that may be 

affected by the work shall also be notified in writing, after approval 

is received from the LPA or Environmental Health.  

  

Works audible at the site boundary outside these hours may 

result in the service of a Notice restricting the hours as above.  

Breach of the notice may result in prosecution and an unlimited 

fine and/or six months imprisonment.  

  

Construction Dust Informative  

Dust from operations on the site should be minimised by spraying 

with water or by carrying out of other such works that may be 

necessary to supress dust. Visual monitoring of dust is to be 

carried out continuously and Best Practical Means (BPM) should 

be used at all times. The applicant is advised to consider the 

control of dust and emissions from construction and demolition 

Best Practice Guidance, produced in partnership by the Greater 

London Authority and London Councils.  

  

Waste Management Informative  

Under no circumstances should waste produced from 

construction work be incinerated on site. This includes but is not 

limited to pallet stretch wrap, used bulk bags, building materials, 

product of demolition and so on. Suitable waste management 

should be in place to reduce, reuse, recover or recycle waste 

product on site, or dispose of appropriately.   

  

Air Quality Informative.  

As an authority we are looking for all development to support 

sustainable travel and air quality improvements as required by the 

NPPF. We are looking to minimise the cumulative impact on local 

air quality that ongoing development has, rather than looking at 

significance. This is also being encouraged by DEFRA.  

  

As a result as part of the planning application I would recommend 

that the applicant be asked to propose what measures they can 

take as part of this new development, to support sustainable 

travel and air quality improvements. These measures may be 

Page 257



conditioned through the planning consent if the proposals are 

acceptable.   

  

A key theme of the NPPF is that developments should enable 

future occupiers to make "green" vehicle choices and (paragraph 

35) "incorporates facilities for charging plug-in and other ultra-low 

emission vehicles". Therefore an electric vehicle recharging 

provision rate of 1 vehicle charging point per 10 spaces 

(unallocated parking) is expected. To prepare for increased 

demand in future years, appropriate cable provision should be 

included in the scheme design and development, in agreement 

with the local authority.  

  

Please note that with regard to EV charging for residential units 

with dedicated parking, we are not talking about physical charging 

points in all units but the capacity to install one. The cost of 

installing appropriate trunking/ducting and a dedicated fuse at the 

point of build is miniscule, compared to the cost of retrofitting an 

EV charging unit after the fact, without the relevant base work in 

place.   

  

In addition, mitigation in regards to NOx emissions should be 

addressed in that all gas fired boilers to meet a minimum standard 

of 40 mg NOx/Kwh or consideration of alternative heat sources.

  

Invasive and Injurious Weeds - Informative  

Weeds such as Japanese Knotweed, Giant Hogsweed and 

Ragwort are having a detrimental impact on our environment and 

may injure livestock. Land owners must not plant or otherwise 

cause to grow in the wild any plant listed on schedule 9 of the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. Developers and land owners 

should therefore undertake an invasive weeds survey before 

development commences and take the steps necessary to avoid 

weed spread. Further advice can be obtained from the 

Environment Agency website at 

https://www.gov.uk/japanese-knotweed-giant-hogweed-and-othe

r-invasive-plants 

 

Hertfordshire 

Highways (HCC) 

Proposal  

Two storey front extension, second storey side extension and 

raising of the ridge height, single storey  rear extension, 

alterations of windows, over cladding of first floor, internal 

remodelling, new external drive configuration and landscaping

Page 258



  

Recommendation  

Notice is given under article 22 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 

2015 that Hertfordshire County Council as Highway Authority 

does not wish to restrict the grant of permission.  

Highway Informatives  

HCC as Highway Authority recommends inclusion of the following 

Advisory Note (AN) / highway  informative to ensure that any 

works within the highway are carried out in accordance with the 

provisions of the Highway Act 1980:  

AN 1) Storage of materials: The applicant is advised that the 

storage of materials associated with the construction of this 

development should be provided within the site on land which is 

not public highway, and the use of such areas must not interfere 

with the public highway. If this is not possible, authorisation 

should be sought from the Highway Authority before construction 

works commence.  

Further information is available via the County Council website at: 

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-p

avements/business-and-developer-information/business-licence

s/business-licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047.  

AN 2) Obstruction of highway: It is an offence under section 137 

of the Highways Act 1980 for any person, without lawful authority 

or excuse, in any way to wilfully obstruct the free passage along a 

highway or public right of way. If this development is likely to 

result in the public highway or public right of way network 

becoming routinely blocked (fully or partly) the applicant must 

contact the  Highway Authority to obtain their permission and 

requirements before construction works commence.  

Further information is available via the County Council website at: 

https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/services/highways-roads-and-p

avements/business-and-developer-information/business-licence

s/business-licences.aspx or by telephoning 0300 1234047.  

AN 3) Debris and deposits on the highway: It is an offence under 

section 148 of the Highways Act 1980 to deposit compost, dung 

or other material for dressing land, or any rubbish on a made up 

carriageway, or any or other debris on a highway to the 

interruption of any highway user. Section 149 of the same Act 

gives the Highway Authority powers to remove such material at 

the expense of the party responsible. Therefore, best practical 

means shall be taken at all times to ensure that all vehicles 

leaving the site during construction of the development and use 

Page 259



thereafter are in a condition such as not to emit dust or deposit 

mud, slurry or other debris on the highway. Further information is 

available by telephoning 0300 1234047.  

Comments  

The proposal is for the construction of a two storey front 

extension, second storey side extension and raising of the ridge 

height, single storey rear extension, alterations of windows, over 

cladding of first floor, internal remodelling, new external drive 

configuration and landscaping at Chedworth, Hemp Lane, 

Wigginton.  

Hemp lane is a 30 mph classified C local access route that is 

highway maintainable at public expense. There is an existing 

access onto Hemp Lane which serves the dwelling. The proposal 

is keeping the existing entrance onto hemp lane but widening it on 

private land. Vehicles are now able to turn on site which improves 

safety. HCC Highways does not deem the extension to increase 

trips to and from the dwelling. There is proposed to be no 

alterations to the existing highway network and therefore no 

highway works are needed.  

HCC Highways would not wish to restrict a granting of permission 

for this proposal. 

 

Trees & Woodlands With regard to Planning Application 24/00390/FHA.  

  

According to the information submitted no trees of will be 

detrimentally affected by the proposal. Subsequently I have no 

objections to the application being approved. 

 

Environmental And 

Community Protection 

(DBC) 

Having reviewed the application submission and the ECP records 

I am able to confirm that there is no objection on the grounds of 

land contamination. Also, there is no requirement for further 

contaminated land information to be provided, or for 

contaminated land planning conditions to be recommended in 

relation to this application. 

 

Conservation & Design 

(DBC) 

Chedworth is sited in the Green Belt and Chilterns National 

Landscape (AONB). The current building is not of particular 

significance and therefore a proportionate extension should not 

be unacceptable (e.g the rear extension as proposed).  However, 

I do consider that the front extension as proposed is 

disproportionate and does not harmonize well or sit comfortably 

with the existing dwelling, particularly in relation to the lack of 

integration, and height of its pitched roof. I would also question 

Page 260



whether the choice of materials respects the policy requirements 

and Chilterns AONB Building Design guidelines, where the 

emphasis is on the use of traditional or local materials to preserve 

the character of the AONB.   

 

Hertfordshire Ecology After carrying out a rapid assessment of this application, we have 

concluded that the proposals are unlikely to have any significant 

ecological impacts, therefore the application can be determined 

accordingly. However, in the unlikely event that protected species 

are found, I advise a precautionary approach to the works is taken 

and recommend the following Informative is added to any 

permission granted for the below species:  

   

1.            Bats  

2.            Great crested newts  

3.            Reptiles  

4.            Badgers  

5.            Nesting birds  

   

"If European Protected Species (EPS), including bats and great 

crested newts, or evidence for them, are discovered during the 

course of works, work must stop immediately, and advice sought 

on how to proceed lawfully from an appropriately qualified and 

experienced Ecologist or Natural England to avoid an offence 

being committed.  

   

To avoid the killing or injuring of wildlife during development, best 

practice should keep any areas of grass as short as possible and 

any longer, ruderal vegetation should be cleared by hand. To 

avoid creating refugia that may be utilised by wildlife, materials 

should be carefully stored on-site on raised pallets and away from 

the boundary habitats. Any trenches on site should be covered at 

night or have ramps to ensure that any animals that enter can 

safely escape, and this is particularly important if excavations fill 

with water. Any open pipework with an outside diameter greater 

than 120mm must be covered at the end of each working day to 

prevent animals entering / becoming trapped.   

   

In order to protect breeding birds, their nests, eggs and young, 

demolition or vegetation clearance should only be carried out 

during the period October to February inclusive. If this is not 

possible then a pre-development (i.e. no greater than 48 hours 

before clearance begins) search of the area should be made by a 

Page 261



suitably experienced ecologist. If active nests are found, then 

works must be delayed until the birds have left the nest or 

professional ecological advice taken on how best to proceed." 

 
APPENDIX B: NEIGHBOUR RESPONSES 
 
Number of Neighbour Comments 
 

Neighbour 

Consultations 

 

Contributors Neutral Objections Support 

4 0 0 0 0 

 
Neighbour Responses 
 

Address 
 

Comments 

 
 

Page 262



ITEM NUMBER: 5d 
 

24/00866/FHA Hip to gable loft conversion with rear dormer and front roof lights 
& new first floor side window. 

Site Address: 16 Dellfield Avenue, Berkhamsted, Hertfordshire, HP4 1DX   

Applicant/Agent: Mr & Mrs Richard & Emma 
Brand 

Ms Alison Phillips 

Case Officer: Sally Robbins 

Parish/Ward: Berkhamsted Town Council Berkhamsted Castle 

Referral to Committee: Contrary view of Berkhamsted Town Council 

 
1. RECOMMENDATION  
 
1.1 That planning permission be GRANTED 
 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 The principle of residential development in this location is acceptable. The proposed 
development through design, scale and finish will not adversely impact upon the visual amenity of 
the immediate street scene or the residential amenity of neighbouring occupants. The proposal is 
therefore in accordance with Core Strategy Policies CS4, CS10, CS11 and CS12, Saved 
Appendices 3 and 7 of the Dacorum Local Plan and the NPPF. 
 
3. SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
3.1 The application site is located on the east side of Dellfield Avenue in Berkhamsted. The site 
comprises a two-storey semi-detached dwelling that has undergone previous extension. The site is 
in an established residential area, with similarly sized and styled properties in the vicinity. 
 
4. PROPOSAL 
 
4.1 The application seeks full planning permission for a hip to gable loft extension with rear dormer, 
front roof lights and a new first floor side window. 
 
5. PLANNING HISTORY 
 
Planning Applications: 
 

- 4/03138/18/FHA - Single storey rear extension, replacement first floor roof and loft 
conversion with rear and side dormer and front roof Lights. GRANTED - 11th February 2019 

 
The above permission has been implemented and the single storey rear extension element has 
been constructed. As such, the above extant permission is a fall-back position that is a real prospect 
and should be given due weight in the planning balance. 
 
6. CONSTRAINTS 
 
BCA Townscape Group 
CIL Zone: CIL1 
Parish: Berkhamsted CP 
Residential Area (Town/Village): Residential Area in Town Village (Berkhamsted) 
Residential Character Area: BCA14 
Parking Standards: New Zone 3 
EA Source Protection Zone: 3 

Page 263

Agenda Item 5d



EA Source Protection Zone: 2 
Town: Berkhamsted 
 
7. REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Consultation responses 
 
7.1 These are reproduced in full at Appendix A. 
 
Neighbour notification/site notice responses 
  
7.2 These are reproduced in full at Appendix B. 
 
8. PLANNING POLICIES 
 
Main Documents: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (December 2023) 
Dacorum Borough Core Strategy 2006-2031 (adopted September 2013) 
Dacorum Borough Local Plan 1999-2011 (adopted April 2004) 
 
Relevant Policies: 
 
NP1 - Supporting Development 
CS1 - Distribution of Development 
CS4 - The Towns and Large Villages 
CS10 - Quality of Settlement Design 
CS11 - Quality of Neighbourhood Design 
CS12 - Quality of Site Design 
CS29 - Sustainable Design and Construction 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents: 
 
Accessibility Zones for the Application of Car Parking Standards (2020) 
Site Layout and Planning for Daylight and Sunlight: A Guide to Good Practice (2022) 
 
9. CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Main Issues 
 
9.1 The main issues to consider are: 
 

- Principle of Development 
- Quality of Design / Impact on Visual Amenity 
- Impact on Residential Amenity 
- Impact on Highway Safety and Parking 
- Other Material Planning Considerations. 

 
Principle of Development 
 
9.2 The application site is located in a residential area of Berkhamsted, wherein appropriate 
residential development is encouraged in accordance with Core Strategy Policy CS4. 
 
 
 

Page 264



Quality of Design / Impact on Visual Amenity 
 
9.3 Core Strategy Policies CS10, CS11 and CS12 seek to ensure that developments are in keeping 
with the surrounding area in terms of scale, mass, height and appearance. This guidance is 
supported by Saved Appendix 7 of the Local Plan, which seeks to ensure that extensions maintain 
the common design characteristics of the surrounding area. 
 
9.4 The site resides within character area BCA14: Chiltern Park, according to Dacorum’s Area 
Based Policies Supplementary Planning Guidance, which is described as a post-war estate of 
mainly semi-detached houses based around a series of interconnecting roads and culs-de-sac. 
There is a wide variety of architectural styles, with many properties having undergone previous 
alterations or extensions.  
 
9.5 The immediately surrounding area comprises predominantly semi-detached dwellings, with 
varying roof forms including both hipped, gable-end and flat roofs. The application property has an 
existing two-storey flat-roofed side extension that does not contribute positively to the street scene. 
The proposed development comprises a hip-to-gable roof extension with front roof lights that would 
be visible within the street scene, however given that there is similar built form in the vicinity it is not 
felt that the proposal would have a significantly harmful effect on the character and appearance of 
the area. Furthermore, the fall-back position of extant permission ref. 4/03138/18/FHA comprises a 
hipped roof extension with front roof lights and rear/side dormers. It is felt that the current proposal 
would be more in keeping with the surrounding area than the previously approved scheme. 
 
9.6 The proposed extension would result in a full height two-storey gable-end extending up to the 
common boundary with 18 Dellfield Avenue. Given that the host property already has a two storey 
side extension up to the boundary, albeit with a flat roof, it is considered that the resultant built form 
would not be harmful to the character of the area. Furthermore, by virtue of the difference in levels in 
addition to the separation distance, an acceptable gap would be retained between the two 
properties. In terms of the rear dormer, this would not be readily seen from public vantage points 
and, whilst it would be a full-width box dormer, it is not felt that it would harm the character and 
appearance of the parent property or the surrounding area. 
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
9.7 Policy CS12 of the Core Strategy states that new development should avoid visual intrusion, loss 
of sunlight and daylight, loss of privacy and disturbance to properties in the surrounding area. 
Furthermore, Saved Appendix 3 of the Local Plan states that residential development should be 
designed and positioned to maintain a satisfactory level of sunlight and daylight for existing and 
proposed dwellings. Paragraph 135 f) of the NPPF seeks to ensure that planning decisions create 
places with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 
 
9.8 The adjoining site to the north comprises three maisonettes (18, 18A and 18B Dellfield Avenue). 
No. 18A is at first floor level and comprises a hallway and bathroom window on the south elevation, 
i.e. facing the application site. 18B, which is at ground floor level, comprises a bedroom window 
facing the application site. In terms of light provision to the first-floor windows, these do not serve 
habitable rooms and it is therefore not felt that there would be a significant harmful impact to the 
living conditions on 18A Dellfield Avenue. In relation to the ground floor bedroom window, there 
would not be a significant reduction in light provision due to the presence of the existing two-storey 
flat-roofed extension at no. 16. 
 
9.9 A side-facing window is proposed at first floor level, however this would serve a bathroom and is 
indicated on the proposed plans as obscure glazed. It would be reasonable to impose a condition 
ensuring that the window is retained as such in perpetuity. In terms of visual impact, the proposed 
roof extension would result in an increase in built form, however it would be mostly seen from within 
the side access area. 

Page 265



 
9.10 The rear dormer would increase the level of outlook from the rear of the host property, however 
the separation distance from Egerton Road is sufficient and it would thus not result in any significant 
loss of privacy to properties to the rear of the site. 
 
9.11 There are no significant concerns regarding loss of light, visual impact or loss of privacy. It is 
considered that the proposal is acceptable in terms of residential amenity and in accordance with 
Policy CS12 of the Core Strategy, Saved Appendix 3 of the Local Plan and the NPPF. 
 
Impact on Highway Safety and Parking 
 
9.12 The NPPF, Policies CS8 and CS12 of the Core Strategy and the Parking Standards SPD all 
seek to ensure that new development provides safe and sufficient parking provision for current and 
future occupiers. The development would increase the number of bedrooms from four to five. 
 
9.13 The parking requirement set out in the Parking Standards SPD states that within Accessibility 
Zone 3, a five-bedroom house should be assessed on an individual case-by-case basis. For 
reference, in Zone 3 a four-bedroom house would be expected to provide three off street parking 
spaces. The existing driveway to the front of the dwelling would be retained and can accommodate 
two vehicles. The garage space would be retained, however it does not meet the dimension 
requirements set out in in the Parking Standards SPD. Nonetheless, the application site is located 
within an accessible location, within walking distance to Berkhamsted town centre and with no 
parking restrictions evident on Dellfield Avenue. It is therefore considered that the proposed 
development would not have such a detrimental impact on local parking provision to warrant refusal 
on those grounds. 
 
Other Material Planning Considerations 
 
Habitats Regulations Assessment – Chilterns Beechwoods SAC 
 
9.14 The planning application is within Zone of Influence of the Chilterns Beechwoods Special Area 
of Conservation (CBSAC). The Council has a duty under Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (Regulation 63) and Conservation of Habitats and Species (EU exit amendment) 
Regulations 2019 to protect the CBSAC from harm, including increased recreational pressures. The 
proposed development given its nature is not considered to result in an increase in recreational 
pressure at the CBSAC and an Appropriate Assessment is not required in this instance. 
 
Response to Neighbour Comments 
 
9.15 An objection has been received from 18A Dellfield Avenue with concerns relating to light, 
overshadowing, visual intrusion, and overlooking/loss of privacy. The main concerns are the impact 
on the hallway and bathroom windows. As outlined above, these rooms are not considered to be 
‘habitable’ rooms, therefore whilst there will likely be an impact on light provision to these windows it 
is not considered that the impact would result in significant harm to the living conditions of the 
occupants of 18A. It is understood that habitable rooms within no. 18A, i.e. the kitchen, 
lounge/dining room and bedrooms, have windows on the front or rear of the property, which would 
not be affected by the proposed development. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 
9.16 Policy CS35 requires all developments to make appropriate contributions towards 
infrastructure required to support the development. These contributions will normally extend only to 
the payment of CIL where applicable. The Council's Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was 
adopted in February 2015 and came into force on the 1st July 2015. The site resides within CIL Zone 
1, however this application is not CIL Liable. 

Page 266



 
10. CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 The proposed development through design, scale and finish will not adversely impact upon the 
visual amenity of the immediate street scene or the residential amenity of neighbouring occupants. 
The proposal is therefore in accordance with Saved Appendices 3 and 7 of the Dacorum Local Plan, 
Policies CS4, CS10, CS11 and CS12 of the Core Strategy and the NPPF. 
 
11. RECOMMENDATION 
 
11.1 That planning permission be GRANTED 
 
Condition(s) and Reason(s):  
 
 1. The development hereby permitted shall begin before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 (1) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 (1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 

 
 2. The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 

development hereby permitted shall match the existing building in terms of size, 
colour and texture.  

  
 Reason: To make sure that the appearance of the building is suitable and that it contributes 

to the character of the area in accordance with Policies CS11 and CS12 of the Dacorum 
Borough Core Strategy (2013). 

 
 3. The window at first floor level in the 'side elevation proposed' shown on drawing no. 

646-A1-603 rev B of the development hereby approved shall be non-opening, 
permanently fitted with obscured glass and retained as such in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of the residential amenities of the occupants of the adjacent 

dwellings in accordance with Policy CS12 (c) of the Dacorum Borough Council Core Strategy 
(2013) and Paragraph 135 (f) of the National Planning Policy Framework (December 2023). 

 
 4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans/documents: 
  
 Location Plan; 646-002; 646-A1-603 rev B; 646-A1-602 rev C 
  
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
  
Informatives: 
 
 1. Planning permission has been granted for this proposal. Discussion with the applicant to 

seek an acceptable solution was not necessary in this instance. The Council has therefore 
acted pro-actively in line with the requirements of the Framework (paragraph 38) and in 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) (Amendment No. 2) Order 2015. 

 
 
 
 

Page 267



APPENDIX A: CONSULTEE RESPONSES 
 

Consultee 

 

Comments 

Parish/Town Council Objection  

  

The proposed full-depth rear dormer will appear as a two-storey 

building storey if approved as it is only 8 feet away from the adjacent 

neighbour.   

  

The scale, height mass and bulk of the proposal will result in a 

significant loss of amenity to the neighbouring property.   

  

This is an overdevelopment of the existing property to the detriment of 

the adjacent neighbour.   

  

CS12  

 

 
APPENDIX B: NEIGHBOUR RESPONSES 
 
Number of Neighbour Comments 
 

Neighbour 

Consultations 

 

Contributors Neutral Objections Support 

8 1 0 1 0 

 
Neighbour Responses 
 

Address 
 

Comments 

18A Dellfield Avenue  
Berkhamsted  
Hertfordshire  
HP4 1DX  
 

  
I wish to object to the application for planning permission relating to the 
proposed loft conversion for 16 Dellfield Avenue - 24/00866/FHA. My 
objections to the application are because it is contrary to the Dacorum 
Core Strategy (2013), in particular the Dacorum Spatial Awareness 
Framework, as follows:  
  
POLICY CS11: Quality of Neighbourhood Design   
Within settlements and neighbourhoods, development should: (a) 
respect the typical density intended in an area and enhance spaces 
between buildings and general character;  
  
POLICY CS12: Quality of Site Design   
On each site development should: c) avoid visual intrusion, loss of 
sunlight and daylight, loss of privacy and disturbance to the 
surrounding properties; g) respect adjoining properties in terms of: i. 
layout; iii. site coverage; iv. scale; v. height; vi. bulk   
  
It is also contrary to the Area Based SPG 2004 for Berkhamsted 

Page 268



(specifically area BCA14 which Dellfield Avenue is sited within) which 
states that housing policy for this area requires that:   
- Residential character is maintained  
- Low rise characteristic of town should be maintained  
- Height should not exceed two storeys  
- A minimum gap of 2-5 m should be maintained between properties
  
- Extensions : should normally be subordinate in terms of scale and 
height to the parent building  
  
Background  
  
I own and live in 18A Dellfield Avenue and have done so since 2011. 
18A is a purpose built first floor flat which has been the case since the 
property was built in 1939. Its sole access both to its front door, the 
front door of the downstairs property (18B Dellfield Avenue) and the 
gardens for both 18A and A8B is at the side of the property, facing the 
proposed loft conversion of 16 Dellfield Avenue - there is only an 8 foot 
(2.5m) space between 16 and 18 Dellfield Avenue.  
  
My property is unusual in that there are no other purpose-built flats on 
Dellfield Avenue other than those in number 18 - all other properties on 
the street comprise semi-detached residential homes on a steep hill 
where my property is almost at the top of the road.  
  
My property, 18A, has its main frontage, and only access, on the side of 
the property (facing south) rather than facing the road. It is accessed by 
a ground floor front door but is then spread over two further floors, with 
most of the accommodation on the first floor. It has two large windows 
on the first floor (one clear glazed first floor hall window which faces 
south and provides light to the lounge and dining room, and one frosted 
glazed window which provides the sole light to the first floor bathroom) - 
both of these windows directly face and overlook the proposed loft 
conversion of 16 Dellfield Avenue. The ground floor property (18b), 
also has its main access on the side of the property, and has a clear 
glazed bedroom window which directly faces the proposed loft 
conversion and proposed new side window of 16 Dellfield Avenue.  
  
The existing flat roofed double height extension on number 16 (which 
due to the gradient of Dellfield Avenue shows as a single storey 
extension when observed from 18A and 18B Dellfield Avenue) is built 
right up against the shared boundary between the two properties - it 
was built prior to 2011 when I purchased 18a Dellfield Avenue. The 
existing flat roof extension and the hip roof of the original house sloping 
down to the flat roof extension means that the impact of the existing 
extension is currently limited to a one storey wall, and so this still 
enables significant space and light to the side access/the interior and 
the garden of my property.   
  
Detailed Grounds for objection  
  
The proposed hip to gable roofline extension of number 16 will have a 
very considerable negative impact on light, overshadowing, visual 
intrusion, and overlooking/loss of privacy on my property, all of which 
are contrary to the Dacorum Spatial Awareness Framework within the 

Page 269



Dacorum Core Strategy (2013), in particular POLICY CS11: Quality of 
Neighbourhood Design and POLICY CS12: Quality of Site Design. It is 
also contrary to the Area Based SPG 2004 for Berkhamsted 
(specifically area BCA14).   
  
This is because if the planning application were granted and the work 
undertaken, the final building would be the equivalent of a 2 storey 
extension, with a significantly altered roofline and additional windows, 
right on the boundary of my property. The property was originally a 3 
bedroom semi-detached house with one bathroom - the proposal would 
result in a 5 bedroom house with 3 bathrooms, a study, and a dressing 
room - given the negative impacts on my property as described in this 
objection, this seems to be an over development of the current site of 
number 16.  
  
Rather than enhancing the space between our two buildings there 
would be:  
- excessive visual intrusion due to the scale, height and bulk of the 
development (as stated above there is only 8 feet (2.5 metres) between 
the property boundary of number 16 and my property);   
- it will significantly block light through my two first floor south facing 
large windows and cause permanent shadowing to the interior of my 
property;   
- it will cause significant loss of privacy due to the proposed positioning 
of the window onto the accessway to my property and garden;   
- it will cause significant loss of privacy due to the proposed position of 
windows in the new dormer, including the proposed new dressing room 
window at end of the dormer, directly overlooking my garden, resulting 
in overlooking/loss of privacy  
- it will cause complete loss sunlight from Western aspect to my garden 
from 5pm onwards each day (currently I have full sunlight from the 
West in my garden from 5pm until sunset at around 8pm during the 
summer. I am a very keen gardener - I installed a specific flower bed 11 
years ago to take advantage of this westerly sunshine, and I currently 
very much enjoy sitting in the late afternoon sunshine in my garden 
when I get home from work in the afternoon - I would lose this light and 
therefore enjoyment of my garden).   
  
The planning application consequently shows no respect whatsoever 
to any of the detrimental impacts to me in 18a Dellfield Avenue or those 
living at 18b Dellfield Avenue.  
  
There is no precedent on Dellfield Avenue or surrounding roads for two 
storey hip to gable extensions right up to the boundary of properties. If 
approved the proposal would lead to overdevelopment of this plot, 
where the original dwelling has already been significantly extended. 
The resulting mass and scale of the property at 16 would have negative 
impacts on the residential amenity of my property and would be out of 
keeping with the scale of the original building at number 16 and, 
because of this, would also be out of keeping with the character of this 
residential neighbourhood.   
  
I presume that to build the loft conversion, the builders will need to 
place scaffolding on my property as there is no land at the side of 16 to 
place the scaffolding on (due to the existing extension of number 16 

Page 270



being built up to the boundary with number 18) and so would need my 
agreement to do this - no request has been made to me to give this 
permission, and I am not minded to give permission given this is my 
main access area to my house and garden, and also that of 18b, and so 
would have significant impact on my use of this space over an 
extended period of time.   
   
I am very concerned that the significant scale, height and mass of the 
proposed loft conversion in such close proximity to my property (only 8 
feet/2.5 metres away), causing visual intrusion, loss of sunlight and 
daylight, and loss of privacy will have a significantly detrimental impact 
both my quality of living and therefore residential amenity within my 
property and its garden, and also on its eventual resale value. For all 
the reasons outlined above I therefore object to this planning 
application.   
  
I have a number of photo's which I would like to submit which 
demonstrate current views of number 16 from the interior and garden of 
my house, and a second set of photos which demonstrate, through 
super-imposing the proposed gable end, new roofline, dormer and 
additional windows, the significant negative impact that this proposal 
would have due to visual intrusion, loss of sunlight and daylight, loss of 
privacy. This portal does not seem to support the provision of this 
important visual evidence to support the objection - I would be grateful 
for guidance on how to provide this additional evidence. 
 

 
 

Page 271



 CASE REF. LOCATION BREACH DATE 
ISSUED 

EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

COMPLIANCE 
DATE 

APPEAL NEW 
COMPLIANCE 

DATE 

 

RESULT NOTES / FURTHER 
ACTION 

 

 

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT FORMAL ACTION STATUS REPORT            

(April 2024) 

 

1 E/06/00470 Land at Hatches 
Croft,  
Bradden Lane,  
Gaddesden Row 

Stationing of a 
mobile home for 
residential purposes 
on the land. 

12 Sep 08 20 Oct 09 20 Apr 10 No N/A Not 
complied 

Successful 
prosecution. 2019 
planning permission 
implemented though 
approved  
replacement dwelling 
not yet built and 
mobile home 
remains. Case 
review required to 
decide if further 
action necessary.   
 

2 E/14/00494 Land at Hamberlins 
Farm,  
Hamberlins Lane, 
Northchurch 

MCOU of land from 
agriculture to 
construction / vehicle 
/ storage yard. 

11 May15 11 Jun 15 11 Dec 15 
(for all steps) 

Yes, 
appeal 

dismissed 

17 Dec 16 Partly 
complied 

All vehicles, 
materials, machinery 
have been removed. 
Works now taken 
place to remove 
bund. Need to 
consider Offence. 
 

3 E/15/00301 Land at Piggery 
Farm, Two Ponds 
Lane, Northchurch 

MCOU of land from 
agriculture to non-
agricultural storage 
yard; MCOU of 
building to private 
motor vehicle 
storage; construction 
of raised hardsurface 

15 Jul 16 15 Aug 16 15 Feb 17 
(for all steps) 

Yes, 
appeal 

dismissed 
(other 

than use 
of 

building) 

25 Nov 17 Partly 
complied 

Most vehicles 
removed from the 
land. Visit confirmed 
that hard surfaced 
area has been 
removed, bund of 
material arising still 
on site awaiting 
removal. Planning 
granted: 1937/19. 
Further site visit 

P
age 272

A
genda Item

 6



 CASE REF. LOCATION BREACH DATE 
ISSUED 

EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

COMPLIANCE 
DATE 

APPEAL NEW 
COMPLIANCE 

DATE 

 

RESULT NOTES / FURTHER 
ACTION 

 

 
needed to check 
material removed 
and to check 
compliance with 
conditions of 
permission. 
 

4 E/16/00449 Farfield House, 
Chesham Road, 
Wigginton 

Construction of side 
and rear extension 
and detached double 
garage. 

23 Jan 17 22 Feb 17 22 Aug 17 No N/A Not 
complied 

Breaches resolved 
through Planning 
permissions 
4/00735/19/FHA and 
22/01038/FHA. 
*Case to be removed 
from list*  
 

5 E/16/00161 Lila’s Wood, Wick 
Lane, Tring 

MCOU – use of 
woodland for 
wedding 
ceremonies; creation 
of tracks; erection of 
various structures. 

27 July 17 25 Aug 17 25 Nov 17 
(for all steps) 

Yes, 
appeal 

dismissed 

12 July 18 
(for all steps) 

Not 
complied 

*following the soil on 
tracks been tidied, 
removal of the timber 
fence/gate entrance 
and removal of the 
direction pole the 
enforcement notice 
is satisfied and the 
case has been 
closed – case to be 
removed from list*  
 

6 E/18/00408 28 Boxwell Road, 
Berkhamsted 

Demolition of wall 
and creation of 
parking area 

09 Sep 19 09 Oct 19 09 Dec 19 Yes 30 Jul 20 Not 
complied 

Appeal dismissed –
Successful 
prosecution in Crown 
court 3 months given 
for compliance due 
December 
considering second 
prosecution for non 
compliance 
  

7 E/20/00023/
MULTI 

Haresfoot Farm, 
Chesham Road, 
Berkhamsted 

Construction of 
unauthorised 
buildings, hard 

19 Feb 20 20 Mar 20  Yes /  
split 

decision 

18 Dec 21 Not 
complied 

Appeal decision split, 
planning permission 
granted for a number 

P
age 273



 CASE REF. LOCATION BREACH DATE 
ISSUED 

EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

COMPLIANCE 
DATE 

APPEAL NEW 
COMPLIANCE 

DATE 

 

RESULT NOTES / FURTHER 
ACTION 

 

 
surfaces and 
importation and 
processing of waste 
materials. 
 

of buildings and uses 
on the site, 
enforcement notice 
upheld in relation to 
some matters. 
Planning permission 
granted March 2022 
for storage, salvage, 
re-cycling under  
21/04629/FUL 
subject to condition. 
Case review carried 
out and found 
enforcement notice 
where upheld at 
appeal has not been 
complied with.  
Discussions 
underway with new 
owners as to how to 
secure compliance 
but also guide new 
appropriate 
development. 
 

8 E/20/00249/
LBG 

57 St Johns Road, 
Hemel Hempstead 

Installation of UPVC 
windows in listed 
building. 

25 Sep 20 27 Oct 20 27 Oct 23 Yes / 
dismissed 

26 May 24 n/a Appeal submitted – 
appeal dismissed, 
notice upheld. 
Homeowner now has 
until 26 May 2024 to 
comply. 
 

9 E/20/00101/
NPP 

121 High Street, 
Markyate 

Installation of 
extraction system 
and flue on listed 
building. 

05 Oct 20 02 Nov 20 02 March 21 Yes / 
dismissed 

10 Sep 21 Not 
complied 

Appeal submitted – 
appeal dismissed – 
new compliance date 
10 September 2021. 
No compliance – 
need to consider 
next steps.in 
discussions with 

P
age 274



 CASE REF. LOCATION BREACH DATE 
ISSUED 

EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

COMPLIANCE 
DATE 

APPEAL NEW 
COMPLIANCE 

DATE 

 

RESULT NOTES / FURTHER 
ACTION 

 

 
Legal for potential 
action 
 

10 E/19/00513/
NPP 

Berkhamsted Golf 
Club, The Common, 
Berkhamsted 

Creation of a new 
vehicle parking area. 

19 Nov 20 21 Dec 20 N/A Yes 
Part 

allowed 
29.10.21 

29.02.21 Part 
complied 

22/00867/ROC 
Granted in 
compliance 
*Case to be removed 
from list*  
 

11 E/21/00043/
LBG 

121 High Street, 
Markyate 

Internal works to 
create flats following 
refusal of listed 
building consents 

23 Jun 21 21 Jul 21 21 Oct 21 No  Partly 
complied 

Listed building EN 
issued in relation to 
the works carried out 
inside the premises. 
Notice was not 
appealed and 
compliance required 
by 21 Oct 21. Works 
commenced have 
now ceased officers 
in discussions with 
Legal for potential 
action 
 

12 E/19/00395 26 Morefields, 
Tring, HP23 5EU 

Construction of a 
raised platform 
above a stream/ditch 
and the possibility of 
damage to adjacent 
trees, part of a 
woodland TPO 337 

28 Jul 21 30 Aug 21 30 Aug 22 No  Partly 
complied 

Enforcement notice 
issued following 
refusal of 
19/02948/RET. 
Notice requires 
removal of decking 
and hard 
landscaping. Partial 
compliance by Aug 
22 deadline.   
*planning application 
for alternative 
scheme approved 
22/02684/RET – 
Case to be removed 
from list * 
 

P
age 275



 CASE REF. LOCATION BREACH DATE 
ISSUED 

EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

COMPLIANCE 
DATE 

APPEAL NEW 
COMPLIANCE 

DATE 

 

RESULT NOTES / FURTHER 
ACTION 

 

 
13 E/21/00041/

NPP 

The Old Oak, 
Hogpits Bottom, 
Flaunden 

Change of use of the 
land to a mixed use 
of wood 
chopping/fire wood 
business and the 
siting of a mobile 
home/caravan for 
residential purposes 

09 Dec 21 13 Jan 22 13 Jan 23 Yes  Not 
complied 

*Lawful development 
certificate granted, 
as a result the 
Appeal is withdrawn 
and the notice has 
been withdrawn– 
Case to be removed 
from list* 
 

14 E/22/00168/
COL 

Cupid Green Lane, 
South of 
Gaddesden Lane. 

Storage of cars 14 June 15 Jul 22 15 Aug 22 No  Not 
complied 

Witness Statements 
written. Legal 
options being 
pursued. Interviews 
under caution were 
not attended 
invited for further 
interview following 
legal advice. the 
further interview was 
not attended-to have 
follow up meeting 
with legal 

15 
 
 

E/21/00302/
NPP 

45 Lawn Lane, 
Hemel Hempstead 
HP3 9HL 
 

Use of outbuilding as 
independent dwelling  

25 Oct 22 25 Nov 22 25 Aug 23 Yes/dismi
ssed  

14th April 
2024 

 *Notice compliance 
date 14th April 2024, 
interview under 
caution invited on 
the 2nd July 2024- 
did not turn up 
Consider next 
action* 

16 E/19/00444/
NAP 

Land east side 
Cupid Green Lane, 
Hemel Hempstead 

Without planning 
permission erection 
of buildings on land  

18 Nov 22 20 Dec 22 20 Jul 23 Yes   Statement written; 
awaiting appeal 
decision 

17 
 

E/19/00444/
NAP 

Land east side 
Cupid Green Lane, 
Hemel Hempstead 

Without planning 
permission the 
change of use of the 
land from agricultural 
to a mixed use of 
agriculture, 
domestic, and 

18 Nov 22 20 Dec 22 8 Apr 23 Yes   Statement written; 
awaiting appeal 
decision 

P
age 276



 CASE REF. LOCATION BREACH DATE 
ISSUED 

EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

COMPLIANCE 
DATE 

APPEAL NEW 
COMPLIANCE 

DATE 

 

RESULT NOTES / FURTHER 
ACTION 

 

 
commercial uses not 
reasonably 
associated with 
agriculture  

18 E/22/00349/
NPP 

Berry Farm, Upper 
Bourne End Lane, 
Hemel Hempstead 

Without Planning 
permission the siting 
of 3 steel clad 
containers and the 
erection of post and 
wire fencing  

16 Dec 22 30 Jan 23  30 Jul 23 Yes  Waiting 
appeal 
result 

Statement in waiting 
decision 

19 E/19/00221 37 West Valley 
Road, Hemel 
Hempstead, HP3 
0AN 

Without planning 
permission, the 
erection of high 
fencing, a covered 
storage area, 
installation of a 
retaining wall and 
steps, also changes 
to land levels in the 
rear garden 
associated works. 

4 Jan 23 3 Feb 23 3 Aug 23 No  N/A *New compromise 
scheme submitted 
23/02186/FUL 
Approved 
compliance check -  

20 E/22/00293/
NAP 

Martlets, The 
Common, 
Chipperfield 

. Without planning 
permission, the 
construction of a 
detached structure to 
provide two 
semi detached 
outbuildings 

16 Jan 23 20 Feb 23 20 Aug 23 Yes/ 
Dismisse

d 

2nd 
November 

2024 

 *Appeal Dismissed – 
notice upheld review 
compliance after 
new compliance 
period which ends 
on 2nd November 
2024* 

21 E/17/00254 Zeera, 49 High 
Street, Bovingdon 

Condition 2,3,7 and 
8 of 4/00714/14/FUL 

16 Jan 23 16 Jan 23 16 Jul 23 N/A  N/A outside compliance 
but submitted DRC 

22 E/19/00229 85-87 High Street, 
Berkhamsted 

Without planning 
permission, the 
replacement of a 
ground floor bay 
window, ground 
floor window and 
entrance door on the 
principle elevation 

16 Jan 23 20 Feb 23 20 Nov 23 Yes  Waiting 
appeal 
result 

Statement in waiting 
decision 

23 E/22/00143/
COB 

60 Thumpers, HH Without planning 
permission The 

26 Jan 23 9 Mar 23 9 May 23 No  N/A *Compliance with 
notice apart from 

P
age 277



 CASE REF. LOCATION BREACH DATE 
ISSUED 

EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

COMPLIANCE 
DATE 

APPEAL NEW 
COMPLIANCE 

DATE 

 

RESULT NOTES / FURTHER 
ACTION 

 

 
conversion of one 
dwelling into two 
separate residential 
units. 

step to demolish 
internal walls, notice 
does not specify 
which walls to 
demolish, not 
expedient to pursue 
prosecution case 
closed to be 
removed from list* 

24 E/20/00157/
NAP 

Land Lying South 
East of Cupid 
Green Lane ‘Plot G’ 

Without planning 
permission, 
unauthorised change 
of use from 
agriculture to 
carpentry business 
and unauthorised 
erection of 
miscellaneous 
outbuildings within 
the Green Belt  
 

16 Feb 23 30 Mar 23 30 Oct 23 Yes  Waiting 
appeal 
result 

Statement in waiting 
decision 

25 E/20/00157/
NAP 

Land Lying South 
East of Cupid 
Green Lane ‘Plot G’ 

Without planning 
permission, 
unauthorised change 
of use from 
agriculture to 
carpentry business 
and unauthorised 
erection of 
miscellaneous 
outbuildings within 
the Green Belt  
 

16 Feb 23 30 Mar 23 30 Oct 23 Yes  Waiting 
appeal 
result 

Statement in waiting 
decision 

26 E/22/00130/
NAP 

Land Adjacent to 22 
Brook Street, Tring 

Breach of condition 
attached to appeal 
decision on 10th 
September 2018 

19/04/202
3 

19/04/2023 19/07/2023 No  N/A application 
23/02194/FUL 
refused – appeal 
valid 
23/00069/REFU 
 

P
age 278



 CASE REF. LOCATION BREACH DATE 
ISSUED 

EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

COMPLIANCE 
DATE 

APPEAL NEW 
COMPLIANCE 

DATE 

 

RESULT NOTES / FURTHER 
ACTION 

 

 
27 E/22/00280/

NPP 
Land at Abilea 
Meadows, 
Friendless Lane 

Without Planning 
Permission, the siting 
a Shipping Container   
 

19/04/202
3 

31/05/23 30/11/2023 Yes  Waiting 
appeal 
result 

Statement in waiting 
decision 

28 E/22/00314/
COB 

86 Chipperfield 
Road, Kings 
Langley, WD4 9JD 

Without Planning 
Permission, the 
change of use of a 
building to a 
standalone dwelling 

27/04/202
3 

08/06/2023 08/01/2024 Yes  Waiting 
appeal 
result 

Statement in waiting 
decision 

29 E/23/00123/
NPP 

Land at Church 
Road, Little 
Gaddesden, 
Berkhamsted, Herts  

Without planning 
permission, 
unauthorised 
erection of field 
shelter/building 
 

27/04/202
3 

09/06/2023 09/10/2023 Yes  Waiting 
appeal 
result 

Statement in waiting 
decision - 
pending Legal 
negotiation decisions 

30 E/23/00123/
NPP 

Land at Church 
Road, Little 
Gaddesden, 
Berkhamsted, Herts 

The condition and 
appearance of the 
land with the disused 
vehicles and 
miscellaneous 
materials not 
associated with the 
agricultural use 

28/04/202
3 

08/06/2023 08/10/2023 Yes  Waiting 
appeal 
result 

*Judicial review 
quashed legal 
agreement – S215 
partial compliance 
has been withdrawn 
as part of agreement 
was for the 
withdrawal of their 
appeal which was 
carried out – this 
notice to be removed 
from list re assess 
on decision with the 
outbuilding and what 
is on site at the time 
of review* 

31 E/20/00462/
S215 

72 Grove Gardens, 
Tring 

The condition of the 
property, in particular 
the first floor dormer 
window and the 
ground floor window 
on the principle 
elevation has a 
detrimental impact 
on the amenity of the 

11/05/202
03 

22/06/2023 22/12/2023   N/A *notice complied with 
to be removed from 
list* 

P
age 279



 CASE REF. LOCATION BREACH DATE 
ISSUED 

EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

COMPLIANCE 
DATE 

APPEAL NEW 
COMPLIANCE 

DATE 

 

RESULT NOTES / FURTHER 
ACTION 

 

 
neighbouring 
properties and the 
general streetscene. 
The front garden is 
continually left to 
over grow and go to 
weeds 

32 E/23/00096/
NPP 

2 Bulstrode Close, 
Chipperfield, Kings 
Langley, 
Hertfordshire, WD4 
9LT 

Without planning 
permission, 
unauthorised 
insertion of a window 
on the first floor side 
elevation (western 
elevation). 

20.06.202
3 

01.08.2023 12/09/2023 Yes  N/A Appeal Statement 
Submitted waiting 
decision 

33 E/23/00134/
S215 

land situated 4 
Wheelers Yard, 
Tring Road, Long 
Marston, Tring, 
HP23 4FL 

S215 The condition 
and the amount of 
materials within the 
land does impact the 
amenity of this area 
and does not seek to 
preserve the 
conservation area 

20.06.23 01.08.23 01/02/2024   N/A *Notice complied 
with to be removed 
from list* 

34 E/22/00334/
BOC 

Keymers 
Chapel Croft 
Chipperfield 
WD4 9EQ 
 

Breach of conditions 
7 and 8 

14.07.23 14.07.23 14/01/2024   N/A *waiting on CLT 
decision on how to 
proceed* 

35 E/23/00006/
BOC 

The Crystal Palace 
Station Road 
Berkhamsted 
Hertfordshire HP4 
2EZ 

Breach of conditions 
5,9,10 and 11    

31.07.23 31.07.23 31/09/2023    *Conditions 
discharged; case to 
be removed from 
list* 

36 E/22/00042/
NPP 

The Stores, St 
Pauls Road, Hemel 
Hempstead, HP2 
5DB 

Use of the premise 
for vehicle repairs, 
servicing and 
maintenance and the 
fitting and repairs of 
tyres MCOU notice 
 

31.07.23 11.09.2023 11/01/2024    *Notice complied 
with; to be removed 
from list* 

P
age 280



 CASE REF. LOCATION BREACH DATE 
ISSUED 

EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

COMPLIANCE 
DATE 

APPEAL NEW 
COMPLIANCE 

DATE 

 

RESULT NOTES / FURTHER 
ACTION 

 

 
37 E/22/00179/

COB 
Hillside View, Old 
Watling Street, 
Flamstead, St 
Albans, 
Hertfordshire, AL3 
8HL 

Without planning 
permission, the 
change of use of a 
residential 
outbuilding to a 
commercial dog 
grooming business 
 

04.09.23 16.10.23 16/12/2023 Yes   *appeal in – 
statement submitted 
awaiting decision* 

38 E/22/00382/
ENG 

Land adj to 
Beechwood 
cottages 

Relating to the 
material change of 
use 
Without Planning 
Permission, the 
change of use of the 
land for the display 
and sale of vehicles 
and the siting of a 
shipping container 
for use as an office. 
Relating to the 
Operational 
Development 
Facilitating the 
change of use 
Without Planning 
Permission, the 
installation of gates, 
fencing and the 
laying of 
hardstanding which 
facilitates this use. 
 

21.09.23 02.11.23 02/09/2024 Yes   Appeal Statement 
Submitted waiting 
decision 

39 E/23/00082/
LBG 

Saffron Old Town 
Ltd, 69-71 High 
Street, Hemel 
Hempstead, HP1 
3AF 

Condition 3 of 
22/02790/FUL not 
complied with 

13.10.202
3 

13.10.2023 13.11.2023 No  Partial – 
complianc
e 

Partial compliance 

40 E/23/00159/
COB 

Land at 15 
Yeomans Ride, 

Without Planning 
Permission, the 
change of use of a 

19.10.202
3 

30.11.2023 30.07.2024 No   Partial compliance 
compliance period 

P
age 281



 CASE REF. LOCATION BREACH DATE 
ISSUED 

EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

COMPLIANCE 
DATE 

APPEAL NEW 
COMPLIANCE 

DATE 

 

RESULT NOTES / FURTHER 
ACTION 

 

 
Hemel Hempstead, 
HP2 6LG 

building to a stand 
alone dwelling. 
 

41 E/20/00480/
CONSRV 

307 High Street, 
Hemel Hempstead  
 

Without planning 
permission, the 
replacement of the 
first floor windows 
 

27.11.202
3 

08.01.2024 08.07.2024 No   Still within 
compliance period 

 
 

The Following Cases are being added to the list for the first time 
 
 

42 E/23/00016/
NPP 

(Plot O) Land at 
Cupid Green Lane 

Without planning 
permission, 
unauthorised change 
of use from 
agriculture to  
1) A change of 
use of land from 
agriculture to the 
storage of scaffolding 
and associated 
equipment. 
2) Operational 
development 
consisting of the 
laying of a hard 
surface. 
 

17.01.202
4 

29.02.2024 29.07.2024 No   *Still within 
compliance period* 

43 E/23/00050/
NPP 

(Plot H) Land at 
Cupid Green Lane 

Without planning 
permission, 
unauthorised change 
of use from 
agriculture to  
1) A change of 
use of land from 
agriculture to the use 
for storage of a metal 
storage container, 

17.01.202
4 

29.02.2024 29.07.2024 No   *Still within 
compliance period* 

P
age 282



 CASE REF. LOCATION BREACH DATE 
ISSUED 

EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

COMPLIANCE 
DATE 

APPEAL NEW 
COMPLIANCE 

DATE 

 

RESULT NOTES / FURTHER 
ACTION 

 

 
scaffolding including 
associated 
equipment and waste 
disposal/transfer. 
2) Operational 
development 
consisting of the 
laying of a hard 
surface. 
 

44 E/23/00319/
COL 

Land at High 
Scrubs Woods, Kiln 
Lane, Hastoe 

Without Planning 
Permission, the 
material change of 
use of the land to 
mixed use of forestry, 
residential and 
general storage and 
the siting of a 
caravan for use as 
general storage and 
the siting of a metal 
structure for 
seasonal residential 
use. 
 

05.02.202
4 

18.03.2024 18.01.2025 No   *Still within 
compliance period* 

45 E/23/00483/
COL 

Land at High 
Scrubs Woods, Kiln 
Lane, Hastoe 

Without Planning 
Permission, the 
material change of 
use of the land to a 
mixed use of forestry, 
residential and 
general storage, the 
change of use of a 
building to a mixed 
use of forestry and 
residential, the siting 
of 2 caravans for 
seasonal residential 
accommodation and 
the erection and use 

05.02.202
4 

18.03.2024 18.10.2024 No   *Still within 
compliance period* 

P
age 283



 CASE REF. LOCATION BREACH DATE 
ISSUED 

EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

COMPLIANCE 
DATE 

APPEAL NEW 
COMPLIANCE 

DATE 

 

RESULT NOTES / FURTHER 
ACTION 

 

 
of a marquee for 
general storage. 
 

46 E/22/00182/
ENG 

212 Cotterells, 
Hemel Hempstead, 
HP1 1JP 

Without Planning 
Permission, the 
construction of an 
outbuilding, raised 
decked area and 
stairs. 
 

05.02.202
4 

18.03.2024 18.03.2025 No   *Still within 
compliance period* 

47 E/23/00124/
COL 

Cupid Green Lane, 
Hemel Hempstead 
(Plot M) 

Without planning 
permission the 
material change of 
use of the land for 
storage of building 
material, rubble, 
waste materials and 
domestic 
paraphernalia 
 

07.03.202
4 

18.04.2024 18.02.2025    *Notice complied 
with - case to be 
removed from list* 

48 E/24/00109/
COL 

Cupid Green Lane, 
Hemel Hempstead 
(Plot U) 

Without planning 
permission, the 
erection of a timber-
framed building to 
facilitate a change of 
use of land from 
agricultural to 
storage of building 
materials 

12/04/202
4 

12/04/2024 12/04/2024    *Notice Cease effect 
- case to be removed 
from list* 

49 E/21/00027/
NAP 

Nash House, 
Dickinson Square, 
Hemel Hempstead 

Without Planning 
Permission, the 
material change of 
use of the basement 
to residential 
 

02/05/202
4 

13/06/2024 13/04/2025 Yes    *Appeal in – 
questionnaire 
completed* 

50 E/24/00151/
NPP 

Land adjacent to 
the Old brickworks, 
Spring Garden 
Lane, Northchurch, 
Berkhamsted 

Without Planning 
Permission, the 
excavation of land 
and laying of 
hardcore 

10/05/24 10/05/2024 10/05/2024    *Temporary Stop 
Notice ceases effect 
5th July 2024. Case 
to be removed from 
list* 

P
age 284



 CASE REF. LOCATION BREACH DATE 
ISSUED 

EFFECTIVE 
DATE 

COMPLIANCE 
DATE 

APPEAL NEW 
COMPLIANCE 

DATE 

 

RESULT NOTES / FURTHER 
ACTION 

 

 
 

51 E/21/00256/
NPP 

Conifers, Rucklers 
Lane, KL 

Without planning 
permission the 
installation of raised 
decking 

03/06/202
4 

15/07/2024 15/11/2024    *Notice has not yet 
taken effect period* 

52 E/22/00173/
NAP 

The Promotional 
Centre, Church 
End, Markyate, St 
Albans, 
Hertfordshire, AL3 
8PY 

Without planning 
permission the 
installation of a 
raised platform and 
outbuilding 
 

17/06/202
4 

29/07/2024 29/02/2025    *Notice has not yet 
taken effect period* 

 

P
age 285


	Agenda
	5 Index to planning applications
	5a 23/02972/MFA Planning application for the change of use from agricultural land to Suitable Accessible Natural Green Space (SANG), together with a vehicular access, car park, paths, fencing and landscaping Proposed SANG Site Castle Hill, Berkhamsted, Hertfordshire
	5b 23/02195/FUL - Construction of 9 dwellings including the creation of a new vehicular access, parking and landscaping - Land West Of Tring Road Tring Road Wilstone Tring Hertfordshire
	5c 24/00390/FHA - Two storey front extension, second storey side extension and raising of the ridge height, single storey rear extension, alterations of windows, over cladding of first floor, internal remodelling, new external drive configuration and landscaping - Chedworth, Hemp Lane, Wigginton, Tring, Herts, HP23 6HE
	5d 24/00866/FHA- Hip to gable loft conversion with rear dormer and front roof lights & new first floor side window - 16 Dellfield Avenue, Berkhamsted, Hertfordshire, HP4 1DX
	6 Planning Enforcement Quarterly Report

